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EXPLANATORY NOTE

This report combines the annual reports on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 of Kite Realty Group Trust, Kite Realty Group, L.P. and its
subsidiaries. Unless stated otherwise or the context otherwise requires, references to “Kite Realty Group Trust” or the “Parent Company” mean Kite Realty Group
Trust, and references to the “Operating Partnership” mean Kite Realty Group, L.P. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The terms “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
refer to the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership collectively, and those entities owned or controlled by the Parent Company and/or the Operating

Partnership.

The Operating Partnership is engaged in the ownership, operation, acquisition, development and redevelopment of high-quality, open-air shopping centers
and mixed-use assets in select markets in the United States, and the Parent Company conducts substantially all of its activities through the Operating Partnership
and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Parent Company is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and as of December 31, 2021 owned
approximately 98.9% of the common partnership interests in the Operating Partnership (“General Partner Units”). The remaining 1.1% of the common partnership
interests (“Limited Partner Units” and, together with the General Partner Units, the “Common Units”) are owned by the limited partners.

We believe combining the annual reports on Form 10-K of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership into this single report benefits investors by:

« enhancing investors’ understanding of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership by enabling investors to view the business as a whole in the
same manner as management views and operates the business;

*  climinating duplicative disclosure and providing a more streamlined and readable presentation of information as a substantial portion of the Company’s
disclosure applies to both the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership; and

»  creating time and cost efficiencies through the preparation of one combined report instead of two separate reports.

We believe it is important to understand the few differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership in the context of how we operate as
an interrelated consolidated company. The Parent Company has no material assets or liabilities other than its investment in the Operating Partnership. The Parent
Company issues public equity from time to time but does not have any indebtedness as all debt is incurred by the Operating Partnership. In addition, the Parent
Company currently does not nor does it intend to guarantee any debt of the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership has numerous wholly owned
subsidiaries, and it also owns interests in certain joint ventures. These subsidiaries and joint ventures own and operate retail shopping centers and other real estate
assets. The Operating Partnership is structured as a partnership with no publicly traded equity. Except for net proceeds from equity issuances by the Parent
Company, which are contributed to the Operating Partnership in exchange for General Partner Units, the Operating Partnership generates the capital required by
the business through its operations, its incurrence of indebtedness and the issuance of Limited Partner Units to third parties.

Shareholders’ equity and partners’ capital are the main areas of difference between the consolidated financial statements of the Parent Company and those
of the Operating Partnership. In order to highlight this and other differences between the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership, there are separate sections
in this report, as applicable, that separately discuss the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership, including separate financial statements and separate Exhibit
31 and 32 certifications. In the sections that combine disclosure of the Parent Company and the Operating Partnership, this report refers to actions or holdings as
being actions or holdings of the collective Company.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, together with other statements and information publicly disseminated by us, contains certain forward-looking statements
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such statements are based on
assumptions and expectations that may not be realized and are inherently subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which cannot be predicted with
accuracy and some of which might not even be anticipated. Future events and actual results, performance, transactions or achievements, financial or otherwise,
may differ materially from the results, performance, transactions or achievements, financial or otherwise, expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Currently, one of the most significant factors that could cause actual outcomes to differ significantly from our forward-looking statements is the adverse
effect of the current pandemic of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), including possible resurgences, variants and mutations, on the financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows and performance of the Company and its tenants, the real estate market and the global economy and financial markets. The COVID-19
pandemic has impacted us and our tenants significantly, and the extent to which it will continue to impact us and our tenants will depend on future developments,
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope, severity and duration of the pandemic, treatment developments, public
adoption rates of COVID-19 vaccines, including booster shots, and their effectiveness against variants of COVID-19, such as Delta and Omicron, the direct and
indirect economic effects of the pandemic and containment measures, and potential sustained changes in consumer behavior, among others. Moreover, investors
are cautioned to interpret many of the risks identified in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as being heightened as a result of the ongoing and numerous adverse
effects of COVID-19.

Additional risks, uncertainties and other factors that might cause such differences, some of which could be material, include but are not limited to:

» risks associated with the Company’s Merger (defined below) with Retail Properties of America, Inc. (“RPAI”), including the integration of the
businesses of the combined company, the ability to achieve expected synergies or cost savings and potential disruptions to the Company’s plans and
operations;

* national and local economic, business, real estate and other market conditions, particularly in connection with low or negative growth in the U.S.
economy as well as economic uncertainty (including the potential effects of inflation);

» financing risks, including the availability of, and costs associated with, sources of liquidity;

*  our ability to refinance, or extend the maturity dates of, our indebtedness;

» the level and volatility of interest rates;

» the financial stability of tenants;

* the competitive environment in which we operate, including potential oversupplies of and reduction in demand for rental space;
*  acquisition, disposition, development and joint venture risks;

*  property ownership and management risks, including the relative illiquidity of real estate investments and expenses, vacancies or the inability to rent
space on favorable terms or at all;

*  our ability to maintain our status as a real estate investment trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
*  potential environmental and other liabilities;
* impairment in the value of real estate property we own;

» the attractiveness of our properties to tenants, the actual and perceived impact of e-commerce on the value of shopping center assets and changing
demographics and customer traffic patterns;

*  business continuity disruptions and a deterioration in our tenant’s ability to operate in affected areas or delays in the supply of products or services to us
or our tenants from vendors that are needed to operate efficiently, causing costs to rise sharply and inventory to fall;

»  risks related to our current geographical concentration of properties in Texas, Florida, New York, Maryland, and North Carolina;



e civil unrest, acts of terrorism or war, acts of God, climate change, epidemics, pandemics (including COVID-19), natural disasters and severe weather
conditions, including such events that may result in underinsured or uninsured losses or other increased costs and expenses;

*  changes in laws and government regulations including governmental orders affecting the use of our properties or the ability of our tenants to operate,
and the costs of complying with such changed laws and government regulations;

e possible short-term or long-term changes in consumer behavior due to COVID-19 and the fear of future pandemics;
*  our ability to satisfy environmental, social or governance standards set by various constituencies;

* insurance costs and coverage;

«  risks associated with cybersecurity attacks and the loss of confidential information and other business disruptions;

» other factors affecting the real estate industry generally; and

»  other risks identified in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other reports we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “SEC”) or in other documents that we publicly disseminate.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.



PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

P »

Unless the context suggests otherwise, references to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” refer to Kite Realty Group Trust and our business and
operations conducted through our directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries, including Kite Realty Group, L.P., our operating partnership (the “Operating
Partnership”).

Overview

Kite Realty Group Trust is a publicly held real estate investment trust which, through its majority-owned subsidiary, Kite Realty Group, L.P., owns interests
in various operating subsidiaries and joint ventures engaged in the ownership, operation, acquisition, development and redevelopment of high-quality, open-air
shopping centers and mixed-use assets in select markets in the United States. We derive revenues primarily from activities associated with the collection of
contractual rents and reimbursement payments from tenants at our properties. Therefore, our operating results depend materially on, among other things, the ability
of our tenants to make required lease payments, the health and resilience of the U.S. retail sector, interest rate volatility, job growth and real estate market and
overall economic conditions.

As of December 31, 2021, we owned interests in 180 operating retail properties totaling approximately 29.0 million square feet and one office property with
0.3 million square feet. Of the 180 operating retail properties, 11 contain an office component. We also owned eight development projects under construction as of
this date. Our retail operating portfolio was 93.4% leased to a diversified retail tenant base, with no single retail tenant accounting for more than 2.5% of our total
annualized base rent (“ABR”). In the aggregate, our largest 25 tenants accounted for 29.6% of our ABR. See Item 2, “Properties” for a list of our top 25 tenants by
ABR.

On October 22, 2021, we completed a Merger (defined below) with RPAI in which RPAI merged with and into our wholly owned subsidiary in a stock-for-
stock exchange with a transaction value of approximately $4.7 billion, including the assumption of approximately $1.8 billion of debt. See Note 3 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional details.

Significant 2021 Activities
Merger with RPAI

On October 22, 2021, we completed the merger with RPAI in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated July 18, 2021 (the “Merger
Agreement”), by and among the Company, its wholly owned subsidiary KRG Oak, LLC (“Merger Sub”) and RPAI, pursuant to which RPAI merged with and into
Merger Sub (the “Merger”). Immediately following the closing of the Merger, Merger Sub merged with and into the Operating Partnership so that all of the assets
and liabilities of the Company continue to be held at or below the Operating Partnership level. The transaction value was approximately $4.7 billion, including the
assumption of approximately $1.8 billion of debt. See Note 3 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional details. We acquired 100
operating retail properties and five active development projects through the Merger along with multiple parcels of entitled land for future value creation.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of RPAI common stock converted into the right to receive 0.623 common shares of
the Company plus cash in lieu of fractional Company shares. The aggregate value of the Merger consideration paid or payable to former holders of RPAI common
stock was approximately $2.8 billion, excluding the value of RPAI restricted stock units that vested at closing and certain restricted share awards assumed by the
Company at closing. In connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership issued an equivalent amount of General Partner Units to the Parent Company.

The Merger provided numerous positive benefits to the Company, including:

*  Enhancing the portfolio quality by bolstering our presence in existing strategic markets across the Sunbelt along with providing entry into other
strategic markets such as Washington, D.C. and Seattle;

*  Providing multiple value creation opportunities including lease-up and completion of development and redevelopment projects;

+ Improving the strength of our balance sheet by reducing leverage and increasing liquidity to over $1.0 billion; and



Further strengthening leasing relationships to provide more optionality to tenants due to the expanded size of the portfolio.

Operating Activities

The Company realized a net loss attributable to common shareholders of $80.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021;

The Company generated Funds From Operations, as defined by NAREIT, of $88.4 million and Funds From Operations, as adjusted for merger and
acquisition costs, of $171.2 million;

Same Property Net Operating Income (“Same Property NOI”), which excludes the properties acquired in the Merger with RPAI, grew by 6.1% in
2021 compared to 2020 primarily due to improved collection activity resulting in a significant reduction in bad debt expense in 2021 compared to
2020, which was more heavily impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic;

In 2021, we executed new and renewal leases on 363 individual spaces for approximately 2.6 million square feet of retail space, achieving a blended
cash leasing spread of 10.7% for comparable leases. Total executed leases includes leasing activity for the legacy RPAI portfolio from October 22,
2021 through December 31, 2021; and

Our operating portfolio ABR per square foot as of December 31, 2021 was $19.36, an increase of $0.94 (or 5.1%) from the end of the prior year.

Financing and Capital Activities

In connection with the Merger, we assumed an $850.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility”), of which $55.0 million
was drawn as of December 31, 2021;

We ended the year with approximately $1.0 billion of combined cash, short-term deposits and borrowing capacity on our Revolving Facility;

In addition, we assumed (i) a $200.0 million unsecured term loan due 2023, (ii) a $120.0 million unsecured term loan due 2024, (iii) a $150.0 million
unsecured term loan due 2026, (iv) private placement notes totaling $450.0 million maturing at various dates from June 2024 through June 2029, (v)
$350.0 million of public notes due 2025, (vi) $400.0 million of public notes due 2030; and (vii) $90.1 million of mortgages payable. Subsequent to

the Merger, the Company’s existing revolving credit facility was terminated;

We issued $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% exchangeable senior notes maturing in April 2027 (the “Exchangeable Notes”) to
proactively fund 2022 debt maturities;

We substantially completed the construction of Eddy Street Commons — Phase II and Glendale Town Center; and

We declared quarterly cash dividends totaling $0.68 per share during 2021.

We have $153.5 million of debt principal scheduled to mature through December 31, 2022, a debt service coverage ratio of 3.9x and approximately $93.2
million in cash on hand as of December 31, 2021. We previously received investment grade corporate credit ratings from two nationally recognized credit rating
agencies and these ratings were unchanged during 2021. We were assigned an investment grade corporate credit rating from a third nationally recognized rating
agency in October 2021.

Impacts on Business from COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic, and the public health measures that have been undertaken in response, have had a significant adverse impact on many of our
tenants and on our business. The effects of COVID-19, including related government restrictions, mandatory quarantines, “shelter in place” orders, border closures,
“social distancing” practices, masking requirements and other travel and gathering restrictions and practices, have caused many of our tenants to close stores,
reduce hours or significantly limit service, each of which may continue to create headwinds for our tenants. Since we cannot estimate when the containment
measures will roll back, end, or be reinstated, we cannot estimate the ultimate operational and financial impact of COVID-19 on our business.

In 2020, the effects of COVID-19 triggered a global and domestic economic recession and many of our tenants faced financial distress. As the domestic
economy continued to recover in 2021, retailers continued to improve their operations to



account for the pandemic, including using open-air centers as convenient shopping destinations and last-mile fulfillment through the use of in-store pickup,
curbside pickup, and shipping from stores. Historically, economic indicators such as GDP growth, consumer confidence and employment have been correlated
with demand for certain of our tenants’ products and services. If an economic recession returns, it could increase the number of our tenants that are unable to meet
their lease obligations to us and could limit the demand for our space from new tenants.

We expect the significance of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the extent of its effects on our business, financial performance and condition, operating
results and cash flows and the economic slowdown, to be dictated by, among other things, the duration of the COVID-19 pandemic, including possible resurgences
and mutations, the success of efforts to contain it, the efficacy of vaccines, including against variants of COVID-19, public adoption rates of vaccines and the
impact of other actions taken in response to the pandemic. These uncertainties make it difficult to predict operating results for our business; therefore, there can be
no assurances that we will not experience further declines in revenues, net income, FFO or other operating metrics, which could be material.

Business Objectives and Strategies

Our primary business objectives are to increase the cash flow and value of our properties, achieve sustainable long-term growth and maximize shareholder
value primarily through the ownership, operation, acquisition, development and redevelopment of high-quality, open-air shopping centers and mixed-used
assets. We invest in properties with well-located real estate and strong demographics, and we use our leasing and management strategies to improve the long-term

value and economic returns of our properties. We believe that certain of our properties represent attractive opportunities for profitable redevelopment, renovation,
densification, and expansion.

We seek to implement our business objectives through the following strategies, each of which is more completely described in the sections that follow:

*  Operating Strategy: Maximizing the internal growth in revenue from our operating properties by leasing and re-leasing to a strong and diverse group
of retail tenants at increasing rental rates, when possible, and redeveloping or renovating certain properties to make them more attractive to existing
and prospective tenants and consumers;

*  Financing and Capital Preservation Strategy: Maintaining a strong balance sheet with flexibility to fund our operating and investment
activities. Funding sources include the public equity and debt markets, an existing Revolving Facility with $793.5 million of borrowing capacity as of
December 31, 2021, secured debt, internally generated funds, proceeds from selling land and properties that no longer fit our strategy, and potential
strategic joint ventures; and

*  Growth Strategy: Prudently using available cash flow, targeted asset recycling, equity, and debt capital to selectively acquire additional retail
properties and redevelop or renovate our existing properties where we believe that investment returns would meet or exceed internal benchmarks.

Operating Strategy. Our primary operating strategy is to maximize our rental rates, our returns on invested capital, and occupancy levels by attracting and
retaining a strong and diverse tenant base. Most of our properties are located in regional and neighborhood trade areas with attractive demographics, which allows
us to maximize returns on invested capital, occupancy and rental rates. We seek to implement our operating strategy by, among other things:

*  increasing rental rates upon the renewal of expiring leases or re-leasing space to new tenants while minimizing vacancy to the extent possible;
*  maximizing the occupancy of our operating portfolio;

*  minimizing tenant turnover;

* maintaining leasing and property management strategies that maximize rent growth and cost recovery;

*  maintaining a diverse tenant mix that limits our exposure to the financial condition of any one tenant or category of retail tenants;

*  maintaining and improving the physical appearance, condition, layout and design of our properties and other improvements located on our properties
to enhance our ability to attract customers;

* implementing offensive and defensive strategies against e-commerce competition;



* actively managing properties to minimize overhead and operating costs;

*  maintaining strong tenant and retailer relationships to avoid rent interruptions and reduce marketing, leasing and tenant improvement costs that result
from re-leasing space to new tenants; and

« taking advantage of under-utilized land or existing square footage, reconfiguring properties for more profitable use, and adding ancillary income
sources to existing facilities.

We successfully executed our operating strategy in 2021 in a number of ways, as best evidenced by our strong growth in Same Property NOI. Additionally,
our leasing process continues to perform at a high level as evidenced by the execution of 363 new and renewal leases for approximately 2.6 million square feet,
which includes leases for the legacy RPAI portfolio subsequent to the closing date of the Merger. Our leased to occupied spread represents approximately $33.0
million of net operating income (“NOI”), the majority of which is expected to come online in 2022. Included within this amount is $15.0 million of NOI from 27
leases for approximately 767,000 square feet of vacant anchor spaces. We placed significant emphasis on maintaining a strong and diverse retail tenant mix, which
has resulted in no tenant accounting for more than 2.5% of our ABR. See Item 2, “Properties” for a list of our top tenants by gross leasable area (“GLA”) and ABR.

Financing and Capital Strategy. We finance our acquisition, development, and redevelopment activities seeking to use the most advantageous sources of
capital available to us at the time. These sources may include the reinvestment of cash flows generated by operations, the sale of common or preferred shares
through public offerings or private placements, the reinvestment of net proceeds from the disposition of assets, the incurrence of additional indebtedness through
secured or unsecured borrowings, and entering into real estate joint ventures.

Our primary financing and capital strategy is to maintain a strong balance sheet and enhance our flexibility to fund operating and investment activities in the
most cost-effective way. We consider a number of factors when evaluating the amount and type of additional indebtedness we may elect to incur. Among these
factors are the construction costs or purchase price of properties to be developed or acquired, the estimated market value of our properties and the Company as a
whole upon consummation of the financing, and the ability to generate durable cash flow to cover expected debt service.

Maintaining a strong balance sheet continues to be one of our top priorities. We maintain an investment grade credit rating that we expect will continue to
enable us to opportunistically access the public unsecured bond market and will allow us to lower our cost of capital and provide greater flexibility in managing the
acquisition and disposition of assets in our operating portfolio.

We intend to continue implementing our financing and capital strategies in a number of ways, which may include one or more of the following actions:

»  prudently managing our balance sheet, including maintaining sufficient availability under our Revolving Facility so that we have additional capacity
to fund our development and redevelopment projects and pay down maturing debt if refinancing that debt is not desired or practical;

» extending the scheduled maturity dates of and/or refinancing our near-term mortgage, construction and other indebtedness;

* expanding our unencumbered asset pool;

* raising additional capital through the issuance of common shares, preferred shares or other securities;

*  managing our exposure to interest rate increases on our variable-rate debt through the selective use of fixed rate hedging transactions;
* issuing unsecured bonds in the public markets, and securing property-specific long-term non-recourse financing; and

*  entering into joint venture arrangements in order to access less expensive capital and mitigate risk.



Growth Strategy. Our growth strategy includes the selective deployment of financial resources to projects that are expected to generate investment returns
that meet or exceed our internal benchmarks. We implement our growth strategy in a number of ways, including:

*  continually evaluating our operating properties for redevelopment and renovation opportunities that we believe will make them more attractive for
leasing to new tenants, right-sizing of anchor spaces while increasing rental rates, and re-leasing spaces to existing tenants at increased rental rates;

*  completion of our eight active development and redevelopment projects;
* evaluation of the entitled land holdings to determine the optimal real estate use and capital allocation decisions;

» disposing of selected assets that no longer meet our long-term investment criteria and recycling the net proceeds into properties that provide attractive
returns and rent growth potential in targeted markets or using the proceeds to repay debt, thereby reducing our leverage; and

+  selectively pursuing the acquisition of retail operating properties, portfolios and companies in markets with strong demographics.
In evaluating opportunities for potential acquisition, development, redevelopment and disposition, we consider a number of factors, including:
» the expected returns and related risks associated with the investments relative to our weighted cost of capital to make such investments;

» the current and projected cash flow and market value of the property and the potential to increase cash flow and market value if the property were to
be successfully re-leased or redeveloped,

» the price being offered for the property, the current and projected operating performance of the property, the tax consequences of the transaction, and
other related factors;

*  opportunities for strengthening the tenant mix at our properties through the placement of anchor tenants such as grocers, value retailers, hardware
stores, or sporting goods retailers, as well as further enhancing a diverse tenant mix that includes restaurants, specialty shops, and other essential
retailers that provide staple goods to the community and offer a high level of convenience;

» the geographic location and configuration of the property, including ease of access, availability of parking, visibility, and the demographics of the
surrounding area; and

» the level of success of existing properties in the same or nearby markets.

We successfully executed our growth strategy in 2021 with the completion of our transformative Merger with RPAI. The transaction created a top five
shopping center real estate investment trust (“REIT”) based upon enterprise value, enhanced our portfolio quality with entry into strategic gateway markets and
bolstered our presence in existing markets, lowered our cost of capital, enhanced our near-term organic growth through lease-up and select development
opportunities, and strengthened our balance sheet with limited near-term debt maturities.

Competition

The U.S. commercial real estate market continues to be highly competitive. We face competition from other REITs, including other retail REITSs, and other
owner-operators engaged in the ownership, leasing, acquisition, and development of shopping centers as well as from numerous local, regional and national real
estate developers and owners in each of our markets. Some of these competitors may have greater capital resources than we do, although we do not believe that any
single competitor or group of competitors is dominant in any of the markets in which we own properties.

We face significant competition in our efforts to lease available space to prospective tenants at our operating, development and redevelopment properties.
The nature of the competition for tenants varies based on the characteristics of each local market in which we own properties. We believe that the principal
competitive factors in attracting tenants in our market areas are location, demographics, rental rates, the presence of anchor stores, competitor shopping centers in
the same geographic area and the maintenance, appearance, access and traffic patterns of our properties. There can be no assurance in the future that we will be
able to compete successfully with our competitors in our development, acquisition and leasing activities.



Government Regulation
We and our properties are subject to a variety of federal, state, and local environmental, health, safety and similar laws, including:

Americans with Disabilities Act and Other Regulations. Our properties must comply with Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act (the “ADA”), to
the extent that such properties are public accommodations as defined by the ADA. The ADA may require removal of structural barriers to access by persons with
disabilities in certain public areas of our properties where such removal is readily achievable. We believe our properties are in substantial compliance with the
ADA and that we will not be required to make substantial capital expenditures to address the requirements of the ADA. However, noncompliance with the ADA
could result in orders requiring us to spend substantial sums to cure violations, pay attorneys’ fees, or pay other amounts. The obligation to make readily accessible
accommodations is an ongoing one, and we will continue to assess our properties and make alterations as appropriate in this respect. In addition, our properties are
subject to fire and safety regulations, building codes and other land use regulations.

Affordable Care Act. We may be subject to excise taxes under the employer mandate provisions of the Affordable Care Act (the “ACA”) if we (i) do not
offer health care coverage to substantially all of our full-time employees and their dependents or (ii) do not offer health care coverage that meets the ACA’s
affordability and minimum value standards. The excise tax is based on the number of full-time employees. We do not anticipate being subject to a penalty under
the ACA; however, even in the event that we are, any such penalty would be less than $1.0 million, as we had 241 full-time employees as of December 31, 2021.

Environmental Regulations. Some properties in our portfolio contain, may have contained or are adjacent to or near other properties that have contained or
currently contain underground storage tanks for petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances. These storage tanks may have released, or have the
potential to release, such substances into the environment.

In addition, some of our properties have tenants which may use hazardous or toxic substances in the routine course of their businesses. In general, these
tenants have covenanted in their leases with us to use these substances, if any, in compliance with all environmental laws and have agreed to indemnify us for any
damages we may suffer as a result of their use of such substances. However, these lease provisions may not fully protect us in the event that a tenant becomes
insolvent. Finally, certain of our properties have contained asbestos-containing building materials (“ACBM”), and other properties may have contained such
materials based on the date of its construction. Environmental laws require that ACBM be properly managed and maintained, and fines and penalties may be
imposed on building owners or operators for failure to comply with these requirements. The laws also may allow third parties to seek recovery from owners or
operators for personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos fibers.

Neither existing environmental, health, safety and similar laws nor the costs of our compliance with these laws has had a material adverse effect on our
financial condition or results operations, and management does not believe they will in the future. In addition, we have not incurred, and do not expect to incur, any
material costs or liabilities due to environmental contamination at properties we currently own or have owned in the past. However, we cannot predict the impact
of new or changed laws or regulations on properties we currently own or may acquire in the future.

With environmental sustainability becoming a national priority, we have continued to demonstrate our strong commitment to be a responsible corporate
citizen through resource reduction and employee training that has resulted in reductions of energy consumption, waste and improved maintenance cycles.

COVID-19 Regulations. As discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, during the COVID-19 pandemic, our properties and our tenants have been
subject to public health regulations and control measures, including states of emergency, mandatory quarantines, “shelter in place” orders, border closures,
restrictions on types of businesses that may continue to operate, “social distancing” guidelines and other travel and gathering restrictions and practices, that have
significantly impacted our business. See page 13 of Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for further information.

Insurance

We carry comprehensive liability, fire, extended coverage, and rental loss insurance that covers all properties in our portfolio. We believe the policy
specifications and insured limits are appropriate and adequate given the relative risk of loss, the cost of the coverage, geographic locations of our assets and
industry practice. Certain risks such as loss from riots, war or acts of God, and, in some cases, flooding are not insurable or the cost to insure over these events is
costs prohibitive; therefore, we do not carry insurance for these losses. Some of our policies, such as those covering losses due to terrorism and floods, are



insured subject to limitations involving large deductibles or co-payments and policy limits that may not be sufficient to cover losses.
Offices

Our principal executive office is located at 30 S. Meridian Street, Suite 1100, Indianapolis, IN 46204. Our telephone number is (317) 577-5600.
Human Capital

As of December 31, 2021, we had 241 full-time employees. The majority of these employees were based at our Indianapolis, Indiana headquarters though
we also maintain regional offices across the United States. We believe our employees are the most important part of our business. We are committed to providing a
work environment that attracts, develops and retains high-performing individuals and that treats employees with dignity and respect.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Our policies are designed to promote fairness, equal opportunities, and diversity within the Company. When attracting, developing and retaining talent, we
seek individuals who hold varied experiences and viewpoints and embody our core values to create an inclusive and diverse culture and workplace that allows each
employee to do their best work and drive our collective success. We believe that a diverse workforce possesses a broader array of perspectives that businesses need
to remain competitive in today’s economy. We maintain employment policies that comply with federal, state and local labor laws and promote a culture of fairness
and respect. These policies set forth our goal to provide equal employment opportunity without discrimination or harassment on the basis of age, gender (including
identity or expression), marital status, civil partnership status, sexual orientation, disability, color, nationality, race or ethnic origin or religion or belief.

We previously established a diversity target of 20% female representation on our Board of Trustees and a goal of at least one committee to be chaired by a
female, taking into consideration the experience and skill sets required of the Board of Trustees. As of the date of this filing, we are proud to have achieved these
goals, with females comprising over 20% of our Board of Trustees and the chairing of our Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee by a female trustee.
In addition, we annually conduct a respect in the workplace and diversity training to further enhance our cultural behaviors. As of December 31, 2021,
approximately 47% of our workforce was female and minorities represented approximately 19% of our team.

Professional Development and Training

We believe a commitment to our employees’ learning and development through training, educational opportunities and mentorship is critical to our ability
to continue to innovate. We focus on leadership development at every level of the organization. We align employees’ goals with our overall strategic direction to
create a clear link between individual efforts and the long-term success of the company and then provide effective feedback on their performance towards goals to
ensure their growth. Through performance plans, talent recognition and individual development planning, along with reward packages, we advance our talent pool
and create a sustainable and long-term enterprise. The Company provides reimbursement for those seeking to further their education through degree or certification
programs.

Community Development

We seek to foster a corporate culture where our many stakeholders, including our employees, engage in the topic of community development and
collaborate to extend resources towards the advancement of this principle. We are proud to be an active citizen of the communities in which we operate. In
furtherance of this commitment, we partner with and support local charitable organizations that we believe are contributing to the growth and development of the
community. Our Kite Cares initiative contributes to the welfare of local youth and those in need. The program’s efforts are community-focused and have included:

» charitable grants to programs benefiting our communities;
» fundraising to support displaced workers;

»  contributions to healthcare workers and first responders; and

«  construction of a youth community center.



In addition in recent years, our employees have donated and coordinated substantial fundraising and have spent many hours volunteering to support a
variety of charities with which we partner.

Team Wellness

The health, safety and well-being of our employees are always top priorities, and we believe our actions in response to COVID-19 were appropriate and in
accordance with state and local health and safety laws. Among other things, we adopted remote working and flexible scheduling arrangements and implemented
additional health and safety measures for employees working in our offices.

Environmental, Social and Governance Matters

The Company strives to be a responsible corporate citizen, and we recognize the importance that environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) initiatives
play in our ability to generate long-term, sustainable returns. To assist us in setting and meeting ESG goals, we formed a cross-functional task force (“ESG Task
Force”) in 2020 to review ESG issues that are important to investors and regularly report to the Board of Trustees on ESG efforts. The ESG Task Force is led by
our Chief Executive Officer and includes members from our asset management, employee experience, investor relations, marketing, internal audit, and legal
departments.

In 2020, the ESG Task Force issued our ESG Policy and Corporate Citizenship Report, which is published on our website. In 2021, the Company has
undertaken multiple projects to make its operations more efficient and to reduce energy and water consumption, including installing LED lighting at 15 properties,
receiving IREM certifications for 29 properties, increasing the number of electric-vehicle charging stations to 100 stations across eight properties, and
implementing smart meters and other initiatives aimed at water conservation, recycling and waste diversion at our properties. Recent business initiatives encourage
tenants to adopt green leases, also known as “high-performance” or “energy-aligned” leases, to equitably align the costs and benefits of energy and water
efficiency investments for building owners and tenants, based on principles and best practices from the Green Lease Leaders Reference Guide by the Institute for
Market Transformation and the U.S. Department of Energy. The Company also partnered with One Tree Planted, a non-profit organization committed to
reforestation, to plant new trees in 2020 and continued this program in 2021. We continue to evaluate potential actions that might reduce our carbon footprint or
otherwise mitigate our environmental impact.

As described above, we are highly committed to our employees, and our policies are designed to promote fairness, equal opportunities, diversity, well-being
and professional development within the Company. Our corporate governance structure, led by our Board of Trustees, closely aligns our interests with those of our
shareholders, as further described in our annual Proxy Statement.

Available Information

Our internet website address is www.kiterealty.com. You can obtain on our website, free of charge, a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically
file such reports or amendments with, or furnish them to, the SEC. Our internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended
to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Also available on our website are copies of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our Code of Ethics for Principal Executive Officer and Senior
Financial Officers, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, and the charters for each of the committees of our Board of Trustees—the Audit Committee, the
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, and the Compensation Committee. Copies of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, our Code of Ethics for
Principal Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, our Corporate Governance Guidelines, and our committee charters are also available from us in print
and free of charge to any shareholder upon request. Any person wishing to obtain such copies in print should contact our Investor Relations department by mail at
our principal executive office.

The SEC maintains a website (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy statements, information statements, and other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements made in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and presented elsewhere by our management from time to time. These factors, among others, may have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, operating results and cash



flows, including our ability to make distributions to our shareholders, and you should carefully consider them. It is not possible to predict or identify all such
factors. You should not consider this list to be a complete statement of all potential risks or uncertainties. Past performance should not be considered an indication
of future performance. We have separated the risks into three categories: (i) risks related to our operations; (ii) risks related to our organization and structure; and
(iii) risks related to tax matters.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR OPERATIONS

We may be unable to integrate our business with RPAI’s business successfully or realize the anticipated synergies and related benefits of the Merger or do so
within the anticipated time frame. We may also incur substantial expenses related to the integration process.

The Merger effected the combination of two companies that previously operated as independent public companies. We have, and will continue to, devote
significant management attention and resources to integrating the business practices and operations of RPAI with ours. Potential difficulties we may encounter in
the integration process include the following:

e the inability to combine our and RPAI’s businesses successfully in a manner that permits us to achieve the cost savings or other anticipated strategic
and financial benefits anticipated to result from the Merger, which would result in some anticipated benefits of the Merger not being realized in the time
frame currently anticipated or at all;

*  the inability to successfully realize the anticipated value from the RPAI assets;

«  the complexities associated with integrating personnel from the two companies and the failure of the combined company to retain key employees of
either of the two companies;

« the additional complexities of combining two companies with different histories, cultures, processes, strategies, markets and tenant bases;
» the complexities associated with applying our standards, controls, policies and procedures over a significantly larger base of assets;
*  potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the Merger; and

* performance shortfalls as a result of the diversion of management’s attention caused by completing the Merger and integrating the companies’
operations.

We may also incur substantial expenses in connection with integrating the business, operations, networks, systems, technologies, policies and procedures of
the two companies. Although we have assumed that a certain level of transaction and integration expenses would be incurred, there are a number of factors beyond
our control that could affect the total amount or timing of the integration expenses.

For all these reasons, it is possible that the integration process could result in the distraction of our management, the disruption of our ongoing business or
inconsistencies in our operations, services, standards, controls, policies and procedures, and that the integration expenses associated with the Merger could,
particularly in the near term, exceed the savings that we expect to achieve from the anticipated synergies, any of which could adversely affect our ability to
maintain relationships with tenants, customers, vendors and employees or to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Merger, or could otherwise adversely affect our
business and financial results.

The COVID-19 pandemic and measures intended to prevent its spread has caused, and other future public health crises could cause, severe disruptions in the
U.S., regional and global economies.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and a future outbreak of a highly infectious or contagious disease or other public health crisis could similarly have,
significant repercussions across local, regional, national and global economies, including the retail sector within the U.S., and has contributed to significant
volatility and negative pressure in the financial markets. Since early 2020, many U.S. states and cities, including where we own properties and/or have
development sites, have at times imposed measures intended to control the spread of COVID-19, such as instituting “shelter in place” rules, limitations on public
gatherings and restrictions on certain business operations.



The COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted our business and has had a significant adverse effect, and could continue to significantly adversely impact and
disrupt, our business, financial performance and condition, operating results and cash flows. Additional factors that have negatively impacted, and may negatively
impact in the future, our ability to operate successfully as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, include, among others:

* the inability of our tenants to meet their lease obligations to us in full, or at all, due to (i) complete or partial closures of, or a decrease in customer
traffic at, one or more of our properties resulting from government or tenant actions related to the pandemic; or (ii) local, regional or national economic
conditions caused by the pandemic;

*  liquidity issues resulting from (i) reduced cash flow from operations due to the pandemic, which could impact our future ability to pay dividends to our
shareholders at past levels, (ii) the impact that lower operating results could have on our ability to meet the financial covenants in our debt agreements,
and (ii1) difficulty in accessing debt and equity capital on attractive terms or at all;

* an acceleration of changes in consumer behavior in favor of e-commerce;

»  business continuity disruptions and a deterioration in our or our tenants’ ability to operate in affected areas or delays in the supply of products or
services to us or our tenants from vendors that are needed to operate efficiently, causing costs to rise sharply and inventory to fall;

« the potential negative impact on the health of our employees, including our executive management team and key employees, or the employees of our
tenants; and

» the scaling back or delay of a significant amount of planned capital expenditures, including planned redevelopment projects, which could adversely
affect the value of our properties.

The extent to which COVID-19 ultimately impacts our business and that of our tenants will depend, in part, on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope, severity and duration of the pandemic, including any resurgences and variants of COVID-
19, and the actions taken to contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, all of which could vary by geographic region.

Our business, financial condition, performance, and value are subject to risks and conditions associated with real estate assets and the real estate industry.

Our primary business is the ownership, operation, acquisition development and redevelopment of high-quality, open-air shopping centers and mixed-use
assets. Our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flow, per share trading price of our common shares, ability to satisfy debt service obligations,
and ability to make distributions to shareholders are subject to, and could be materially and adversely affected by, risks associated with acquiring, owning and
operating such real estate assets, including events and conditions that are beyond our control such as periods of economic slowdown or recession, declines in the
financial condition of our tenants, rising interest rates, difficulty in leasing vacant space or renewing existing tenants, or decline in value of our assets, or the public
perception that any of these events may occur. Additionally, complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forgo and/or liquidate otherwise attractive
investments. These actions could have the effect of reducing our income and amount available for distribution to shareholders. Thus, compliance with the REIT
requirements may hinder our ability to make or, in certain cases, maintain ownership of, certain attractive investments.

Ongoing challenges facing our retail tenants and non-owned anchor tenants, including bankruptcies, financial instability and consolidations, may have a
material adverse effect on our business.

We derive the majority of our revenue from retail tenants who lease space from us at our properties, and our ability to generate cash from operations is

dependent on the rents that we are able to charge and collect. Over the past several years, sustained weakness in certain sectors of the U.S. economy has resulted in
the bankruptcy or weakened financial condition of a number of retailers, including some of our tenants, and increased store closures. Tenants may also choose to
consolidate, downsize or relocate their operations for various reasons, including mergers or other restructurings. These events, or other similar events, and
economic conditions are beyond our control and could affect the overall economy, as well as specific properties in our portfolio and our overall cash flow and
results of operations, including the following (any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business):

*  Collections. Tenants may have difficulty paying their rent obligations when due or they may request rent deferrals, reductions or abatements.

e Leasing. Tenants may delay or cancel lease commencements, decline to extend or renew leases upon expiration, close stores or declare bankruptcy,
which could result in the termination of the tenant’s lease with us and the related loss of rental income. Such terminations or cancellations could result
in lease terminations or reductions in rent by



other tenants in the same shopping center because of contractual co-tenancy termination or rent reduction rights contained in some leases.

*  Re-leasing. We may be unable to re-lease vacated space at attractive rents or at all. In some cases, it may take extended periods of time or increased
costs to re-lease a space. The inability to re-lease space at attractive rents, particularly if it involves a substantial tenant or a non-owned anchor with
ground leases in multiple locations, could have a material adverse effect on us.

Tenant bankruptcies could present difficulties for our business to collect rent or make claims against a tenant in bankrupicy.

A bankruptcy filing by one of our tenants or a lease guarantor would legally prohibit us from collecting pre-bankruptcy debts or unpaid rent from that tenant
or the lease guarantor, unless we receive an order from the bankruptcy court permitting us to do so. Such bankruptcies could delay, reduce, or ultimately preclude
collection of amounts owed to us, including both past and future rent. A tenant in bankruptcy may attempt to renegotiate the lease or request significant rent
concessions. If a lease is assumed by a tenant, all pre-bankruptcy balances due under the lease must be paid to us in full. However, if a lease is rejected by a tenant
in bankruptcy, we would have only a general unsecured claim for damages. Any unsecured claim we hold may be paid only to the extent that funds are available
and only in the same percentage as is paid to all other holders of unsecured claims. There are restrictions under bankruptcy laws that limit the amount of the claim
we can make for future rent under a lease if the lease is rejected. As a result, it is likely that we would recover substantially less than the full value of any unsecured
claims we hold from a tenant in bankruptcy, which would result in a reduction in our cash flow and could have a material adverse effect on us.

The expansion of e-commerce may impact our tenants and our business.

The prominence of e-commerce continues to increase and its growth could have an adverse impact on some of our tenants and affect decisions made by
current and prospective tenants in leasing space, including reduction of the size or number of their retail locations in the future. We cannot predict with certainty
how the growth in e-commerce will impact the demand for space or the revenue generated at our properties in the future. Although we continue to aggressively
respond to these trends, including by entering into or renewing leases with tenants whose businesses are either more resistant to or are synergistic with e-commerce
and renovating our properties to allow our tenants to serve last mile fulfillment functions, the risks associated with e-commerce could have a material adverse
effect on the business outlook and financial results of our present and future tenants, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on us.

We face significant competition, which may impact our rental rates, leasing terms and capital improvements.

We compete for tenants with numerous developers, owners and operators of retail shopping centers, regional malls, and outlet malls, including institutional
investors, other REITs, and other owner-operators. As of December 31, 2021, leases representing 9.1% of our total retail ABR were scheduled to expire in
2022. Our competitors may have greater capital resources or be willing to offer lower rental rates or more favorable terms for tenants, such as substantial rent
reductions or abatements, tenant allowances or other improvements, and early termination rights, which may pressure us to reduce our rental rates, undertake
unexpected capital improvements or offer other terms less favorable to us, which could adversely affect our financial condition. Additionally, if retailers or
consumers perceive that shopping at other venues or online is more convenient, cost-effective or otherwise more attractive, our revenues and results of operations
also may suffer.

Because of our geographic concentrations, a prolonged economic downturn in certain states and regions could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

The specific markets in which we operate may face challenging economic conditions that could persist into the future. In particular, as of December 31,
2021, rents from our owned retail square footage in the states of Texas, Florida, New York, Maryland, and North Carolina comprised 24.0%, 9.9%, 5.8%, 5.8%,
and 5.1% of our base rent, respectively. This level of concentration could expose us to greater economic risks than if we owned properties in more geographic
regions. Adverse economic or real estate trends in these states or the surrounding regions or any decrease in demand for retail space resulting from the local
regulatory environment, business climate or fiscal problems in these states, could materially and adversely affect us.

We depend on external financing to fulfill our capital needs, and disruptions in the financial markets could affect our ability to obtain financing on reasonable
terms, or at all, and have other material adverse effects on our business.

Partly because of the distribution requirements of being a REIT, we may not be able to fund all future capital needs with income from operations.
Consequently, we may rely on external financing to fulfill our capital needs. Disruptions in the



financial markets could impact our ability to acquire or develop properties when strategic opportunities exist, satisfy our principal and interest obligations or make
distributions to our shareholders. These disruptions could impact the overall amount of equity and debt financing available, lower loan to value ratios, cause a
tightening of lender underwriting standards and terms and higher interest rate spreads. As a result, we may be unable to refinance or extend our existing
indebtedness on favorable terms or at all. We have $153.5 million of debt principal scheduled to mature through December 31, 2022. If we are not successful in
refinancing our outstanding debt when it becomes due, we may have to dispose of properties on disadvantageous terms, which could adversely affect our ability to
service other debt and to meet our other obligations. If economic conditions deteriorate in any of our markets, we may have to seek less attractive, alternative
sources of financing and adjust our business plan accordingly.

We have a significant amount of indebtedness outstanding and may need to incur more in the future.

We have $3.2 billion of consolidated indebtedness outstanding as of December 31, 2021, including the assumption of approximately $1.8 billion of debt in
connection with the Merger. As of December 31, 2021, $239.0 million of our debt bore interest at variable rates, after giving effect to interest rate swaps. Interest
rates are currently low relative to historical levels and may increase significantly in the future. If our interest expense increased significantly, it could materially
adversely affect us. For example, if market rates of interest on our variable rate debt outstanding, net of hedges, as of December 31, 2021 increased by 1%, the
increase in interest expense on our unhedged variable rate debt would decrease future cash flows by approximately $2.4 million annually.

We may incur additional debt in connection with various development and redevelopment projects and upon the future acquisition of operating properties.
Our organizational documents do not limit the amount of indebtedness that we may incur. In addition, we may increase our mortgage debt by obtaining loans
secured by some or all of the real estate properties we develop or acquire. We also may borrow funds if necessary to satisfy the requirement that we distribute to
shareholders at least 90% of our annual “REIT taxable income” (determined before the deduction of dividends paid and excluding net capital gains) or otherwise as
is necessary or advisable to ensure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise avoid paying taxes that can be
eliminated through distributions to our shareholders.

Our substantial debt could materially and adversely affect our business in other ways, including by, among other things: (i) requiring us to use a substantial
portion of our cash flows from operations to service our indebtedness, which would reduce the available cash flow to fund general corporate purposes and reduce
cash for distributions; (ii) limiting our ability to obtain additional financing to fund our working capital needs, capital expenditures, acquisitions, other debt service
requirements or other purposes; (iii) increasing our costs of incurring additional debt and our exposure to floating interest rates; (iv) making us more vulnerable to
economic and industry downturns and reducing our flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions; and (v) placing us at a competitive
disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt. The impact of any of these potential adverse consequences could have a material adverse effect on
us.

We could be adversely affected by the financial and other covenants and provisions contained in our credit facility, term loan agreements and note purchase
agreements.

Our debt agreements relating to our senior unsecured credit facility, senior unsecured term loans and private placement notes require compliance with
certain financial and operating covenants, including, among other things, the requirement to maintain maximum unencumbered, secured and consolidated leverage
ratios and minimum fixed charge and unencumbered interest coverage ratios, as well as limitations on our ability to incur debt, make dividend payments, sell all or
substantially all of our assets and engage in mergers and consolidations and certain acquisitions. Given the restrictions in our debt agreement covenants, we may be
limited in our operating and financial flexibility and in our ability to respond to changes in our business or pursue strategic opportunities in the future, including the
ability to obtain additional funds needed to address cash shortfalls or pursue growth opportunities or other accretive transactions. Further, certain of our debt
agreements relating to our senior unsecured credit facility and senior unsecured term loans are priced, in part, on leverage grids that reset quarterly. Deterioration in
our leverage covenant calculations could lead to a higher credit spread component within the applicable interest rate for these debt agreements and result in higher
interest expense.

In addition, these debt agreements contain certain events of default that include, but are not limited to, failure to make principal or interest payments when
due, failure to perform or observe any term, covenant or condition contained in the agreements, failure to maintain certain financial and operating ratios and other
criteria, misrepresentations, acceleration of other material indebtedness and bankruptcy proceedings. In the event of a default under any of these agreements, the
lenders or holders of our private placement notes would have various rights including, but not limited to, the ability to require the acceleration of the payment of all
principal and interest when due and/or to terminate the agreements and, to the extent such debt is secured, to foreclose on the properties. The declaration of a
default and/or the acceleration of the amount due under any



such credit agreement or note purchase agreement could have a material adverse effect on our business, limit our ability to make distributions to our shareholders,
and prevent us from obtaining additional funds needed to address cash shortfalls or pursue growth opportunities.

The agreements relating to our credit facility, unsecured term loans and private placement notes contain cross-defaults to certain other material indebtedness
(including recourse indebtedness in excess of $40.0 million or $50.0 million, depending on the agreement), such that an “Event of Default” under one of these
facilities or loans could trigger an “Event of Default” under the other facilities or loans. These provisions could allow the lending institutions and noteholders to
accelerate the amount due under the loans and private placement notes. If payment is accelerated, our liquid assets may not be sufficient to repay such debt in full.
We were in compliance with all applicable covenants under the agreements relating to our senior unsecured credit facility, senior unsecured term loans, and senior
unsecured notes as of December 31, 2021, although there can be no assurance that we will continue to remain in compliance in the future.

Our credit ratings may not reflect all the risks of an investment in our debt.

Our credit ratings are assessments by rating agencies of our ability to pay our debts when due. Credit ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by a
rating agency at its sole discretion. We do not undertake any obligation to maintain our ratings or advise our debt holders of any change in our ratings, and there
can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our current credit ratings. Adverse changes in our credit ratings could significantly reduce the market price of
our publicly traded debt and could impact our ability to obtain additional debt and equity financing on favorable terms or at all.

Mortgage debt obligations expose us to the possibility of foreclosure, which could result in the loss of our investment in a property or group of properties
subject to mortgage debt.

A portion of our indebtedness is secured by our real estate assets, which could be subject to foreclosure by the lender or holder of the mortgage if we fail to
make required mortgage payments. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to
the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If such balance exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on
foreclosure but would not receive any cash proceeds, which could hinder our ability to meet the REIT distribution requirements imposed by Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). If any of our properties are foreclosed on due to a default, our ability to pay cash distributions to our shareholders will be
limited, and due to cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default under certain mortgage loans could result in a default on other indebtedness and
cause us to lose other better performing properties.

We are subject to risks associated with hedging agreements, including potential performance failures by counterparties and termination costs.

We use a combination of interest rate protection agreements, including interest rate swaps, to manage risk associated with interest rate volatility. This may
expose us to additional risks, including a risk that the counterparty to a hedging arrangement may fail to honor its obligations. Developing an effective interest rate
risk strategy is complex and no strategy can completely insulate us from the risks associated with interest rate fluctuations. There can be no assurance that our
hedging activities will have the desired beneficial effect on our results of operations or financial condition. Further, should we choose to terminate a hedging
agreement, there could be significant costs and cash requirements involved to fulfill our initial obligation under such agreement.

We may be adversely affected by changes in LIBOR reporting practices, the method in which LIBOR is determined or the use of alternative reference rates.

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $959.0 million of debt and $875.0 million of derivatives outstanding that were indexed to the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). Certain tenors of LIBOR will remain available through June 2023, however, LIBOR is no longer permitted to be used in new
contracts after December 31, 2021 and existing contracts will be transitioned to alternative interest rates. When LIBOR is discontinued, the interest rate for certain
of our debt instruments that are indexed to LIBOR will be determined using various alternative methods, any of which may result in interest obligations that are
more than or do not otherwise correlate over time with the payments that would have been made on such debt if LIBOR was available in its current form, which
could have a material adverse effect on our financing costs, and as a result, our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.



Joint venture investments could be adversely affected by the structure and terms thereof and the activities of our joint venture partners.

As of December 31, 2021, we owned interests in two of our operating retail properties and one development project through consolidated joint ventures and
interests in three operating retail properties, a hotel component of an operating property, a multifamily component of an operating property, and one development
project through unconsolidated joint ventures, and in the future, we may seek to co-invest with third parties through other joint ventures. Our joint ventures and the
value and performance of such investments may involve risks not present with respect to our wholly owned properties, including (i) shared decision-making
authority, which may prevent us from taking actions that are in our best interest, (ii) restrictions on the ability to sell our interests in the joint ventures without the
other partners’ consent, (iii) potential conflicts of interest or other disputes, including potential litigation or arbitration that would prevent our management team
from focusing their time and effort on our business, (iv) potential losses or increased costs or expenses arising from actions taken in respect of the joint ventures,
(v) actions by our partners that could jeopardize our REIT status, require us to pay taxes or subject the properties owned by the joint venture to liabilities greater
than those contemplated by the terms of the joint venture agreements, and (vi) joint venture agreements may contain buy-sell provisions pursuant to which one
partner may initiate procedures requiring us to buy the other partner’s interest, all of which could affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
cash flow.

Developments and redevelopments have inherent risks that could adversely impact us.

As of December 31, 2021, we have eight development and redevelopment projects under construction and five redevelopment opportunities currently in the
planning stage, including de-leasing space and evaluating development plans and costs with potential tenants and partners. Some of these plans include non-retail
uses, such as multifamily housing. New development and redevelopment projects are subject to a number of risks, including the following:

»  expenditure of capital and time on projects that may not be pursued or completed;

* inability to obtain necessary zoning or regulatory approvals;

»  higher than estimated construction or operating costs, including labor and material costs;
* inability to complete construction on schedule;

* significant time lag between commencement and stabilization resulting in delayed returns and greater risks due to fluctuations in the general economy,
shifts in demographics and competition;

e decrease in customer traffic during the development period causing a decrease in tenant sales;

*  inability to secure key anchor or other tenants or complete the lease-up at anticipated absorption rates or at all;
*  occupancy and rental rates at a newly completed project may not meet expectations;

e investment returns from developments may be less than expected; and

«  suspension of development projects after construction has begun due to changes in economic conditions or other factors that may result in the write-off
of costs, payment of additional costs or increases in overall costs if the project is restarted.

In deciding whether to develop or redevelop a particular property, we make certain assumptions regarding the expected future performance of that property,
and our financial performance may be materially and adversely affected, or in the case of an unsuccessful redevelopment project, our entire investment could be at
risk for loss, or an impairment charge could occur.

To the extent that we pursue acquisitions in the future, we may not be successful in acquiring desirable operating properties, which may impede our growth.

From time to time, consistent with our business strategy, we evaluate the market and may acquire properties when we believe strategic opportunities exist.
When we pursue acquisitions, we may face competition from other real estate investors, which could limit our ability to acquire properties, increase the purchase
price we are required to pay thus reducing the return to our shareholders, and cause us to agree to material restrictions or limitations in the acquisition agreements.
These factors and any others could impede our growth and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.



We may be unable to sell properties at the time we desire and on favorable terms or at all, which could limit our ability to access capital through dispositions.

Real estate property investments generally cannot be sold quickly. Our ability to dispose of properties on advantageous terms depends on factors beyond our
control, and we cannot predict the various market conditions affecting real estate investments that will exist in the future. We may not be able to dispose of any of
our properties on terms favorable to us or at all, and each individual sale will depend on, among other things, economic and market conditions, competition from
other sellers, individual asset characteristics and the availability of potential buyers and favorable financing terms at the time. Further, we may incur expenses and
transaction costs in connection with dispositions.

In addition, the Code generally imposes a 100% penalty tax on gain recognized by REITs upon the disposition of assets if the assets are held primarily for
sale in the ordinary course of business rather than for investment, which could cause us to forego or defer sales of properties that might otherwise be in our best
interest to sell, which may limit our ability to adjust our portfolio mix promptly in response to market conditions. We will also be subject to income taxes on gains
from the sale of any properties owned by any taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”).

We could experience a decline in the fair value of our real estate assets and be subject to impairment charges, which could be material.

Our long-lived assets, primarily real estate held for investment, are carried at cost unless circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not
be recoverable through future operations. Changes in our disposition strategy or changes in the marketplace may alter the hold period of an asset or asset group,
which may result in an impairment loss, and such loss could be material to our financial condition or operating performance. To the extent that the carrying value
of the asset exceeds the estimated undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized equal to the excess of the carrying value over estimated fair value
(which is highly subjective and involves a significant degree of management judgment regarding various inputs). We did not record any impairment charges during
the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we recorded impairment charges totaling $37.7 million related to a
reduction in the expected holding period of certain operating properties. There can be no assurances that we will not take additional charges in the future related to
the impairment of our assets, which could result in an immediate negative adjustment to net income and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
in the period in which the charge is taken.

We could be materially and adversely affected if we are found to be in breach of a ground lease at one of our properties or are unable to renew a ground lease.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 10 properties in our portfolio that are either completely or partially on land that is owned by third parties and leased to us
pursuant to ground leases. If we are found to be in breach of a ground lease and that breach cannot be cured or we are unable to extend the lease terms or purchase
the fee interest in the underlying land prior to expiration, as to which no assurance can be given, we could lose our interest in the improvements and the right to
operate the property, and we would be unable to derive income from such property. Assuming we exercise all available options to extend the terms of our ground
leases, our ground leases will expire between 2043 and 2115. In certain cases, our ability to exercise the extension option is subject to the condition that we are not
in default at the time we exercise such option, and we can provide no assurances that we will be able to exercise our options.

Uninsured losses or losses in excess of insurance coverage could materially and adversely affect us.

We do not carry insurance for generally uninsurable losses such as loss from riots, war or acts of God, and, in some cases, flooding, and insurance
companies may no longer offer coverage against certain types of losses such as environmental liabilities or other catastrophic events or, if offered, the expense of
obtaining such coverage may not be justified. Some of our policies, such as those covering losses due to terrorism and floods, are insured subject to limitations, and
in the future, we may be unable to renew or duplicate our current insurance coverage at adequate levels or at reasonable prices. In addition, tenants generally are
required to indemnify and hold us harmless from liabilities resulting from injury to persons or damage to personal or real property on the premises due to activities
conducted by tenants or their agents (including, without limitation, any environmental contamination) and, at the tenant’s expense, to obtain and keep in full force
during the term of the lease, liability and property damage insurance policies. However, tenants may not properly maintain their insurance policies or have the
ability to pay the deductibles associated with such policies. If we experience a loss that is uninsured or exceeds policy limits, we could lose the capital invested in
the damaged properties as well as the anticipated future cash flows. Inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations, and other
factors also might make it impractical or undesirable to use insurance proceeds to replace a property after it has been damaged or destroyed. In addition, if the
damaged properties are subject to recourse indebtedness, we would continue to be liable for the indebtedness, even if these properties were irreparably damaged.



Our business faces potential risks associated with natural disasters, severe weather conditions, climate change and related legislation and regulations, and
terrorism, any of which could have an adverse effect on us.

Our properties are located in many areas that are subject to, or have been affected by, natural disasters and severe weather conditions such as hurricanes,
tropical storms, tornadoes, earthquakes, droughts, floods and fires. Changing weather patterns and climatic conditions, including as a result of climate change, may
affect the predictability and frequency of natural disasters in some parts of the world and create additional uncertainty as to future trends and exposures, including
certain areas in which our portfolio is concentrated such as Texas, Florida, New York, Maryland, and North Carolina. Over time, the occurrence of natural
disasters, severe weather conditions and changing climatic conditions can delay new development and redevelopment projects, increase repair costs and future
insurance costs and negatively impact the demand for leased space in the affected areas, or in extreme cases, affect our ability to operate the properties at all.

Additionally, changes in federal and state legislation and regulations on climate control could result in increased costs and expenses, such as utility expenses
and/or capital expenditures to improve the energy efficiency of our existing properties, or potentially result in fines for non-compliance.

Potential terrorist attacks and other acts of violence could also harm the demand for, and the value of, our properties, including through damage, destruction,
loss at our properties, increased security costs, and limited availability of insurance for such acts. Such acts could impact our tenant’s ability to meet obligations in
their existing leases, make it difficult for us to renew or re-lease our properties at lease rates equal to or above historical rates, or result in increased volatility in
financial markets and economies.

Any one of these events might decrease demand for real estate, decrease or delay the occupancy of our properties, and limit our access to capital or increase
our cost of raising capital.

We could incur significant costs related to environmental matters, and our efforts to identify environmental liabilities may not be successful.

Under various laws, ordinances and regulations, an owner or operator of real estate may be required to investigate and clean up hazardous or toxic
substances or petroleum product releases at a property and held liable for property damage and for investigation and cost of clean-up. Some of the properties in our
portfolio contain, may have contained or are adjacent to or near other properties that have contained or currently contain underground storage tanks for petroleum
products or other hazardous or toxic substances, and some of our properties have tenants that may use hazardous or toxic substances in the course of their
businesses. Indemnities in our leases may not fully protect us in the event that a tenant responsible for such releases becomes insolvent. The cost of investigation,
remediation or removal of such substances may be substantial, and the presence of such substances, or the failure to properly remediate them, may adversely affect
our ability to sell or rent such property or borrow using such property as collateral. In connection with the ownership, operation and management of real properties,
we are potentially liable for removal or remediation costs, as well as certain other related costs, including governmental fines and injuries to persons and property,
liens on contaminated sites, and restrictions on operations. We may also be liable to third parties for damage and injuries resulting from environmental
contamination emanating from the real estate we own or operate. Finally, certain of our properties have confirmed asbestos-containing building materials
(“ACBM”) and other properties may contain such materials based on the date of building construction. Environmental laws require that ACBM be properly
managed and maintained, and may impose fines and penalties on building owners or operators for failure to comply with these requirements. The laws also may
allow third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators for personal injury associated with exposure to asbestos fibers.

We evaluate our properties for compliance with applicable environmental laws on a limited basis, and we cannot give assurance that existing environmental
studies with respect to our properties reveal all potential environmental liabilities or that current or future uses or conditions (including, without limitation, changes
in applicable environmental laws and regulations or the interpretation thereof) or changes in environmental laws will not result in environmental liabilities.

Compliance with the ADA and fire, safety and other regulations may require us to make significant capital expenditures.

Our properties must comply with Title III of the ADA to the extent that such properties are public accommodations as defined by the ADA. Noncompliance
with the ADA could result in orders requiring us to spend substantial sums to cure violations, pay attorneys’ fees, or pay other amounts. Although we believe our
properties substantially comply with the present requirements of the ADA, we have not conducted an audit or investigation of all properties to determine our
compliance, and while our tenants typically are obligated to cover costs associated with compliance, if required changes involve greater expenditures or faster
timelines than anticipated, the ability of these tenants to cover costs could be adversely affected. In addition, we are required to operate the properties in
compliance with fire and safety regulations, building codes and other land



use regulations, as they are adopted by governmental agencies and bodies and become applicable to the properties. We may be required to make substantial capital
expenditures to comply with, and we may be restricted in our ability to renovate the properties subject to these requirements, which could affect our cash flows and
results of operations.

Inflation may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Most of our leases contain provisions requiring the tenant to pay a share of operating expenses, including common area maintenance or other operating
expenses, based on a fixed amount or fixed percentage that is not subject to adjustment for inflation. However, increased inflation could have a more pronounced
negative impact on our mortgage and debt interest and general and administrative expenses, as these costs could increase at a rate higher than our rents. Also,
inflation may adversely affect tenant leases with stated rent increases or limits on such tenant’s obligation to pay its share of operating expenses, which could be
lower than the increase in inflation at any given time. It may also limit our ability to recover all of our operating expenses. In addition, inflation could have an
adverse effect on consumer spending, which could impact our tenants’ sales and, in turn, our average rents, and in some cases, our percentage rents where
applicable.

We and our tenants face risks relating to cybersecurity attacks that could cause loss of confidential information and other business disruptions.

We and our tenants rely extensively on computer systems to process transactions and manage our respective businesses. Although various measures are
utilized to prevent, detect and mitigate threats, we have been targeted by e-mail phishing attempts and scams in the past, and our business is at risk from, and may
be impacted by, cybersecurity attacks. These could include attempts to gain unauthorized access to our data and computer systems. A cybersecurity attack could
compromise confidential information of our employees, tenants, and vendors. Additionally, we rely on a number of service providers and vendors, and
cybersecurity risks at these service providers and vendors create additional risks for our information and business. A successful attack could lead to identity theft,
fraud or other disruptions to our business operations, any of which may negatively affect us.

While we conduct periodic cybersecurity assessments and use the results of such to create and implement a strategy designed to prevent, detect and respond
to cybersecurity threats, there is no guarantee such efforts will be successful in preventing a cyberattack.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR ORGANIZATION AND STRUCTURE

Our organizational documents and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a change in control of the Company, even if such a
change in control may be in the best interest of our shareholders, and as a result may depress the market price of our common shares.

Our organizational documents contain provisions that may have an anti-takeover effect and inhibit a change of control transaction, which could prevent our
shareholders from being paid a premium for their common shares over the then-prevailing market prices.

(1) There are ownership limits and restrictions on transferability in our declaration of trust. In order for us to qualify as a REIT, no more than 50% of the
value of our outstanding shares may be owned, actually or constructively, by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half of each taxable year. To
ensure that we will not fail to satisfy this requirement and for anti-takeover reasons, our declaration of trust generally prohibits any shareholder (other than an
excepted holder or certain designated investment entities, as defined in our declaration of trust) from owning (actually, constructively or by attribution), more than
7% of the value or number of our outstanding common shares. Our declaration of trust provides an excepted holder limit that allows certain members of the Kite
family (and certain entities controlled by Kite family members), as a group, to own more than 7% of our outstanding common shares, subject to applicable tax
attribution rules. Currently, one of the excepted holders would be attributed all of the common shares owned by each other excepted holder and, accordingly, the
excepted holders as a group would not be allowed to own in excess of 21.5% of our common shares. If at a later time there were not one excepted holder that
would be attributed all of the shares owned by the excepted holders as a group, the excepted holder limit would not permit each excepted holder to own 21.5% of
our common shares. Rather, the excepted holder limit would prevent two or more excepted holders who are treated as individuals under the applicable tax
attribution rules from owning a higher percentage of our common shares than the maximum amount of common shares that could be owned by any one excepted
holder (21.5%), plus the maximum amount of common shares that could be owned by any one or more other individual common shareholders who are not
excepted holders (7%). Certain entities that are defined as designated investment entities in our declaration of trust, which generally include pension funds, mutual
funds, and certain investment management companies, are permitted to own up to 9.8% of our outstanding common shares, so long as each beneficial owner of the
shares owned by such designated investment entity would satisfy the 7% ownership limit if those beneficial owners owned directly their

20



proportionate share of the common shares owned by the designated investment entity. Our Board of Trustees may waive, and has waived in the past, the ownership
limits subject to certain conditions. In addition, our declaration of trust contains certain other ownership restrictions intended to prevent us from earning income
from related parties if such income would cause us to fail to comply with the REIT gross income requirements. The various ownership restrictions may discourage
a tender offer or other change of control transaction or compel a shareholder who has acquired our shares in excess of these ownership limitations to dispose of the
additional shares.

(2) Our declaration of trust permits our Board of Trustees to issue preferred shares with terms that may discourage a third party from acquiring us. Our
declaration of trust permits our Board of Trustees to issue up to 20,000,000 preferred shares, having those preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to distributions, qualifications, or terms or conditions of redemption as determined by our Board of Trustees.

(3) Our declaration of trust and bylaws contain other possible anti-takeover provisions. Our declaration of trust and bylaws contain other provisions, such
as advance notice requirements for shareholder proposals, the ability of our Board of Trustees’ to reclassify shares or issue additional shares, and the absence of
cumulative voting rights that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company or the removal of existing management.

(4) The Maryland General Corporation Law, as amended (the “MGCL”) permits our board of trustees, without shareholder approval and regardless of
what is currently provided in our declaration of trust or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses. Although we have opted out of these provisions of
Maryland law, our Board of Trustees may opt to make these provisions applicable to us at any time, which may have the effect of inhibiting a third party from
making a proposal to acquire us or impeding a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of our common shares with the
opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares.

Our Bylaws provide that the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland will be the exclusive forum for any internal corporate claims and other matters, which
could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our trustees, executive officers, employees or shareholders.

Our bylaws provide the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland, or, if that Court does not have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the
District of Maryland, Northern Division, shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any Internal Corporate Claim as defined under the MGCL, (ii) any derivative
action or proceeding brought in the right or on behalf of the Company, (iii) any action asserting a claim of breach of any duty owed by any trustee, officer,
employee or agent of the Company to the Company or our shareholders, (iv) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any trustee, officer, employee or
agent of the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the MGCL, our Declaration of Trust or our bylaws or (v) any action asserting a claim against the
Company or any trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Company that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

The federal district courts of the United States shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Since Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state
courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder, there is uncertainty as to whether a
court would enforce an exclusive forum provision for actions arising under the Securities Act. The provision may limit a shareholder’s ability to bring a claim in a
judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our trustees, officers, employees or shareholders, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and
our trustees, officers, employees or shareholders. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or
unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect
us.

Our rights and the rights of our shareholders to take action against our trustees and officers are limited.

Maryland law provides that a director or officer has limited liability in that capacity if he or she performs his or her duties in good faith and in a manner that
he or she reasonably believes to be in our best interests and that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar circumstances. Our
declaration of trust and bylaws require us to indemnify our trustees and officers for actions taken by them in those capacities to the extent permitted by Maryland
law.

Certain officers and trustees may have interests that conflict with the interests of shareholders.
Certain of our officers own limited partner units in our Operating Partnership. These individuals may have personal interests that conflict with the interests
of our shareholders with respect to business decisions affecting us and our Operating Partnership, such as interests in the timing and pricing of property sales or

refinancing transactions in order to obtain favorable tax treatment. As a result, the effect of certain transactions on these unit holders may influence our decisions
affecting these properties.
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Departure or loss of our key officers could have an adverse effect on us.

Our future success depends, to a significant extent, upon the continued services of our existing executive officers, whose experience in real estate
acquisition, development, finance and management is a critical element of our future success. If one or more of our key executive officers were to die, become
disabled or otherwise leave the company, we may not be able to replace this person with an executive of equal skill, ability, and industry expertise within a
reasonable timeframe, which could negatively affect our operations and financial condition.

Heightened focus on corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) factors, may impose additional costs and
expose us to risks that could adversely impact our financial condition and the price of our securities.

We are committed to sustainability and corporate responsibility, specifically related to environmental, social and governance factors. Some investors may
use these factors to guide their investment strategies, and potential and current employees, vendors and business partners may consider these factors when
establishing and extending relationships with us. We are focused on being a responsible corporate citizen and provide disclosure regarding our existing ESG
programs within our ESG Policy and Corporate Citizenship Report, which is published on our website. The focus and activism related to ESG and related matters
may constrain our business operations or increase expenses. Additionally, we may face reputational damage in the event our corporate responsibility initiatives do
not meet the standards set by various constituencies, including those of third-party providers of corporate responsibility ratings and reports. Furthermore, should
peer companies outperform us in such metrics, potential or current investors may elect to invest with our competitors and employees, vendors and business partners
may choose not to do business with us, which could have an adverse impact on our financial condition and the price of our securities.

The cash available for distribution to shareholders may not be sufficient to pay distributions at expected levels, nor can we assure you of our ability to make
distributions in the future, and we may use borrowed funds to make cash distributions and/or may choose to make distributions in part payable in our common
shares.

To qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute to our shareholders each year at least 90% of our “REIT taxable income” (determined before the
deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains). In order to eliminate U.S. federal income tax, we are required to distribute annually 100% of our net

taxable income, including capital gains. If cash available for distribution generated by our assets decreases in future periods from expected levels, our inability to
make expected distributions could result in a decrease in the market price of our common shares. All distributions will be made at the discretion of our Board of
Trustees and will depend on our earnings, our financial condition, maintenance of our REIT qualification and other factors as our Board of Trustees may deem
relevant from time to time. We may not be able to make distributions in the future at current levels or at all. In addition, some of our distributions may include a
return of capital. To the extent that we decide to make distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, such distributions would
generally be considered a return of capital for U.S. federal income tax purposes to the extent of the holder’s adjusted tax basis in their shares. A return of capital is
not taxable, but it has the effect of reducing the holder’s adjusted tax basis in its investment. To the extent that distributions exceed the adjusted tax basis of a
holder’s shares, they will be treated as gain from the sale or exchange of such shares. If we borrow to fund distributions, our future interest costs would increase,
thereby reducing our earnings and cash available for distribution from what they otherwise would have been. Finally, although we do not currently intend to do so,
in order to maintain our REIT qualification, we may make distributions that are in part payable in our common shares. Taxable shareholders receiving such
distributions will be required to include the full amount of such distributions as ordinary dividend income to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and
profits and may be required to sell shares received in such distribution or may be required to sell other shares or assets owned by them, at a time that may be
disadvantageous, in order to satisfy any tax imposed on such distribution. If a significant number of our shareholders determine to sell common shares in order to
pay taxes owed on dividend income, such sale may put downward pressure on the market price of our common shares.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would be senior to our equity securities, may adversely affect the market prices of our common shares.
In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by making offerings of debt securities, including unsecured notes, medium term notes, and
senior or subordinated notes, as well as debt securities that are convertible into equity. Holders of our debt securities will generally be entitled to receive interest

payments, both current and in connection with any liquidation or sale, prior to the holders of our common shares. Future offerings of debt securities, or the
perception that such offerings may occur, may reduce the market price of our common shares and/or the distributions we pay with respect to our
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common shares. Because we may generally issue such debt securities in the future without obtaining the consent of our shareholders, our shareholders will bear the
risk of our future offerings reducing the market prices of our equity securities.

RISKS RELATED TO TAX MATTERS
If the Merger does not qualify as a reorganization, there may be adverse tax consequences.

The parties intend that the Merger will be treated as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code, and it was a condition to the Merger
that we and RPAI received opinions from each party’s respective counsel to the effect that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, the Merger constitutes a
reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. These tax opinions represent the legal judgment of counsel rendering the opinion and are not
binding on the Internal Revenue Service or the courts. If the Merger were to fail to qualify as a reorganization, U.S. holders of shares of RPAI common stock
generally would recognize gain or loss, as applicable, equal to the difference between (i) the sum of the fair market value of the Company’s common shares and
cash in lieu of fractional common shares of the Company received by such holder in the Merger; and (ii) such holder’s adjusted tax basis in its RPAI common
stock.

We may incur adverse tax consequences if we fail, or RPAI has failed, to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We believe that we have qualified for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes commencing with our taxable year ended December 31,
2004, and that RPAI had operated in a manner that allowed it to qualify as a REIT, and we intend to operate in a manner we believe allows us to continue to
qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We have not requested and do not plan to request a ruling from the IRS that we qualify as a REIT, and the
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not binding on the IRS or any court. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and
complex provisions of the Code for which there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations. The determination of various factual matters and
circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. In order to qualify as a REIT, we and RPAI must satisfy a number of
requirements, including the ownership of our stock and the composition of our gross income and assets. Also, a REIT must make distributions to shareholders
aggregating annually at least 90% of its net taxable income (excluding any net capital gains). The fact that we hold substantially all of our assets through our
Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries and joint ventures further complicates the application of the REIT requirements for us. Even a technical or inadvertent
mistake could jeopardize our REIT status, and, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs and the ongoing importance of factual
determinations, we cannot provide any assurance that we will continue to qualify as a REIT.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes and are unable to avail ourselves of certain savings provisions set forth in the Code, we
will face serious tax consequences that would substantially reduce our cash available for distribution because:

» we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our net income at regular corporate rates for the years we did not qualify for taxation as a REIT (and,
for such years, would not be allowed a deduction for dividends paid to shareholders in computing our taxable income);

* we could be subject to the federal alternative minimum tax and possibly increased state and local taxes for such periods;

* unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions, neither the Company nor any “successor” corporation, trust or association could
elect to be taxed as a REIT until the fifth taxable year following the year during which we were disqualified;

« if we were to re-elect REIT status, we would have to distribute all earnings and profits from non-REIT years before the end of the first new REIT
taxable year; and

«  for the five years following re-election of REIT status, upon a taxable disposition of an asset owned as of such re-election, we would be subject to
corporate level tax with respect to any built-in gain inherent in such asset at the time of re-election.

Even if we retain our REIT status, if RPAI loses its REIT status for a taxable year before the Merger, we will face serious tax consequences that would
substantially reduce our cash available for distribution because:

* unless we are entitled to relief under applicable statutory provisions, the Company, as the “successor” trust to RPAI could not elect to be taxed as a
REIT until the fifth taxable year following the year during which RPAI was disqualified;
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* the Company, as the successor by merger to RPAI, would be subject to any corporate income tax liabilities of RPAI, including penalties and interest;

*  assuming that we otherwise maintained our REIT qualification, we would be subject to tax on the built-in gain on each asset of RPAI existing at the
time of the Merger if we were to dispose of the RPAI asset for up to five years following the Merger; and

»  assuming that we otherwise maintained our REIT qualification, we would succeed to any earnings and profits accumulated by RPAI for taxable periods
that it did not qualify as a REIT, and we would have to pay a special dividend and/or employ applicable deficiency dividend procedures (including
interest payments to the IRS) to eliminate such earnings and profits.

In addition, if there is an adjustment to RPAI’s taxable income or dividends paid deductions, we could elect to use the deficiency dividend procedure in order to
maintain RPAI’s REIT status. That deficiency dividend procedure could require us to make significant distributions to our shareholders and pay significant interest
to the IRS.

As a result of these factors, our failure (before or after the Merger), or RPAI’s failure (before the Merger), to qualify as a REIT could impair our ability to expand
our business and raise capital, and would materially adversely affect the value of our common shares.

We will pay some taxes even if we qualify as a REIT.

Even if we qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we will be required to pay certain U.S. federal, state and local taxes on our income and
property. For example, we will be subject to income tax to the extent we distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income (including capital gains).
Additionally, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which dividends paid by us in any calendar year are less than the sum
of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. Moreover, if we have net income from
“prohibited transactions,” that income will be subject to a 100% penalty tax.

In addition, any net taxable income earned directly by our TRS, or through entities that are disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes as entities
separate from our TRS, will be subject to U.S. federal and possibly state corporate income tax. We have elected to treat Kite Realty Holdings, LLC as a TRS, and
we may elect to treat other subsidiaries as taxable REIT subsidiaries in the future. In this regard, several provisions of the laws applicable to REITs and their
subsidiaries ensure that a TRS will be subject to an appropriate level of U.S. federal income taxation. For example, a TRS is limited in its ability to deduct interest
payments made to an affiliated REIT. In addition, the REIT has to pay a 100% penalty tax on some payments that it receives or on some deductions taken by the
taxable REIT subsidiaries if the economic arrangements between the REIT, the REIT’s tenants, and the TRS are not comparable to similar arrangements between
unrelated parties. Finally, some state and local jurisdictions may tax some of our income even though as a REIT we are not subject to U.S. federal income tax on
that income because not all states and localities treat REITs the same way they are treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes. To the extent that we and our
affiliates are required to pay U.S. federal, state and local taxes, we will have less cash available for distributions to our shareholders.

REIT distribution requirements may increase our indebtedness.

We may be required from time to time, under certain circumstances, to accrue income for tax purposes that has not yet been received. In such event, or upon
our repayment of principal on debt, we could have taxable income without sufficient cash to enable us to meet the distribution requirements of a REIT.
Accordingly, we could be required to borrow funds or liquidate investments on adverse terms in order to meet these distribution requirements. Additionally, the
sale of properties resulting in significant tax gains could require higher distributions to our shareholders or payment of additional income taxes in order to maintain
our REIT status.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our ability to hedge effectively and may cause us to incur tax liabilities.

The REIT provisions of the Code may limit our ability to hedge our assets and operations. Under these provisions, any income that we generate from
transactions intended to hedge our interest rate risk will be excluded from gross income for purposes of the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests if the
instrument hedges interest rate risk on liabilities used to catry or acquire real estate assets or manages the risk of certain currency fluctuations, and such instrument
is properly identified under applicable Treasury Regulations. Income from hedging transactions that do not meet these requirements will generally constitute non-
qualifying income for purposes of both the REIT 75% and 95% gross income tests. As a result of these rules, we may have to limit our use of hedging techniques
that might otherwise be advantageous or implement those hedges through a
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TRS. This could increase the cost of our hedging activities because our TRS would be subject to tax on gains or expose us to greater risks associated with changes
in interest rates than we would otherwise want to bear.

Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forgo and/or liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

To qualify as a REIT, we must continually satisfy tests concerning, among other things, (i) the sources of our income, (ii) the nature and diversification of
our assets, (iii) the amounts we distribute to our shareholders, and (iv) the ownership of our shares. In order to meet these tests, we may be required to forgo
investments we might otherwise make or liquidate from our portfolio investments that otherwise would be considered attractive. In addition, we may be required to
make distributions to shareholders at disadvantageous times or when we do not have funds readily available. These actions could reduce our income and amounts
available for distribution to our shareholders. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our performance.

Dividends paid by REITs generally do not qualify for effective tax rates as low as dividends paid by non-REIT “C” corporations.

The maximum rate applicable to “qualified dividend income” paid by non-REIT “C” corporations to certain non-corporate U.S. shareholders has been
reduced by legislation to 23.8% (taking into account the 3.8% Medicare tax applicable to net investment income). Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally
are not eligible for the reduced rates. Effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2026, non-corporate shareholders may
deduct 20% of their dividends from REITs (excluding qualified dividend income and capital gains dividends). For non-corporate shareholders in the top marginal
tax bracket of 37%, the deduction for REIT dividends yields an effective income tax rate of 29.6% on REIT dividends, which is higher than the 20% tax rate on
qualified dividend income paid by non-REIT “C” corporations. This does not adversely affect the taxation of REITSs, however, it could cause certain non-corporate
investors to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the shares of non-REIT “C” corporations that pay dividends, which
could adversely affect the value of our common shares.

If a transaction intended to qualify as an Internal Revenue Code Section 1031 tax-deferred exchange (a “1031 Exchange”) is later determined to be taxable,
we may face adverse consequences.

From time to time, we may dispose of properties in transactions that are intended to qualify as 1031 Exchanges. It is possible that the qualification of a
transaction as a 1031 Exchange could be challenged and determined to be currently taxable. In such case, our taxable income and earnings and profits would
increase, which could increase the income applicable to our shareholders, which may require additional distributions to shareholders or, in lieu of that, require us to
pay corporate income tax, possibly including interest and penalties. Moreover, it is possible that legislation could be enacted that could modify or repeal the laws
with respect to 1031 Exchanges, which could make it more difficult or impossible for us to dispose of properties on a tax-deferred basis.

If the Operating Partnership fails to qualify as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we could fail to qualify as a REIT and suffer other adverse
consequences.

We believe that our Operating Partnership is organized and operated in a manner so as to be treated as a partnership and not an association or a publicly
traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a partnership, our Operating Partnership is not subject to U.S. federal income
tax on its income. Instead, each of the partners is allocated its share of our Operating Partnership’s income. No assurance can be provided, however, that the IRS
will not challenge our Operating Partnership’s status as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes or that a court would not sustain such a challenge. If the
IRS were successful in treating our Operating Partnership as an association or publicly traded partnership taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, we would fail to meet the gross income tests and certain of the asset tests applicable to REITs and, accordingly, would cease to qualify as a REIT. Also,
the failure of the Operating Partnership to qualify as a partnership would cause it to become subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax, which would reduce
significantly the amount of its cash available for distribution to its partners, including us.

There is a risk that the tax laws applicable to REITs may change.
The IRS, the U.S. Treasury Department and Congress frequently review U.S. federal income tax legislation, regulations and other guidance. The Company

cannot predict whether, when or to what extent new U.S. federal tax laws, regulations, interpretations or rulings will be adopted. Any legislative action may
prospectively or retroactively modify the Company’s tax treatment and, therefore, may adversely affect our taxation or the taxation of our shareholders.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.




ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2021, we owned interests in a portfolio of 180 operating retail properties totaling approximately 29.0 million square feet and one office
property with 0.3 million square feet in 24 states. Of the 180 operating retail properties, 11 contain an office component. We also own interests in eight

development projects under construction. See “Schedule III — Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation” for a list of encumbrances on our
properties.

Operating Properties

The following table summarizes the Company’s operating properties by region and state as of December 31, 2021:

(GLA and ABR in thousands) Total Retail Operating Portfolio Total Office Components
Total % of Total % of
Number of Owned Total Weighted Weighted Owned Total Weighted ‘Weighted

Region/State Properties! GLA/NRA? % Leased ABR? ABR? GLA/NRA? % Leased ABR? ABR?
South
Texas 45 7,718 93.0% $ 141,449 24.0 % 434 842% $ 11,350 1.9 %
Florida 29 3,537 92.9 % 58,314 9.9 % 38 97.9 % 1,054 0.2 %
Maryland 7 1,745 92.0 % 34,147 5.8 % 224 100.0 % 3,314 0.6 %
North Carolina 8 1,537 94.0 % 30,306 51% — —% — —%
Virginia 7 1,121 88.6 % 27,864 4.7 % 158 96.4 % 5,007 0.8 %
Georgia 10 1,706 99.4 % 25,716 4.4 % — —% — —%
Tennessee 3 580 98.4 % 8,158 1.4 % — —% — —%
Oklahoma 3 505 88.5 % 7,455 1.3% — —% — —%
South Carolina 2 258 95.4 % 3,073 0.5% — — % — — %
Total South 114 18,707 93.4 % 336,482 57.1 % 854 91.2 % 20,725 3.5 %
West
Washington 10 1,682 94.3 % 29,702 5.0% — —% — — %
Nevada 4 766 98.7 % 23,976 4.1 % — —% — —%
California 3 652 98.6 % 14,738 2.5% — — % — —%
Arizona 5 727 95.7 % 14,425 24 % — —% — —%
Utah 2 392 97.0 % 7,417 1.3 % — — % — —%
Total West 24 4,219 96.3 % 90,258 15.3 % — — % — — %
Midwest
Indiana 16 1,618 90.4 % 28,220 4.8 % 369 100.0 % 7,285 1.2%
Tllinois 9 1,264 89.2 % 25,958 4.4 % 163 73.8% 4,013 0.7 %
Michigan 1 308 83.6 % 6,602 1.1% — — % — — %
Missouri 1 453 92.3 % 4,124 0.7 % — —% — —%
Ohio 1 236 89.0 % 1,899 0.3 % — — % — —%
Total Midwest 28 3,879 89.6 % 66,803 11.3 % 532 92.0 % 11,298 1.9 %
Northeast
New York 8 1,212 95.1 % 34,312 5.8% 174 100.0 % 7,527 1.3%
New Jersey 4 343 89.6 % 10,999 1.9 % — —% — —%
Massachusetts 1 272 96.2 % 5,435 0.9% — —% — — %
Connecticut 1 206 89.3 % 3,625 0.6 % — —% — —%
Pennsylvania 1 136 100.0 % 1,982 0.4 % — — % — — %
Total Northeast 15 2,169 94.1 % 56,353 9.6 % 174 100.0 % 7,527 1.3 %

Total 181 28,974 93.4% $ 549,896 93.3 % 1,560 924% $ 39,550 6.7 %
1 Number of properties represents consolidated and unconsolidated retail properties and the Company’s single standalone office property in Indianapolis, IN.
2 Owned GLA/NRA represents gross leasable area owned by the Company and excludes the square footage of development and redevelopment projects.

3 Weighted ABR and percent of weighted ABR includes ground lease rent and represents the Company’s share of the ABR at consolidated and unconsolidated properties.
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Development and Redevelopment Projects

In addition to our operating properties, as of December 31, 2021, we owned an interest in eight development projects currently under construction. The
following table sets forth information with respect to the Company’s active development projects as of December 31, 2021:

(3 in thousands)
Estimated
Projected Total Total Total KRG Estimated Remaining
KRG Completion C cial Multifamily Project KRG Equity Remaining Stabilized NOI NOI to Come
Project MSA Ownership % Date! GLA Units Costs? Requirement? Spend to KRG Online?
Active Projects
Eddy Street Commons South Bend, IN 100% Q1 2022 18,600 — 3 7,500 $ 7,500 $ 1,200 $0.6M-$0.7M $0.4M-$0.5M
at Notre Dame, IN —
Phase III
Shoppes at Washington, 100% Q22022 58,000 — 4,800 4,800 3,900 $1.0M-$1.IM $0.0M—-$0.1M
Quarterfield D.C./Baltimore
One Loudoun — Washington, 90% Q22022 — 378 13,500 13,500 8,325 $6.3M-$6.5M $4.8M-$5.0M
Residential D.C./Baltimore
Circle East Washington, 100% Q32022 82,000 370 15,100 15,100 14,700 $1.9M-$2.2M $1.1IM-$1.4M
D.C./Baltimore
One Loudoun — Pads Washington, 100% Q22023 67,000 — 10,200 10,200 8,600 $1.7M-$2.1M $0.2M-$0.6M
G&H Commercial D.C./Baltimore
The Landing at Port St. Lucie, FL 100% Q22023 39,900 — 10,900 10,900 10,800 $1.IM-$1.2M $0.6M—$0.7M
Tradition — Phase II
Carillon MOB Washington, 100% Q42024 126,000 — 59,700 59,700 57,600 $3.5M-$4.0M $3.1M-$3.6M
D.C./Baltimore
The Corner — IN4 Indianapolis, IN 50% Q42024 24,000 285 63,900 — — $1.7M-$1.9M $1.7M-$1.9M
Total 415,500 1,033 $ 185,600 § 121,700  $§ 105,125  $17.8M-$19.7M  $11.9M-$13.8M
1 Completion date represents the earlier of one year after expected completion of project construction or expected substantial occupancy of the property.
2 Total project costs and KRG equity requirement represent expected costs to KRG post-merger and exclude any costs spent to date prior to the Merger.
3 Excludes in-place NOI and NOI related to tenants that have signed leases but have not yet commenced paying rent.
4 KRG does not have any equity requirements related to this development. Total project costs are at 100% and are net of a $13.5 million TIF.
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Tenant Diversification

No individual retail or office tenant accounted for more than 2.5% of the portfolio’s ABR for the year ended December 31, 2021. The following table sets
forth certain information for the largest 25 tenants open for business at the Company’s retail properties based on minimum rents in place as of December 31, 2021:

(8 and GLA in thousands, except per square foot data)

Number of Total Leased ABR % of Weighted
Tenant Stores! GLA/NRA? ABR? per Sq. Ft.3 ABR

The TJX Companies, Inc.’ 44 1,294 $ 14,536 $ 11.24 2.5%
Best Buy Co., Inc. 16 633 10,915 17.25 2.0%
Ross Stores, Inc. 31 885 10,444 11.80 1.9%
PetSmart, Inc. 31 637 10,241 16.07 1.8%
Michaels Stores, Inc. 29 651 8,814 13.54 1.6 %
Gap Inc.” 35 468 8,490 18.14 1.5%
Bed Bath & Beyond Inc.? 23 613 8,303 13.55 1.5%
Dick's Sporting Goods, Inc.’ 12 591 7,187 12.15 1.3 %
Publix Super Markets, Inc. 14 669 6,884 10.28 1.3%
Albertsons Companies, Inc.' 9 481 6,613 13.74 1.2 %
Lowe's Companies, Inc. 7 168 400 2.38 1.1 %
The Kroger Co.!! 10 355 3,460 9.73 1.0 %
Petco Health And Wellness 22 299 5,346 17.90 1.0 %

Company, Inc.
Ulta Beauty, Inc. 24 248 5,589 22.51 0.9 %
Total Wine & More 13 305 5,069 16.60 0.9 %
BJ's Wholesale Club, Inc. 2 245 4,939 20.18 0.9 %
Five Below, Inc. 29 258 4,901 18.97 0.9 %
Kohl's Corporation 7 361 2,993 8.28 0.9 %
Burlington Stores, Inc. 8 445 4,496 10.11 0.8 %
Ahold U.S.A. Inc.'? 4 239 4,464 18.66 0.8 %
Mattress Firm Group Inc.!3 32 158 4417 27.97 0.8 %
DSW Designer Shoe 16 314 4,678 14.92 0.8 %

Warehouse
Office Depot, Inc.'* 14 308 4,347 14.11 0.8 %
Fitness International, LLC 5 205 4,092 19.92 0.7 %
Party City Holdings Inc. 18 263 3,988 15.17 0.7 %

Total Top Tenants 455 11,093 $ 155,606 $ 14.03 29.6 %
1 Number of stores represents stores at consolidated and unconsolidated properties.
2 Excludes the square footage of structures located on land owned by the Company and ground-leased to tenants.
3 ABR represents the monthly contractual rent for December 31, 2021, for each applicable tenant multiplied by 12 and does not include tenant reimbursements. ABR

represents 100% of the ABR at consolidated properties and the Company's share of the ABR at unconsolidated properties excluding ground lease rent.
4 Percent of weighted ABR includes ground lease rent and represents the Company's share of the ABR at consolidated and unconsolidated properties.
5 Includes TJ Maxx (19), Marshalls (13), HomeGoods (10), Homesense (1) and T.J. Maxx & HomeGoods combined (1).
6 Includes Best Buy (15) and Pacific Sales (1).
7 Includes Old Navy (25), The Gap (5), Banana Republic (3) and Athleta (2).
8 Includes Bed Bath and Beyond (14) and buybuy BABY (9).
9 Includes Dick's Sporting Goods (11) and Golf Galaxy (1).
10 Includes Safeway (4), Jewel-Osco (3) and Tom Thumb (2).
11 Includes Kroger (6), Harris Teeter (2), QFC (1) and Smith's (1).
12 Includes Stop & Shop (3) and Giant Foods (1).
13 Includes Mattress Firm (27) and Sleepy's (5).
14 Includes Office Depot (11) and OfficeMax (3).
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Lease Expirations

In 2022, leases representing 9.1% of total retail ABR are scheduled to expire. The following tables show scheduled lease expirations for retail and office
tenants and tenants open for business at in-process development projects as of December 31, 2021, assuming none of the tenants exercise renewal options.
(8 in thousands, except per square foot data)
Retail Portfolio

Expiring GLA — Retail? Expiring ABR per Sq. Ft.?
% of
Number of Expiring ABR Total ABR Anchor
Expiring Leases! Shop Tenants Anchor Tenants (Pro-rata) (Pro-rata) Shop Tenants Tenants Total
2022 520 1,177,508 1,196,248 $ 47,408 9.1 % $ 28.33 $ 11.81 $ 19.99
2023 585 1,361,374 2,634,810 78,221 15.0 % 30.43 13.99 19.59
2024 584 1,334,044 2,580,920 75,482 14.5 % 32.09 13.50 20.06
2025 442 1,061,370 2,551,286 64,728 12.4 % 30.80 12.86 18.17
2026 436 984,890 2,447,939 63,743 12.3 % 30.43 14.11 18.86
2027 309 763,399 1,915,123 46,774 9.0 % 29.40 12.88 17.61
2028 166 422,238 956,761 28,473 55% 33.39 15.07 20.67
2029 154 359,184 1,111,043 30,350 5.8% 32.76 16.78 20.67
2030 124 375,170 565,268 19,201 3.7% 28.97 15.10 20.57
2031 123 339,768 606,950 20,070 39% 31.09 15.83 21.27
Beyond 149 328,386 2,067,162 45,829 8.8 % 31.66 17.43 19.37
3,592 8,507,331 18,633,510 $ 520,279 1000%  $ 30.61 $ 14.23 $ 19.40
Office Portfolio
Expiring GLA?
% of
Number of Office Expiring ABR Total ABR Expiring ABR
Expiring Leases! Tenants (Pro-rata) (Pro-rata) per Sq. Ft.?
2022 47 361,608 $ 8,872 22.4% $ 24.53
2023 35 126,396 3,878 9.8 % 30.68
2024 42 234,639 6,354 16.1 % 27.08
2025 11 166,084 3,531 8.9 % 21.26
2026 11 51,422 1,727 4.4 % 33.59
2027 10 61,513 2,094 53 % 34.03
2028 5 112,519 2,951 7.5% 26.23
2029 5 75,943 2,813 7.1 % 37.04
2030 4 41,061 903 2.3% 21.99
2031 4 121,003 3,058 7.7 % 25.28
Beyond 4 90,599 3,369 8.5 % 37.19
178 1,442,787 $ 39,550 100.0 % $ 27.41

1 Lease expiration tables reflect rents in place as of December 31, 2021 and does not include option periods; 2022 expirations include 74 month-to-month tenants and 10 month-to-month
office tenants. This column also excludes ground leases.

Expiring GLA excludes estimated square footage attributable to non-owned structures on land owned by the Company and ground-leased to tenants.
3 ABR represents the monthly contractual rent as of December 31, 2021 for each applicable tenant multiplied by 12. Excludes tenant reimbursements and ground lease revenue.

Lease Activity — New and Renewal

In 2021, the Company executed new and renewal leases on 363 individual spaces totaling 2.6 million square feet (10.7% cash leasing spread on 245
comparable leases). New leases were signed on 132 individual spaces for 0.7 million square feet of GLA (24.2% cash leasing spread on 67 comparable leases),
while renewal leases were signed on 231 individual spaces for 1.8 million square feet of GLA (6.9% cash leasing spread on 178 comparable leases). Total executed
leases includes leasing activity for the legacy RPAI portfolio from October 22, 2021 through December 31, 2021.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are parties to routine litigation, claims, and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Management believes that such
matters will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows taken as a whole.

As previously disclosed in our joint proxy statement/prospectus, beginning on August 27, 2021, two purported RPAI stockholders filed substantially similar
complaints against RPAI and the members of the RPAI board of directors (the “RPAI Board”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York. One of these complaints also named Kite Realty and Merger Sub as defendants. The complaints were captioned as follows: Wang v. Retail Properties of
America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-07237 (S.D.N.Y. filed August 27, 2021); and Hopkins v. Retail Properties of America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-07324 (S.D.N.Y.
filed August 31, 2021). The complaints variously asserted, among other things, claims under Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder against RPAI and the members of the RPAI Board and claims under Section 20(a) of the Exchange
Act against the members of the RPAI Board (and, in one case, Kite Realty and Merger Sub) for allegedly causing a materially incomplete and misleading
registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed on August 23, 2021 with the SEC. Four additional lawsuits were filed against RPAI and the members of the RPAI
Board between September 14, 2021 and October 8, 2021 under the captions Callebs v. Retail Properties of America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-07593 (S.D.N.Y. filed
September 10, 2021); Sheridan v. Retail Properties of America, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-04066-SCJ (N.D.Ga. filed October 1, 2021); Whitfield v. Retail Properties
of America, Inc. et al., No. 2:21-cv-04390 (E.D.Pa. filed October 6, 2021); and Reinhardt v Retail Properties of America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-04187 (N.D. Ga.
filed October 8, 2021), which were substantially similar to the other two complaints. Also, on September 15, 2021, a purported Kite Realty shareholder filed a
complaint against Kite Realty and the members of the Kite Realty board of trustees in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York,
captioned as follows: Gentry v. Kite Realty Group Trust et al., No. 1:21-cv-05142 (E.D.N.Y. filed September 15, 2021). The complaint asserted substantially
similar claims under Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9 as the other complaints against RPAI and the RPAI Board.

Plaintiffs sought, among other things, to enjoin or rescind the Merger, an award of damages in the event the Merger was consummated, and an award of
costs and attorneys’ fees. Subsequent to completion of the RPAI merger, and subsequent to December 31, 2021, the lawsuits described in the preceding paragraph
were voluntarily dismissed. We believe that the claims asserted in the actions were without merit.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common shares are currently listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “KRG.” On February 24, 2022, the
closing price of our common shares on the NYSE was $21.91.

Holders

The number of registered holders of record of our common shares was 10,651 as of February 24, 2022. This total excludes beneficial or non-registered
holders that held their shares through various brokerage firms. This figure does not represent the actual number of beneficial owners of our common shares because
our common shares are frequently held in “street name” by securities dealers and others for the benefit of beneficial owners who may vote the shares.

Distributions, if any, will be declared and paid at the discretion of our Board of Trustees and will depend upon a number of factors, including cash generated
by operating activities, our financial condition, capital requirements, annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code, and such other
factors as our Board of Trustees deem relevant.

Distributions by us to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be taxable to shareholders as
either ordinary dividend income or capital gain income if so declared by us. Distributions in excess of taxable earnings and profits generally will be treated as a
non-taxable return of capital. These distributions, to the extent that they do not exceed the shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in its common shares, have the effect of
deferring taxation until the sale of a shareholder’s common shares. To the extent that distributions are both in excess of taxable earnings and profits and the
shareholder’s adjusted tax basis in its common shares, the distribution will be treated as gain from the sale of common shares. In order to maintain our qualification
as a REIT, we must make annual distributions to shareholders of at least 90% of our “REIT taxable income” (determined before the deduction for dividends paid
and excluding net capital gains) and we must make distributions to shareholders equal to 100% of our net taxable income to eliminate U.S. federal income tax
liability. Under certain circumstances, we could be required to make distributions in excess of cash available for distributions in order to meet such
requirements. For the taxable year ended December 31, 2021, approximately 13.4% of our distributions to shareholders constituted a return of capital and
approximately 86.6% constituted taxable capital gains dividends.

Under our Revolving Facility, we are permitted to make distributions to our shareholders provided that no event of default exists. If an event of default
exists, we may only make distributions sufficient to maintain our REIT status. However, we may not make any distributions if any event of default resulting from
nonpayment or bankruptcy exists, or if our obligations under the Revolving Facility are accelerated.

Issuer Repurchases,; Unregistered Sales of Securities

During the three months ended December 31, 2021, certain of our employees surrendered common shares owned by them to satisfy their statutory minimum

U.S. federal and state tax obligations associated with the vesting of restricted common shares of beneficial interest issued under our Plan. These shares were

repurchased by the Company.

The following table summarizes all of these repurchases during the three months ended December 31, 2021:

Total number of Maximum number
shares purchased of shares that may
Total number as part of publicly yet be purchased
of shares Average price announced plans under the plans or
Period purchased paid per share or programs programs’
October 1, 2021 to October 31, 2021 488,206 $ 21.01 N/A $ 150,000,000
November 1, 2021 to November 30, 2021 202,116 $ 21.62 N/A $ 150,000,000
December 1, 2021 to December 31, 2021 — $ — N/A $ 150,000,000
Total 690,322 $ 21.12

1 Represents amounts outstanding under the Company’s authorized $150 million share repurchase program announced in February 2021. In February 2022, the Company
extended its share repurchase program for an additional year. This program may be suspended or terminated at any time by the Company and, as extended, will terminate on
February 28, 2023, if not terminated or extended prior to that date.
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Issuances Under Equity Compensation Plans

For information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans, see Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Performance Graph

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of our filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act that might incorporate SEC filings, in

whole or in part, the following performance graph will not be incorporated by reference into any such filings.

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return of our common shares for the period from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2021,
to the S&P 500 Index and the published NAREIT All Equity REIT Index over the same period. The graph assumes that the value of the investment in our common
shares and each index was $100 at December 31, 2016 and that all cash distributions were reinvested. The shareholder return shown on the graph below is not

indicative of future performance.
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The actual returns shown on the graph above are as follows:

12/16 6/17 12/17 6/18 12/18 6/19 12/19 6/20 12/20 6/21 12/21
Kite Realty Group Trust $ 10000 $ 8282 $ 8839 $ 7993 $ 6854 $ 7835 $ 10493 $ 6391 $ 8378 $ 12557 $ 12645
S&P 500 $ 10000 $ 10934 $ 121.83 $ 12506 $ 11649 $ 13809 $ 153.17 $ 14845 $ 18135 $ 209.01 $ 23341
FTSE NAREIT Equity REITs $ 100.00 $ 10270 $ 10523 $ 10630 $ 10036 $ 11821 $ 12645 § 10280 $ 11634 $ 14188 $ 166.64
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ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto and Item
1A, “Risk Factors,” appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In this discussion, unless the context suggests otherwise, references to “our
Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean Kite Realty Group Trust and its direct and indirect subsidiaries, including Kite Realty Group, L.P.
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Overview

In the following overview, we discuss, among other things, the status of our business and properties, the effect that current U.S. economic conditions is
having on our retail tenants and us, and the current state of the financial markets and how it impacts our financing strategy.

Our Business and Properties

Kite Realty Group Trust is a publicly held real estate investment trust which, through its majority-owned subsidiary, Kite Realty Group, L.P., owns interests
in various operating subsidiaries and joint ventures engaged in the ownership, operation, acquisition, development and redevelopment of high-quality, open-air
shopping centers and mixed-use assets in select markets in the United States. We derive revenues primarily from activities associated with the collection of
contractual rents and reimbursement payments from tenants at our properties. Therefore, our operating results depend materially on, among other things, the ability
of our tenants to make required lease payments, the health and resilience of the U.S. retail sector, interest rate volatility, job growth and real estate market and
overall economic conditions.

As of December 31, 2021, we owned interests in 180 operating retail properties totaling approximately 29.0 million square feet and one office property with
0.3 million square feet. Of the 180 operating retail properties, 11 contain an office component. We also owned eight development projects under construction as of
this date.

Merger with RPAI

On October 22, 2021, we completed the merger with RPAI in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated July 18, 2021 (the “Merger
Agreement”), by and among the Company, its wholly owned subsidiary KRG Oak, LLC (“Merger Sub”) and RPAI, pursuant to which RPAI merged with and into
Merger Sub (the “Merger”). Immediately following the closing of the Merger, Merger Sub merged with and into the Operating Partnership so that all of the assets
and liabilities of the Company continue to be held at or below the Operating Partnership level. As a result of the Merger, we acquired 100 operating retail
properties and five active development projects along with multiple parcels of entitled land for future value creation, creating a top five open-air shopping center
REIT. The combined high-quality, open-air portfolio is a mixture of predominantly necessity-based, grocery-anchored neighborhood and community centers,
combined with vibrant mixed-use assets. The Merger serves to more than double the Company’s presence in high-growth markets that have mild or temperate
climates and no or relatively low income taxes, while also introducing and/or enhancing its presence in strategic gateway markets. In addition, the combined
company has additional opportunities to further increase shareholder value, including leasing of pandemic-related vacancies, optimizing NOI margins, lowering the
Company’s cost of capital, and completing select development projects. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of RPAI common
stock converted into the right to receive 0.623 common shares of the Company plus cash in lieu of fractional Company shares. The Operating Partnership issued an
equivalent amount of General Partner Units to the Parent Company.

Portfolio Update

As has become more evident since the COVID-19 pandemic began and as we began to operate as a combined company, high-quality real estate located in
high-quality markets matters. Open-air centers are thriving for a variety of reasons including their ability to act as last mile fulfillment centers and their convenient
and affordable nature for retailers and consumers. This includes conveniently located and easily accessible parking fields, lower operating costs as compared to
other retail formats, and essential anchors that drive daily trips. In addition, the Company’s property types are particularly suited for retailers’ current and evolving
needs, including curbside pick-up and buying online and picking up in store (“BOPIS”), that we believe will benefit from tenant demand for additional space. The
strength of the Company’s real estate is evidenced by our continued strong cash leasing spreads and ABR for the retail portfolio of $19.36 per square foot. The
Company has continued to improve its asset quality and through its Merger with RPAI, acquired a refined portfolio of high-quality, open-air shopping centers and
mixed-use assets.
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In evaluating potential acquisition, development, and redevelopment opportunities, we look for strong sub-markets where average household income,
educational attainment, population density, traffic counts and daytime workforce populations are above the broader market average. We also focus on locations that
are benefiting from current population migratory patterns, namely major cities in business-friendly states with no or relatively low income taxes, and mild or
temperate climates. In our largest sub-markets, household incomes are significantly higher and state income taxes are relatively lower than the medians for the
broader markets.

In addition to targeting sub-markets with strong consumer demographics, we focus on having the most desirable tenant mix at each center. We have
aggressively targeted and executed leases with prominent grocers including Publix, Aldi, Whole Foods, and Trader Joe’s, expanding retailers such as TJ Maxx,
Ross Dress for Less, Burlington, and Old Navy, service and restaurant retailers and other retailers such as Ulta Beauty, REI, Five Below and Total
Wine. Additionally, we have identified cost-efficient ways to relocate, re-tenant and renegotiate leases at several of our properties allowing us to attract more
suitable tenants.

Capital and Financing Activities

In 2021, we were able to enhance our already-strong balance sheet, increase our financial flexibility, and improve our liquidity to fund future growth with
our transformative Merger with RPAIL Prior to the Merger, we had taken various steps to enhance our liquidity, including the issuance of $175.0 million of
Exchangeable Notes in the first quarter of 2021 to proactively fund our 2022 debt maturities. We ended 2021 with approximately $1.0 billion of combined cash
and borrowing capacity on our Revolving Facility. In addition, as of December 31, 2021, we had $153.5 million of debt principal scheduled to mature through
December 31, 2022 that we expect to retire using cash on hand and short-term deposits.

The three investment grade credit ratings we maintain provide us with access to the unsecured public bond market, which we may continue to use in the
future to finance acquisition activity, repay maturing debt and fix interest rates.

Results of Operations

As of December 31, 2021, we owned interests in 180 operating retail properties, one office property and eight development projects currently under
construction. Of the 180 operating retail properties, 11 contain an office component. The following table sets forth the total operating properties and development
projects that we owned as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Number of Properties

2021 2020 2019
Operating retail properties 180 83 82
Office and other components 12 4
Development and redevelopment projects 8 5 5

The comparability of results of operations is affected by our Merger with RPAI completed on October 22, 2021, in which we acquired 100 operating retail
properties as well as five active development projects, along with the development, redevelopment, and operating property acquisition and disposition activities in
2019 through 2021. Therefore, we believe it is most useful to review the comparisons of our results of operations for these years (as set forth below under
“Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 ”) in conjunction with the discussion of these activities during those periods,
which is set forth below. Results from operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 reflect the combined operation for the approximately two and a half
months since the Company’s Merger with RPAI on October 22, 2021. In the future, our results of operations will reflect the combined operations for the entire
period presented. Therefore, our historical financial statements may not be indicative of future operations results.

Property Acquisitions

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, in addition to the properties we acquired in the Merger, we acquired the following properties:

Property Name MSA Acquisition Date Owned GLA
Pan Am Plaza Garage Indianapolis, IN March 2019 N/A
Nora Plaza Indianapolis, IN August 2019 139,670
Eastgate Crossing Raleigh, NC December 2020 156,276
Nora Plaza outparcel Indianapolis, IN December 2021 23,722
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Operating Property Dispositions

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2019, we sold the following operating properties. We did not sell any operating properties during the year

ended December 31, 2020.

Property Name

Whitehall Pike
Beechwood Promenade
Village at Bay Park
Lakewood Promenade
Palm Coast Landing
Lowe’s — Perimeter Woods
Cannery Corner

Temple Terrace
University Town Center
Gainesville Plaza
Bolton Plaza

Eastgate Plaza

Burnt Store

Landstown Commons
Lima Marketplace
Hitchcock Plaza
Merrimack Village Center
Publix at Acworth

The Centre at Panola
Beacon Hill

Bell Oaks Centre
Boulevard Crossing
South Elgin Commons
Westside Market

Development and Redevelopment Projects

MSA Disposition Date
Bloomington, IN March 2019
Athens, GA April 2019
Green Bay, WI May 2019
Jacksonville, FL May 2019
Palm Coast, FL May 2019
Charlotte, NC May 2019
Las Vegas, NV May 2019
Tampa, FL June 2019
Oklahoma City, OK June 2019
Gainesville, FL July 2019
Jacksonville, FL July 2019
Las Vegas, NV July 2019
Punta Gorda, FL July 2019
Virginia Beach, VA August 2019
Fort Wayne, IN September 2019
Aiken, SC September 2019
Manchester, NH September 2019
Atlanta, GA October 2019
Atlanta, GA October 2019
Crown Point, IN October 2019
Evansville, IN November 2019
Kokomo, IN December 2019
Chicago, IL December 2019
Dallas, TX October 2021

Owned GLA

128,997
297,369
82,254
196,655
168,352
166,085
30,738
90,328
348,877
162,189
154,155
96,594
95,625
398,139
100,461
252,211
78,892
69,628
73,075
56,820
94,958
124,634
128,000
93,377

During portions of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the following projects were under active development or redevelopment and

removed from our operating portfolio:

Transition to

Development or Transition to Owned
Project Name MSA Redevelopment!' Operating Portfolio Commercial GLA
Courthouse Shadows? Naples, FL June 2013 Sold 124,802
Hamilton Crossing Centre>* Indianapolis, IN June 2014 Pending 92,283
The Corner?* Indianapolis, IN December 2015 Pending 24,000
Eddy Street Commons — Phase 11 South Bend, IN September 2017 December 2020 8,200
Eddy Street Commons — Phase I1I South Bend, IN September 2020 Pending 18,600
Glendale Town Center? Indianapolis, IN March 2019 December 2021 199,021
The Landing at Tradition — Phase II Port St. Lucie, FL September 2021 Pending 39,900
Carillon MOB? Washington, D.C. October 2021 Pending 126,000
Circle East® Baltimore, MD October 2021 Pending 82,000
One Loudoun Downtown — Residential
and Pads G&H Commercial’ Washington, D.C. October 2021 Pending 67,000
Shoppes at Quarterfield’ Baltimore, MD October 2021 Pending 58,000
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Transition date represents the date the property was transferred from our operating portfolio into redevelopment status. For legacy RPAI projects, the transition date
represents the later of the date of the closing of the Merger and the date the project was transferred into redevelopment status.

This property was sold in 2020.

This property has been identified as a redevelopment property and is not included in the operating portfolio or the same property pool.
This redevelopment will include the creation of a mixed-use development.

Projects were assumed as part of the Merger with RPAI in October 2021.

w oA W N

Net Operating Income and Same Property Net Operating Income

We use property net operating income (“NOI”), a non-GAAP financial measure, to evaluate the performance of our properties. We define NOI as income
from our real estate, including lease termination fees received from tenants, less our property operating expenses. NOI excludes amortization of capitalized tenant
improvement costs and leasing commissions and certain corporate level expenses, including merger and acquisition costs. We believe that NOI is helpful to
investors as a measure of our operating performance because it excludes various items included in net income that do not relate to or are not indicative of our
operating performance, such as depreciation and amortization, interest expense, and impairment, if any.

We also use same property NOI (“Same Property NOI”), a non-GAAP financial measure, to evaluate the performance of our properties. Same Property NOI
excludes properties that have not been owned for the full period presented. It also excludes net gains from outlot sales, straight-line rent revenue, lease termination
income in excess of lost rent, amortization of lease intangibles and significant prior period expense recoveries and adjustments, if any. When we receive payments
in excess of any accounts receivable for terminating a lease, Same Property NOI will include such excess payments as monthly rent until the earlier of the
expiration of 12 months or the start date of a replacement tenant. We believe that Same Property NOI is helpful to investors as a measure of our operating
performance because it includes only the NOI of properties that have been owned for the full period presented. We believe such presentation eliminates disparities
in net income due to the acquisition or disposition of properties during the particular periods presented and thus provides a more consistent metric for the
comparison of our properties. Same Property NOI includes the results of properties that have been owned for the entire current and prior year reporting periods.

NOI and Same Property NOI should not, however, be considered as alternatives to net income (calculated in accordance with GAAP) as indicators of our
financial performance. Our computation of NOI and Same Property NOI may differ from the methodology used by other REITs and, therefore, may not be
comparable to such other REITs.

When evaluating the properties that are included in the same property pool, we have established specific criteria for determining the inclusion of properties
acquired or those recently under development. An acquired property is included in the same property pool when there is a full quarter of operations in both years
subsequent to the acquisition date. Development and redevelopment properties are included in the same property pool four full quarters after the properties have
been transferred to the operating portfolio. A redevelopment property is first excluded from the same property pool when the execution of a redevelopment plan is
likely and we (a) begin recapturing space from tenants or (b) the contemplated plan significantly impacts the operations of the property. At December 31, 2021, the
same property pool excluded (i) the recently completed Glendale Town Center and Eddy Street Commons — Phase II development projects, (ii) eight active
development and redevelopment projects, (iii) the 2020 acquisition of Eastgate Crossing, (iv) the legacy RPAI portfolio, and (v) office properties.
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The following table reflects Same Property NOI! and a reconciliation to net loss attributable to common shareholders for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 (unaudited):

Year Ended December 31,

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 Change
Number of properties in same property pool for the period 82 82
Leased percentage at period end 93.1 % 91.4 %
Economic occupancy percentage? 89.1 % 92.0 %
Same Property NOI $ 190,232 $ 179,325 6.1 %
Reconciliation of Same Property NOI to most

directly comparable GAAP measure:
Net operating income — same properties $ 190,232 $ 179,325
Net operating income — non-same activity? 76,759 10,063

Total property net operating income 266,991 189,388
Other income (expense), net 1,491 (357)
General, administrative and other (33,984) (30,840)
Merger and acquisition costs (86,522) —
Depreciation and amortization (200,460) (128,648)
Interest expense (60,447) (50,399)
Gain on sales of operating properties, net 31,209 4,733
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests 916 (100)
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (80,806) $ (16,223)

1 Same Property NOI excludes (i) the recently completed Glendale Town Center and Eddy Street Commons — Phase II development projects, (ii) eight active development
and redevelopment projects, (iii) the 2020 acquisition of Eastgate Crossing, (iv) the legacy RPAI portfolio, and (v) office properties.

2 Excludes leases that are signed but for which tenants have not yet commenced the payment of cash rent. Calculated as a weighted average based on the timing of cash rent
commencement and expiration during the period.

3 Includes non-cash activity across the portfolio as well as net operating income from properties not included in the same property pool including properties sold during both
periods.

Our Same Property NOI increased 6.1% in 2021 compared to 2020 primarily due to improved collection activity resulting in a significant reduction in bad
debt expense in 2021 compared to 2020, which was more heavily impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. When excluding the impact of 2020 collections, Same
Property NOI grew by approximately 4.0%.

Funds From Operations

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) is a widely used performance measure for real estate companies and is provided here as a supplemental measure of
operating performance. We calculate FFO, a non-GAAP financial measure, in accordance with the best practices described in the April 2002 National Policy
Bulletin of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”), as restated in 2018. The NAREIT white paper defines FFO as net income
(calculated in accordance with GAAP), excluding depreciation and amortization related to real estate, gains and losses from the sale of certain real estate assets,
gains and losses from change in control, and impairment write-downs of certain real estate assets and investments in entities when the impairment is directly
attributable to decreases in the value of depreciable real estate held by the entity.

Considering the nature of our business as a real estate owner and operator, the Company believes that FFO is helpful to investors in measuring our
operational performance because it excludes various items included in net income that do not relate to or are not indicative of our operating performance, such as
gains or losses from sales of depreciated property and depreciation and amortization, which can make periodic and peer analyses of operating performance more
difficult. FFO excludes the gain on the sale of the ground lease portfolios as these sales were part of our capital strategy distinct from our ongoing operating
strategy of selling individual land parcels from time to time. FFO (a) should not be considered as an alternative to net income (calculated in accordance with
GAAP) for the purpose of measuring our financial performance, (b) is not an alternative to cash flow from operating activities (calculated in accordance with
GAAP) as a measure of our liquidity, and (c) is not indicative of funds available to satisfy our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions. Our
computation of FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs that do not define the term in accordance with the
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current NAREIT definition or that interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than we do. For informational purposes, we have also provided FFO
adjusted for loss on debt extinguishment.

From time to time, the Company may report or provide guidance with respect to “NAREIT FFO as adjusted” which removes the impact of certain non-
recurring and non-operating transactions or other items the Company does not consider to be representative of its core operating results including, without
limitation, gains or losses associated with the early extinguishment of debt, gains or losses associated with litigation involving the Company that is not in the
normal course of business, merger and acquisition costs, the impact on earnings from employee severance, the excess of redemption value over carrying value of
preferred stock redemption, and the impact of 2020 bad debt or the collection of 2020 accounts receivable previously written off (“2020 Collection Impact”),
which are not otherwise adjusted in the Company’s calculation of FFO.

Our calculations of FFO! and reconciliation to consolidated net income and FFO, as adjusted, for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019
(unaudited) are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Consolidated net loss $ (81,722) % (16,123) § 2)
Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interests in properties (514) (528) (528)
Less: gain on sales of operating properties, net (31,209) (4,733) (38,971)
Add: impairment charges — — 37,723
Add: depreciation and amortization of consolidated and unconsolidated entities,
net of noncontrolling interests 201,834 130,091 133,184
FFO of the Operating Partnership' 88,389 108,707 131,406
Less: Limited Partners' interests in FFO (1,945) (2,826) (3,153)
FFO attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust common shareholders! $ 86,444 $ 105,381 $ 128,253
FFO of the Operating Partnership! $ 88,389 $ 108,707 $ 131,406
Add: merger and acquisition costs 86,522 — —
Add: severance charges — 3,253 —
Add: loss on debt extinguishment — — 11,572
Less: 2020 Collection Impact (3,707) — —
FFO, as adjusted, of the Operating Partnership $ 171,204 $ 111,960 $ 142,978

1 “FFO of the Operating Partnership” measures 100% of the operating performance of the Operating Partnership’s real estate properties. “FFO attributable to Kite Realty
Group Trust common shareholders” reflects a reduction for the redeemable noncontrolling weighted average diluted interest in the Operating Partnership.

Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation, and Amortization (EBITDA)

We define EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, as net income before depreciation and amortization, interest expense and income tax expense of the
TRS. For informational purposes, we also provide Adjusted EBITDA, which we define as EBITDA less (i) EBITDA from unconsolidated entities, (ii) gains on
sales of operating properties or impairment charges, (iii) merger and acquisition costs, (iv) other income and expense, (v) noncontrolling interest EBITDA, and (vi)
other non-recurring activity or items impacting comparability from period to period. Annualized Adjusted EBITDA is Adjusted EBITDA for the most recent
quarter multiplied by four. Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA is our share of net debt divided by Annualized Adjusted EBITDA. EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA,
Annualized Adjusted EBITDA and Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA, as calculated by us, are not comparable to EBITDA and EBITDA-related measures reported by
other REITs that do not define EBITDA and EBITDA-related measures exactly as we do. EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Annualized Adjusted EBITDA do not
represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered alternatives to net income as an indicator of
performance or as alternatives to cash flows from operating activities as an indicator of liquidity.

Considering the nature of our business as a real estate owner and operator, we believe that EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and the ratio of Net Debt to
Adjusted EBITDA are helpful to investors in measuring our operational performance because they exclude various items included in net income that do not relate
to or are not indicative of our operating performance, such as gains or losses from sales of depreciated property and depreciation and amortization, which can make
periodic and peer analyses of operating performance more difficult. For informational purposes, we also provide Annualized Adjusted EBITDA, adjusted as
described above. We believe this supplemental information provides a meaningful measure of our operating performance. We believe presenting EBITDA and the
related measures in this manner allows investors and other interested parties to form a more meaningful assessment of our operating results.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of our EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Annualized Adjusted EBITDA to consolidated net income (the most
directly comparable GAAP measure) and a calculation of Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA.

Three Months Ended

(8 in thousands) December 31, 2021
Consolidated net loss $ (100,155)
Adjustments to net loss:
Depreciation and amortization 109,835
Interest expense 23,061
Income tax benefit of taxable REIT subsidiary 2)
EBITDA 32,739
Adjustments to EBITDA:
Unconsolidated EBITDA 882
Merger and acquisition costs 76,564
Pro forma adjustments' 14,368
Gain on sales of operating properties, net (3,692)
Other income and expense, net (508)
Noncontrolling interests (118)
Adjusted EBITDA 120,235
Annualized Adjusted EBITDA? $ 480,939

Company share of Net Debt:

Mortgage and other indebtedness, net $ 3,150,808
Less: Partner share of consolidated joint venture debt? (580)
Less: cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term deposits (226,644)
Plus: Company share of unconsolidated joint venture debt 30,164
Less: debt discounts, premiums and issuance costs, net (58,583)
Company share of Net Debt $ 2,895,165
Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA 6.0x

1 Pro forma adjustments to reflect as if the properties (including the legacy RPAI portfolio) acquired during the fourth quarter of 2021 were owned for the entire period.
Represents Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended December 31, 2021 (as shown in the table above) multiplied by four.

Partner share of consolidated joint venture debt is calculated based upon the partner's pro-rata ownership of the joint venture, multiplied by the related secured debt
balance.
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Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

The following table reflects changes in the components of our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Net change

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2020 to 2021
Revenue:
Rental income $ 367,399 $ 257,670 $ 109,729
Other property-related revenue 4,683 8,597 (3,914)
Fee income 1,242 378 864
Total revenue 373,324 266,645 106,679
Expenses:
Property operating 55,561 41,012 14,549
Real estate taxes 49,530 35,867 13,663
General, administrative and other 33,984 30,840 3,144
Merger and acquisition costs 86,522 — 86,522
Depreciation and amortization 200,460 128,648 71,812
Total expenses 426,057 236,367 189,690
Gain on sales of operating properties, net 31,209 4,733 26,476
Operating (loss) income (21,524) 35,011 (56,535)
Interest expense (60,447) (50,399) (10,048)
Income tax benefit of taxable REIT subsidiary 310 696 (386)
Equity in loss of unconsolidated subsidiaries (416) (1,685) 1,269
Other income, net 355 254 101
Net loss (81,722) (16,123) (65,599)
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests 916 (100) 1,016
Net loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust (80,806) (16,223) $ (64,583)
Property operating expense to total revenue ratio 14.9 % 15.4 % (0.5 %)
Rental income (including tenant reimbursements) increased $109.7 million, or 42.6%, due to the following:
Net change
(8 in thousands) 2020 to 2021
Properties or components of properties sold during 2020 or 2021 $ (2,6006)
Properties under redevelopment or acquired during 2020 and/or 2021 4,243
Properties acquired in the Merger with RPAI 94,716
Properties fully operational during 2020 and 2021 and other 13,376
Total $ 109,729

The net increase of $13.4 million in rental income for properties that were fully operational during 2020 and 2021 is primarily due to improved collection
activity leading to a decrease in bad debt expense, which contributed a positive variance of $10.7 million on billed rent and $5.1 million on straight-line rent. These
positive variances were partially offset by lower base minimum rent of $1.7 million due to an increase in vacancies driven by the COVID-19 pandemic. The
occupancy of the fully operational properties declined from 92.0% for 2020 to 89.1% for 2021.

We continued to experience strong leasing volumes in 2021 and continued to generate higher rents on new leases and renewals. The average rents for new
comparable leases signed in 2021 were $21.38 per square foot compared to average expiring base rents of $17.22 per square foot in that period. The average base
rents for renewals signed in 2021 were $18.09 per square foot compared to average expiring base rents of $16.92 per square foot in that period. For the entire
portfolio, the spread between leased and occupied square footage is approximately 250 basis points and represents approximately $33.0 million of NOI that will
come online in the future. In addition, the ABR per square foot of our operating retail portfolio continued to improve, as it increased to $19.36 per square foot as of
December 31, 2021 from $18.42 per square foot as of December 31, 2020.
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Other property-related revenue primarily consists of parking revenues, gains on the sale of land and other miscellaneous activity. This revenue decreased by
$3.9 million primarily as a result of lower gains on sales of undepreciated assets of $5.5 million, partially offset by a recovery in parking revenue of approximately
$1.0 million.

We recorded fee income of $1.2 million and $0.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, from property management and
development services provided to unconsolidated joint ventures.

Property operating expenses increased $14.5 million, or 35.5%, due to the following:

Net change

(8 in thousands) 2020 to 2021
Properties or components of properties sold during 2020 or 2021 $ )
Properties under redevelopment or acquired during 2020 and/or 2021 (27)
Properties acquired in the Merger with RPAI 14,247
Properties fully operational during 2020 and 2021 and other 337
Total $ 14,549

The net increase of $0.3 million in property operating expenses for properties that were fully operational during 2020 and 2021 is primarily due to a
continued focus on cost controls over certain operating expense spend in 2021. These provided savings of $1.3 million that were partially offset by an increase in
insurance costs of $0.7 million due to higher premiums across the real estate industry that were realized upon renewal.

As a percentage of rental revenue, property operating expenses decreased between years from 15.4% to 14.9%. The decrease was primarily due to an
increase in revenue in 2021.

Real estate taxes increased $13.7 million, or 38.1%, primarily as a result of the Merger with RPAI as detailed below:

Net change

(8 in thousands) 2020 to 2021
Properties or components of properties sold during 2020 or 2021 $ (189)
Properties under redevelopment or acquired during 2020 and/or 2021 494
Properties acquired in the Merger with RPAI 13,929
Properties fully operational during 2020 and 2021 and other (571)
Total $ 13,663

The net decrease of $0.6 million in real estate taxes for properties that were fully operational during 2020 and 2021 is primarily due to successful real estate
tax appeals at certain properties in the portfolio in 2021. The majority of real estate tax expense is recoverable from tenants and such recovery is reflected in rental
income.

General, administrative and other expenses increased $3.1 million, or 10.2%. The increase is primarily due to incremental head count as part of the Merger
and higher share-based compensation expense.

The Company incurred $86.5 million of merger and acquisition costs related to its Merger with RPAI in 2021. These costs primarily consist of fairness
opinion, severance charges, legal, professional, and data migration costs.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $71.8 million, or 55.8%, primarily as a result of the Merger with RPAI as detailed below:

Net change

(8 in thousands) 2020 to 2021
Properties or components of properties sold during 2020 or 2021 $ (175)
Properties under redevelopment or acquired during 2020 and/or 2021 3,062
Properties acquired in the Merger with RPAI 79,790
Properties fully operational during 2020 and 2021 and other (10,865)
Total $ 71,812

The net increase of $3.1 million in properties under redevelopment or acquired during 2020 and 2021 is primarily due to a full year of operations for
Eastgate Crossing, which was acquired in 2020. The net decrease of $10.9 million in depreciation and amortization at properties fully operational during 2020 and
2021 is due to $4.0 million of accelerated depreciation
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recorded in 2020 in connection with the write-off of assets taken out of service along with certain assets being fully depreciated in the prior year.

Interest expense increased $10.0 million or 19.9%. The increase is primarily due to interest costs of $9.3 million related to debt assumed in conjunction with
the Merger along with incremental interest for the Exchangeable Notes issued in March 2021.

We recorded a net gain of $31.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 on the sale of one operating property and a portfolio of 17 ground leases
compared to a net gain of $4.7 million on the sale of one redevelopment property for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Management’s discussion of the financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020, with
comparison to the year ended December 31, 2019, was included in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview

Our primary finance and capital strategy is to maintain a strong balance sheet with sufficient flexibility to fund our operating and investment activities in a
cost-effective manner. We consider a number of factors when evaluating our level of indebtedness and when making decisions regarding additional borrowings or
equity offerings, including the interest or dividend rate, the maturity date and the Company’s debt maturity ladder, the impact of financial metrics such as overall
Company leverage levels and coverage ratios, and the Company’s ability to generate cash flow to cover debt service. We will continue to monitor the capital
markets and may consider raising additional capital through the issuance of our common or preferred shares, unsecured debt securities, or other securities.

One of the benefits of the Merger was a strengthened balance sheet to provide the Company with increased liquidity, a well-staggered debt maturity ladder,
and an appropriately sized development pipeline. As part of the Merger, we assumed an $850.0 million revolving line of credit, of which the borrowing capacity
was $793.5 million as of December 31, 2021, along with other indebtedness.

Prior to the Merger, we had taken various steps to enhance our liquidity, including the issuance of $175.0 million of Exchangeable Notes in the first quarter
of 2021 to proactively fund our 2022 debt maturities. In addition, we closed on multiple sales for net proceeds of $80.7 million during the year ended
December 31, 2021, with the majority of the activity related to the sale of 17 ground leases and one operating property. As of December 31, 2021, we had
approximately $93.2 million in cash on hand, $7.1 million in restricted cash and escrow deposits, $793.5 million of remaining availability under our Revolving
Facility, $125.0 million of short-term deposits, and $153.5 million of debt maturities due in 2022. We believe we will have adequate liquidity over the next 12
months and beyond 2022 to operate our business and to meet our cash requirement. However, because we do not know the ultimate severity and length of the
COVID-19 pandemic or the short- or long-term impact it may have on consumer behavior, and thus cannot predict the impact it will have on our tenants and on the
debt and equity capital markets, we cannot estimate the ultimate impact it will have on our liquidity and capital resources.

Our Principal Capital Resources

For a discussion of cash generated from operations, see “Cash Flows,” beginning on page 46. In addition to cash generated from operations, our other
principal capital resources are discussed below.

Over the last several years, we have made substantial progress in enhancing our liquidity position and reducing our leverage and borrowing costs. We
continue to focus on a balanced approach to growth and staggering debt maturities in order to retain our financial flexibility.

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $793.5 million available under our Revolving Facility for future borrowings. We also had $218.2 million
in cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits as of December 31, 2021.

We were in compliance with all applicable financial covenants under our Revolving Facility, unsecured term loans, and senior unsecured notes as of
December 31, 2021.

On November 16, 2021, the Company filed with the SEC a shelf registration statement on Form S-3, which is effective for a term of three years, relating to
the offer and sale, from time to time, of an indeterminate amount of equity and debt
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securities. Equity securities may be offered and sold by the Parent Company, and the net proceeds of any such offerings would be contributed to the Operating
Partnership in exchange for additional General Partner Units. Debt securities may be offered and sold by the Operating Partnership with the Operating Partnership
receiving the proceeds. From time to time, we may issue securities under this shelf registration statement for general corporate purposes, which may include
acquisitions of additional properties, repayment of outstanding indebtedness, capital expenditures, the expansion, redevelopment, and/or improvement of properties
in our portfolio, working capital and other general purposes.

On February 23, 2021, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Equity Distribution Agreement”)
with each of BofA Securities, Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. and Raymond James & Associates, Inc., pursuant to which the
Company may sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate sales price of $150.0 million of its common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share under
an at-the-market offering program (the “ATM Program”). On November 30, 2021, the Company and the Operating Partnership amended the Equity Distribution
Agreement to reflect the filing by the Company and the Operating Partnership of a shelf registration statement on November 16, 2021 with the SEC. As of
December 31, 2021, the Company has not sold any common shares under the ATM Program. The Operating Partnership intends to use the net proceeds, if any, to
repay borrowings under its Revolving Facility and other indebtedness and for working capital and other general corporate purposes. The Operating Partnership
may also use net proceeds for acquisitions of operating properties and the development or redevelopment of properties, although there are currently no
understandings, commitments or agreements to do so.

In the future, we will continue to monitor the capital markets and may consider raising additional capital through the issuance of our common shares,
preferred shares or other securities. We may also raise capital by disposing of properties, land parcels or other assets that are no longer core components of our
growth strategy. The sale price may differ from our carrying value at the time of sale.

Our Principal Liquidity Needs

Short-Term Liquidity Needs

Near-Term Debt Maturities. As of December 31, 2021, we had $153.5 million of secured debt scheduled to mature in 2022, excluding scheduled monthly
principal payments. We believe we have sufficient liquidity to repay this obligation from cash on hand and short-term deposits.

Other Short-Term Liquidity Needs. The requirements for qualifying as a REIT and for a tax deduction for some or all of the dividends paid to shareholders
necessitate that we distribute at least 90% of our taxable income on an annual basis. Such requirements cause us to have substantial liquidity needs over both the
short and long term. Our short-term liquidity needs consist primarily of funds necessary to pay operating expenses associated with our operating properties,
scheduled interest payments of approximately $115 million in 2022 and scheduled principal payments on our debt of approximately $3.7 million in 2022, expected
dividend payments to our common shareholders and Common Unit holders, and recurring capital expenditures.

In February 2022, our Board of Trustees declared a cash distribution of $0.20 per common share and Common Unit for the first quarter of 2022. This
distribution is expected to be paid on April 15, 2022 to common shareholders and Common Unit holders of record as of April 8, 2022. Future distributions, if any,
are at the discretion of the Board of Trustees, who will continue to evaluate our sources and uses of capital, liquidity position, operating fundamentals, maintenance
of our REIT qualification and other factors they may deem relevant.

Other short-term liquidity needs include expenditures for tenant improvements, external leasing commissions and recurring capital expenditures. During the
year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred $3.8 million for recurring capital expenditures on operating properties, $14.7 million for tenant improvements and
external leasing commissions, and $9.7 million to re-lease anchor space at our operating properties related to tenants open and operating as of December 31, 2021
(excluding development and redevelopment projects). We currently anticipate incurring approximately $100 million of additional major tenant improvement costs
related to executed leases for currently vacant space at a number of our operating properties over the next 12 to 18 months. We believe we have the ability to fund
these costs through cash flow from operations or by borrowing on the Revolving Facility.

As of December 31, 2021, we had eight development projects under construction, including five projects assumed in the Merger with RPAI. Total estimated
costs for these projects are $185.6 million, of which our share is estimated to be $121.7 million. As of December 31, 2021, we have incurred $16.6 million of these
costs. We anticipate incurring the majority of the remaining costs for these projects over the next 24 months and believe we have the ability to fund these projects
through cash flow from operations or by borrowing on the Revolving Facility.
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Share Repurchase Plan

In February 2021, the Company’s Board of Trustees approved a share repurchase program, authorizing share repurchases up to an aggregate of $150.0
million (the “Share Repurchase Program”). In February 2022, the Company extended its share repurchase program for an additional year. The Share Repurchase
Program, as extended, will terminate on February 28, 2023, if not terminated or extended prior to that date. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has not
repurchased any shares under its Share Repurchase Program. The Company intends to fund any future repurchases under the Share Purchase Program with cash on
hand or availability under the Revolving Facility, subject to any applicable restrictions. The timing of share repurchases and the number of common shares to be
repurchased under the Share Repurchase Program will depend upon prevailing market conditions, regulatory requirements and other factors.

Long-Term Liquidity Needs

Our long-term liquidity needs consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for any new development projects, redevelopment of existing properties, non-
recurring capital expenditures, acquisitions of properties, payment of indebtedness at maturity and obligations under ground leases.

Selective Acquisitions, Developments and Joint Ventures. We may selectively pursue the acquisition, development and redevelopment of other properties,
which would require additional capital. It is unlikely that we would have sufficient funds on hand to meet these long-term capital requirements. We would have to
satisfy these needs through additional borrowings, sales of common or preferred shares, issuance of Operating Partnership units, cash generated through property
dispositions and/or participation in joint venture arrangements. We cannot be certain that we would have access to these sources of capital on satisfactory terms, if
at all, to fund our long-term liquidity requirements. We evaluate all future opportunities against pre-established criteria including, but not limited to, location,
demographics, expected return, tenant credit quality, tenant relationships, and the amount of existing retail space. Our ability to access the capital markets will be
dependent on a number of factors, including general capital market conditions.

Potential Debt Repurchases. We may from time to time, depending on market conditions and prices, contractual restrictions, our financial liquidity and
other factors, seek to repurchase our senior unsecured notes maturing at various dates through September 2030 in open market transactions, by tender offer or

otherwise, as market conditions warrant.

Commitments under Ground Leases. We are obligated under 12 ground leases for approximately 98 acres of land as of December 31, 2021. Most of these
ground leases require fixed annual rent payments and the expiration dates of the remaining initial terms of these ground leases range from 2023 to 2092.

Capital Expenditures on Consolidated Properties

The following table summarizes cash capital expenditures for our development and redevelopment projects and other capital expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2021:

Year Ended

(8 in thousands) December 31, 2021

Active development and redevelopment projects $ 22,546
Redevelopment opportunities 10
Recently completed projects and other 13,686
Anchor re-tenanting 9,662
Recurring operating capital expenditures (primarily tenant improvements) 11,409
Total $ 57,313

We capitalize certain indirect costs such as interest, payroll, and other general and administrative costs related to these development activities. If we had
experienced a 10% reduction in development and redevelopment activities, without a corresponding decrease in indirect project costs, we would have recorded
additional expense of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Impact of Changes in Credit Ratings on Our Liquidity

We previously received investment grade corporate credit ratings from two nationally recognized credit rating agencies and these ratings were unchanged
during 2021. We were assigned an investment grade corporate credit rating from a third nationally recognized rating agency in October 2021.
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In the future, these ratings could change based upon, among other things, the impact that prevailing economic conditions may have on our results of
operations and financial condition, including as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Credit rating reductions by one or more rating agencies could
also adversely affect our access to funding sources, the cost and other terms of obtaining funding, as well as our overall financial condition, operating results and
cash flow.

Cash Flows

As of December 31, 2021, we had cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash of $100.4 million. We may be subject to concentrations of credit risk with
regard to our cash and cash equivalents. We place our cash and short-term investments with highly rated financial institutions. While we attempt to limit our
exposure at any point in time, occasionally, such cash and investments may temporarily be in excess of FDIC and SIPC insurance limits. We also maintain certain
compensating balances in several financial institutions in support of borrowings from those institutions. Such compensating balances were not material to the
consolidated balance sheets.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 to the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Cash provided by operating activities was $100.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, an increase of $4.8 million from the same period of
2020. The cash flows were positively impacted by the completion of the Merger, which generated incremental operating income, along with improved collection
activity including previously deferred rent from the COVID-19 pandemic. This improvement was partially offset by costs paid as part of the Merger along with
higher interest costs related to the debt assumed in the Merger.

Cash used in investing activities was $91.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, and $80.8 million in the same period of 2020. Highlights of
significant cash sources and uses in investing activities are as follows:

*  Cash acquired in the Merger with RPAI in 2021 of $15.0 million;

*  Net proceeds of $80.7 million related to the sale of one operating property and 17 ground leases in 2021 and other land parcels compared to net
proceeds of $23.0 million related to the sale of one redevelopment property and five parcels of land in 2020;

*  Acquisition of a multi-tenant retail outparcel at Nora Plaza in 2021 and acquisition deposits for $10.4 million compared to the acquisition of Eastgate
Crossing in 2020 for $65.3 million;

+ Investment in a short-term interest-bearing deposit of $125.0 million using the proceeds from the March 2021 Exchangeable Notes; and
* Increase in capital expenditures of $19.0 million, partially offset by a change in construction payables of $4.4 million in 2021.

Cash provided by financing activities was $44.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, and cash used in financing activities was $20.9 million in
the same period of 2020. Highlights of significant cash sources and uses in financing activities are as follows:

+ In March 2021, we issued $175.0 million of Exchangeable Notes in a private placement offering to proactively fund our 2022 debt maturities. In
connection with this issuance, we incurred transaction costs of $6.0 million and purchased capped calls for $9.8 million;

* InOctober 2021, we borrowed $40.0 million on the Revolving Facility;
* In 2021, we paid down debt by $77.6 million using a portion of the proceeds from the sale of 17 ground leases and the Exchangeable Notes;

* In 2021, we made distributions to common shareholders and Common Unit holders of $60.0 million, compared to distributions of $39.7 million in
2020;

*  In March 2020, we borrowed $300.0 million on our $600.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit as a precautionary measure to increase our cash
position and preserve financial flexibility in light of uncertainty in the global markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. During the remainder
of 2020, we repaid the $300.0 million borrowing on the unsecured revolving line of credit as we became incrementally more confident in the
recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic; and
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* In December 2020, we borrowed $25.0 million on the $600.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit to fund a portion of the purchase price of
Eastgate Crossing, which was repaid in February 2021.

Management’s discussion of the cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019, with comparison to the year ended December 31, 2020, was included in Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020.

Other Matters

Financial Instruments

We are exposed to capital market risk, such as changes in interest rates. In order to reduce the volatility relating to interest rate risk, we may enter into
interest rate hedging arrangements from time to time. We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Obligations in Connection with Projects Under Construction

We are obligated under various completion guarantees with tenants to complete tenant-specific spaces currently under construction. We believe we currently
have sufficient financing in place to fund our investment in any existing or future projects through cash from operations or borrowings on our Revolving Facility.

In addition, we have provided a repayment guaranty on a $33.8 million construction loan with the development of Embassy Suites at Eddy Street Commons
consistent with our 35% ownership interest. As of December 31, 2021, the current outstanding loan balance is $33.6 million, of which our share is $11.8 million.

Our share of estimated future costs for under construction and future developments and redevelopments is further discussed on page 44 in the “Short- and
Long-Term Liquidity Needs” section.

Outstanding Indebtedness

The following table presents details of outstanding consolidated indebtedness as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, adjusted for hedges:

December 31, December 31,

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020
Senior unsecured notes $ 1,749,635 $ 550,000
Exchangeable senior notes — fixed rate 175,000 —
Unsecured revolving credit facility 55,000 25,000
Unsecured term loans 720,000 250,000
Mortgage notes payable — fixed rate 363,577 295,966
Mortgage notes payable — variable rate 29,013 55,110
Debt discounts, premiums and issuance costs, net 58,583 (5,282)

Total mortgage and other indebtedness, net $ 3,150,808 $ 1,170,794

Consolidated indebtedness, including weighted average maturities and weighted average interest rates at December 31, 2021, is summarized below:

Weighted
Amount Weighted Average Average Maturity
(8 in thousands) Outstanding Ratio Interest Rate (in years)
Fixed rate debt! $ 2,853,212 92 % 4.00 % 4.6
Variable rate debt? 239,013 8% 3.01 % 4.2
Debt discounts, premiums and issuance costs, net 58,583 N/A N/A N/A
Total consolidated debt $ 3,150,808 100 % 3.92% 4.6

1 Fixed rate debt includes the portion of variable rate debt that has been hedged by interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2021, $720.0 million in variable rate debt is
hedged to a fixed rate for a weighted average of 3.2 years.

2 Variable rate debt includes the portion of fixed rate debt that has been hedged by interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2021, $155.0 million in fixed rate debt is hedged
to a floating rate for a weighted average of 3.7 years.

Mortgage indebtedness is collateralized by certain real estate properties and leases and is generally repaid in monthly installments of interest and principal
with maturities over various terms through 2032.
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Variable interest rates on mortgage indebtedness is based on LIBOR plus 160 basis points. At December 31, 2021, the one-month LIBOR interest rate was
0.10%. Fixed interest rates on mortgages payable range from 3.75% to 5.73%.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements. As disclosed in Note 2, the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires management to make
estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. We believe that the following discussion addresses our most critical accounting policies, which are those that are most important to the
compilation of our financial condition and results of operations and, in some cases, require management’s most difficult, subjective, and complex judgments.

Acquisition of Real Estate Investments

In accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, we accounted for the Merger as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting,
which requires the application of a screen test to evaluate if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets to determine whether a transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition or business combination.

Upon acquisition of real estate operating properties, including those assets acquired in the Merger with RPAI, we estimate the fair value of acquired
identifiable tangible assets and identified intangible assets and liabilities, assumed debt, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition,
based on evaluation of information and estimates available at that date. Based on these estimates, we record the estimated fair value to the applicable assets and
liabilities. In making estimates of fair values, a number of sources are utilized, including information obtained as a result of pre-acquisition due diligence,
marketing and leasing activities. The estimates of fair value were determined to have primarily relied upon Level 2 and Level 3 inputs, as defined below.

Fair value is determined for tangible assets and intangibles, including:

* the fair value of the building on an as-if-vacant basis and the fair value of land determined either by comparable market data, real estate tax
assessments, independent appraisals or other relevant data;

*  above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties, which are based on the present value (using an interest rate that reflects
the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases and (ii)
management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over the remaining non-cancelable term of the
leases. Any below-market renewal options are also considered in the in-place lease values. The capitalized above-market and below-market lease
values are amortized as a reduction of or addition to rental income over the term of the lease. Should a tenant vacate, terminate its lease, or otherwise
notify us of its intent to do so, the unamortized portion of the lease intangibles would be charged or credited to income;

» the value of having a lease in place at the acquisition date. We utilize independent and internal sources for our estimates to determine the respective
in-place lease values. Our estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers. Factors we consider in our
analysis include an estimate of costs to execute similar leases including tenant improvements, leasing commissions and foregone costs and rent
received during the estimated lease-up period as if the space was vacant. The value of in-place leases is amortized to expense over the remaining
initial terms of the respective leases; and

» the fair value of any assumed financing that is determined to be above or below market terms. We utilize third party and independent sources for our
estimates to determine the respective fair value of each mortgage and other indebtedness, including related derivative instruments, assumed. The fair
market value of each is amortized to interest expense over the remaining initial terms of the respective instrument.

We also consider whether there is any value to in-place leases that have a related customer relationship intangible value. Characteristics we consider in
determining these values include the nature and extent of existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new business with the
tenant, the tenant’s credit quality, and expectations of lease renewals, among other factors. To date, no tenant relationship has been developed that is considered to
have a current intangible value.
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Valuation of Investment Properties

Management reviews operational and development projects, land parcels and intangible assets for impairment on a property-by-property basis whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. This review for possible impairment requires certain
assumptions, estimates, and significant judgment. Examples of situations considered to be impairment indicators for both operating properties and development
projects include, but are not limited to:

*  asubstantial decline in or continued low occupancy rate or cash flow;

*  expected significant declines in occupancy in the near future;

»  continued difficulty in leasing space;

*  asignificant concentration of financially troubled tenants;

« areduction in anticipated holding period;

* acost accumulation or delay in project completion date significantly above and beyond the original development or redevelopment estimate;
* asignificant decrease in market price not in line with general market trends; and

* any other quantitative or qualitative events or factors deemed significant by the Company’s management or Board of Trustees.

Impairment losses for investment properties and intangible assets are measured when the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by the
investment properties during the expected holding period are less than the carrying amounts of those assets. The evaluation of impairment is subject to certain
management assumptions including projected net operating income, anticipated hold period, expected capital expenditures and the capitalization rate used to
estimate the property’s residual value. Impairment losses are recorded as the excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value of the asset. Our impairment
review for land and development properties assumes we have the intent and ability to complete the developments or projected uses for the land parcels. If we
determine those plans will not be completed or our assumptions with respect to operating assets are not realized, an impairment loss may be appropriate.

Depreciation may be accelerated for a redevelopment project, including partial demolition of existing structures after the asset is assessed for impairment.

Operating properties will be classified as held for sale only when those properties are available for immediate sale in their present condition and for which
management believes it is probable that a sale of the property will be completed within one year, among other factors. Operating properties classified as held for
sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell. Depreciation and amortization are suspended during the held-for-sale period.

Revenue Recognition
As a lessor of real estate assets, the Company retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership and accounts for its leases as operating leases.

Contractual minimum base rent, percentage rent, and expense reimbursements from tenants for common area maintenance costs, insurance and real estate
taxes are our principal sources of revenue. Base minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Certain lease
agreements contain provisions that grant additional rents based on a tenant’s sales volume (contingent overage rent). Overage rent is recognized when tenants
achieve the specified sales targets as defined in their lease agreements. If we determine that collectibility is probable, we recognize income from rentals based on
the methodology described above. We have accounts receivable due from tenants and are subject to the risk of tenant defaults and bankruptcies that may affect the
collection of outstanding receivables. These receivables are reduced for credit loss, which is recognized as a reduction to rental income. We regularly evaluate the
collectibility of these lease-related receivables by analyzing past due account balances and consider such facts as the credit quality of our customer, historical
write-off experience, tenant credit-worthiness and current economic trends when evaluating the collectibility of rental income. Although we estimate uncollectible
receivables and provide for them through charges against income, actual experience may differ from those estimates.
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We recognize the sale of real estate when control transfers to the buyer. As part of our ongoing business strategy, we will, from time to time, sell properties,
land parcels and outlots, some of which are ground-leased to tenants.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our future income, cash flows and fair values relevant to financial instruments depend upon prevailing interest rates. We are exposed to interest rate
changes primarily through our Revolving Facility and unsecured term loans and other property-specific variable-rate mortgages. Our objectives with respect to
interest rate risk are to balance the potential impact of interest rate changes on operations and cash flows against our desire to lower our overall borrowing costs. To
achieve these objectives, we may borrow at fixed or variable rates and enter into derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps, hedges, etc., in order
to mitigate the interest rate risk. As a matter of policy, we do not use financial instruments for trading or speculative transactions.

We had $3.2 billion of outstanding consolidated indebtedness as of December 31, 2021 (inclusive of net unamortized debt discounts, premiums and issuance
costs of $58.6 million). As of December 31, 2021, we were party to various consolidated interest rate hedge agreements totaling $875.0 million with maturities
over various terms through 2026. Reflecting the effects of these hedge agreements, our fixed and variable rate debt would have been $2.9 billion (92%) and $239.0
million (8%), respectively, of our total consolidated indebtedness at December 31, 2021.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $153.5 million of fixed rate debt scheduled to mature during 2022. A 100-basis point change in interest rates would not
materially impact the annual cash flows associated with this debt as we expect to repay these loans using cash on hand. A 100-basis point change in interest rates

on our unhedged variable rate debt as of December 31, 2021 would change our annual cash flow by $2.4 million. Based upon the terms of our variable rate debt,
we are most vulnerable to a change in short-term LIBOR interest rates.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The consolidated financial statements of the Company included in this Report are listed in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Kite Realty Group Trust

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Parent Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Parent Company’s Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Parent Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision of and with the participation of the Parent Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, the Parent Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on the 2013
framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its
evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, the Parent Company’s management has concluded that its internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The SEC permits companies to exclude certain acquisitions from their assessments of internal control over financial reporting during the first year of an
acquisition while integrating the acquired company. Accordingly, due to the fourth quarter closing date of the Merger, management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of the Parent Company’s internal control over financial reporting excluded the operations of the RPAI portfolio, which was acquired by the Parent
Company, through the Operating Partnership, on October 22, 2021. On that date, RPAI and its related entities became wholly owned subsidiaries of the Parent
Company with total assets of $5.0 billion and total revenues of $94.9 million included in the Parent Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2021.
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The Parent Company’s independent auditors, KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, have issued a report on its internal control over
financial reporting as stated in their report which is included herein.

There was no change to the Parent Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2021 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.

The Parent Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of Trustees regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Kite Realty Group, L.P.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of the Operating Partnership’s management, including its Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Operating Partnership’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Operating Partnership is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Rule
13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Under the supervision of and with the participation of the Operating Partnership’s management, including its Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the Operating Partnership conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on
the 2013 framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its
evaluation under the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, the Operating Partnership’s management has concluded that its internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The SEC permits companies to exclude certain acquisitions from their assessments of internal control over financial reporting during the first year of an
acquisition while integrating the acquired company. Accordingly, due to the fourth quarter closing date of the Merger, management’s assessment of the
effectiveness of the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting excluded the operations of the RPAI portfolio, which was acquired by the
Operating Partnership on October 22, 2021. On that date, RPAI and its related entities became wholly owned subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership with total
assets of $5.0 billion and total revenues of $94.9 million included in the Operating Partnership’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

The Operating Partnership’s independent auditors, KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, have issued a report on its internal
control over financial reporting as stated in their report which is included herein.

There was no change to the Operating Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2021 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.

The Operating Partnership’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to our management and Board of Trustees regarding the
preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Kite Realty Group Trust and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established
in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance
sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes and financial statement schedule III — Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 28, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

The Company acquired Retail Properties of America, Inc. during 2021, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, Retail Properties of America, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total
assets of $5.0 billion and total revenues of $94.9 million included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December
31, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Retail
Properties of America, Inc.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Partners of Kite Realty Group, L.P. and subsidiaries and Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Kite Realty Group, L.P. and subsidiaries’ (the Partnership) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Partnership maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance
sheets of the Partnership as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, partner’s equity, and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes and financial statement schedule III — Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 28, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.

The Partnership acquired Retail Properties of America, Inc. during 2021, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Partnership’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, Retail Properties of America, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total
assets of $5.0 billion and total revenues of $94.9 million included in the consolidated financial statements of the Partnership as of and for the year ended December
31, 2021. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Partnership also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of
Retail Properties of America, Inc.

Basis for Opinion

The Partnership’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in our 2022 Annual Meeting Proxy Statement (the
“Proxy Statement”), which we intend to file within 120 days after our fiscal year-end in accordance with Regulation 14A.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is hereby incorporated by reference to the material appearing in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:
1) Financial Statements:
Consolidated financial statements for the Company listed on the index immediately preceding the financial statements at the end of this report.
2) Financial Statement Schedule:
Financial statement schedule for the Company listed on the index immediately preceding the financial statements at the end of this report.
3) Exhibits:
The Company files as part of this report the exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index.
(b) Exhibits:
The Company files as part of this report the exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index. Other financial statement schedules are omitted because they are not
applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule:

The Company files as part of this report the financial statement schedule listed on the index immediately preceding the financial statements at the end of
this report.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description Location
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Kite Realty Group Trust, KRG Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current
Magellan, LLC and Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust, Inc., dated February 9, 2014 Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on February 11, 2014
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 18, 2021, by and among Kite Realty Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current
Group Trust. KRG Oak. LLC. and Retail Properties of America, Inc. Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on July 19, 2021
3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Kite Realty Filed herewith
Group Trust, as supplemented and amended
32 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company. as amended Filed herewith
33 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Kite Realty Group. L.P. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.7 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on February 22, 2021
4.1 Form of Common Share Certificate Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Kite Realty
Group Trust’s registration statement on Form S-11 (File
No. 333-114224) declared effective by the SEC on August
10, 2004
42 Indenture, dated September 26. 2016. between Kite Realty Group, L.P.. as issuer, and Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on September 27, 2016
43 First Supplemental Indenture, dated September 26, 2016, among Kite Realty Group, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current
L.P.. Kite Realty Group Trust, as possible future guarantor. and U.S. Bank National Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
Association the SEC on September 27, 2016
44 Form of Global Note representing the Notes Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 4.2 and 4.3 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed
with the SEC on September 27, 2016
4.5 Indenture, dated as of March 22, 2021, among Kite Realty Group. L.P., as issuer, Kite Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current
Realty Group Trust, as REIT. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on March 22, 2021
4.6 Form of Global Note representing the 0.75% Exchangeable Senior Notes due 2027 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 and 4.2 to the
(included in Exhibit 4.5) Current Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed
with the SEC on March 22, 2021
4.7 Indenture, dated March 12, 2015, by and between Retail Properties of America, Inc. as  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current
Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on March 12, 2015
4.8 First Supplemental Indenture, dated March 12, 2015. by and between Retail Properties ~ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Current
of America, Inc. as Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on March 12, 2015
4.9 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated July 21, 2020, by and between Retail Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current
Properties of America. Inc. as Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on July 21, 2020
4.10 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated August 25, 2020. by and between Retail Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Current

Properties of America, Inc. as Issuer and U.S. Bank National Association as Trustee
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Fourth Supplemental Indenture. dated as of October 22, 2021, between Kite Realty
Group, L.P., as successor company, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee

Description of Registrant's Securities

Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Kite Realty Group, L.P.,
dated as of August 16, 2004

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Kite
Realty Group. L.P.. dated as of December 7. 2010
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Realty Group. L.P.
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Realty Group, L.P.
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Realty Group, L.P.

Amendment No. 5 to Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Kite
Realty Group. L.P.

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of December 29. 2020, by and between the
Company and John A. Kite*

Executive Employment Agreement. dated as of December 29, 2020, by and between the
Company and Thomas K. McGowan*

Executive Employment Agreement. dated as of December 29, 2020, by and between the
Company and Heath R. Fear*

Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of August 6, 2014, by and between the
Company and Scott E. Murray*
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and Scott E. Murray*
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Indemnification Agreement, dated as of February 27. 2015, by and between Kite Realty
Group Trust. Kite Realty Group, L.P.. and Scott E. Murray*
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Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2004. by and among the
Company. Alvin E. Kite, Jr., John A. Kite, Paul W. Kite, Thomas K. McGowan, Daniel

R. Sink. George F. McMannis, Mark Jenkins. C. Kenneth Kite. David Grieve and KMI
Holdings, LLC

Amendment No. 1 to Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 29, 2005, by and
among the Company and the other parties listed on the signature page thereto

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2021. by and among Kite Realty
Group Trust, Kite Realty Group, L.P. and the initial purchasers party thereto

Tax Protection Agreement, dated August 16, 2004, by and among the Company, Kite
Realty Group, L.P., Alvin E. Kite. Jr., John A. Kite, Paul W. Kite, Thomas K.
McGowan and C. Kenneth Kite

Form of 2014 QOutperformance LTIP Unit Award Agreement *

Form of 2016 Outperformance Plan LTIP Unit Agreement*

Kite Realty Group Trust 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. as amended and restated as of
February 28,2019 *

Form of Nongqualified Share Option Agreement under 2013 Equity Incentive Plan*

Form of Restricted Share Agreement under 2013 Equity Incentive Plan*

Retail Properties of America. Inc. Amended and Restated 2014 Long-Term Equity
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Form of Appreciation Only LTIP Unit Agreement*

Form of LTIP Unit Agreement*
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the SEC on November 14, 2005

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
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the SEC on March 22, 2021
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current
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the SEC on July 29, 2014

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
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the SEC on February 3, 2016

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Current
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registration
on Form S-8 of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with the SEC
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly
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the SEC on August 9, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the Annual
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the SEC on February 27, 2017

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
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Term Loan Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2012, by and among the Operating
Partnership. the Company, KeyBank National Association, as Administrative Agent

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association. as Syndication Agent. the Huntington
National Bank. as Documentation Agent, Keybanc Capital Markets and Wells Fargo

Securities, LLC, as Joint Bookrunners and Joint [.ead Arrangers, and the other lenders

First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of February 26, 2013. by and

among the Operating Partnership, the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership party thereto, KeyBank National Association, as a lender and as

Administrative Agent. and the other lenders party thereto

Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of August 21, 2013, by and

among the Operating Partnership. the Company. certain subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership party thereto. KeyBank National Association, as a lender and as

Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto

Guaranty. dated as of April 30. 2012, by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Operating Partnership party thereto

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of October 25. 2018, by and among Kite Realty Group,
L.P.. KeyBank National Association, as Administrative Agent. and the other lenders

party thereto
Springing Guaranty, dated as of October 25, 2018, by Kite Realty Group Trust

Note Purchase Agreement., dated as of August 28, 2015. by and among Kite Realty
Group, L.P.. and the other parties named therein as Purchasers

Sixth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. dated as of July 8. 2021. by and among
Retail Properties of America, Inc. as Borrower and KeyBank National Association as
Administrative Agent, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc.
as Joint Book Managers, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association as Syndication

Agent, Capital One, National Association, PNC Capital Markets LL.C, Regions Capital
Markets, and TD Bank, N.A. as Joint Lead Arrangers, each of Capital One., National
Association, PNC Bank, National Association, Regions Bank, TD Bank, N.A., U.S.
Bank National Association, Bank of America. N.A., Citibank, N.A., and The Bank of
Nova Scotia as Documentation Agents. and certain lenders from time to time parties
hereto, as Lenders

First Amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
October 22, 2021, by and among Kite Realty Group, L.P., KeyBank National

Association, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto
Springing Guaranty. dated as of October 22, 2021. by Kite Realty Group Trust

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July 17, 2019, by and among Retail Properties of
America. Inc., as borrower. and KeyBank National Association. as administrative agent,
KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc.. as book runner, KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc., Branch
Banking and Trust Company, PNC Capital Markets LLC. TD Bank and Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as joint lead arrangers, Branch Banking and Trust
Company. PNC Bank, National Association, TD Bank and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as co-syndication agents, and the initial lenders named therein
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on May 4, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on March 4, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on August 27, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on May 4, 2012

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 26, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 26, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on September 3, 2015

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on August 4, 2021.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on July 23, 2019
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First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2020, by and among
Retail Properties of America, Inc. as Borrower and KeyBank National Association as

Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties thereto, as Lenders

Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of July 19, 2021, by and among

Retail Properties of America. Inc. as Borrower and KeyBank National Association as
Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties thereto. as Lenders

Third Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of October 22. 2021, by and
among Kite Realty Group. L.P.. KeyBank National Association. as administrative

agent, and the lenders party thereto
Springing Guaranty. dated as of October 22, 2021. by Kite Realty Group Trust

Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2016, by and among Retail Properties
of America, Inc. as Borrower and Capital One, National Association as Administrative

Agent, Capital One, National Association, PNC Capital Markets LLC. TD Bank, N.A..
and Regions Bank as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Book Managers, TD Bank, N.A. as

Syndication Agent, PNC Capital Markets LLC and Regions Bank as Co-Documentation
Agent, and Certain Lenders from time to time parties thereto, as Lenders

First Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2018, by and among
Retail Properties of America, Inc. as Borrower and Capital One, National Association

as Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties thereto, as
Lenders

Second Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of November 20, 2018, by and
among Retail Properties of America. Inc. as Borrower and Capital One. National

Association as Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties
thereto. as Lenders

Third Amendment to Term Loan Agreement, dated as of May 4, 2020, by and among
Retail Properties of America, Inc. as Borrower and Capital One, National Association

as Administrative Agent and certain lenders from time to time parties thereto, as
Lenders

Fourth Amendment to Term Loan Agreement. dated as of October 22. 2021, by and
among Kite Realty Group. L.P.. Kite Realty Group Trust, Capital One. National

Association, as administrative agent, and the lenders party thereto
Springing Guaranty. dated as of October 22, 2021. by Kite Realty Group Trust

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of May 16. 2014 among the Retail Properties of
America, Inc. as issuer and certain institutions as purchasers

Assumption Agreement with respect to the 2014 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of
October 22, 2021, by Kite Realty Group. L.P.

Springing Guaranty with respect to the 2014 Note Purchase Agreement. dated as of
October 22, 2021, by Kite Realty Group Trust

Note Purchase Agreement dated as of September 30, 2016, among Retail Properties of
America, Inc. as issuer and certain institutions as purchasers
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on May 6, 2020

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on August 4, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on November 29, 2016

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on August 1, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on February 13, 2019

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on May 6, 2020

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on May 22, 2014

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Kite Realty Group Trust filed with
the SEC on October 22, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K of Retail Properties of America, Inc.
filed with the SEC on October 5, 2016
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* Denotes a management contract or compensatory, plan contract or arrangement.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrants have duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
(Registrant)

/s/ JOHN A. KITE
John A. Kite

Date: February 28, 2022 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s HEATH R. FEAR
Heath R. Fear

Date: February 28, 2022 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

KITE REALTY GROUP L.P.
(Registrant)
By: Kite Realty Group Trust, its sole general partner

/s/ JOHN A. KITE
John A. Kite

Date: February 28, 2022 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sf HEATH R. FEAR
Heath R. Fear

Date: February 28, 2022 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kite Realty Group Trust and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes and
financial statement schedule III — Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 28, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of investment properties for potential impairment

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, land, buildings, and improvements, net was $7,543,376 thousand as of December 31, 2021.
The Company’s investment properties are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset
may not be recoverable. This review for potential impairment triggering events requires certain assumptions, estimates, and significant judgment, including
about the anticipated holding period for an investment property.

We identified the evaluation of certain investment properties for potential impairment as a critical audit matter. Subjective and challenging auditor judgment

was required to evaluate the Company’s intent and ability to hold investment properties for particular periods of time. A shortening of the anticipated holding
period could indicate a potential impairment.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
certain internal controls related to the Company’s process to evaluate potential impairment triggering events, including a control related to the evaluation of
the holding period. We compared the holding periods assumed in the Company’s analysis to the Company’s historical holding periods for similar properties.
We inquired of Company management and inspected documents, such as meeting minutes of the board of trustees and its sub-committees, and management’s
capital allocation committee to evaluate the Company’s intent and ability to hold investment properties for particular periods of time. We read external
communications with investors and analysts in order to identify information regarding potential sales of the Company’s investment properties.

Valuation of assets and liabilities acquired in the Retail Properties of America, Inc. acquisition

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on October 22, 2021, the Company completed a merger with Retail Properties of America,
Inc. (“RPATI”) in a transaction accounted for as a business combination for consideration of approximately $2.8 billion. The consideration paid was allocated
to the acquired assets and liabilities of each property based on their estimated fair values.

We identified the evaluation of the estimated fair values of land, buildings, and above and below market lease intangible assets and liabilities acquired in the
RPAI acquisition as a critical audit matter. Subjective auditor judgment was required to evaluate the Company’s land valuations and certain inputs used in the
Company’s determination of the estimated fair values of certain other assets and liabilities, specifically forecasted individual property net operating income
and capitalization rates that were used as inputs to the building valuations, and market rental rates and discount rates that were used as inputs to the valuation
of the above and below market lease intangible assets and liabilities.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
certain internal controls related to the Company’s process to allocate the purchase price to the acquired assets and liabilities. This included controls related to
the selection and review of the above noted inputs. We assessed the Company’s forecasts of individual property net operating income by comparing projected
amounts to the Company’s budgets. We evaluated the Company’s ability to prepare accurate budgets by comparing previous budgets of net operating income
for the Company’s individual properties to actual results. We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in:

» for a selection of properties, evaluating the Company’s estimates of fair values of land by comparing the recorded values to comparable land sales using
publicly available market data

«  for a selection of buildings, comparing the Company’s capitalization rates to available market information and industry research publications

« for a sample of lease intangible assets and liabilities, comparing market rental rates and discount rates used by the Company to available market
information and industry research publications.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Partners of Kite Realty Group, L.P. and subsidiaries and Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kite Realty Group, L.P. and subsidiaries (the Partnership) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, partner’s equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes and
financial statement schedule III — Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results
of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Partnership’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 28, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and
(2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on
the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the
critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of investment properties for potential impairment

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, land, buildings, and improvements, net was $7,543,376 thousand as of December 31, 2021.
The Partnership’s investment properties are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset
may not be recoverable. This review for potential impairment triggering events requires certain assumptions, estimates, and significant judgment, including
about the anticipated holding period for an investment property.

We identified the evaluation of certain investment properties for potential impairment as a critical audit matter. Subjective and challenging auditor judgment
was required to evaluate the Partnership’s intent and ability to hold investment properties for particular periods of time. A shortening of the anticipated
holding period could indicate a potential impairment.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
certain internal controls related to the Partnership’s process to evaluate potential impairment triggering events, including a control related to the evaluation of
the holding period. We compared the holding periods assumed in the Partnership’s analysis to the Partnership’s historical holding periods for similar

properties. We inquired of Partnership management and inspected documents, such as meeting minutes of Kite Realty Group Trust’s (the Parent Company’s)
board of trustees and its sub-committees, and management’s capital allocation committee to evaluate the Partnership’s intent and ability to hold investment
properties for particular periods of time. We read external communications with investors and analysts in order to identify information regarding potential
sales of the Partnership’s investment properties.

Valuation of assets and liabilities acquired in the Retail Properties of America, Inc. acquisition

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on October 22, 2021, the Partnership completed a merger with Retail Properties of America,
Inc. (“RPATI”) in a transaction accounted for as a business combination for consideration of approximately $2.8 billion. The consideration paid was allocated
to the acquired assets and liabilities of each property based on their estimated fair values.

We identified the evaluation of the estimated fair values of land, buildings, and above and below market lease intangible assets and liabilities acquired in the
RPALI acquisition as a critical audit matter. Subjective auditor judgment was required to evaluate the Partnership’s land valuations and certain inputs used in
the Partnership’s determination of the estimated fair values of certain other assets and liabilities, specifically forecasted individual property net operating
income and capitalization rates that were used as inputs to the building valuations, and market rental rates and discount rates that were used as inputs to the
valuation of the above and below market lease intangible assets and liabilities.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of
certain internal controls related to the Partnership’s process to allocate the purchase price to the acquired assets and liabilities. This included controls related to
the selection and review of the above noted inputs. We assessed the Partnership’s forecasts of individual property net operating income by comparing
projected amounts to the Partnership’s budgets. We evaluated the Partnership’s ability to prepare accurate budgets by comparing previous budgets of net
operating income for the Partnership’s individual properties to actual results. We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who
assisted in:

» for a selection of properties, evaluating the Partnership’s estimates of fair values of land by comparing the recorded values to comparable land sales using
publicly available market data

+  for a selection of buildings, comparing the Partnership’s capitalization rates to available market information and industry research publications

» for a sample of lease intangible assets and liabilities, comparing market rental rates and discount rates used by the Partnership to available market
information and industry research publications.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2020.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Shareholders and Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust:
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows of Kite Realty Group
Trust (the Company) for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of

operations of the Company and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Adoption of ASU No. 2016-02

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and the related amendments.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2004 to 2020.
Indianapolis, Indiana
February 20, 2020



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Partners of Kite Realty Group, L.P. and subsidiaries and the Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust:
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, partner’s equity and cash flows of Kite Realty Group, L.P.
and subsidiaries (the Partnership) for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the

results of operations of the Partnership and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Adoption of ASU No. 2016-02

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Partnership changed its method of accounting for leases in 2019 due to the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), and the related amendments.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Partnership’s financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We served as the Partnership’s auditor from 2015 to 2020.

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 20, 2020
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KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
Consolidated Balance Sheets
($ in thousands, except share data)

Assets:

Investment properties at cost:
Less: accumulated depreciation
Net investment properties

Cash and cash equivalents

Tenant and other receivables, including accrued straight-line rent of $28,071
and $24,783, respectively

Restricted cash and escrow deposits
Deferred costs, net

Short-term deposits

Prepaid and other assets

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity:
Mortgage and other indebtedness, net
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue and other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Limited Partners’ interests in Operating Partnership and other
Equity:
Kite Realty Group Trust Shareholders’ Equity:

Common Shares, $0.01 par value, 490,000,000 and 225,000,000 shares authorized,
218,949,569 and 84,187,999 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total Kite Realty Group Trust shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

December 31,

December 31,

2021 2020
7,592,348 $ 3,143,961
(884,809) (755,100)
6,707,539 2,388,861
93,241 43,648
68,444 57,154
7,122 2,938
541,518 63,171
125,000 —
84,826 39,975
11,885 12,792
7,639,575 $ 2,608,539
3,150,808 $ 1,170,794
184,982 77,469
321,419 85,649
3,657,209 1,333,912
55,173 43,275
2,189 842
4,898,673 2,085,003
(15,902) (30,885)
(962,913) (824,306)
3,922,047 1,230,654
5,146 698
3,927,193 1,231,352
7,639,575 $ 2,608,539

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-7



KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
($ in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue:
Rental income
Other property-related revenue
Fee income

Total revenue

Expenses:
Property operating
Real estate taxes
General, administrative and other
Merger and acquisition costs
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment charges

Total expenses

Gain on sales of operating properties, net

Operating (loss) income
Interest expense
Income tax benefit of taxable REIT subsidiary
Loss on debt extinguishment
Equity in loss of unconsolidated subsidiaries
Other income (expense), net
Consolidated net loss
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust common shareholders

Net loss per common share — basic & diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic

‘Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted
Dividends declared per common share

Consolidated net loss

Change in fair value of derivatives

Total comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests

Comprehensive loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust

Year Ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
367,399 $ 257,670 308,399
4,683 8,597 6,326
1,242 378 448
373,324 266,645 315,173
55,561 41,012 45,575
49,530 35,867 38,777
33,984 30,840 28,214
86,522 — —
200,460 128,648 132,098
— — 37,723
426,057 236,367 282,387
31,209 4,733 38,971
(21,524) 35,011 71,757
(60,447) (50,399) (59,268)
310 696 282
— — (11,572)
(416) (1,685) (628)
355 254 (573)
(81,722) (16,123) 2)
916 (100) (532)
(80,806) $ (16,223) (534)
(0.73) $ (0.19) (0.01)
110,637,562 84,142,261 83,926,296
110,637,562 84,142,261 83,926,296
0.68 $ 0.4495 1.27
(81,722) $ (16,123) ?2)
15,670 (14,969) (13,158)
(66,052) (31,092) (13,160)
229 367 (160)
(65,823) $ (30,725) (13,320)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Balances, December 31, 2018

Stock compensation activity

Other comprehensive loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust
Distributions declared to common shareholders

Net loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust

Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling interests for common shares
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Balances, December 31, 2019

Stock compensation activity

Other comprehensive loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust
Distributions declared to common sharecholders

Net loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust

Acquisition of partner’s noncontrolling interest in Pan Am Plaza
Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling interests for common shares
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Balances, December 31, 2020

Stock compensation activity

Shares withheld for employee taxes

Issuance of common stock — Merger

Other comprehensive income attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust
Distributions declared to common shareholders

Net loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust

Purchase of capped calls

Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling interests for common shares
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Balances, December 31, 2021

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
($ in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Common Shares Additio'nal Other .
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital (Loss) Income Deficit Total

83,800,886 $ 838 § 2,078,099 $ (3,497) $§ (662,735) $ 1,412,705
152,184 2 6,147 — — 6,149
— — — (12,786) — (12,786)
— — — — (106,686) (106,686)
— — — — (534) (534)

10,299 — 167 — — 167
— — (9,977) — — (9,977)
83,963,369 § 840 § 2,074436 $ (16,283) § (769,955) $ 1,289,038
206,591 $ 2 3 5483 % —  § — 8 5,485
— — — (14,602) — (14,602)
— — — — (38,128) (38,128)
— — — — (16,223) (16,223)

— — (2,500) — — (2,500)

18,039 — 187 — — 187

— — 7,397 — — 7,397
84,187,999 $ 842 $§ 2,085003 $ (30,885) $ (824,306) $ 1,230,654
245333 §$ 2 3 6,793 § — 8 — 8 6,795
(714,569) (7) (15,031) — — (15,038)
134,931,465 1,349 2,846,020 — — 2,847,369
— — — 14,983 — 14,983

— — — — (57,801) (57,801)

— — — — (80,806) (80,806)

— — (9,800) — — (9,800)

299,341 3 4,235 — — 4,238
— — (18,547) — — (18,547)
218,949,569 $§ 2,189 $ 4,898,673 $ (15,902) $ (962,913) $ 3,922,047

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
($ in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Consolidated net loss $ (81,722) $ (16,123) $ )
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Gain on sales of operating properties, net (31,209) (4,733) (38,971)
Impairment charges — — 37,723
Loss on debt extinguishment — — 11,572
Straight-line rent (5,391) 3,131 (2,158)
Depreciation and amortization 203,142 130,783 134,860
Compensation expense for equity awards 6,697 5,998 5,375
Amortization of debt fair value adjustments (2,993) (444) (1,467)
Amortization of in-place lease liabilities 2,611) (3,822) (3,776)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Tenant receivables (3,102) (3,062) 3,170
Deferred costs and other assets 6,857 (7,618) (6,265)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, deferred revenue, and other liabilities 10,683 (8,595) (2,099)
Net cash provided by operating activities 100,351 95,515 137,962
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash and restricted cash acquired in the Merger 14,992 — —
Acquisitions of interests in properties (10,445) (65,298) (58,205)
Capital expenditures (57,313) (38,266) (53,278)
Net proceeds from sales of land 54,157 9,134 —
Net proceeds from sales of operating properties 26,556 13,888 529,417
Investment in short-term deposits (125,000) — —
Small business loan repayments (funding) 712 (2,199) —
Change in construction payables 4,413 2,442 (542)
Distribution from unconsolidated joint venture 1,029 — —
Capital contribution to unconsolidated joint venture (134) (541) (798)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (91,033) (80,840) 416,594
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common shares, net 31 72 350
Repurchases of common shares upon the vesting of restricted shares (15,031) (1,336) (533)
Purchase of capped calls (9,800) — —
Debt and equity issuance costs (8,141) — —
Loan proceeds 215,000 325,000 75,000
Loan payments (77,591) (302,477) (470,515)
Debt extinguishment costs — — (14,455)
Distributions paid — common shareholders (57,801) (38,128) (133,258)
Distributions paid — redeemable noncontrolling interests (2,208) (1,533) (3,838)
Acquisition of partner's interest in Pan Am Plaza joint venture — (2,500) =
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 44,459 (20,902) (547,249)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 53,777 (6,227) 7,307
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period 46,586 52,813 45,506
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $ 100,363 $ 46,586 $ 52,813
Supplemental disclosures
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest $ 59,552 $ 50,387 $ 60,534
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Exchange of redeemable noncontrolling interests for common shares $ 4,236 $ — $ —
Net investment in sales-type lease $ — $ 4,665 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Assets:
Investment properties at cost:
Less: accumulated depreciation

Net investment properties

Cash and cash equivalents

KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
($ in thousands, except unit data)

Tenant and other receivables, including accrued straight-line rent of $28,071

and $24,783, respectively
Restricted cash and escrow deposits
Deferred costs, net
Short-term deposits

Prepaid and other assets

Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity:

Mortgage and other indebtedness, net
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue and other liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Limited Partners’ interests in Operating Partnership and other

Partner’s Equity:

Parent Company:

Common equity, 218,949,569 and 84,187,999 units issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total Partners equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity

December 31,

December 31,

2021 2020
$ 7,592,348 $ 3,143,961
(884,809) (755,100)

6,707,539 2,388,861

93,241 43,648

68,444 57,154

7,122 2,938

541,518 63,171

125,000 -

84,826 39,975

11,885 12,792

$ 7,639,575 $ 2,608,539
$ 3,150,808 $ 1,170,794
184,982 77,469

321,419 85,649

3,657,209 1,333,912

55,173 43275

3,937,949 1,261,539
(15,902) (30,885)

3,922,047 1,230,654

5,146 698

3,927,193 1,231,352

$ 7,639,575 $ 2,608,539

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income
($ in thousands, except unit and per unit data)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Revenue:

Rental income $ 367,399 $ 257,670 $ 308,399

Other property-related revenue 4,683 8,597 6,326

Fee income 1,242 378 448
Total revenue 373,324 266,645 315,173
Expenses:

Property operating 55,561 41,012 45,575

Real estate taxes 49,530 35,867 38,777

General, administrative and other 33,984 30,840 28,214

Merger and acquisition costs 86,522 — —

Depreciation and amortization 200,460 128,648 132,098

Impairment charges — — 37,723
Total expenses 426,057 236,367 282,387
Gain on sales of operating properties, net 31,209 4,733 38,971
Operating (loss) income (21,524) 35,011 71,757

Interest expense (60,447) (50,399) (59,268)

Income tax benefit of taxable REIT subsidiary 310 696 282

Loss on debt extinguishment — — (11,572)

Equity in loss of unconsolidated subsidiaries (416) (1,685) (628)

Other income (expense), net 355 254 (573)
Net loss (81,722) (16,123) 2)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests (514) (528) (528)
Net loss attributable to common unitholders $ (82,236) $ (16,651) $ (530)
Allocation of net (loss) income:

Limited Partners $ (1,430) $ (428) $ 4

Parent Company (80,806) (16,223) (534)

$ (82,236) $ (16,651) $ (530)

Net loss per unit — basic and diluted $ (0.73) $ (0.19) $ (0.01)
Weighted average common units outstanding — basic 113,103,177 86,361,139 86,027,409
Weighted average common units outstanding — diluted 113,103,177 86,361,139 86,027,409
Distributions declared per common unit $ 0.68 $ 0.4495 $ 127
Consolidated net loss $ (81,722) $ (16,123) $ 2)
Change in fair value of derivatives 15,670 (14,969) (13,158)
Total comprehensive loss (66,052) (31,092) (13,160)
Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (514) (528) (528)
Comprehensive loss attributable to common unitholders $ (66,566) $ (31,620) $ (13,688)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Partner’s Equity

Balances, December 31, 2018

Stock compensation activity

Other comprehensive loss attributable to Parent Company
Distributions declared to Parent Company

Net loss attributable to Parent Company

Conversion of Limited Partner Units to shares of the Parent Company
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Balances, December 31, 2019

Stock compensation activity

Other comprehensive loss attributable to Parent Company
Distributions declared to Parent Company

Net loss attributable to Parent Company

Acquisition of partner’s noncontrolling interest in Pan Am Plaza
Conversion of Limited Partner Units to shares of the Parent Company
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Balances, December 31, 2020

Stock compensation activity

Shares withheld for employee taxes

Issuance of General Partner Units to the Parent Company — Merger
Other comprehensive income attributable to Parent Company
Distributions declared to Parent Company

Net loss attributable to Parent Company

Purchase of capped calls

Conversion of Limited Partner Units to shares of the Parent Company
Adjustment to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Balances, December 31, 2021

($ in thousands)

General Partner

Accumulated
Other
Common Comprehensive
Equity (Loss) Income Total

$ 1,416,202  § 3.497) $ 1,412,705
6,149 — 6,149
— (12,786) (12,786)
(106,686) — (106,686)
(534) — (534)

167 — 167
(9,977) — (9,977)

$ 1,305,321 $ (16,283)  § 1,289,038
5,485 — 5,485
— (14,602) (14,602)
(38,128) — (38,128)
(16,223) — (16,223)

(2,500) — (2,500)

187 — 187

7,397 — 7,397

$ 1,261,539  $ (30,885) § 1,230,654
6,795 — 6,795

(15,038) — (15,038)
2,847,369 — 2,847,369

— 14,983 14,983

(57,801) — (57,801)

(80,806) — (80,806)

(9,800) — (9,800)

4,238 — 4,238

(18,547) — (18,547)

$ 3,937,949  § (15902) § 3,922,047

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

F-13



KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
($ in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Cash flow from operating activities:
Consolidated net loss $ 81,722)  $ (16,123)  $ )
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Gain on sales of operating properties, net (31,209) (4,733) (38,971)
Impairment charges — — 37,723
Loss on debt extinguishment — — 11,572
Straight-line rent (5,391) 3,131 (2,158)
Depreciation and amortization 203,142 130,783 134,860
Compensation expense for equity awards 6,697 5,998 5,375
Amortization of debt fair value adjustments (2,993) (444) (1,467)
Amortization of in-place lease liabilities (2,611) (3,822) (3,776)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Tenant receivables (3,102) (3,062) 3,170
Deferred costs and other assets 6,857 (7,618) (6,265)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, deferred revenue, and other liabilities 10,683 (8,595) (2,099)
Net cash provided by operating activities 100,351 95,515 137,962
Cash flow from investing activities:
Cash and restricted cash acquired in the Merger 14,992 — —
Acquisitions of interests in properties (10,445) (65,298) (58,205)
Capital expenditures (57,313) (38,266) (53,278)
Net proceeds from sales of land 54,157 9,134 —
Net proceeds from sales of operating properties 26,556 13,888 529,417
Investment in short-term deposits (125,000) — —
Small business loan repayments (funding) 712 (2,199) —
Change in construction payables 4,413 2,442 (542)
Distribution from unconsolidated joint venture 1,029 — —
Capital contribution to unconsolidated joint venture (134) (541) (798)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (91,033) (80,840) 416,594
Cash flow from financing activities:
Contributions from the General Partner 31 72 350
Repurchases of common shares upon the vesting of restricted shares (15,031) (1,336) (533)
Purchase of capped calls (9,800) — —
Debt and equity issuance costs (8,141) — —
Loan proceeds 215,000 325,000 75,000
Loan payments (77,591) (302,477) (470,515)
Debt extinguishment costs — — (14,455)
Distributions paid — common unitholders (57,801) (38,128) (133,258)
Distributions paid — redeemable noncontrolling interests (2,208) (1,533) (3,838)
Acquisition of partner's interest in Pan Am Plaza joint venture — (2,500) =
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 44,459 (20,902) (547,249)
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 53,777 (6,227) 7,307
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period 46,586 52,813 45,506
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $ 100,363 $ 46,586 $ 52,813
Supplemental disclosures
Cash paid for interest, net of capitalized interest $ 59,552 $ 50,387 $ 60,534
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Conversion of Limited Partner Units to shares of the Parent Company $ 4,236 $ = $ —
Net investment in sales-type lease $ — $ 4,665 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST AND KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2021

($ in thousands, except share, per share, unit and per unit amounts and where indicated in millions or billions.)
NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

Kite Realty Group Trust (the “Parent Company”), through its majority-owned subsidiary, Kite Realty Group, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), owns
interests in various operating subsidiaries and joint ventures engaged in the ownership, operation, acquisition, development and redevelopment of high-quality,

open-air shopping centers and mixed-used assets in select markets in the United States. The terms “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to the Parent Company
and the Operating Partnership, collectively, and those entities owned or controlled by the Parent Company and/or the Operating Partnership.

The Operating Partnership was formed on August 16, 2004, when the Parent Company contributed properties and the net proceeds from an initial public
offering of shares of its common stock to the Operating Partnership. The Parent Company was organized in Maryland in 2004 to succeed in the development,
acquisition, construction and real estate businesses of its predecessor. We believe the Company qualifies as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under provisions
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

The Parent Company is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, and as of December 31, 2021 owned approximately 98.9% of the common
partnership interests in the Operating Partnership (“General Partner Units”). The remaining 1.1% of the common partnership interests (“Limited Partner Units”
and, together with the General Partner Units, the “Common Units”) were owned by the limited partners. As the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership,
the Parent Company has full, exclusive and complete responsibility and discretion in the day-to-day management and control of the Operating Partnership. The
Parent Company and the Operating Partnership are operated as one enterprise. The management of the Parent Company consists of the same members as the
management of the Operating Partnership. As the sole general partner with control of the Operating Partnership, the Parent Company consolidates the Operating
Partnership for financial reporting purposes, and the Parent Company does not have any significant assets other than its investment in the Operating Partnership.

On October 22, 2021, we completed a merger with Retail Properties of America, Inc. (“RPAI”) in accordance with the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated
July 18, 2021 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, its wholly owned subsidiary KRG Oak, LLC (“Merger Sub”) and RPAI, pursuant to which
RPAI merged with and into Merger Sub (the “Merger”). Immediately following the closing of the Merger, Merger Sub merged with and into the Operating
Partnership so that all of the assets and liabilities of the Company continue to be held at or below Operating Partnership level. The transaction value was
approximately $4.7 billion, including the assumption of approximately $1.8 billion of debt. We acquired 100 operating retail properties and five active
development projects through the Merger along with multiple parcels of entitled land for future value creation.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, each outstanding share of RPAI common stock converted into the right to receive 0.623 common shares of
the Company plus cash in lieu of fractional Company shares. The aggregate value of the Merger consideration paid or payable to former holders of RPAI common
stock was approximately $2.8 billion, excluding the value of RPAI restricted stock units that vested at closing and certain restricted share awards assumed by the
Company at closing. In connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership issued an equivalent amount of General Partner Units to the Parent Company.

At December 31, 2021, we owned interests in 180 operating retail properties totaling approximately 29.0 million square feet and one office property with
0.3 million square feet. Of the 180 operating retail properties, 11 contain an office component. We also owned eight development projects under construction as of
this date. Of the 180 properties, 177 are consolidated in these financial statements and the remaining three are accounted for under the equity method.

At December 31, 2020, we owned interests in 90 operating and redevelopment properties totaling approximately 17.3 million square feet. We also owned
two development projects under construction as of this date. Of the 90 properties, 87 are consolidated in these financial statements and the remaining three are
accounted for under the equity method.

NOTE 2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”). GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
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amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and revenues and expenses during the reported
period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Components of Investment Properties

The composition of the Company’s investment properties as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Balance at December 31,

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020

Land, building and improvements $ 7,543,376 $ 3,109,122
Furniture, equipment and other 7,612 6,979
Construction in progress 41,360 27,860
Investment properties, at cost $ 7,592,348 $ 3,143,961

Consolidation and Investments in Joint Ventures

The accompanying financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis and include all accounts of the Parent Company, the Operating Partnership,
the taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRSs”) of the Operating Partnership, subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership that are controlled and any variable interest entities
(“VIEs”) in which the Operating Partnership is the primary beneficiary. In general, a VIE is a corporation, partnership, trust or any other legal structure used for
business purposes that either (a) has equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities, (b) does not have
equity investors with voting rights, or (c) has equity investors whose votes are disproportionate from their economics and substantially all of the activities are
conducted on behalf of the investor with disproportionately fewer voting rights.

The Operating Partnership accounts for properties that are owned by joint ventures in accordance with the consolidation guidance. The Operating
Partnership evaluates each joint venture and determines first whether to follow the VIE or the voting interest entity (“VOE”) model. Once the appropriate
consolidation model is identified, the Operating Partnership then evaluates whether it should consolidate the joint venture. Under the VIE model, the Operating
Partnership consolidates an entity when it has (i) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance, and
(ii) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Under the VOE model, the Operating Partnership
consolidates an entity when (i) it controls the entity through ownership of a majority voting interest if the entity is not a limited partnership or (ii) it controls the
entity through its ability to remove the other partners or owners in the entity, at its discretion, when the entity is a limited partnership.

In determining whether to consolidate a VIE with the Operating Partnership, we consider all relationships between the Operating Partnership and the
applicable VIE, including development agreements, management agreements and other contractual arrangements, in determining whether we have the power to
direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly affect the VIE’s performance. As of December 31, 2021, we owned investments in three consolidated joint
ventures that were VIEs in which the partners did not have substantive participating rights and we were the primary beneficiary. As of December 31, 2021, these
consolidated VIEs had mortgage debt of $29.0 million, which were secured by assets of the VIEs totaling $117.0 million. The Operating Partnership guarantees the
mortgage debt of these VIEs.

The Operating Partnership is considered a VIE as the limited partners do not hold kick-out rights or substantive participating rights. The Parent Company
consolidates the Operating Partnership as it is the primary beneficiary in accordance with the VIE model.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company also owned investments in four unconsolidated joint ventures accounted for under the equity method. The
investments are as follows:

Three Property Retail Portfolio Joint Venture

On June 29, 2018, the Company formed a joint venture involving Nuveen Real Estate, formerly known as TH Real Estate. The Company
sold three properties to the joint venture valued in the aggregate at $99.8 million and, after considering third-party debt obtained by the venture upon formation, the
Company contributed $10.0 million for a 20% noncontrolling ownership interest in the venture. The Company serves as the operating member responsible for day-
to-day management of the properties and receives property management and leasing fees. Both members have substantive participating rights over major decisions
that impact the economics and operations of the joint venture. The Company is accounting for the joint venture under the equity method as it has the ability to
exercise influence but not control over operating and financial policies.
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Embassy Suites at Eddy Street Commons

In December 2017, we formed a joint venture with an unrelated third party to develop and own an Embassy Suites full-service hotel next to our Eddy Street
Commons operating property at the University of Notre Dame. We contributed $1.4 million of cash to the joint venture in return for a 35% ownership interest in
the venture. The joint venture has entered into a $33.8 million construction loan against which $33.6 million was drawn as of December 31, 2021. The joint
venture is not considered a VIE. The Company is accounting for the joint venture under the equity method as both members have substantive participating rights
and we do not control the activities of the venture.

Glendale Multifamily Joint Venture

In May 2020, the Company formed a joint venture for the planned development of a multifamily project adjacent to our Glendale Town Center operating
property. The Company contributed land valued at $1.6 million to the joint venture and retained a 12% interest in the joint venture. The Company’s partner serves
as the operating member responsible for day-to-day management. Both members have substantive participating rights over major decisions that impact the
economics and operations of the joint venture. The Company is accounting for the joint venture under the equity method as it has the ability to exercise influence
but not control over operating and financial policies.

Buckingham Joint Venture

In September 2021, the Company formed a joint venture for the planned redevelopment of The Corner into a mixed-use, multifamily and retail project. The
Company contributed land valued at $4.0 million to the joint venture and retained a 50% interest in the joint venture. The Company’s partner serves as the
operating member responsible for day-to-day management. Both members have substantive participating rights over major decisions that impact the economics and
operations of the joint venture. The Company is accounting for the joint venture under the equity method as it has the ability to exercise influence but not control
over operating and financial policies.

Acquisition of Real Estate Properties

Upon acquisition of real estate operating properties, including those assets acquired in the Merger with RPAI, we estimate the fair value of acquired
identifiable tangible assets and identified intangible assets and liabilities, assumed debt, and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition,
based on evaluation of information and estimates available at that date. Based on these estimates, we record the estimated fair value to the applicable assets and
liabilities. In making estimates of fair values, a number of sources are utilized, including information obtained as a result of pre-acquisition due diligence,
marketing and leasing activities. The estimates of fair value were determined to have primarily relied upon Level 2 and Level 3 inputs, as defined below.

Fair value is determined for tangible assets and intangibles, including:

» the fair value of the building on an as-if-vacant basis and the fair value of land determined either by comparable market data, real estate tax
assessments, independent appraisals or other relevant data;

» above-market and below-market in-place lease values for acquired properties, which are based on the present value (using an interest rate that
reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place leases
and (ii) management’s estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding in-place leases, measured over the remaining non-cancelable term
of the leases. Any below-market renewal options are also considered in the in-place lease values. The capitalized above-market and below-market
lease values are amortized as a reduction of or addition to rental income over the term of the lease. Should a tenant vacate, terminate its lease, or
otherwise notify us of its intent to do so, the unamortized portion of the lease intangibles would be charged or credited to income;

» the value of having a lease in place at the acquisition date. We utilize independent and internal sources for our estimates to determine the respective
in-place lease values. Our estimates of value are made using methods similar to those used by independent appraisers. Factors we consider in our
analysis include an estimate of costs to execute similar leases including tenant improvements, leasing commissions and foregone costs and rent
received during the estimated lease-up period as if the space was vacant. The value of in-place leases is amortized to expense over the remaining
initial terms of the respective leases; and

» the fair value of any assumed financing that is determined to be above or below market terms. We utilize third party and independent sources for
our estimates to determine the respective fair value of each mortgage and



other indebtedness, including related derivative instruments, assumed. The fair market value of each is amortized to interest expense over the
remaining initial terms of the respective instrument.

We also consider whether there is any value to in-place leases that have a related customer relationship intangible value. Characteristics we consider in
determining these values include the nature and extent of existing business relationships with the tenant, growth prospects for developing new business with the
tenant, the tenant’s credit quality, and expectations of lease renewals, among other factors. To date, no tenant relationship has been developed that is considered to
have a current intangible value.

Investment Properties

Capitalization and Depreciation

Investment properties are recorded at cost and include costs of land acquisition, development, pre-development, construction, certain allocated overhead,
tenant allowances and improvements, and interest and real estate taxes incurred during construction. Significant renovations and improvements are capitalized
when they extend the useful life, increase capacity, or improve the efficiency of the asset. If a tenant vacates a space prior to the lease expiration, terminates its
lease, or otherwise notifies the Company of its intent to do so, any related unamortized tenant allowances are expensed over the shortened lease
period. Maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful lives of the respective assets are reflected in property operating expense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

Pre-development costs are incurred prior to vertical construction and for certain land held for development during the due diligence phase and include
contract deposits, legal, engineering, cost of internal resources and other professional fees related to evaluating the feasibility of developing or redeveloping a
shopping center or other project. These pre-development costs are capitalized and included in construction in progress in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. If we determine that the completion of a development project is no longer probable, all previously incurred pre-development costs are immediately
expensed. Land is transferred to construction in progress once construction commences on the related project.

We also capitalize costs such as land acquisition, building construction, interest, real estate taxes, and the costs of personnel directly involved with the
development of our properties. As a portion of a development project becomes operational, we expense a pro rata amount of related costs.

Depreciation on buildings and improvements is computed using the straight-line method over estimated original useful lives ranging from 10 to 35
years. Depreciation on tenant allowances and tenant improvements is computed using the straight-line method over the term of the related lease. Depreciation on

equipment and fixtures is computed using the straight-line method over five to 10 years. Depreciation may be accelerated for a redevelopment project including
partial demolition of an existing structure after the asset is assessed for impairment.

Impairment
Management reviews operational and development projects, land parcels and intangible assets for impairment on a property-by-property basis whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. This review for possible impairment requires certain
assumptions, estimates, and significant judgment. Examples of situations considered to be impairment indicators for both operating properties and development
projects include, but are not limited to:
*  asubstantial decline in or continued low occupancy rate or cash flow;
*  expected significant declines in occupancy in the near future;
« continued difficulty in leasing space;
* asignificant concentration of financially troubled tenants;
* areduction in anticipated holding period;

* acostaccumulation or delay in project completion date significantly above and beyond the original development or redevelopment estimate;

*  asignificant decrease in market price not in line with general market trends; and



* any other quantitative or qualitative events or factors deemed significant by the Company’s management or Board of Trustees.

Impairment losses for investment properties and intangible assets are measured when the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated by the
investment properties during the expected holding period are less than the carrying amounts of those assets. The evaluation of impairment is subject to certain
management assumptions including projected net operating income, anticipated hold period, expected capital expenditures and the capitalization rate used to
estimate the property’s residual value. Impairment losses are recorded as the excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value of the asset. Our impairment
review for land and development properties assumes we have the intent and ability to complete the developments or projected uses for the land parcels. If we
determine those plans will not be completed or our assumptions with respect to operating assets are not realized, an impairment loss may be appropriate.

Assets Held for Sale

Operating properties will be classified as held for sale only when those properties are available for immediate sale in their present condition and for which
management believes it is probable that a sale of the property will be completed within one year, among other factors. Operating properties classified as held for
sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value less estimated costs to sell. Depreciation and amortization are suspended during the held-for-sale period. No
properties qualified for held for sale accounting treatment as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Restricted Cash and Escrow Deposits

Escrow deposits consist of cash held for real estate taxes, property maintenance, insurance and other requirements at specific properties as required by
lending institutions, certain municipalities or other agreements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash and cash equivalents. From time to time, such
investments may temporarily be held in accounts that are in excess of FDIC and SIPC insurance limits; however, the Company attempts to limit its exposure at any

one time.

The following is a summary of our total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as presented in our consolidated statements of cash flows for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019:

(in thousands) 2021 2020 2019

Cash and cash equivalents $ 93,241 $ 43,648 $ 31,336
Restricted cash and escrow deposits 7,122 2,938 21,477
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 100,363 $ 46,586 $ 52,813

Short-Term Deposits

The Company has a short-term deposit held in a custody account at Bank of New York Mellon. The primary objective of management’s short-term deposit
activity is to preserve capital for the purpose of funding debt maturities in 2022. The deposit balance approximates fair value and earns interest at a rate of the
Federal Funds Rate plus 43 basis points with a maturity date of April 7, 2022. Interest income on the deposit is recorded within “Other income (expense), net” on
the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. The deposit is backed by a pool of marketable securities and a guarantee of
principal by Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

Fair Value Measurements

We follow the framework established under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for
measuring fair value of non-financial assets and liabilities that are not required or permitted to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis but only in certain
circumstances, such as a business combination or upon determination of an impairment.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the valuation techniques as follows:

+ Level 1 fair value inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments to which we have access.



* Level 2 fair value inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for similar instruments, either directly or indirectly,
and appropriately consider counterparty creditworthiness in the valuations.

»  Level 3 fair value inputs reflect our best estimate of inputs and assumptions market participants would use in pricing an instrument at the measurement
date. The inputs are unobservable in the market and significant to the valuation estimate.

In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair
value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its
entirety. Our assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors specific to the
asset or liability.

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, we have determined that derivative valuations are classified in Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of the estimated fair value of fixed and variable rate debt, which are estimated
using Level 2 and 3 inputs. Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of the fair values recorded for the assets acquired in the Merger
with RPAI in 2021. Level 3 inputs to this transaction include our estimations of land, net rental rates of anchor and small shop space and capitalization rates. Note
4 to the consolidated financial statements includes a discussion of the fair values recorded when we recognized impairment charges in 2019. Level 3 inputs to these
transactions include our estimations of disposal values.

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, escrows and deposits, and other working capital balances approximate fair value.
Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for its derivative financial instruments at fair value calculated in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair values of those derivatives are accounted for depending on the use of the derivative and whether it
qualifies for hedge accounting. We use derivative instruments such as interest rate swaps or rate locks to mitigate interest rate risk on related financial instruments.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) while any ineffective
portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is recognized immediately in earnings. Gains and losses associated with the transaction are recorded in OCI and
amortized over the underlying term of the hedged transaction. For derivative contracts designated as fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative is included
within “Mortgage and other indebtedness, net” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. We include the gain or loss on the hedged item in the same
account as the offsetting gain or loss on the related derivative contract. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, all of our derivative instruments qualify for hedge
accounting.

Revenue Recognition
As a lessor of real estate assets, the Company retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership and accounts for its leases as operating leases.

Contractual minimum base rent, percentage rent, and expense reimbursements from tenants for common area maintenance costs, insurance and real estate
taxes are our principal sources of revenue. Base minimum rents are recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. Certain lease
agreements contain provisions that grant additional rents based on a tenant’s sales volume (contingent overage rent). Overage rent is recognized when tenants
achieve the specified sales targets as defined in their lease agreements. Overage rent is included within “Rental income” in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. If we determine that collectibility is probable, we
recognize income from rentals based on the methodology described above. We have accounts receivable due from tenants and are subject to the risk of tenant
defaults and bankruptcies that may affect the collection of outstanding receivables. These receivables are reduced for credit loss that is recognized as a reduction to
rental income. We regularly evaluate the collectibility of these lease-related receivables by analyzing past due account balances and consider such facts as the
credit quality of our customer, historical write-off experience and current economic trends when evaluating the collectibility of rental income. Although we
estimate uncollectible receivables and provide for them through charges against income, actual experience may differ from those estimates.

We recognize the sale of real estate when control transfers to the buyer. As part of our ongoing business strategy, we will, from time to time, sell properties,

land parcels and outlots, some of which are ground-leased to tenants. Net gains realized on such sales were $0.5 million, $5.9 million, and $0.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019,
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respectively, and are classified within “Other property-related revenue” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.
Tenant and Other Receivables and Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts

Tenant receivables consist primarily of billed minimum rent, accrued and billed tenant reimbursements, and accrued straight-line rent. The Company
generally does not require specific collateral from its tenants other than corporate or personal guarantees. Other receivables consist primarily of amounts due from
municipalities and from tenants for non-rental revenue related activities.

An allowance for uncollectible accounts is maintained for estimated losses resulting from the inability of certain tenants or others to meet contractual
obligations under their lease or other agreements. Accounts are written off when, in the opinion of management, the balance is uncollectible.

The provision for revenues deemed uncollectible represented 0.9%, 6.0%, and 1.1% of total revenues in each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively. The lower percentage for the year ended December 31, 2021 was driven by the recovery of revenues previously deemed uncollectible.

Concentration of Credit Risk

We may be subject to concentrations of credit risk with regards to our cash and cash equivalents. We place cash and temporary cash investments with high-
credit-quality financial institutions. From time to time, such cash and investments may temporarily be in excess of insurance limits.

In addition, our leases with tenants potentially subject us to a concentration of credit risk related to our accounts receivable and revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company’s revenue recognized from tenants leasing space in the states where the majority of our portfolio is
concentrated, Texas, Florida, New York, Maryland, and North Carolina, were as follows:

Texas 24.0 %
Florida 9.9 %
New York 5.8%
Maryland 5.8%
North Carolina 5.1%

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share or unit is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares or units outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share or unit is determined based on the weighted average number of common shares or units outstanding during the period combined with the
incremental average common shares or units that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all potentially dilutive common shares or units into
common shares or units as of the earliest date possible.

Potentially dilutive securities include (i) outstanding options to acquire common shares; (ii) Limited Partner Units, which may be exchanged for either cash
or common shares, at the Parent Company’s option and under certain circumstances; (iii) appreciation-only Long-Term Incentive Plan (“AO LTIP”) units, and (iv)
deferred common share units, which may be credited to the personal accounts of non-employee trustees in lieu of compensation paid in cash or the issuance of
common shares to such trustees. Limited Partner Units have been omitted from the Parent Company’s denominator for the purpose of computing diluted earnings
per share since the effect of including these amounts in the denominator would have no dilutive impact. Weighted average Limited Partner Units outstanding for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were 2.5 million, 2.2 million and 2.1 million, respectively.

These potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share due to the net loss position for the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019.

Segment Reporting

Our primary business is the ownership and operation of high-quality, open-air shopping centers and mixed-use assets. The Company’s chief operating
decision maker, which is its Chief Executive Officer, does not distinguish or group our



operations on a geographical basis, or any other basis, when measuring and evaluating the financial performance of the Company’s portfolio of properties.
Accordingly, we have one operating segment, which also serves as our reportable segment for disclosure purposes in accordance with GAAP, as each property has
similar economic characteristics, the Company provides similar services to its tenants and the Company’s chief operating decision maker evaluates the collective
performance of our properties.

Income Taxes and REIT Compliance

Parent Company

The Parent Company has been organized and operated, and intends to continue to operate, in a manner that will enable it to maintain its qualification as a
REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, it generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the earnings that it distributes to the extent it
distributes its “REIT taxable income” (determined before the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains) to shareholders of the Parent Company
and meets certain other requirements on a recurring basis. To the extent that it satisfies this distribution requirement, but distributes less than 100% of its taxable
income, it will be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its undistributed REIT taxable income. REITs are subject to a number of organizational and
operational requirements. If the Parent Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, it will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its taxable income at
regular corporate rates for a period of four years following the year in which qualification is lost. We may also be subject to certain U.S. federal, state and local
taxes on our income and property and to U.S. federal income and excise taxes on our undistributed taxable income even if the Parent Company does qualify as a
REIT. The Operating Partnership intends to continue to make distributions to the Parent Company in amounts sufficient to assist the Parent Company in adhering
to REIT requirements and maintaining its REIT status.

We have elected to treat Kite Realty Holdings, LLC as a TRS of the Operating Partnership. In addition, in connection with the Merger, we assumed RPAI’s
existing TRS, IWR Protective Corporation, as a TRS of the Operating Partnership and we may elect to treat other subsidiaries as TRSs in the future. This election
enables us to receive income and provide services that would otherwise be impermissible for a REIT. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for
temporary differences between the financial reporting bases and the tax bases of assets and liabilities at the tax rates expected to be in effect when the temporary
differences reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not
be realized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that
includes the enactment date. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained.
Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are
reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. The Company records interest related to unrecognized tax benefits within “Interest expense” and
penalties within “General, administrative and other” expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

On March 27, 2020 and December 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) and the Consolidated Appropriations
Act, 2021 (“CAA”), respectively, were enacted into law. Among other provisions, the CARES Act and the CAA provide relief to U.S. federal corporate taxpayers
through temporary adjustments to net operating loss rules, changes to limitations on interest expense deductibility, and the acceleration of available refunds for
minimum tax credit carryforwards. The CARES Act and the CAA did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Our tax return for the year ended December 31, 2021 has not been filed as of the filing date of this Form 10-K of the Parent Company and the Operating
Partnership. The taxability information presented for our dividends paid in 2021 is based upon management’s estimate. Consequently, the taxability of dividends is
subject to change. A summary of the tax characterization of the dividends paid by the Parent Company for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is
as follows:

2021 2020 2019
Ordinary income 0.0 % 89.3 % 29.7 %
Return of capital 13.4% 0.0 % 352 %
Capital gains 86.6 % 10.7 % 35.1 %
Balance, end of year 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
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Operating Partnership

The allocated share of income and loss, other than the operations of our TRSs, is included in the income tax returns of the Operating Partnership’s partners.
Accordingly, the only U.S. federal income taxes included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements are in connection with the TRSs.

Noncontrolling Interests
We report the non-redeemable noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries as equity, and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to these

noncontrolling interests is set forth separately in the consolidated financial statements. The non-redeemable noncontrolling interests in consolidated properties for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were as follows:

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Noncontrolling interests balance at January 1, $ 698 $ 698 $ 698
Noncontrolling interests acquired in the Merger 4,463 — —
Net income allocable to noncontrolling interests,

excluding redeemable noncontrolling interests (15) — —

Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — _

Noncontrolling interests balance at December 31, $ 5,146 $ 698 $ 698

Noncontrolling Interests — Joint Venture

Prior to the Merger with RPAI, RPAI entered into a joint venture related to the development, ownership and operation of the multifamily rental portion of
the expansion project at One Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H. The Company owns 90% of the joint venture.

Subsequent to the Merger, during the period ended December 31, 2021, the Company funded $0.4 million of the partner’s development costs related to One
Loudoun Downtown — Pads G & H through a loan provided by the Company to the joint venture. The loan is secured by the joint venture project, is required to be
repaid subsequent to the completion of construction and stabilization of the project and is eliminated upon consolidation. Under terms defined in the joint venture
agreement, after construction completion and stabilization of the development project, the Company has the ability to call, and the joint venture partner has the
ability to put to the Company, subject to certain conditions, the joint venture partner’s interest in the joint venture at fair value.

The joint venture is considered a VIE primarily because the Company’s joint venture partner does not have substantive kick-out rights or substantive
participating rights. The Company is considered the primary beneficiary as it has a controlling financial interest in the joint venture. As such, the Company has
consolidated this joint venture and presented the joint venture partners’ interests as noncontrolling interests.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests — Limited Partners

Limited Partner Units are redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership. We classify redeemable noncontrolling interests in the
Operating Partnership in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets outside of permanent equity because we may be required to pay cash to holders of Limited
Partner Units upon redemption of their interests in the Operating Partnership or deliver registered shares upon their conversion. The carrying amount of the
redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership is reflected at the greater of historical book value or redemption value with a corresponding
adjustment to additional paid-in capital. At December 31, 2021, the redemption value of the redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership
exceeded the historical book value, and the balance was accordingly adjusted to redemption value. At December 31, 2020, the redemption value of the redeemable
noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership did not exceed the historical book value, and the balance was accordingly adjusted to historical book value.
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We allocate net operating results of the Operating Partnership after noncontrolling interests in the consolidated properties based on the partners’ respective
weighted average ownership interest. We adjust the redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership at the end of each reporting period to reflect
their interests in the Operating Partnership or redemption value. This adjustment is reflected in our shareholders’ and Parent Company’s equity. For the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the weighted average interests of the Parent Company and the limited partners in the Operating Partnership were as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Parent Company’s weighted average interest in Operating Partnership 97.8 % 97.4 % 97.6 %
Limited partners’ weighted average interests in Operating Partnership 22 % 2.6 % 2.4 %

At December 31, 2021, the Parent Company’s interest and the limited partners’ redeemable noncontrolling ownership interests in the Operating Partnership
were 98.9% and 1.1%. At December 31, 2020, the Parent Company’s interest and the limited partners’ redeemable noncontrolling ownership interests in the
Operating Partnership were 97.1% and 2.9%.

Concurrent with the Parent Company’s initial public offering and related formation transactions, certain individuals received Limited Partner Units of the
Operating Partnership in exchange for their interests in certain properties. The limited partners have the right to redeem Limited Partner Units for cash or, at the
Parent Company’s election, common shares of the Parent Company in an amount equal to the market value of an equivalent number of common shares of the
Parent Company at the time of redemption. Such common shares must be registered, which is not fully in the Parent Company’s control. Therefore, the limited
partners’ interest is not reflected in permanent equity. The Parent Company also has the right to redeem the Limited Partner Units directly from the limited partner
in exchange for either cash in the amount specified above or a number of its common shares equal to the number of Limited Partner Units being redeemed.

There were 2,377,777 and 2,532,861 Limited Partner Units outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The decrease in Limited Partner
Units outstanding from December 31, 2020 is due to conversions offset by non-cash compensation awards made to our executive officers in the form of Limited
Partner Units.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests — Subsidiaries

Prior to the merger with Inland Diversified Real Estate Trust, Inc. (“Inland Diversified”) in 2014, Inland Diversified formed joint ventures with the previous
owners of certain properties and issued Class B units in three joint ventures that indirectly own those properties. The Class B units related to one of these three
joint ventures remain outstanding and are accounted for as noncontrolling interests in the remaining venture. The remaining Class B units will become redeemable
at the respective partner’s election in October 2022 and the fulfillment of certain redemption criteria. Beginning in November 2022, the Class B units can be
redeemed at the election of either our partner or us for cash or Limited Partner Units in the Operating Partnership. The Class B units do not have a maturity date
and none are mandatorily redeemable unless either party has elected for the units to be redeemed. We consolidate this joint venture because we control the decision
making and our joint venture partner has limited protective rights.

We classify the redeemable noncontrolling interests related to the remaining Class B units in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets outside of
permanent equity because, under certain circumstances, we may be required to pay cash to Class B unitholders in this subsidiary upon redemption of their
interests. The carrying amount of these redeemable noncontrolling interests is required to be reflected at the greater of initial book value or redemption value with a
corresponding adjustment to additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the redemption amounts of these interests did not exceed their fair
value nor did they exceed the initial book value.



The redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Operating Partnership and subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 were as
follows:

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Redeemable noncontrolling interests balance at January 1, $ 43,275 $ 52,574 $ 45,743
Net (loss) income allocable to redeemable noncontrolling interests (901) 100 532
Distributions declared to redeemable noncontrolling interests (2,208) (1,533) (3,191)
Other, net including adjustments to redemption value 15,007 (7,866) 9,490
Total limited partners' interests in Operating Partnership and other

redeemable noncontrolling interests balance at December 31, $ 55,173 $ 43,275 $ 52,574
Limited partners' interests in Operating Partnership $ 45,103 $ 33,205 $ 42,504
Other redeemable noncontrolling interests in certain subsidiaries 10,070 10,070 10,070
Total limited partners' interests in Operating Partnership and other

redeemable noncontrolling interests balance at December 31, $ 55,173 $ 43,275 $ 52,574

Effects of Accounting Pronouncements

Debt with Conversion Options

We elected to early adopt ASU 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in
Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40), as of January 1, 2021. This new guidance, among other things, simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by
eliminating the requirement to separate conversion features from the host contract. Consequently, a convertible debt instrument will be accounted for as a single
liability measured at its amortized cost. The guidance also eliminates the beneficial conversion and cash conversion accounting models for convertible instruments.
The adoption of this pronouncement resulted in the March 2021 exchangeable notes being recorded as a single liability with no portion of the proceeds from the
issuance of the exchangeable debt instrument recorded as attributable to the conversion feature. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information.

Reference Rate Reform

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848), which contains practical expedients for reference rate reform related
activities that impact debt, leases, derivatives and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional and may be elected over time as reference rate reform
activities occur. In March 2020, the Company elected to apply the hedge accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness for
future LIBOR-indexed cash flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the index on the corresponding
derivatives. Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with past presentation. The Company continues to evaluate the
impact of the guidance and may apply other elections as applicable as additional changes in the market occur.

Leases

In April 2020, the FASB issued a question-and-answer document focused on the application of lease accounting guidance to lease concessions provided as a
result of COVID-19. Under ASC 842, Leases, the Company would have to evaluate, on a lease-by-lease basis, if a lease concession was the result of a new
arrangement reached with the tenant or if a lease concession was under the enforceable rights and obligations within the existing lease agreement. The FASB
clarified that entities may elect to not evaluate whether lease-related relief that lessors provide to mitigate the economic effects of COVID-19 is a lease
modification. The Company made this election to evaluate COVID-related lease modifications on a disaggregated basis, with such election applied consistently to
leases with similar characteristics and similar circumstances.

The Company entered into rent deferral agreements during the year ended December 31, 2020 that provided for legally due rent to be paid back over a
period of time, typically 12 to 18 months. The Company had deferred the payment by tenants of $2.9 million and $6.1 million of contractually due rental income
that remains outstanding as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The future impact of such modifications is dependent upon the extent of lease concessions granted to tenants as a result of COVID-19 in future periods and
the elections made by the Company at the time of entering into such concessions. There was not a material amount of rent abatement provided to tenants as a result
of COVID-19 during 2021 and 2020.



NOTE 3. ACQUISITIONS
RPAI Merger

On October 22, 2021, we completed a Merger with RPAI pursuant to which RPAI merged with and into Merger Sub, with the Company continuing as the
surviving public company. Immediately following the closing of the Merger, Merger Sub merged with and into the Operating Partnership so that all of the assets
and liabilities of the Company continue to be held at or below the Operating Partnership level. The aggregate value of the Merger consideration paid or payable to
former holders of RPAI common stock was approximately $2.8 billion, excluding the value of RPAI restricted stock units that vested at closing and certain
restricted share awards assumed by the Company at closing. The total purchase price was calculated based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on
October 21, 2021, the last business day prior to the effective time of the Merger, which was $21.18 per share. At the effective time of the Merger, each share of
RPAI common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time was converted into the right to receive 0.623 newly issued Company common
shares. In addition, holders of (i) options to purchase shares of RPAI common stock, (ii) certain awards of restricted shares of RPAI common stock (as agreed in
accordance with the Merger Agreement), and (iii) restricted stock units representing the right to vest in and be issued shares of RPAI common stock became
entitled to receive cash and/or Company common shares in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Company assumed certain existing awards of
restricted shares of RPAI common stock, each of which were converted into 0.623 awards of restricted Company common shares in accordance with the Merger
Agreement. In connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership issued an equivalent amount of General Partner Units to the Parent Company. The number of
RPAI common stock outstanding as of October 21, 2021 converted to shares of the Company’s common stock was determined as follows:

RPAI common stock outstanding as of October 21, 2021 214,797,869
Exchange ratio 0.623
Company common shares issued for outstanding RPAI common stock 133,814,066
Company common shares issued for RPAI restricted stock units 1,117,399
Total Company common shares issued 134,931,465

The following table presents the purchase price and total value of equity consideration paid by the Company at the close of the Merger (in thousands except
the share price of Company common shares):

Price of Equity
Company Consideration Given (Company Total Value
common shares common shares issued) of Stock Consideration'
As of October 21, 2021 $ 21.18 134,931 $ 2,847,369

1 The total value of stock consideration is the total of the common shares issued multiplied by the closing price of the Company’s common stock on October 21, 2021
excluding the value of certain RPAI restricted stock that vested at the closing of the Merger and share awards assumed by the Company at the closing of the Merger.

As a result of the Merger, the Company acquired 100 operating retail properties and five active development projects under construction along with multiple
parcels of entitled land for future value creation. The consolidated net assets and results of operations of RPAI are included in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements from the closing date, October 22, 2021. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company incurred $86.5 million of merger and
acquisition costs consisting primarily of fairness opinion, severance charges, legal, professional and data migration costs, which are recorded within “Merger and
acquisition costs” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. In addition, the Company assumed approximately
$1.8 billion of debt in connection with the Merger.

“Rental income” and “Net loss attributable to Kite Realty Group Trust common shareholders” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations

and comprehensive income include revenues from the RPAI portfolio of $94.9 million and net loss of $22.8 million for the period from October 22, 2021 through
December 31, 2021, which includes $74.7 million of depreciation and amortization, as a result of the Merger during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Provisional Purchase Price Allocation

In accordance with ASC 805-10, Business Combinations, the Company accounted for the Merger as a business combination using the acquisition method of
accounting. Based on the value of the common shares issued, the total fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Merger was $2.8 billion as of
October 22, 2021, the date of the Merger. The following table summarizes the provisional purchase price allocation based on the Company’s initial valuation,
including estimates and assumptions of the acquisition date fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Provisional Allocation

Investment properties $ 4,439,387
Acquired lease intangible assets 524,058
Cash, accounts receivable and other assets 84,632

Total assets acquired 5,048,077
Mortgage and other indebtedness (1,848,476)
Accounts payable, other liabilities, tenant security deposits and prepaid rent (176,391)
In-place lease liabilities (171,378)
Noncontrolling interests (4,463)

Total liabilities assumed (2,200,708)

Total purchase price ) 2,847,369

The fair market value of the acquired properties is based upon a valuation prepared by the Company with assistance of a third-party valuation specialist. As
it relates to certain leases and related intangibles, development projects and land held for development, the Company and valuation specialist are still in the process
of reviewing the inputs used by the third-party specialist to ensure reasonableness and that the procedures are performed in accordance with management’s policy.
Therefore, the final acquisition accounting adjustments, including the purchase price and its allocation, are not yet complete as of this filing. Once the purchase
price and allocation are complete, an adjustment to the provisional purchase price or allocation may occur.

The range of the most significant Level 3 assumptions utilized in determining the value of the real estate and related assets acquired through the Merger
with RPAI are as follows:

2021
Net rental rate per square foot — Anchors $4.00 to $45.00
Net rental rate per square foot — Small Shops $7.00 to $140.00
Capitalization rate 5.25% t0 9.00%

The following table details the provisional weighted average amortization periods, in years, of the purchase price provisionally allocated to real estate and
related intangible assets and liabilities acquired arising from the Merger:

‘Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)
Land N/A
Building 18.9
Tenant improvements 6.6
In-place lease intangibles 5.3
Above-market leases 8.1
Below-market leases (including below-market option periods) 17.6
Fair market value of debt adjustments 6.8
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Pro Forma Financial Information (unaudited)

The pro forma financial information set forth below is based upon the Company’s historical consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020, adjusted to give effect for the properties assumed through the Merger as if they were acquired as of January 1, 2020. The pro forma
financial information is presented for informational purposes only and may not be indicative of what actual results of income would have been, nor does it purport
to represent the results of income for future periods.

Year Ended December 31,

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020
Rental income $ 740,954 $ 683,093
Net income (loss) $ 21,283 $ (109,775)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ 20,535 $ (107,341)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders per common share:

Basic! $ 0.09 $ (0.49)

Diluted! $ 0.09 $ (0.49)

1 The pro forma earnings for the year ended December 31, 2021 were adjusted to exclude $86.5 million of merger costs incurred while the pro forma earnings for the year
ended December 31, 2020 were adjusted to include these costs.

Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities Related to the Merger

The following table summarizes the Merger-related non-cash investing and financing activities of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Year Ended December 31,
(8 in thousands) 2021
Investment properties $ 4,439,387
Acquired lease intangible assets $ 524,058
Mortgage and other indebtedness $ (1,848,476)
In-place lease liabilities $ (171,378)
Noncontrolling interests $ (4,463)
Other assets and liabilities, net! $ (106,751)
Company common shares issued in exchange for RPAI common stock $ (2,847,369)

1 Includes lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets of $41,086, which was determined using an estimate of our incremental borrowing rate that was specific
to each lease based upon the term and underlying asset with a weighted average incremental borrowing rate of 5.4%.

Asset Acquisitions

The Company closed on the following asset acquisitions during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively: (i) one multi-tenant retail
outparcel at Nora Plaza, an existing operating property, for $13.5 million, (ii) one retail operating property for $65.3 million, and (iii) one retail operating property
for $29.0 million and one parking garage for $29.5 million. The fair value of the real estate and other assets acquired were primarily determined using the income
approach, which required us to make assumptions about market leasing rates, tenant-related costs, discount rates, and disposal rates. The estimates of fair value
primarily relied upon Level 2 and Level 3 inputs, as previously defined.



The following table summarizes the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the asset acquisitions completed during the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019:

Year Ended December 31,

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Investment properties, net $ 13,488 $ 63,570 $ 56,393
Lease-related intangible assets, net! 304 2,254 2,458
Other assets — — 320

Total acquired assets 13,792 65,824 59,171
Mortgage payable 3,578 — —
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 100 280 595
Deferred revenue and other liabilities 189 246 371

Total assumed liabilities 3,867 526 966
Fair value of acquired net assets $ 9,925 $ 65,298 $ 58,205

1 The weighted average remaining life of leases at the acquired properties is approximately 5.3 years, 3.2 years and 5.6 years for asset acquisitions completed during the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The range of the most significant Level 3 assumptions utilized in determining the value of the real estate and related assets acquired through asset
acquisitions are as follows:

2021 2020 2019
Net rental rate per square foot — Anchors N/A to N/A $22.50 to $27.50 $11.00 to $12.96
Net rental rate per square foot — Small Shops $31.50 to $45.00 $15.00 to $65.00 $6.33 to $32.00
Discount rate 9.0% 9.0% 9.0%

The results of operations for each of the properties acquired through asset acquisitions during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 have been
included in operations since their respective dates of acquisition.

NOTE 4. DISPOSALS OF OPERATING PROPERTIES AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company sold one operating property, Westside Market, for gross proceeds of $24.8 million and a net gain
of $4.3 million. In addition, the Company sold 17 ground leases for gross proceeds of $42.0 million and a net gain of $27.6 million. A portion of the proceeds was
used to pay down our unsecured revolving credit facility.

There were no operating properties sold during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company sold one redevelopment property for gross proceeds of
$14.0 million and a net gain of $3.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold 23 operating properties for aggregate gross proceeds of $543.8 million and a net gain of $39.0
million.

During 2019, in connection with the preparation and review of the financial statements for the applicable periods, we evaluated a total of seven operating
properties for impairment and recorded a cumulative $37.7 million impairment charge due to changes in facts and circumstances underlying the Company’s
expected future hold period of these properties. A shortening of the expected future hold period is considered an impairment indicator under applicable accounting
rules, and this indicator caused us to further evaluate the carrying value of these properties. We concluded the estimated undiscounted cash flows over the expected
holding period did not exceed the carrying value of these assets given the new holding period, leading to the charge. We estimated the fair value using the market
approach by utilizing recent sales offers without adjustment. We compared the estimated aggregate fair value of $176.0 million to the carrying values, which
resulted in the recording of the non-cash impairment charge of $37.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The results of all the operating properties sold in 2021, 2020, and 2019 are not included in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income as none of the operating properties individually, nor in the aggregate, represent a strategic shift that has had or
will have a material effect on our operations or financial results.
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NOTE 5. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Overview

The Company’s 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), as amended and restated as of February 28, 2019, authorizes options to acquire common shares
and other share-based compensation awards to be granted to employees and trustees for up to an additional 3,000,000 common share equivalents of the
Company. The Company accounts for its share-based compensation in accordance with the fair value recognition provisions provided in ASC 718, Stock
Compensation.

Total share-based compensation expense, net of amounts capitalized, included within “General, administrative and other” expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $7.2 million, $5.6 million, and $5.3
million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, total share-based compensation cost capitalized for development activities was $1.0
million, $1.2 million, and $1.1 million, respectively. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur.

As of December 31, 2021, there were 1,277,380 shares and units available for grant under the Plan.
Share Options

Pursuant to the Plan, the Company may periodically grant options to purchase common shares at an exercise price equal to the grant date fair value of the
Company’s common shares. Options granted typically vest over a five-year period and expire 10 years from the grant date. The Company issues new common
shares upon the exercise of options.

The following table summarizes the option activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2021 and changes during the year then ended:

Weighted Average
Remaining
Weighted Average Aggregate Contractual Term (in

(8 in thousands, except share and per share data) Options Exercise Price Intrinsic Value years)
Outstanding at January 1, 2021 21,567 $ 20.67

Granted — —

Exercised (1,250) 15.56

Expired (19,067) 21.04

Forfeited — —

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,250 $ 20.20 $ 2 0.33
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 1,250 $ 20.20 $ 2 0.33
Exercisable at December 31, 2020 21,567 $ 20.67

There were no options granted in 2021, 2020 or 2019.

The aggregate intrinsic value of the 1,250, 2,500 and 33,375 options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $6,550,
$2,000 and $86,000, respectively.

Restricted Shares

In addition to share option grants, the Plan also authorizes the grant of share-based compensation awards in the form of restricted common shares. Under the
terms of the Plan, these restricted shares, which are considered to be outstanding shares from the date of grant, typically vest over a period ranging from three to
five years. The Company pays dividends on restricted shares and such dividends are charged directly to shareholders’ equity.

In connection with the Merger, we assumed the terms of award agreements governing 56,765 unvested restricted shares (as converted pursuant to the

exchange ratio) granted prior to the Merger under RPAI’s equity incentive plan. Each assumed award is a time-vesting award that was issued with a three-year
service period, unless accelerated pursuant to the original agreement or otherwise modified in connection with the Merger or the resulting integration.
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The following table summarizes the restricted share activity to employees and non-employee members of the Board of Trustees as of December 31, 2021
and changes during the year then ended:

Weighted Average

Number of Grant Date Fair

Restricted Shares Value per share
Restricted shares outstanding at January 1, 2021 321,591 $ 14.42
Shares granted 137,646 19.32
Shares assumed in the Merger 56,765 21.13
Shares forfeited (5,226) 17.47
Shares vested (187,544) 13.34
Restricted shares outstanding at December 31, 2021 323,232 $ 18.27

The following table summarizes the restricted share grants and vestings during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019:
Weighted Average Fair Value of
Number of Restricted Grant Date Fair Restricted Shares
(8 in thousands, except share and per share data) Shares Granted Value per share Vested

2021 194,411 $ 19.85 $ 3,763
2020 211,476 $ 13.21 $ 2,727
2019 154,440 $ 15.84 $ 2,270

As of December 31, 2021, there was $3.9 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted shares, which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 0.90 years. We expect to incur $2.7 million of this expense in 2022, $1.0 million in 2023, and the remainder in 2024.

Performance Awards

In 2016, the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Trustees established overall target values for incentive compensation for each executive
officer, with 40% of the target value being granted in the form of time-based awards and the remaining 60% being granted in the form of performance awards.

In 2018, the Compensation Committee awarded each of the Company’s named executive officers a three-year performance award in the form of
performance share units (“PSUs”) that ended on December 31, 2020. The performance criteria was based 60% on the relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”)
achieved by the Company measured against a peer group over the three-year measurement period and 40% on the achievement of a defined funds available for
distribution (“FAD”). The total number of PSUs issued to the executive officers was based upon a target value of $2.4 million, but could be earned in a range of
0% to 200% of the target. Additionally, any PSUs earned based on the achievement of the pre-established FAD goals were subject to adjustment (either up or down
25%) based on the Company’s absolute TSR over the three-year measurement period. Approximately 172,000 PSUs were earned based upon the Company’s
performance on the relative TSR measurement. The PSUs were valued at an aggregate value of $2.2 million using a Monte Carlo simulation and are fully
amortized.

Restricted Units
Time-based restricted unit awards were made on a discretionary basis in 2019, 2020, and 2021 based on a review of each prior year’s performance.

The following table summarizes the activity for time-based restricted unit awards for the year ended December 31, 2021:

Weighted Average
Number of Grant Date Fair
Restricted Units Value per unit
Restricted units outstanding at January 1, 2021 491,196 $ 13.32
Restricted units granted 72,689 14.26
Restricted units vested (149,444) 14.00
Restricted units outstanding at December 31, 2021 414,441 $ 13.24




The following table summarizes the time-based restricted unit grants and vestings during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019:

Weighted Average
Number of Restricted Grant Date Fair Fair Value of
(8 in thousands, except unit and per unit data) Units Granted Value per Unit Restricted Units Vested
2021 72,689 $ 14.26 $ 2,956
2020 431,913 $ 13.10 $ 1,784
2019 84,987 $ 14.11 $ 749

As of December 31, 2021, there was $4.2 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted units granted under the Plan, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.79 years. We expect to incur $1.6 million of this expense in 2022, $1.1 million in 2023, $0.8 million
in 2024, and the remainder in 2025.

AO LTIP Units

During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, in connection with its annual review of executive compensation and as described in the table
below, the Compensation Committee approved an aggregate grant of AO LTIP Units to the Company’s executive officers under the Plan.

Number of Participation Threshold
AO LTIP Units per AO LTIP Unit
Executive 2019 Awards 2020 Awards 2021 Awards 2019 Awards 2020 Awards 2021 Awards
John A. Kite 1,490,683 1,729,729 477,612 $ 15.79 $ 17.76 $ 16.69
Thomas A. McGowan 372,671 405,405 149,254 $ 15.79 $ 17.76 $ 16.69
Heath R. Fear 253,416 275,675 119,403 $ 15.79 $ 17.76 $ 16.69

The Company entered into award agreements with each executive officer with respect to his awards, which provide terms of vesting, conversion,
distribution, and other terms. AO LTIP Units are designed to have economics similar to stock options and allow the recipient, subject to vesting requirements, to
realize value above a threshold level set as of the grant date of the award (the “Participation Threshold”). The value of vested AO LTIP Units is realized through
conversion into a number of vested Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) Units in the Operating Partnership determined on the basis of how much the value of a
common share of the Company has increased over the Participation Threshold.

The AO LTIP Units are only exercisable and convertible into vested LTIP Units of the Operating Partnership to the extent that they become vested AO
LTIP Units. The awards of AO LTIP Units are subject to both time-based and stock price performance-based vesting requirements. Subject to the terms of the
award agreements, the AO LTIP Units shall vest and become fully exercisable as of the date that both of the following requirements have been met: (i) the grantee
remains in continuous service from the grant date through the third anniversary of the grant date; and (ii) at any time during the five-year period following the grant
date for the 2019 awards and at any time during the period beginning in the second year and ending at the end of the fifth year following the grant date for the 2020
and 2021 awards, the reported closing price per common share of the Company appreciates at least 20% for the 2019 awards and at least 15% for the 2020 and
2021 awards over the applicable Participation Threshold per AO LTIP Unit (as set forth in the table above) for a minimum of 20 consecutive trading days. Any AO
LTIP Units that do not become vested will be forfeited and become null and void as of the fifth anniversary of the grant date, but AO LTIP Units may also be
forfeited earlier in connection with a corporate transaction or with the holder’s termination of service.

The AO LTIP Units were valued using a Monte Carlo simulation and the resulting compensation expense is being amortized over three years for the 2019
and 2021 awards and five years for the 2020 awards. For the awards granted in 2019, we recognized $1.0 million of compensation expense in 2019, $1.1 million of
compensation expense in 2020 and 2021 and expect to recognize the remaining $0.2 million of this expense in 2022. Compensation expense for the awards granted
in 2020 totaled $3.6 million, of which we recognized $0.6 million and $0.7 million of compensation expense in 2020 and 2021, respectively, and expect to
annually incur $0.7 million of this expense in 2022 through 2024 and the remainder in 2025. Compensation expense for the awards granted in 2021 totaled
$3.0 million, of which we recognized $0.9 million of compensation expense in 2021 and expect to annually incur $1.0 million of this expense in 2022 and 2023
and the remainder in 2024.
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NOTE 6. DEFERRED COSTS AND INTANGIBLES, NET

Deferred costs consist primarily of acquired lease intangible assets, broker fees and capitalized internal commissions incurred in connection with lease
originations. Deferred leasing costs, lease intangibles and similar costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related leases. At December 31,
2021 and 2020, deferred costs consisted of the following:

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020
Acquired lease intangible assets $ 567,149 $ 55,352
Deferred leasing costs and other 55,817 57,481
622,966 112,833
Less: accumulated amortization (81,448) (49,662)
Total $ 541,518 $ 63,171

The estimated net amounts of amortization from acquired lease intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Amortization of

Amortization of above- acquired lease

(8 in thousands) market leases intangible assets Total
2022 $ 12,610 $ 133,302 $ 145,912
2023 10,297 85,763 96,060
2024 8,461 58,852 67,313
2025 6,571 39,351 45,922
2026 6,405 39,159 45,564
Thereafter 18,155 79,502 97,657

Total $ 62,499 $ 435,929 $ 498,428

Amortization of deferred leasing costs, lease intangibles and other is included within “Depreciation and amortization” in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income. The amortization of above-market lease intangibles is included as a reduction to “Rental income” in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. The amounts of such amortization included in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

(3 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Amortization of deferred leasing costs, lease intangibles and other $ 45,423 $ 13,916 $ 14,239
Amortization of above-market lease intangibles 3,483 999 1,200

NOTE 7. DEFERRED REVENUE, INTANGIBLES, NET AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Deferred revenue and other liabilities consist of the unamortized fair value of below-market lease liabilities recorded in connection with purchase
accounting, retainage payables for development and redevelopment projects, tenant rent payments received in advance of the month in which they are due, and
lease liabilities recorded upon adoption of ASU 2016-02. The amortization of below-market lease liabilities is recognized as revenue over the remaining life of the
leases (including option periods for leases with below-market renewal options) through 2085. Tenant rent payments received in advance are recognized as revenue
in the period to which they apply, which is typically the month following their receipt.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, deferred revenue, intangibles, net and other liabilities consisted of the following:

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020
Unamortized in-place lease liabilities $ 210,261 $ 45,479
Retainages payable and other 10,796 1,943
Tenant rents received in advance 30,125 11,716
Lease liabilities 70,237 26,511
Total $ 321,419 $ 85,649
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The amortization of below-market lease intangibles is included as a component of “Rental income” in the accompanying consolidated statements and totaled

$6.1 million, $4.8 million and $5.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The estimated net amounts of amortization of in-place lease liabilities and the increasing effect on minimum rent for each of the next five years and

thereafter is as follows:

(8 in thousands)
2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

Thereafter

Total

NOTE 8. MORTGAGE AND OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

The Company has the following types of indebtedness:

$ 18,290
16,668

14,781

12,440

12,517

135,565

$ 210,261

December 31,

Mortgages payable $
Senior unsecured notes

Unsecured term loans

Revolving line of credit

Unamortized discounts and premiums, net
Unamortized debt issuance costs, net

Total mortgage and other indebtedness, net $

2021 2020

392,590 $ 351,076
1,924,635 550,000
720,000 250,000
55,000 25,000
3,092,225 1,176,076
69,425 1,732
(10,842) (7,014)
3,150,808 $ 1,170,794

Consolidated indebtedness, including weighted average maturities and weighted average interest rates as of December 31, 2021, considering the impact of

interest rate swaps, is summarized below:

Weighted
Amount Weighted Average Average Maturity
Outstanding Ratio Interest Rate (in years)
Fixed rate debt! $ 2,853,212 92 % 4.00 % 4.6
Variable rate debt? 239,013 8 % 3.01 % 4.2
Debt discounts, premiums and issuance costs, net 58,583 N/A N/A N/A
Total $ 3,150,808 100 % 3.92% 4.6

1 Fixed rate debt includes the portion of variable rate debt that has been hedged by interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2021, $720.0 million in variable rate debt is

hedged to a fixed rate for a weighted average of 3.2 years.

2 Variable rate debt includes the portion of fixed rate debt that has been hedged by interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2021, $155.0 million in fixed rate debt is hedged

to a floating rate for a weighted average of 3.7 years.
Mortgages Payable

The following table summarizes the Company’s mortgages payable:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Weighted Average Years Weighted Average Years
(8 in thousands) Balance Interest Rate to Maturity Balance Interest Rate to Maturity
Fixed rate mortgages payable! $ 363,577 4.13 % 1.7 $ 295,966 4.12 % 2.1
Variable rate mortgage payable? 29,013 1.70 % 0.1 55,110 1.74 % 1.1
Total mortgages payable $ 392,590 $ 351,076
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1 The fixed rate mortgages had interest rates ranging from 3.75% to 5.73% and 3.78% to 5.73% as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

2 The interest rate on the variable rate mortgage is based on LIBOR plus 160 basis points. The one-month LIBOR rate was 0.10% and 0.14% as of December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

Mortgages payable are secured by certain real estate and, in some cases, by guarantees from the Operating Partnership, are generally due in monthly
installments of principal and interest and mature over various terms through 2032. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we made scheduled principal
payments of $2.7 million related to amortizing loans and paid down $25.4 million on a variable rate mortgage payable.

In connection with the Merger, the Company assumed mortgage loans totaling $90.7 million (including fair market value adjustments of $0.6 million), of
which the Company repaid a $24.1 million mortgage at the closing of the Merger. In addition, the Company assumed a mortgage loan with a principal balance of

$3.6 million and an interest rate of 3.8% that matures in 2032 in conjunction with the acquisition of the multi-tenant retail outparcel at Nora Plaza on December 22,
2021.

Unsecured Notes

The following table summarizes the Company’s senior unsecured notes and exchangeable senior notes:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

(8 in thousands) Maturity Date Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate

Senior notes — 4.23% due 2023 September 10, 2023 $ 95,000 423% $ 95,000 4.23 %
Senior notes — 4.58% due 2024! June 30, 2024 149,635 4.58 % — — %
Senior notes — 4.00% due 20252 March 15, 2025 350,000 4.00 % — — %
Senior notes — LIBOR + 3.65% due 20253 September 10, 2025 80,000 3.75% 80,000 4.47 %
Senior notes — 4.08% due 2026 September 30, 2026 100,000 4.08 % — — %
Senior notes — 4.00% due 2026 October 1, 2026 300,000 4.00 % 300,000 4.00 %
Senior exchangeable notes — 0.75% due 2027 April 1, 2027 175,000 0.75 % — — %
Senior notes — LIBOR + 3.75% due 2027* September 10, 2027 75,000 3.85% 75,000 4.57 %
Senior notes — 4.24% due 2028! December 28, 2028 100,000 4.24 % — — %
Senior notes — 4.82% due 2029! June 28, 2029 100,000 4.82 % — — %
Senior notes — 4.75% due 20302 September 15, 2030 400,000 4.75 % — — %

Total senior unsecured notes $ 1,924,635 $ 550,000

Private placement notes assumed in connection with the Merger.

Publicly placed notes assumed in connection with the Merger.

$80,000 of 4.47% senior unsecured notes has been swapped to a variable rate of LIBOR plus 3.65% through September 10, 2025.
$75,000 of 4.57% senior unsecured notes has been swapped to a variable rate of LIBOR plus 3.75% through September 10, 2025.

A W N =

Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes Assumed in the Merger

On October 22, 2021, in connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership entered into a number of assumption agreements pursuant to which the
Operating Partnership assumed all of RPAI’s obligations under RPATI’s existing Note Purchase Agreements (“NPAs”) related to an aggregate of $450.0 million in
principal of privately placed senior unsecured notes (“Private Placement Notes™). Each series of Private Placement Notes require semi-annual interest payments
each year until maturity. The Operating Partnership may prepay at any time all, or from time to time any part of, any series of the Private Placement Notes, in an
amount not less than 5% of the aggregate principal amount of such series of the Private Placement Notes then outstanding in the case of a partial prepayment, at
100% of the principal amount so prepaid plus a Make-Whole Amount (as defined in the applicable NPA). The Make-Whole Amount is equal to the excess, if any,
of the discounted value of the remaining scheduled payments with respect to the Private Placement Notes being prepaid over the amount of such Notes.

Each NPA contains customary financial maintenance covenants including a maximum total leverage ratio, secured leverage ratio and unsecured leverage
ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. Each NPA also contains restrictive covenants that restrict the ability of the Operating Partnership and its subsidiaries
to, among other things, enter into transactions with affiliates, merge or consolidate, transfer assets or incur liens.
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Further, each NPA contains customary events of default, including in relation to non-payment, breach of covenants, defaults under certain other
indebtedness, judgment defaults and bankruptcy events. In the case of an event of default, the holders of the Private Placement Notes may, among other remedies,
accelerate the payment of all obligations.

Publicly Placed Senior Unsecured Notes Assumed in the Merger

On October 22, 2021, in connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership (as successor by merger to RPAI) assumed all of RPAI’s outstanding
$750.0 million aggregate principal of publicly placed senior unsecured notes (“Public Placement Notes”). The Public Placement Notes require semi-annual interest
payments each year until maturity.

The Public Placement Notes are the direct, senior unsecured obligations of the Operating Partnership and rank equally in right of payment with all of its
existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness. The Operating Partnership may redeem the Public Placement Notes at its option and in its sole
discretion, at any time or from time to time prior to three months prior to the respective maturity date (such date, the “Par Call Date”), at a redemption price equal
to 100% of the principal amount of the applicable Public Placement Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest and a “make-whole” premium
calculated in accordance with the indenture. Redemptions on or after the respective Par Call Date are not subject to the addition of a “make-whole” premium.

Exchangeable Senior Notes

In March 2021, the Operating Partnership issued $175.0 million aggregate principal amount of 0.75% Exchangeable Senior Notes maturing in April 2027
(the “Exchangeable Notes”). The Exchangeable Notes are governed by an indenture between the Operating Partnership, the Company and U.S. Bank National
Association, as trustee. The Exchangeable Notes were sold in the U.S. only to accredited investors pursuant to an exemption from the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and subsequently resold to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. The net proceeds from
the offering of the Exchangeable Notes were approximately $169.7 million after deducting the underwriting fees and other expenses paid by the Company.

The Exchangeable Notes bear interest at a rate of 0.75% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on April 1, 2027. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, we recognized approximately $1.6 million of interest expense for the Exchangeable Notes.

Prior to January 1, 2027, the Exchangeable Notes will be exchangeable into cash up to the principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes exchanged and, if
applicable, cash or common shares or a combination thereof, only upon certain circumstances and during certain periods. On or after January 1, 2027, the
Exchangeable Notes will be exchangeable into cash up to the principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes exchanged and, if applicable, cash or common shares or
a combination thereof at the option of the holders at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day preceding the Maturity Date. The
exchange rate will initially equal 39.6628 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of Exchangeable Notes (equivalent to an exchange price of approximately
$25.21 per common share and an exchange premium of approximately 25% based on the closing price of $20.17 per common share on March 17, 2021). The
exchange rate will be subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest.

The Operating Partnership may redeem the Exchangeable Notes, at its option, in whole or in part, on any business day on or after April 5, 2025, if the last
reported sale price of the common shares has been at least 130% of the exchange price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive)
during any 30 consecutive trading day period ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the issuer provides notice of
redemption at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Exchangeable Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the redemption date.

In connection with the Exchangeable Notes, the Operating Partnership entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions (the “Capped Call
Transactions”) with certain of the initial purchasers of the Exchangeable Notes or their respective affiliates. The Capped Call Transactions initially cover, subject
to anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to those applicable to the Exchangeable Notes, the number of common shares underlying the Exchangeable Notes.
The Capped Call Transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to holders of common shares upon exchange of the Exchangeable Notes. The
cap price of the Capped Call Transactions was initially approximately $30.26, which represents a premium of approximately 50% over the last reported sale price
of common shares on March 17, 2021 and is subject to anti-dilution adjustments under the terms of the Capped Call Transactions. The cost of the Capped Call
Transactions was $9.8 million and is recorded within additional paid-in capital.
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Unsecured Term Loans and Revolving Line of Credit

The following table summarizes the Company’s term loans and revolving line of credit:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
(8 in thousands) Maturity Date Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate
Unsecured term loan due 2023 — fixed rate'? November 22, 2023 $ 200,000 410% $ — —%
Unsecured term loan due 2024 — fixed rate'? July 17,2024 120,000 2.88 % — — %
Unsecured term loan due 2025 — fixed rate*¢ October 24, 2025 250,000 5.09 % 250,000 2.14 %
Unsecured term loan due 2026 — fixed rate'” July 17, 2026 150,000 2.97 % — — %
Total unsecured term loans $ 720,000 $ 250,000

Unsecured credit facility revolving line of credit —

variable rate!’ January 8, 2026 $ 55,000 120% $ 25,000 1.29 %

Unsecured term loans and revolving line of credit assumed in connection with the Merger.

2 $200,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate 2.85% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.85% through
November 22, 2023. The applicable credit spread was 1.25% as of December 31, 2021.

3 $120,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate 1.68% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.70% through
July 17, 2024. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2021.

4 $250,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate of 5.09% through October 24, 2025.

5 $150,000 of LIBOR-based variable rate debt has been swapped to a fixed rate 1.77% plus a credit spread based on a leverage grid ranging from 1.20% to 1.70% through
July 17, 2026. The applicable credit spread was 1.20% as of December 31, 2021.

6  The maturity date of the term loan may be extended for up to three additional periods of one year at the Operating Partnership’s option, subject to certain conditions.

7  The revolving line of credit has two six-month extension options that the Company can exercise, at its election, subject to (i) customary representations and warranties,
including, but not limited to, the absence of an event of default as defined in the unsecured credit agreement and (ii) payment of an extension fee equal to 0.075% of the
revolving line of credit capacity.

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

On October 22, 2021, in connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership (as successor by merger to RPAI), as borrower, entered into the First
Amendment (the “First Amendment”) to the Credit Agreement (as defined below) with KeyBank National Association (“KeyBank™), as administrative agent, and
the lenders party thereto. The First Amendment amends the Sixth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 8, 2021 (as amended, the “Credit
Agreement”), among RPAI, as borrower, KeyBank, as administrative agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto, which provides for an $850.0 million
unsecured revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility”’) with a scheduled maturity date of January 8, 2026 (which maturity date may be extended for up to
two additional periods of six months at the Operating Partnership’s option, subject to certain conditions).

Under the Credit Agreement, the Operating Partnership has the option to increase the Revolving Facility to an aggregate committed amount of $1.6 billion
upon the Operating Partnership’s request, subject to certain conditions, including obtaining commitments from any one or more lenders, whether or not currently
party to the Credit Agreement, to provide such increased amounts.

Borrowings under the Revolving Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR or the alternative base rate plus a margin based on the Operating
Partnership’s leverage ratio or credit rating, respectively, plus a facility fee based on the Operating Partnership’s leverage ratio or credit rating, respectively. The
Revolving Facility is currently priced on the leverage-based pricing grid. In accordance with the Credit Agreement, the credit spread set forth in the leverage grid
resets quarterly based on the Company’s leverage, as calculated at the previous quarter end. The Company may irrevocably elect to convert to the ratings-based
pricing grid at any time. The Credit Agreement includes a sustainability metric based on targeted greenhouse gas emission reductions, which results in a reduction
of the otherwise applicable interest rate margin by one basis point upon achievement of targets set forth therein.



The following table summarizes the key terms of the Revolving Facility:

Leverage-Based Pricing Investment Grade Pricing
Credit Agreement Maturity Date  Extension Option  Extension Fee Credit Spread Facility Fee Credit Spread Facility Fee
$850,000 unsecured revolving line of credit 1/8/2026 2 six-month 0.075% 1.05%-1.50% 0.15%-0.30% 0.725%-1.40% 0.125%-0.30%

The Operating Partnership’s ability to borrow under the Credit Agreement is subject to ongoing compliance by the Operating Partnership and its
subsidiaries with various restrictive covenants, including with respect to liens, transactions with affiliates, dividends, mergers and asset sales. In addition, the
Credit Agreement requires that the Operating Partnership satisfy certain financial covenants, including:

* a maximum leverage ratio of 60%, which may be increased to 65% during the quarter in which a material acquisition occurs and the immediately
following fiscal quarter up to two times during the term of the Credit Agreement;

* an adjusted EBITDA to fixed charges coverage ratio of at least 1.50 to 1.00;
« aratio of secured indebtedness to total asset value of no more than 45%;

« aratio of unsecured debt to the value of a pool of unencumbered properties not to exceed 60%, which may be increased to 65% during the quarter in
which a material acquisition occurs and the immediately following fiscal quarter up to two times during the term of the Credit Agreement; and

* aratio of net operating income attributable to a pool of unencumbered properties to unsecured debt interest expense to be not less than 1.75 to 1.00 at
any time.

As of December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with all such covenants.

The Credit Agreement includes customary representations and warranties, which must continue to be true and correct in all material respects as a condition
to future draws under the Revolving Facility. The Credit Agreement also contains customary events of default, the occurrence of which, following any applicable
grace period, would permit the lenders to, among other things, declare the principal, accrued interest and other obligations under the Credit Agreement to be
immediately due and payable.

As of December 31, 2021, we had letters of credit outstanding which totaled $1.5 million, against which no amounts were advanced as of December 31,
2021.

The Operating Partnership previously had a $600.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility that bore interest at a rate of LIBOR plus a credit spread
ranging from 1.05% to 1.50% and was scheduled to mature on April 22, 2022. In connection with the Operating Partnership’s assumption of RPAI’s Sixth
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the Operating Partnership terminated its existing revolving credit facility provided pursuant to the Fifth Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2016, by and among the Operating Partnership, the Company, KeyBank, as administrative agent, and the lenders
party thereto.

Unsecured Term Loans Assumed in the Merger

On October 22, 2021, in connection with the Merger, the Operating Partnership (as successor by merger to RPAI) assumed all of RPAI’s outstanding
$470.0 million aggregate principal of unsecured term loans (“Unsecured Term Loans”). The following table summarizes the key terms of the Unsecured Term
Loans assumed:

Leverage-Based Pricing Investment Grade Pricing
Unsecured Term Loans Maturity Date Credit Spread Credit Spread
$200,000 unsecured term loan due 2023 11/22/2023 1.20% — 1.85% 0.85% — 1.65%
$120,000 unsecured term loan due 2024 7/17/2024 1.20% — 1.70% 0.80% — 1.65%
$150,000 unsecured term loan due 2026 7/17/2026 1.20% — 1.70% 0.75% — 1.60%

Under the agreement related to the $120.0 million and $150.0 million term loans, the Operating Partnership has the option to increase each of the term loans
to $250.0 million upon the Operating Partnership’s request, subject to certain conditions, including obtaining commitments from any one or more lenders, whether
or not currently party to the term loan agreement, to provide such increased amounts. In addition, under the agreement related to the $200.0 million term loan, the
Operating Partnership has the option to increase the term loan to $300.0 million upon the Operating Partnership’s request,



subject to certain conditions, including obtaining commitments from any one or more lenders, whether or not currently party to the term loan agreement, to provide
such increased amounts.

The agreements related to the Unsecured Term Loans assumed in the Merger contain representations, financial and other affirmative and negative covenants
and events of default that are substantially similar to those contained in the Credit Agreement. The agreement related to the $150.0 million term loan includes a
sustainability metric based on targeted greenhouse gas emission reductions, which results in a reduction of the otherwise applicable interest rate margin by one
basis point upon achievement of targets set forth therein.

Existing Unsecured Term Loan Due 2025

On October 25, 2018, the Operating Partnership entered into a Term Loan Agreement (the “Agreement”) with KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and the other lenders party thereto, providing for an unsecured term loan facility of up to $250.0 million (the “$250M Term Loan”). The
$250M Term Loan ranks pari passu with the Operating Partnership’s existing Revolving Facility and other unsecured indebtedness of the Operating Partnership.

The $250M Term Loan has a scheduled maturity date of October 24, 2025, which maturity date may be extended for up to three additional periods of one
year at the Operating Partnership’s option, subject to certain conditions.

The Operating Partnership has the option to increase the $250M Term Loan to $300.0 million, subject to certain conditions, including obtaining
commitments from any one or more lenders, whether or not currently party to the Agreement, to provide such increased amounts. The Operating Partnership is
permitted to prepay the $250M Term Loan in whole or in part, at any time, subject to a prepayment fee if prepaid on or before October 25, 2023.

Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective loan agreements.

The following amounts of amortization of debt issuance costs are included as a component of “Interest expense” in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income:

Year ended December 31,
(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Amortization of debt issuance costs $ 2,681 $ 2,135 $ 2,762

Debt Maturities

The following table presents maturities of mortgage debt and corporate debt as of December 31, 2021:

Secured Debt
Scheduled Term

(8 in thousands) Principal Payments Maturities Unsecured Debt Total
2022 $ 3,674 $ 153,500 $ — $ 157,174
2023 2,600 191,605 295,000 489,205
2024 2,721 — 269,635 272,356
2025 2,848 — 430,000 432,848
2026 2,981 — 605,000 607,981
Thereafter 30,181 2,480 1,100,000 1,132,661

$ 45,005 $ 347,585 $ 2,699,635 $ 3,092,225
Debt discounts, premiums and issuance costs, net 58,583
Total $ 3,150,808

Other Debt Activity

The amount of interest capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 was $1.6 million, $1.5 million, and $1.9 million,
respectively.
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Fair Value of Fixed and Variable Rate Debt

As of December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of fixed rate debt was $2.4 billion compared to the book value of $2.3 billion. The fair value was
estimated using Level 2 and 3 inputs with cash flows discounted at current borrowing rates for similar instruments, which ranged from 2.90% to 4.40%. As of
December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of variable rate debt was $806.4 million compared to the book value of $804.0 million. The fair value was estimated
using Level 2 and 3 inputs with cash flows discounted at current borrowing rates for similar instruments, which ranged from 1.20% to 3.60%.

NOTE 9. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS, HEDGING ACTIVITIES AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In order to manage potential future variable interest rate risk, we enter into interest rate derivative agreements from time to time. We do not use interest rate
derivative agreements for trading or speculative purposes. The agreements with each of our derivative counterparties provide that, in the event of default on any of
our indebtedness, we could also be declared in default on our derivative obligations.

As of December 31, 2021, we were party to various cash flow derivative agreements with notional amounts totaling $720.0 million, which includes
$470.0 million of interest rate swaps assumed in connection with the Merger. These derivative agreements effectively fix the interest rate underlying certain
variable rate debt instruments over expiration dates through 2026. Using a weighted average interest rate spread over LIBOR on all variable rate debt resulted in
fixing the weighted average interest rate at 3.72%.

In April 2021, we entered into two fair value derivative agreements with notional amounts totaling $155.0 million that swap a blended fixed rate of 4.52%
for a blended floating rate of LIBOR plus 3.70% with an expiration date of September 10, 2025.

In December 2021, we entered into two forward-starting interest rate swap contracts with notional amounts totaling $150.0 million that swap a floating rate
of compound Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) for a fixed rate of 1.356% with an effective date of June 1, 2022 and an expiration date of June 1, 2032.
As of December 31, 2021, the estimated fair value of the forward-starting swaps represented an asset of $0.3 million and is reflected within “Prepaid and other
assets” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

These interest rate derivative agreements are the only assets or liabilities that we record at fair value on a recurring basis. The valuation of these assets and
liabilities is determined using widely accepted techniques including discounted cash flow analysis. These techniques consider the contractual terms of the
derivatives (including the period to maturity) and use observable market-based inputs such as interest rate curves and implied volatilities. We also incorporate
credit valuation adjustments into the fair value measurements to reflect nonperformance risk on both our part and that of the respective counterparties.

We determined that the majority of the inputs used to value our derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, although the credit valuation
adjustments associated with our derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by us and our
counterparties. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, we assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of our
derivative positions and determined the credit valuation adjustments were not significant to the overall valuation of our derivatives. As a result, we determined our
derivative valuations were classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the estimated fair value of our interest rate derivatives represented a liability of $35.7 million and $32.1 million,
respectively, including accrued interest of $1.0 million and $0.4 million, respectively. These balances are reflected within “Accounts payable and accrued
expenses” on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts reported in accumulated other comprehensive income related to derivatives will be reclassified to earnings over time as the hedged items are
recognized in earnings. Approximately $7.7 million and $4.0 million was reclassified as a reduction to earnings during the years ended December 31, 2021 and
2020, respectively. Approximately $0.6 million was reclassified as an increase to earnings during the year ended December 31, 2019. As interest payments on our
derivatives are made over the next 12 months, we estimate the increase to interest expense to be $8.3 million, assuming the current LIBOR curve.

Unrealized gains and losses on our interest rate derivative agreements are the only components of the change in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

F-40



NOTE 10. LEASE INFORMATION
Rental Income

The Company receives rental income from the leasing of retail and office space. The leases generally provide for certain increases in base rent,
reimbursement for certain operating expenses, and may require tenants to pay contingent rent to the extent their sales exceed a defined threshold. Certain tenants
have the option in their lease agreement to extend their lease upon the expiration of their contractual term. Variable lease payments are based upon tenant sales
information and are recognized once a tenant’s sales volume exceeds a defined threshold. Variable lease payments for reimbursement of operating expenses are
based upon the operating expense activity for the period. In connection with the Merger, the Company assumed all leases in place at legacy RPAI properties and
began recognizing rental income under the respective leases upon completion of the Merger.

Rental income related to the Company’s operating leases is comprised of the following for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively:

Year Ended December 31,

(8 in thousands) 2021 2020 2019
Fixed contractual lease payments — operating leases $ 292,873 $ 218,004 $ 244,666
Variable lease payments — operating leases 69,422 52,128 61,368
Bad debt recovery (reserve) (2,897) (13,259) (3,620)
Straight-line rent adjustment 4,674 1,155 3,362
Straight-line rent recovery (reserve) for uncollectibility 716 4,177) (1,153)
Amortization of in-place lease liabilities, net 2,611 3,819 3,776

Total $ 367,399 $ 257,670 $ 308,399

The weighted average remaining term of the lease agreements is approximately 4.9 years. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the
Company earned overage rent of $0.8 million, $0.2 million, and $1.3 million, respectively.

During 2020 and 2021, in response to the impact of the novel coronavirus (“COVID 19”) pandemic, the Company received rent relief requests from a
significant proportion of its tenants. Some tenants have asserted various legal arguments that they allege relieve them of the obligation to pay rent during the
pandemic; the Company and its legal advisers generally disagree with these legal arguments. The Company has evaluated and will continue to evaluate tenant
requests for rent relief based on many factors, including the tenant’s financial strength and operating history, potential co-tenancy impacts, the tenant’s contribution
to the shopping center in which it operates, the Company’s assessment of the tenant’s long-term viability, the difficulty or ease with which the tenant could be
replaced, and other factors.

As a result of this evaluation, the Company agreed to defer rent for a portion of its tenants, subject to certain conditions. The Company had deferred the
collection of $2.9 million of rental income that remains outstanding as of December 31, 2021. To the extent the Company agrees to defer rent or is otherwise
unable to collect rent for certain periods, the Company will realize decreased cash flow, which could significantly decrease the cash available for the Company’s
operating and capital uses.

As of December 31, 2021, future minimum rentals to be received under non-cancelable operating leases for each of the next five years and thereafter,
excluding variable lease payments and amounts deferred under lease concession agreements, are as follows:

(8 in thousands) Lease Payments
2022 $ 589,763
2023 540,899
2024 474,392
2025 405,830
2026 339,723
Thereafter 1,782,554
Total $ 4,133,161
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Commitments under Ground Leases

In connection with the Merger, the Company assumed three ground leases in which we lease (as lessee) all or a portion of the land under three retail
operating properties acquired.

As of December 31, 2021, we are obligated under 12 ground leases for approximately 98 acres of land. Most of these ground leases require fixed annual rent
payments. The expiration dates of the remaining initial terms of these ground leases range from 2023 to 2092 with a weighted average remaining term of 35.6
years. Certain of these leases have five- to 10-year extension options ranging in total from 20 to 25 years.

Right-of-use assets are included within “Prepaid and other assets” and the lease liabilities are included within “Deferred revenue and other liabilities” in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company incurred ground lease expense on these operating leases of $2.8 million, $1.9
million, and $1.8 million, respectively. The Company made payments of $2.6 million, $1.8 million and $1.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2021,

2020 and 2019, respectively, which were included in operating cash flows.

As of December 31, 2021, future minimum lease payments due under ground leases for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

(8 in thousands) Lease Obligations

2022 $ 4,986
2023 4,811
2024 4,776
2025 4,900
2026 4,905
Thereafter 115,528
Total $ 139,906
Adjustment for discounting (69,669)
Lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 $ 70,237

NOTE 11. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Distributions

Our Board of Trustees declared a cash distribution of $0.19 per common share and Common Unit for the fourth quarter of 2021. This distribution was paid
on January 14, 2022 to common shareholders and Common Unit holders of record as of January 7, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we declared cash distributions totaling $0.68, $0.4495, and $1.27, respectively, per common share
and Common Units.

At-The-Market Offering Program

On February 23, 2021, the Company and the Operating Partnership entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement (the “Equity Distribution Agreement”)
with each of BofA Securities, Inc., Citigroup Global Markets Inc., KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc. and Raymond James & Associates, Inc., pursuant to which the
Company may sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate sales price of $150.0 million of its common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share under
an at-the-market offering program (the “ATM Program”). On November 30, 2021, the Company and the Operating Partnership amended the Equity Distribution
Agreement to reflect their filing of a shelf registration statement on November 16, 2021 with the SEC. As of December 31, 2021, the Company has not sold any
common shares under the ATM Program. The Operating Partnership intends to use the net proceeds, if any, to repay borrowings under its Revolving Facility and
other indebtedness and for working capital and other general corporate purposes. The Operating Partnership may also use net proceeds for acquisitions of operating
properties and the development or redevelopment of properties, although there are currently no understandings, commitments or agreements to do so.

F-42



Share Repurchase Plan

In February 2021, the Company’s Board of Trustees approved a share repurchase program, authorizing share repurchases up to an aggregate of
$150.0 million (the “Share Repurchase Program™). In February 2022, the Company extended its share repurchase program for an additional year. The Share
Repurchase Program, as extended, will terminate on February 28, 2023, if not terminated or extended prior to that date. As of December 31, 2021, the Company
has not repurchased any shares under its Share Repurchase Program. The Company intends to fund any future repurchases under the Share Purchase Program with
cash on hand or availability under its Revolving Facility, subject to any applicable restrictions. The timing of share repurchases and the number of common shares
to be repurchased under the Share Repurchase Program will depend upon prevailing market conditions, regulatory requirements and other factors.

Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan

We maintain a Dividend Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan, which offers investors the option to invest all or a portion of their common share dividends
in additional common shares. Participants in this plan are also able to make optional cash investments with certain restrictions.

NOTE 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are obligated under various completion guarantees with certain lenders and lease agreements with tenants to complete all or portions of a development
project and tenant-specific space currently under construction. We believe we currently have sufficient financing in place to fund these projects and expect to do so
primarily through borrowings on our Revolving Facility.

In 2017, we provided a repayment guaranty on a $33.8 million construction loan associated with the development of the Embassy Suites at the University of
Notre Dame, consistent with our 35% ownership interest. Our portion of the repayment guaranty is limited to $5.9 million and the guaranty’s term is through July
1, 2024, the maturity date of the construction loan. As of December 31, 2021, the outstanding loan balance is $33.6 million, of which our share is $11.8 million.

As of December 31, 2021, we had outstanding letters of credit totaling $1.5 million with no amounts advanced against these instruments.
Legal Proceedings

We are parties to routine litigation, claims, and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. Management believes that such
matters will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows taken as a whole.

As previously disclosed in our joint proxy statement/prospectus, beginning on August 27, 2021, two purported RPAI stockholders filed substantially similar
complaints against RPATI and the members of the RPAI board of directors (the “RPAI Board”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York. One of these complaints also named Kite Realty and Merger Sub as defendants. The complaints were captioned as follows: Wang v. Retail Properties of
America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-07237 (S.D.N.Y. filed August 27, 2021); and Hopkins v. Retail Properties of America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-07324 (S.D.N.Y.
filed August 31, 2021). The complaints variously asserted, among other things, claims under Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), and Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder against RPAI and the members of the RPAI Board and claims under Section 20(a) of the Exchange
Act against the members of the RPAI Board (and, in one case, Kite Realty and Merger Sub) for allegedly causing a materially incomplete and misleading
registration statement on Form S-4 to be filed on August 23, 2021 with the SEC. Four additional lawsuits were filed against RPAI and the members of the RPAI
Board between September 14, 2021 and October 8, 2021 under the captions Callebs v. Retail Properties of America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-07593 (S.D.N.Y. filed
September 10, 2021); Sheridan v. Retail Properties of America, Inc., et al., No. 1:21-cv-04066-SCJ (N.D.Ga. filed October 1, 2021); Whitfield v. Retail Properties
of America, Inc. et al., No. 2:21-cv-04390 (E.D.Pa. filed October 6, 2021); and Reinhardt v Retail Properties of America, Inc. et al., No. 1:21-cv-04187 (N.D. Ga.
filed October 8, 2021), which were substantially similar to the other two complaints. Also, on September 15, 2021, a purported Kite Realty shareholder filed a
complaint against Kite Realty and the members of the Kite Realty board of trustees in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York,
captioned as follows: Gentry v. Kite Realty Group Trust et al., No. 1:21-cv-05142 (E.D.N.Y. filed September 15, 2021). The complaint asserted substantially
similar claims under Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9 as the other complaints against RPAI and the RPAI Board.
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Plaintiffs sought, among other things, to enjoin or rescind the Merger, an award of damages in the event the Merger was consummated, and an award of
costs and attorneys’ fees. Subsequent to completion of the RPAI merger, and subsequent to December 31, 2021, the lawsuits described in the preceding paragraph
were voluntarily dismissed. We believe that the claims asserted in the actions were without merit.

NOTE 13. RELATED PARTIES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Subsidiaries of the Company provide certain management, construction management and other services to certain entities owned by certain members of the
Company’s management. During each of the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we earned less than $0.1 million from entities owned by certain
members of management.

We reimburse entities owned by certain members of our management for certain travel and related services. During the years ended December 31, 2021,
2020 and 2019, we paid $0.3 million, $0.5 million and $0.8 million, respectively, to this related entity.

NOTE 14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to December 31, 2021, we:

closed on the disposition of a portion of Hamilton Crossing Centre, a redevelopment property located in the Indianapolis MSA, for a sales price of
$6.9 million;

closed on the acquisition of Pebble Marketplace, an 85,796 square foot multi-tenant retail property located in the Las Vegas MSA, for a gross
purchase price of $44.1 million;

repaid the $41.2 million mortgage that previously encumbered Bayonne Crossing; and

granted 363,883 LTIP Units to the Company’s named executive officers as a special long-term equity award related to the Merger, which are subject
to both performance and service conditions. The LTIP Units granted are subject to an approximate three-year performance and service period, from
October 23, 2021 through December 31, 2024 and the performance components are as follows: (i) cumulative annualized net operating income for
executed new leases from October 1, 2021 to December 31, 2024, which will be weighted at 60%; (ii) post-Merger cash general and administrative
expense synergies achieved as of the end of the performance period, which will be weighted at 20%; and (iii) same property net operating income
margin improvement over the performance period, which will be weighted at 20%. Overall performance is further subject to an absolute total
shareholder return modifier that has the ability to increase (or decrease) the total number of LTIP Units eligible to vest by 25% (not to exceed the
maximum number of LTIP Units). Distributions will accrue during the performance period and will be paid only on LTIP Units that vest at the
conclusion of the performance period, and any accrued distributions on vested LTIP Units will be settled in cash at such time.
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KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST AND KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Schedule II1
Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
December 31, 2021
Cost Capitalized
Subsequent to Gross Carrying Amount
(8 in thousands) Initial Cost Acquisition/Development Close of Period
Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Year Built / Year
Name Encumbrances Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Renovated Acquired
Operating Properties

12th Street Plaza — 3 2,624 $ 12,691  $ = | 9 964 $ 2,624 $ 13,655 $ 16279 § 4,897 1978/2003 2012
54th & College — 2,672 — — — 2,672 — 2,672 — 2008 NA
Arcadia Village — 8,487 10,911 — — 8,487 10,911 19,398 178 1957 2021
Ashland & Roosevelt — 9,932 25,714 — — 9,932 25,714 35,646 405 2002 2021
Avondale Plaza — 6,661 10,269 — — 6,661 10,269 16,930 135 2005 2021
Bayonne Crossing 41,249 47,809 43,840 — 1,008 47,809 44,848 92,657 14,203 2011 2014
Bayport Commons — 7,005 20,776 — 4,600 7,005 25,376 32,381 9,061 2008 NA
Bed Bath & Beyond Plaza — 4,602 13,041 — — 4,602 13,041 17,643 202 2000 2021
Belle Isle Station — 9,130 41,145 — 6,447 9,130 47,592 56,722 14,932 2000 2015
Bridgewater Marketplace — 3,407 8,533 — 1,244 3,407 9,776 13,183 4,045 2008 NA
Burlington* — — 2,773 — 29 — 2,802 2,802 2,420 1992/2000 2000
Castleton Crossing — 9,761 28,052 — 947 9,761 28,999 38,760 9,381 1975 2013
Cedar Park Town Center — 9,107 16,658 — — 9,107 16,658 25,765 205 2013 2021
Centennial Center 70,455 58,960 72,626 — 5,910 58,960 78,537 137,497 29,855 2002 2014
Centennial Gateway 23,962 5,305 48,587 — 807 5,305 49,394 54,699 14,319 2005 2014
Central Texas Marketplace — 13,339 32,784 — — 13,339 32,784 46,123 582 2004 2021
Centre at Laurel — 5,998 31,674 — — 5,998 31,674 37,672 429 2005 2021
Centre Point Commons* 14,410 2,918 22,310 — 362 2,918 22,672 25,590 6,691 2007 2014
Chantilly Crossing — 11,941 18,482 — — 11,941 18,482 30,423 257 2004 2021
Chapel Hill Shopping Center* 18,250 — 35,046 — 1,947 — 36,993 36,993 11,225 2001 2015
City Center — 20,565 179,992 — 4,762 20,565 184,754 205,319 53,930 2018 2014
Clearlake Shores Shopping

Center — 3,899 6,936 — — 3,899 6,936 10,835 106 2003 2021
Coal Creek Marketplace — 4,119 12,507 — — 4,119 12,507 16,626 222 1991 2021
Cobblestone Plaza — 10,374 44,828 — 2,977 10,374 47,805 58,179 15,355 2011 NA
Colleyville Downs — 5,446 38,482 — 2,507 5,446 40,989 46,435 15,202 2014 2015
Colonial Square — 7,521 18,647 — 2,202 7,521 20,849 28,370 5,786 2010 2014
Colony Square — 20,442 19,772 — — 20,442 19,772 40,214 363 1997 2021
Commons at Temecula — 18,514 41,898 — — 18,514 41,898 60,412 706 1999 2021
Cool Creek Commons — 6,062 13,408 — 4,243 6,062 17,651 23,713 7,935 2005 NA
Cool Springs Market — 12,644 22,737 40 7,253 12,684 29,990 42,674 11,694 1995 2013
Coppell Town Center — 5,115 11,349 — — 5,115 11,349 16,464 189 1999 2021
Coram Plaza — 6,877 19,148 — 2 6,877 19,150 26,027 280 2004 2021
Crossing at Killingly Commons — 21,999 34,968 — 395 21,999 35,362 57,361 11,830 2010 2014
Cypress Mill Plaza — 6,378 10,003 — — 6,378 10,003 16,381 147 2004 2021
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Cost Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Carrying Amount

Initial Cost Acquisition/Development Close of Period
Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Year Built / Year
Name Encumbrances Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Renovated Acquired
Operating Properties
(continued)

Davis Towne Crossing — 3 1,005 $ 8,858 = 8 = B 1,005 § 8,858 9,863 $ 123 2003 2021
Delray Marketplace 29,013 18,750 88,217 1,284 7,635 20,034 95,852 115,886 27,910 2013 NA
Denton Crossing — 8,354 38,907 — — 8,354 38,907 47,261 604 2003 2021
DePauw University Bookstore &

Café* — 64 663 — 45 64 708 772 464 2012 NA
Downtown Crown — 25,657 73,363 — (1,057) 25,657 72,306 97,963 1,103 2014 2021
Draper Crossing — 9,054 27,229 — 985 9,054 28,214 37,268 9,462 2012 2014
Draper Peaks — 11,498 46,984 522 5,257 12,020 52,240 64,260 13,419 2012 2014
East Stone Commons* — 3,746 18,461 — — 3,746 18,461 22,207 365 2005 2021
Eastern Beltway 34,100 23,221 45,717 — 5,165 23,221 50,883 74,104 13,691 1998/2006 2014
Eastgate Crossing — 4,244 59,326 — 1,195 4,244 60,520 64,764 2,737 1958/2007 2020
Eastgate Pavilion — 8,026 18,183 — 1,592 8,026 19,774 27,800 9,306 1995 2004
Eastside — 3,302 11,941 — — 3,302 11,941 15,243 148 2008 2021
Eastwood Towne Center — 3,153 57,731 — — 3,153 57,731 60,884 946 2002 2021
Eddy Street Commons* — 1,900 36,940 — 1,241 1,900 38,181 40,081 14,960 2009 NA
Edwards Multiplex — 22,692 28,305 — — 22,692 28,305 50,997 435 1997 2021
Estero Town Commons — 8,973 9,941 — 1,018 8,973 10,959 19,932 4,433 2006 NA
Fairgrounds Plaza — 12,792 12,731 — — 12,792 12,731 25,523 183 2002 2021
Fishers Station — 4,008 15,607 — 217 4,008 15,824 19,832 5,940 2018 NA
Fordham Place — 43,274 103,261 — 4 43,274 103,265 146,539 1,199 1920/2009 2021
Fort Evans Plaza IT — 14,019 37,138 — — 14,019 37,138 51,157 562 2008 2021
Fullerton Metrocenter — 55,643 45,695 — — 55,643 45,695 101,338 755 1988 2021
Galvez Shopping Center — 509 4,957 — — 509 4,957 5,466 69 2004 2021
Gardiner Manor Mall — 28,599 25,048 — — 28,599 25,048 53,647 434 2000 2021
Gateway Pavillions — 43,615 16,881 — — 43,615 16,881 60,496 332 2003 2021
Gateway Plaza — 15,567 22,136 — — 15,567 22,136 37,703 445 2000 2021
Gateway Station — 10,614 11,213 — — 10,614 11,213 21,827 173 2003 2021
Gateway Village 30,996 33,289 31,100 — — 33,289 31,100 64,389 547 1996 2021
Geist Pavilion — 1,368 8,267 — 2,632 1,368 10,899 12,267 5,340 2006 NA
Gerry Centennial Plaza — 3,452 10,483 — — 3,452 10,483 13,935 208 2006 2021
Grapevine Crossing — 7,095 12,951 — 123 7,095 13,074 20,169 208 2001 2021
Green's Corner — 4,820 10,965 — — 4,820 10,965 15,785 199 1997 2021
Greyhound Commons — 2,629 794 — 1,086 2,629 1,880 4,509 1,025 2005 NA
Gurnee Town Center — 7,219 20,945 — 4 7,219 20,949 28,168 363 2000 2021
Henry Town Center — 9,372 51,111 — — 9,372 51,111 60,483 831 2002 2021
Heritage Square — 11,556 16,546 — 46 11,556 16,591 28,147 273 1985 2021
Heritage Towne Crossing — 5,811 14,560 — — 5,811 14,560 20,371 225 2002 2021
Holly Springs Towne Center — 22,324 94,493 — 6,805 22,324 101,298 123,622 23,176 2013 NA
Home Depot Center* — — 20,271 — — — 20,271 20,271 317 1996 2021
Huebner Oaks — 19,327 37,386 — — 19,327 37,386 56,713 673 1996 2021
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Cost Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Carrying Amount

Initial Cost Acquisition/Development Close of Period
Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Year Built / Year
Name Encumbrances Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Renovated Acquired
Operating Properties
(continued)
Humblewood Shopping Center — 3 3952 §$ 10,604 = 8 92 3952 §$ 10,696 14,648 § 153 1979/2005 2021
Hunter's Creek Promenade — 8,017 12,529 179 1,192 8,196 13,720 21,916 4,239 1994 2013
Indian River Square — 4,000 6,037 1,100 2,535 5,100 8,572 13,672 3,558 1997/2004 2005
International Speedway Square — 7,157 12,864 — 7,864 7,157 20,728 27,885 12,030 1999 NA
Jefferson Commons — 23,787 21,392 — 152 23,787 21,544 45,331 359 2005 2021
John's Creek Village — 7,735 35,975 — 125 7,735 36,100 43,835 514 2004 2021
King's Lake Square — 4,519 15,397 — 1,696 4,519 17,093 21,612 9,286 1986/2014 2003
Kingwood Commons — 5,715 30,598 — 234 5,715 30,832 36,547 12,487 1999 2013
La Plaza Del Norte — 18,271 34,895 — — 18,271 34,895 53,166 567 1996 2021
Lake City Commons — 4,693 12,211 — 329 4,693 12,540 17,233 4,086 2008 2014
Lake Mary Plaza — 1,413 8,664 — 231 1,413 8,895 10,308 2,321 2009 2014
Lake Worth Towne Crossing — 6,099 28,662 — — 6,099 28,662 34,761 397 2005 2021
Lakewood Towne Center — 33,903 33,072 — 5 33,903 33,077 66,980 563 2002 2021
Lincoln Park — 14,974 39,289 — — 14,974 39,289 54,263 657 1997 2021
Lincoln Plaza — 16,522 40,431 — 103 16,522 40,534 57,056 615 2001 2021
Lithia Crossing — 3,065 9,266 — 3,872 3,065 13,138 16,203 5,367 1994/2003 2011
Lowe's/Bed Bath & Beyond — 19,894 — — — 19,894 — 19,894 — 2005 2021
MacArthur Crossing — 8,193 13,864 — — 8,193 13,864 22,057 246 1995 2021
Main Street Promenade — 2,569 60,841 — 2 2,569 60,843 63,412 621 2003 2021
Manchester Meadows — 10,788 30,024 — — 10,788 30,024 40,812 575 1994 2021
Mansfield Towne Crossing — 2,983 14,033 — — 2,983 14,033 17,016 216 2003 2021
Market Street Village — 9,764 16,360 — 3,819 9,764 20,179 29,943 9,243 1970/2004 2005
Merrifield Town Center — 5,014 41,300 — — 5,014 41,300 46,314 497 2008 2021
Merrifield Town Center IT — 19,852 23,453 — — 19,852 23,453 43,305 270 1972/2007 2021
Miramar Square 31,625 26,492 27,982 389 12,541 26,880 40,524 67,404 8,832 2008 2014
Mullins Crossing* — 10,582 42,103 — 6,185 10,582 48,288 58,870 15,891 2005 2014
Naperville Marketplace — 5,364 11,475 — 160 5,364 11,634 16,998 4,683 2008 NA
New Forest Crossing — 7,197 10,178 — — 7,197 10,178 17,375 167 2003 2021
New Hyde Park Shopping Center — 10,888 9,895 — — 10,888 9,895 20,783 114 1964/2011 2021
Newnan Crossing — 6,872 40,106 — — 6,872 40,106 46,978 615 1999 2021
Newton Crossroads — 1,024 12,025 — — 1,024 12,025 13,049 199 1997 2021
Nora Plaza 3,578 3,790 21,293 4,996 12,299 8,786 33,593 42,379 3,648 2004 2019
North Benson Center — 16,847 10,184 — — 16,847 10,184 27,031 206 1988 2021
Northcrest Shopping Center — 4,044 33,921 — 1,108 4,044 35,030 39,074 9,465 2008 2014
Northdale Promenade — 1,718 26,309 — 274 1,718 26,583 28,301 13,558 2017 NA
Northgate North 23,632 20,246 48,082 — 27 20,246 48,109 68,355 741 1999 2021
Northpointe Plaza — 16,020 34,341 — 1 16,020 34,342 50,362 641 1991 2021
Oak Brook Promenade — 6,600 49,728 — — 6,600 49,728 56,328 770 2006 2021
Oleander Place* — 847 5,781 — 285 847 6,067 6,914 2,765 2012 2011
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Cost Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Carrying Amount

Initial Cost Acquisition/Development Close of Period
Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Year Built / Year
Name Encumbrances Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Renovated Acquired
Operating Properties
(continued)
One Loudoun Downtown $ — $ 74829 $ 104,149 — 3 208 $ 74829 § 104357 $ 179,186 § 1,095 2013 2021
Oswego Commons — 5,479 8,914 — — 5,479 8,914 14,393 172 2002 2021
Paradise Valley Marketplace — 7,029 34,160 — — 7,029 34,160 41,189 522 2002 2021
Parkside Town Commons — 21,796 107,119 (60) 11,981 21,736 119,100 140,836 30,664 2015 N/A
Parkway Towne Crossing — 15,246 28,138 — — 15,246 28,138 43,384 335 2010 2021
Pavilion at Kings Grant — 5,124 37,097 — 7 5,124 37,103 42,227 576 2002 2021
Pelham Manor Shopping Plaza* — — 30,145 — — — 30,145 30,145 405 2008 2021
Peoria Crossing — 18,961 19,215 — — 18,961 19,215 38,176 310 2002 2021
Perimeter Woods — 6,893 27,100 — 1,940 6,893 29,040 35,933 7,841 2008 2014
Pine Ridge Crossing — 5,640 16,904 — 4,178 5,640 21,081 26,721 8,888 1994 2006
Plaza at Cedar Hill — 5,782 36,445 — 12,150 5,782 48,595 54,377 24,216 2000 2004
Plaza at Marysville — 6,771 18,436 — — 6,771 18,436 25,207 308 1995 2021
Plaza Del Lago — 14,993 20,621 — — 14,993 20,621 35,614 377 1928/2019 2021
Pleasant Hill Commons — 3,350 9,030 — 437 3,350 9,467 12,817 2,564 2008 2014
Pleasant Run Towne Crossing — 4,506 23,906 — — 4,506 23,906 28,412 376 2004 2021
Portofino Shopping Center — 4,721 71,493 — 19,981 4,721 91,473 96,194 31,433 1999 2013
Publix at Woodruff — 1,783 6,259 — 869 1,783 7,128 8,911 4,070 1997 2012
Rampart Commons 8,097 1,136 42,321 — 535 1,136 42,856 43,992 13,950 2018 2014
Rangeline Crossing — 1,981 18,137 — 506 1,981 18,643 20,624 7,927 1986/2013 NA
Reisterstown Road Plaza — 16,531 31,039 — 1 16,531 31,041 47,572 599 1986/2018 2021
Riverchase Plaza — 3,889 11,404 — 1,188 3,889 12,592 16,481 5,759 1991/2001 2006
Rivers Edge — 5,647 29,949 — 2,320 5,647 32,269 37,916 11,856 2011 2008
Rivery Towne Crossing — 5,198 3,459 — — 5,198 3,459 8,657 108 2005 2021
Royal Oaks Village IT — 3,497 9,677 — — 3,497 9,677 13,174 136 2004 2021
Sawyer Heights Village — 18,437 21,401 — — 18,437 21,401 39,838 268 2007 2021
Saxon Crossing 11,400 3,764 16,804 — 545 3,764 17,348 21,112 5,671 2009 2014
Shoppes at Hagerstown — 6,628 16,183 — — 6,628 16,183 22,811 209 2008 2021
Shoppes at Plaza Green — 3,749 22,255 — 1,546 3,749 23,801 27,550 9,059 2000 2012
Shoppes of Eastwood — 1,688 8,959 — 710 1,688 9,670 11,358 4,172 1997 2013
Shoppes of New Hope — 2,118 9,105 — — 2,118 9,105 11,223 146 2004 2021
Shoppes of Prominence Point — 2,857 11,775 — — 2,857 11,775 14,632 182 2004 2021
Shops at Eagle Creek — 2,121 7,696 — 5,346 2,121 13,042 15,163 6,162 1998 2003
Shops at Forest Commons — 1,558 9,389 — — 1,558 9,389 10,947 144 2002 2021
Shops at Julington Creek 4,785 2,372 7,300 — 260 2,372 7,561 9,933 1,787 2011 2014
Shops at Moore 21,300 6,284 23,773 — 1,438 6,284 25,211 31,495 6,322 2010 2014
Shops at Park Place — 8,152 18,967 — — 8,152 18,967 27,119 310 2001 2021
Silver Springs Pointe — 7,580 4,992 — 311 7,580 5,303 12,883 1,865 2001 2014
Southlake Corners — 7,872 17,171 — — 7,872 17,171 25,043 266 2004 2021
Southlake Town Square — 19,757 338,690 — 164 19,757 338,854 358,611 4,124 1998 2021
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Cost Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Carrying Amount

Initial Cost Acquisition/Development Close of Period
Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Year Built / Year
Name Encumbrances Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Renovated Acquired

Operating Properties

(continued)
Stilesboro Oaks = 9 3,728 $ 9,933 = = 9 3,728 $ 9,933 13,661 192 1997 2021
Stonebridge Plaza — 1,874 7,970 — — 1,874 7,970 9,844 128 1997 2021
Stoney Creek Commons — 628 3,700 — 5913 628 9,613 10,241 4,598 2000 NA
Sunland Towne Centre — 14,774 21,775 — 3,559 14,774 25,334 40,108 12,179 1996 2004
Tacoma South — 30,658 3,160 — — 30,658 3,160 33,818 33 1984 2021
Target South Center — 2,611 9,545 — — 2,611 9,545 12,156 160 1999 2021
Tarpon Bay Plaza — 3,855 23,369 — 3,601 3,855 26,970 30,825 9,152 2007 NA
The Brickyard — 28,948 22,537 — — 28,948 22,537 51,485 355 1977/2004 2021
The Corner 14,750 3,772 24,351 — 30 3,772 24,381 28,153 6,435 2008 2014
The Shoppes at Union Hill 10,988 10,021 46,599 — 5 10,021 46,604 56,625 669 2003 2021
The Shops at Legacy — 15,062 126,169 — 7 15,062 126,176 141,238 1,994 2002 2021
Tollgate Marketplace — 11,824 67,349 — — 11,824 67,349 79,173 1,115 1979/1994 2021
Toringdon Market — 5,448 9,539 — 164 5,448 9,703 15,151 3,180 2004 2013
Towson Square — 1,403 27,373 — — 1,403 27,373 28,776 326 2014 2021
Traders Point — 11,819 42,941 — 2,480 11,819 45,421 57,240 24,685 2005 NA
Tradition Village Center — 3,140 14,840 — 841 3,140 15,682 18,822 4,627 2006 2014
Tysons Corner — 13,177 10,883 — — 13,177 10,883 24,060 113 1980/2013 2021
Village Shoppes at Simonton — 1,632 10,086 — — 1,632 10,086 11,718 155 2004 2021
Walter's Crossing — 13,098 20,328 — 47 13,098 20,374 33,472 288 2005 2021
Watauga Pavilion — 5,559 24,166 — — 5,559 24,166 29,725 348 2003 2021
Waterford Lakes Village — 2,317 6,388 — 918 2,317 7,306 9,623 3,370 1997 2004
Waxahachie Crossing — 1,411 15,451 — (46) 1,411 15,405 16,816 3,689 2010 2014
Winchester Commons — 2,135 9,366 — — 2,135 9,366 11,501 168 1999 2021
Woodinville Plaza — 25,020 26,521 — — 25,020 26,521 51,541 464 1981 2021

Total Operating Properties 392,590 1,811,198 4,964,973 8,448 221,867 1,819,646 5,186,840 7,006,486 795,510
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Cost Capitalized
Subsequent to

Gross Carrying Amount

Initial Cost Acquisition/Development Close of Period
Building & Building & Building & Accumulated Year Built / Year
Name Encumbrances Land Improvements Land Improvements Land Improvements Total Depreciation Renovated Acquired

Office and Other Properties
Thirty South Meridian — 3 1,643 $ 9,669 $ = 22234 § 1,643 $ 31,903 $ 33,546 $ 15,858 1905/2002 2001
Pan Am Plaza Garage — — 29,536 — 276 — 29,813 29,813 11,981 1986 2019
Union Station Parking Garage — 904 2,650 — 2,086 904 4,736 5,640 2,214 1986 2001

Total Office Properties — 2,547 41,856 — 24,596 2,547 66,452 68,999 30,053

Development and Redevelopment Projects
Carillon — 70,750 253 — 2,383 70,750 2,637 73,387 — 2004 2021
Circle East — 6,110 36,220 — 569 6,110 36,789 42,899 261 1998 2021
Eddy Street Commons — Phase II* — 2,599 13,739 — — 2,599 13,739 16,337 811 N/A N/A
Glendale Town Center — 1,494 44,005 (187) 16,767 1,307 60,772 62,079 33,827 N/A N/A
Hamilton Crossing Centre — 5,549 11,250 19) 5,531 11,250 16,781 4,680 N/A N/A
One Loudoun — Residential &
Commercial — 70,000 121,327 — 1,910 70,000 123,237 193,237 404 N/A 2021
Shoppes at Quarterfield — 2,190 9,472 — 876 2,190 10,348 12,538 184 1999 2021
The Landing at Tradition — 18,505 46,105 — 5,781 18,505 51,886 70,391 12,861 2007 2014

Total Development and

Redevelopment Projects — 177,197 282,370 (206) 28,287 176,991 310,657 487,648 53,029

Other **
Bridgewater Marketplace — 1,103 — — 1,103 — 1,103 — N/A N/A
KRG Development — — 796 — — 796 796 715 N/A N/A
KRG New Hill — 1,824 — — — 1,824 — 1,824 — N/A N/A
KRG Peakway — 3,833 — — 3,833 — 3,833 — N/A N/A
Pan Am Plaza — 14,044 — — — 14,044 — 14,044 — N/A N/A

Total Other — 20,805 796 — 20,805 796 21,601 715
Line of credit/Term
loans/Unsecured notes 2,699,635 — — — — — — — N/A N/A

Grand Total 3,092,225 $ 2,011,747 $ 5289995 § 8242 § 274,750 $ 2,019,989 $ 5,564,746 § 7,584,735 § 879,306

* This property or a portion of the property is subject to a ground lease for the land.
**  This category generally includes land held for development. We also have certain additional land parcels at our development and operating properties, which amounts are included

elsewhere in this table.



KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST AND KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Schedule III
Consolidated Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
(8 in thousands)

NOTE 1. RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The changes in investment properties of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year
Acquisitions related to the Merger
Acquisitions

Improvements

Impairment

Disposals

Balance, end of year

NOTE 2. RECONCILIATION OF ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance, beginning of year
Depreciation expense
Impairment

Disposals

2021 2020 2019
$ 3,136,982 $ 3,079,616 $ 3,633,376
4,440,768 — —
15,263 63,570 57,494
54,323 39,544 52,713
— (56,948)
(62,601) (45,748) (607,019)
$ 7,584,735 $ 3,136,982 $ 3,079,616
The unaudited aggregate cost of investment properties for U.S. federal tax purposes as of December 31, 2021 was $7.8 billion.
The changes in accumulated depreciation of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020, and 2019 are as follows:
2021 2020 2019
$ 750,119 $ 661,546 $ 695,012
154,519 113,973 117,216
— (19,226)
(25,332) (25,400) (131,456)
$ 879,306 $ 750,119 $ 661,546

Balance, end of year

Depreciation of investment properties reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income is calculated over the estimated
original lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings

Building improvements
Tenant improvements
Furniture and Fixtures

20-35 years

10-35 years

Term of related lease
5-10 years

All other schedules have been omitted because they are inapplicable, not required or the information is included elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements or notes thereto.



Exhibit 3.1

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT AND RESTATEMENT OF
DECLARATION OF TRUST

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) under Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland (“Title 8”), desires to amend and restate its Declaration of Trust (as so amended and restated, the “Declaration of Trust”). The amendment to
and restatement of the Declaration of Trust of the Trust as herein set forth has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees by majority vote thereof
and approved by the sole shareholder of the Trust as required by law. The following provisions are all the provisions of the Declaration of Trust as hereby amended
and restated:

ARTICLE I
FORMATION

The Trust is a real estate investment trust within the meaning of Title 8. The Trust shall not be deemed to be a general partnership, limited partnership,
joint venture, joint stock company or a corporation (but nothing herein shall preclude the Trust from being treated for tax purposes as an association under the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”)).

ARTICLE 11
NAME

The name of the Trust is: Kite Realty Group Trust.
The Board of Trustees of the Trust (the “Board of Trustees” or “Board”) may change the name of the Trust without approval of the shareholders.

ARTICLE I1I
PURPOSES AND POWERS

Section 3.1 Purposes. The purposes for which the Trust is formed are to engage in any lawful act or activity, including, without limitation or obligation, to
invest in and to acquire, hold, manage, administer, control and dispose of property (including mortgages) including, without limitation or obligation, engaging in
business as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Code.

Section 3.2 Powers. The Trust shall have all of the powers granted to real estate investment trusts by Title 8 and all other powers set forth in the
Declaration of Trust that are not inconsistent with law and are appropriate to promote and attain the purposes set forth in the Declaration of Trust.

ARTICLE 1V
PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN STATE AND RESIDENT AGENT

The address of the principal office of the Trust in the State of Maryland is ¢/o CSC Lawyers Incorporating Service Company, 11 E. Chase Street,
Baltimore, Maryland 21202. The Trust may have such offices or places of business within or outside the State of Maryland as the Board of Trustees may from time
to time determine.

The name of the resident agent of the Trust in the State of Maryland is CSC Lawyers Incorporating Service Company, whose post office address is 11 E.
Chase Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202. The resident agent is a citizen of and resides in the State of Maryland.



ARTICLE V
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 5.1 Powers. Subject to any express limitations contained in the Declaration of Trust or in the Bylaws, (a) the business and affairs of the Trust shall
be managed under the direction of the Board of Trustees and (b) the Board shall have full, exclusive and absolute power, control and authority over any and all
property of the Trust. The Board may take any action as in its sole judgment and discretion is necessary or appropriate to conduct the business and affairs of the
Trust. The Declaration of Trust shall be construed with the presumption in favor of the grant of power and authority to the Board. Any construction of the
Declaration of Trust or determination made in good faith by the Board concerning its powers and authority hereunder shall be conclusive. The enumeration and
definition of particular powers of the Trustees included in the Declaration of Trust or in the Bylaws shall in no way be limited or restricted by reference to or
inference from the terms of this or any other provision of the Declaration of Trust or the Bylaws or construed or deemed by inference or otherwise in any manner
to exclude or limit the powers conferred upon the Board or the Trustees under the general laws of the State of Maryland or any other applicable laws.

The Board shall have the authority to cause the Trust to elect to qualify for federal income tax treatment as a REIT. Following such election, if the Board
determines that it is no longer in the best interests of the Trust to continue to be qualified as a REIT, the Board may revoke or otherwise terminate the Trust’s REIT
election pursuant to Section 856(g) of the Code.

The Board, without any action by the shareholders of the Trust, shall have and may exercise, on behalf of the Trust, without limitation, the power to
determine that compliance with any restriction or limitations on ownership and transfers of shares of the Trust’s beneficial interest set forth in Article VII of the
Declaration of Trust is no longer required in order for the Trust to qualify as a REIT; to adopt Bylaws of the Trust, which may thereafter be amended or repealed as
provided therein; to elect officers in the manner prescribed in the Bylaws; to solicit proxies from holders of shares of beneficial interest of the Trust; and to do any
other acts and deliver any other documents necessary or appropriate to the foregoing powers.

Section 5.2 Number. The number of Trustees (hereinafter the “Trustees”) shall initially be two (2), and may thereafter be increased to a maximum of
thirteen (13) or decreased to not more than one (1). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if for any reason any or all of the Trustees cease to be Trustees, such event shall
not terminate the Trust or affect the Declaration of Trust or the powers of the remaining Trustees. The names and addresses of the initial two Trustees, who shall
serve until the first annual meeting of shareholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualify, or until such later time as determined by the Board of
Trustees as hereinafter provided, are:

Name Address

Alvin E. Kite, Jr. ¢/o 30 S. Meridian Street
Suite 1100

Indianapolis, IN 46204

John A. Kite c/o 30 S. Meridian Street
Suite 1100

Indianapolis, IN 46204

The Trustees may increase the number of Trustees and fill any vacancy, whether resulting from an increase in the number of Trustees or otherwise, on the
Board of Trustees. Election of Trustees by shareholders shall require the vote and be in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Bylaws.

It shall not be necessary to list in the Declaration of Trust the names and addresses of any Trustees hereinafter elected.
Section 5.3 Resignation, Removal or Death. Any Trustee may resign by written notice to the Board, effective upon execution and delivery to the Trust of

such written notice or upon any future date specified in the notice. Subject to the rights of holders of one or more classes or series of Preferred Shares, as
hereinafter defined, to elect one or more Trustees, a Trustee may be removed at any time, but only with cause, at a meeting of the




shareholders, by the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two thirds of the Shares then outstanding and entitled to vote generally in the election of
Trustees.

ARTICLE VI
SHARES OF BENEFICIAL INTEREST

Section 6.1 Authorized Shares. The beneficial interest of the Trust shall be divided into shares of beneficial interest (the “Shares”). The Trust has
authority to issue 200,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Shares”), and 40,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial
interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Shares”).

Section 6.2 Common Shares. Subject to the provisions of Article VII, each Common Share shall entitle the holder thereof to one vote on each matter upon
which holders of Common Shares are entitled to vote. The Board of Trustees may reclassify any unissued Common Shares from time to time in one or more
classes or series of common shares or preferred shares.

Section 6.3 Preferred Shares. The Board of Trustees may classify any unissued Preferred Shares and reclassify any previously classified but unissued
Preferred Shares of any series from time to time, in one or more series of common shares or preferred shares.

Section 6.4 Classified or Reclassified Shares. Prior to issuance of classified or reclassified Shares of any class or series, the Board of Trustees by
resolution shall: (a) designate that class or series to distinguish it from all other classes and series of Shares; (b) specify the number of Shares to be included in the
class or series; (c) set, subject to the provisions of Article VII and subject to the express terms of any class or series of Shares outstanding at the time, the
preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms and conditions of
redemption for each class or series; and (d) cause the Trust to file articles supplementary with the Maryland State Department of Assessments and Taxation (the
“SDAT”). Any of the terms of any class or series of Shares set pursuant to clause (c) of this Section 6.4 may be made dependent upon facts ascertainable outside
the Declaration of Trust (including the occurrence of any event, including a determination or action by the Trust or any other person or body) and may vary among
holders thereof, provided that the manner in which such facts or variations shall operate upon the terms of such class or series of Shares is clearly and expressly set
forth in the articles supplementary filed with the SDAT.

Section 6.5 Authorization by Board of Share Issuance. The Board of Trustees may authorize, without approval of any shareholder, the issuance from time
to time of Shares of any class or series, whether now or hereafter authorized, or securities or rights convertible into Shares of any class or series, whether now or
hereafter authorized, for such consideration (whether in cash, property, past or future services, obligation for future payment or otherwise) as the Board of Trustees
may deem advisable or in the case of a share dividend or share split, subject to such restrictions or limitations, if any, as may be set forth in the Declaration of Trust
or the Bylaws.

Section 6.6 Dividends and Distributions. The Board of Trustees may from time to time authorize and declare to shareholders such dividends or
distributions in cash or other assets of the Trust or in securities of the Trust or from any other source as the Board of Trustees in its discretion shall determine. The
Board of Trustees shall endeavor to declare and pay such dividends and distributions as shall be necessary for the Trust to qualify as a REIT under the Code;
however, shareholders shall have no right to any dividend or distribution unless and until authorized, declared and publicly disclosed by the Board. The exercise of
the powers and rights of the Board of Trustees pursuant to this Section 6.6 shall be subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares at the time outstanding.

Section 6.7 Transferable Shares: Preferential Dividends. Notwithstanding any other provision in the Declaration of Trust, no determination shall be made
by the Board of Trustees nor shall any transaction be entered into by the Trust that would cause any Shares or other beneficial interest in the Trust not to constitute
“transferable shares” or “transferable certificates of beneficial interest” under Section 856(a)(2) of the Code or that would cause any distribution to constitute a
preferential dividend as described in Section 562(c) of the Code.




Section 6.8 General Nature of Shares. All Shares shall be personal property entitling the shareholders only to those rights provided in the Declaration of
Trust. The shareholders shall have no interest in the property of the Trust and shall have no right to compel any partition, division, dividend or distribution of the
Trust or of the property of the Trust. The death of a shareholder shall not terminate the Trust. The Trust is entitled to treat as shareholders only those persons in
whose names Shares are registered as holders of Shares on the share ledger of the Trust.

Section 6.9 Fractional Shares. The Trust may, without the consent or approval of any shareholder, issue fractional Shares, eliminate a fraction of a Share
by rounding up or down to a full Share, arrange for the disposition of a fraction of a Share by the person entitled to it, or pay cash for the fair value of a fraction of
a Share.

Section 6.10 Divisions and Combinations of Shares. Subject to an express provision to the contrary in the terms of any class or series of beneficial interest
hereafter authorized, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to divide or combine the outstanding shares of any class or series of beneficial interest, without a
vote of shareholders.

Section 6.11 Declaration of Trust and Bylaws. All persons who shall acquire a Share shall acquire the same subject to the provisions of the Declaration of
Trust and the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VII
RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER AND OWNERSHIP OF SHARES

Section 7.1 Definitions. For the purpose of this Article VII, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

Beneficial Ownership. The term “Beneficial Ownership” shall mean ownership of Shares by a Person, whether the interest in Shares is held directly or
indirectly (including by a nominee), and shall include interests that would be treated as owned through the application of Section 544 of the Code, as modified by
Sections 856(h)(1)(B) and 856(h)(3) of the Code. The terms “Beneficial Owner,” “Beneficially Owns” and “Beneficially Owned” shall have the correlative
meanings.

Business Day. The term “Business Day” shall mean any day, other than a Saturday or Sunday, that is neither a legal holiday nor a day on which banking
institutions in New York, New York are authorized or required by law, regulation or executive order to close.

Charitable Beneficiary. The term “Charitable Beneficiary” shall mean one or more beneficiaries of the Charitable Trust as determined pursuant to Section
7.3.7, provided that each such organization must be described in Sections 501(c)(3), 170(b)(1)(A) and 170(c)(2) of the Code.

Charitable Trust. The term “Charitable Trust” shall mean any trust provided for in Section 7.2.1(b)(i) and Section 7.3.1.

Charitable Trustee. The term “Charitable Trustee” shall mean the Person unaffiliated with the Trust and a Prohibited Owner, that is appointed by the Trust
to serve as trustee of the Charitable Trust.

Code. The term “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

Constructive Ownership. The term “Constructive Ownership” shall mean ownership of Shares by a Person who is or would be treated as an owner of such
Shares either actually or constructively through the application of Section 318 of the Code, as modified by Section 856(d)(5) of the Code. The terms “Constructive
Owner,” “Constructively Own,” “Constructively Owns” and “Constructively Owned” shall have the correlative meanings.

Declaration of Trust. The term “Declaration of Trust” shall mean this Amended and Restated Declaration of Trust as filed for record with the SDAT, and
any amendments and supplements thereto.

Designated Investment Entity. The term “Designated Investment Entity” shall mean either (i) a pension trust that qualifies for look-through treatment
under Section 856(h) of the Code, (ii) an entity that qualifies as a



regulated investment company under Section 851 of the Code, or (iii) a Qualified Investment Manager; provided that each beneficial owner of such entity (or
beneficial owner of the Shares held by such entity) would satisfy the Ownership Limit if such beneficial owner owned directly its proportionate share of the Shares
that are held by such Designated Investment Entity.

Designated Investment Entity Limit. The term “Designated Investment Entity Limit” shall mean with respect to the Common Shares, 9.8% (in value or
number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares of the Trust.

Excepted Holder. The term “Excepted Holder” shall mean Alvin E. Kite, Jr., John A. Kite, Paul W. Kite and any Person who is or would be a Beneficial
Owner or Constructive Owner of Common Shares as a result of the Beneficial Ownership or Constructive Ownership of Common Shares by any of Alvin E. Kite,
Jr., John A. Kite or Paul W. Kite (collectively, the “Excepted Holders”).

Excepted Holder Limit. The term “Excepted Holder Limit” shall mean as follows: no Excepted Holder, or any Person whose ownership of Common
Shares would cause an Excepted Holder to be considered to Beneficially Own such Common Shares, nor any Person who would be considered to Beneficially Own
Shares Beneficially Owned by an Excepted Holder shall be permitted to Beneficially Own Shares if, as a result of such Beneficial Ownership, (A) any single
Excepted Holder who is considered an individual for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) of the Code would be considered to Beneficially Own more than 21.5% (by
number or value whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares (as determined for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) and Section 856(a) of the
Code), (B) any two Excepted Holders who are considered individuals for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) of the Code would be considered to Beneficially Own more
than 28.5% (by number or value whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares (as determined for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) and Section
856(a)(6) of the Code), (C) any three Excepted Holders who are considered individuals for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) of the Code would be considered to
Beneficially Own more than 35.5% (by number or value whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares (as determined for purposes of Section
542(a)(2) and Section 856(a)(6) of the Code), (D) any four Excepted Holders who are considered individuals for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) of the Code would
be considered to Beneficially Own more than 42.5% (by number or value whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares (as determined for
purposes of Section 542(a)(2) and Section 856(a)(6) of the Code), or (E) any five Excepted Holders who are considered individuals for purposes of Section 542(a)
(2) of the Code would be considered to Beneficially Own more than 49.5% (by number or value whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares
(as determined for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) and Section 856(a)(6) of the Code).

Initial Date. The term “Initial Date” shall mean the date of the consummation of the initial public offering of the Trust (but only, with respect to such date,
from and after such consummation).

Market Price. The term “Market Price” on any date shall mean, with respect to any class or series of outstanding Shares, the Closing Price for such Shares
on such date. The “Closing Price” on any date shall mean the last sale price for such Shares, regular way, or, in case no such sale takes place on such day, the
average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, for such Shares, in either case as reported in the principal consolidated transaction reporting system with
respect to securities listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE or, if such Shares are not listed or admitted to trading on the NYSE, as reported on the principal
consolidated transaction reporting system with respect to securities listed on the principal national securities exchange on which such Shares are listed or admitted
to trading or, if such Shares are not listed or admitted to trading on any national securities exchange, the last quoted price, or, if not so quoted, the average of the
high bid and low asked prices in the over-the-counter market, as reported by the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Automated Quotation System or,
if such system is no longer in use, the principal other automated quotation system that may then be in use or, if such Shares are not quoted by any such
organization, the average of the closing bid and asked prices as furnished by a professional market maker making a market in such Shares selected by the Board of
Trustees or, in the event that no trading price is available for such Shares, the fair market value of Shares, as determined in good faith by the Board of Trustees.

NYSE. The term “NYSE” shall mean The New York Stock Exchange.



Ownership Limit. The term “Ownership Limit” shall mean (i) with respect to the Common Shares, 7% (in value or number of shares, whichever is more
restrictive) of the outstanding Common Shares of the Trust; and (ii) with respect to any class or series of Preferred Shares, 9.8% (in value or number of Shares,
whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding shares of such class or series of Preferred Shares of the Trust.

Person. The term “Person” shall mean an individual, corporation, partnership, estate, trust (including a trust qualified under Sections 401(a) or 501(c)(17)
of the Code), a portion of a trust permanently set aside for or to be used exclusively for the purposes described in Section 642(c) of the Code, association, private
foundation within the meaning of Section 509(a) of the Code, joint stock company or other entity and also includes a group as that term is used for purposes of
Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Prohibited Owner. The term “Prohibited Owner” shall mean, with respect to any purported Transfer, any Person who, but for the provisions of Section
7.2.1, would Beneficially Own Shares, and if appropriate in the context, shall also mean any Person who would have been the record owner of Shares that the
Prohibited Owner would have so owned.

ualified Investment Manager. The term “Qualified Investment Manager” shall mean an entity (i) who for compensation engages in the business of
advising others as to the value of securities or as to the advisability of investing in, purchasing, or selling securities; (ii) who purchases securities in the ordinary
course of its business and not with the purpose or effect of changing or influencing control of the Trust, nor in connection with or as a participant in any transaction
having such purpose or effect, including any transaction subject to Rule 13d-3(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”);
and (ii1) who has or shares voting power and investment power within the meaning of Rule 13d-3(a) under the Exchange Act. A Qualified Investment Manager
shall be deemed to beneficially own all Common Shares beneficially owned by each of its affiliates, after application of the beneficial ownership rules under
Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act; provided such affiliate meets the requirements set forth in the preceding clause (ii).

REIT. The term “REIT” shall mean a real estate investment trust within the meaning of Section 856 of the Code.

Restriction Termination Date. The term “Restriction Termination Date” shall mean the first day after the Initial Date on which the Board of Trustees
determines that it is no longer in the best interests of the Trust to attempt to, or continue to, qualify as a REIT or that compliance with the restrictions and
limitations on Beneficial Ownership and Transfers of Shares set forth herein is no longer required in order for the Trust to qualify as a REIT.

SDAT. The term “SDAT” shall mean the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland.

Transfer. The term “Transfer” shall mean any issuance, sale, transfer, gift, assignment, devise or other disposition, as well as any other event that causes
any Person to acquire Beneficial Ownership or any agreement to take any such actions or cause any such events, of Shares or the right to vote or receive dividends
or distributions on Shares, including (a) a change in the capital structure of the Trust, (b) a change in the relationship between two or more Persons which causes a
change in ownership of Shares by application of Section 544 of the Code, as modified by Section 856(h) of the Code, (c) the granting or exercise of any option or
warrant (or any disposition of any option or warrant), pledge, security interest, or similar right to acquire Shares, (d) any disposition of any securities or rights
convertible into or exchangeable for Shares or any interest in Shares or any exercise of any such conversion or exchange right and (e) Transfers of interests in other
entities that result in changes in Beneficial Ownership of Shares; in each case, whether voluntary or involuntary, whether owned of record, Beneficially Owned and
whether by operation of law or otherwise. The terms “Transferring” and “Transferred” shall have the correlative meanings.

Section 7.2 Shares.

Section 7.2.1 Ownership Limitations. During the period commencing on the Initial Date and prior to the Restriction Termination Date:



(a) Basic Restrictions.

(1) (1) No Person shall Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Common Shares in excess of the Ownership Limit, other than
(A) an Excepted Holder, which shall not Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Common Shares in excess of the Excepted Holder Limit for such Excepted
Holder, and (B) a Designated Investment Entity, which shall not Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Common Shares in excess of the Designated Investment
Entity Limit; and

(2) no Person shall Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Preferred Shares in excess of the Ownership Limit.

(i1) No Person shall Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Shares to the extent that (1) such Beneficial Ownership of
Shares would result in the Trust being “closely held” within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code (without regard to whether the ownership interest is held
during the last half of a taxable year), (2) such Beneficial Ownership or Constructive Ownership of Shares would result in the Trust owning (directly or indirectly)
an interest in a tenant that is described in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code if the income derived by the Trust (either directly or indirectly through one or more
partnerships or limited liability companies) from such tenant for the taxable year of the Trust during which such determination is being made would reasonably be
expected to equal or exceed the lesser of (a) one percent (1%) of the Trust’s gross income (as determined for purposes of Section 856(c) of the Code), or (b) an
amount that would cause the Trust to fail to satisfy any of the gross income requirements of Section 856(c) of the Code), or (3) such Beneficial Ownership or
Constructive Ownership of Shares would result in the Trust otherwise failing to qualify as a REIT.

(iii) No Person shall Transfer any Shares if, as a result of the Transfer, the Shares would be beneficially owned by less than
100 Persons (determined without reference to the rules of attribution under Section 544 of the Code). Subject to Section 7.4 and notwithstanding any other
provisions contained herein, any Transfer of Shares (whether or not such Transfer is the result of a transaction entered into through the facilities of the NYSE or
any other national securities exchange or automated inter-dealer quotation system) that, if effective, would result in Shares being beneficially owned by less than
100 Persons (determined under the principles of Section 856(a)(5) of the Code) shall be void ab initio, and the intended transferee shall acquire no rights in such
Shares.

(b) Transfer in Trust. If any Transfer of Shares (whether or not such Transfer is the result of a transaction entered into through the
facilities of the NYSE or any other national securities exchange or automated inter-dealer quotation system) occurs which, if effective, would result in any Person
Beneficially Owning or Constructively Owning Shares in violation of Section 7.2.1(a)(i) or (ii),

(1) then that number of Shares the Beneficial Ownership or Constructive Ownership of which otherwise would cause such
Person to violate Section 7.2.1(a)(i) or (ii) (rounded up to the nearest whole Share) shall be automatically transferred to a Charitable Trust for the benefit of a
Charitable Beneficiary, as described in Section 7.3, effective as of the close of business on the Business Day prior to the date of such Transfer, and such Person
shall acquire no rights in such Shares; or

(i1) if the transfer to the Charitable Trust described in clause (i) of this sentence would not be effective for any reason to
prevent the violation of Section 7.2.1(a)(i) or (ii), then the Transfer of that number of Shares that otherwise would cause any Person to violate Section 7.2.1(a)(i) or
(i1) shall be void ab initio, and the intended transferee shall acquire no rights in such Shares.

Section 7.2.2 Remedies for Breach. If the Board of Trustees or any duly authorized committee thereof shall at any time determine in good faith
that a Transfer or other event has taken place that results in a violation of Section 7.2.1 or that a Person intends to acquire or has attempted to acquire Beneficial
Ownership of any Shares in violation of Section 7.2.1 (whether or not such violation is intended), the Board of Trustees or a committee thereof shall take such
action as it deems advisable to refuse to give effect to or to prevent such Transfer or other event, including, without limitation, causing the Trust to redeem Shares,
refusing to give effect to such Transfer on the books of the Trust or instituting proceedings to enjoin such Transfer or other event; provided,



however, that any Transfer or attempted Transfer or other event in violation of Section 7.2.1 shall automatically result in the transfer to the Charitable Trust
described above, and, where applicable, such Transfer (or other event) shall be void ab initio as provided above irrespective of any action (or non-action) by the
Board of Trustees or a committee thereof.

Section 7.2.3 Notice of Restricted Transfer. Any Person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire Beneficial or Constructive Ownership of
Shares that will or may violate Section 7.2.1(a), or any Person who would have owned Shares that resulted in a transfer to the Charitable Trust pursuant to the
provisions of Section 7.2.1(b), shall immediately give written notice to the Trust of such event, or in the case of such a proposed or attempted transaction, shall
give at least 15 days prior written notice, and shall provide to the Trust such other information as the Trust may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of
such acquisition or ownership on the Trust’s status as a REIT.

Section 7.2.4 Owners Required To Provide Information. From the Initial Date and prior to the Restriction Termination Date:

(a) every owner of more than five percent (or such lower percentage as required by the Code or the Treasury Regulations promulgated
thereunder) of the outstanding Shares, within 30 days after the end of each taxable year, shall give written notice to the Trust stating the name and address of such
owner, the number of Shares Beneficially Owned and a description of the manner in which such Shares are held; provided, that a shareholder of record who holds
outstanding Shares as nominee for another Person, which other Person is required to include in gross income the dividends or distributions received on such Shares
(an “Actual Owner”), shall give written notice to the Trust stating the name and address of such Actual Owner and the number of Shares of such Actual Owner
with respect to which the shareholder of record is nominee. Each owner shall provide to the Trust such additional information as the Trust may request in order to
determine the effect, if any, of such Beneficial Ownership on the Trust’s status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the Ownership Limit, Excepted Holder
Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit applicable to such owner; and

(b) each Person who is a Beneficial Owner of Shares and each Person (including the shareholder of record) who is holding Shares for a
Beneficial Owner shall provide to the Trust such information as the Trust may request, in good faith, in order to determine the Trust’s status as a REIT and to
comply with requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance.

Section 7.2.5 Remedies Not Limited. Subject to Sections 5.1 and 7.4 of the Declaration of Trust, nothing contained in this Section 7.2 shall limit
the authority of the Board of Trustees to take such other action as it deems necessary or advisable to protect the Trust and the interests of its shareholders in
preserving the Trust’s status as a REIT.

Section 7.2.6 Ambiguity. In the case of an ambiguity in the application of any of the provisions of this Section 7.2, Section 7.3 or any definition
contained in Section 7.1, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to determine the application of the provisions of this Section 7.2 or Section 7.3 with respect to
any situation based on the facts known to it. If Section 7.2 or 7.3 requires an action by the Board of Trustees and the Declaration of Trust fails to provide specific
guidance with respect to such action, the Board of Trustees shall have the power to determine the action to be taken so long as such action is not contrary to the
provisions of Sections 7.1, 7.2 or 7.3.

Section 7.2.7 Exemptions from the Ownership Limit.

(a) The Board may exempt a Person from the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit if: (i) such Person submits to the
Board information satisfactory to the Board, in its reasonable discretion, demonstrating that such Person is not an individual for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) of
the Code (determined taking into account Section 856(h)(3)(A) of the Code); (i) such Person submits to the Board information satisfactory to the Board, in its
reasonable discretion, demonstrating that no Person who is an individual for purposes of Section 542(a)(2) of the Code (determined taking into account Section
856(h)(3)(A) of the Code) would be considered to Beneficially Own Shares in excess of the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit by reason of
such Person’s ownership of Shares in excess of the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment



Entity Limit pursuant to the exemption granted under this subparagraph (a); (iii) such Person submits to the Board information satisfactory to the Board, in its
reasonable discretion, demonstrating that clauses (2) and (3) of subparagraph (a)(ii) of Section 7.2.1 will not be violated by reason of such Person’s ownership of
Shares in excess of the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit pursuant to the exemption granted under this subparagraph (a); and (iv) such
Person provides to the Board such representations and undertakings, if any, as the Board mayj, in its reasonable discretion, require to ensure that the conditions in
clauses (1), (ii) and (iii) hereof are satisfied and will continue to be satisfied throughout the period during which such Person owns Shares in excess of the
Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit pursuant to any exemption thereto granted under this subparagraph (a), and such Person agrees that any
violation of such representations and undertakings or any attempted violation thereof will result in the application of the remedies set forth in Section 7.2 with
respect to Shares held in excess of the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit with respect to such Person (determined without regard to the
exemption granted such Person under this subparagraph (a)).

(b) Prior to granting any exemption pursuant to subparagraph (a), the Board, in its sole and absolute discretion, may require a ruling
from the IRS or an opinion of counsel, in either case in form and substance satisfactory to the Board, in its sole and absolute discretion as it may deem necessary or
advisable in order to determine or ensure the Trust’s status as a REIT; provided, however, that the Board shall not be obligated to require obtaining a favorable
ruling or opinion in order to grant an exception hereunder.

(c) Subject to Section 7.2.1(a)(ii), an underwriter that participates in a public offering or a private placement of Shares (or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) may Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Shares (or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) in
excess of the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit, but only to the extent necessary to facilitate such public offering or private placement.

(d) The Board of Trustees may only reduce the Excepted Holder Limit for an Excepted Holder with the prior written consent of such
Excepted Holder. No Excepted Holder Limit shall be reduced to a percentage that is less than the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit.

Section 7.2.8 Increase in Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit. The Board of Trustees may increase the Ownership Limit or
Designated Investment Entity Limit subject to the limitations provided in this Section 7.2.8.

(a) The Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit may not be increased if, after giving effect to such increase, five
Persons who are considered individuals pursuant to Section 542 of the Code, as modified by Section 856(h)(3) of the Code (taking into account all of the Excepted
Holders), could Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, more than 49.5% of the value of the outstanding Shares.

(b) Prior to the modification of the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit pursuant to this Section 7.2.8, the Board, in
its sole and absolute discretion, may require such opinions of counsel, affidavits, undertakings or agreements as it may deem necessary or advisable in order to
determine or ensure the Trust’s status as a REIT if the modification in the Ownership Limit or Designated Investment Entity Limit were to be made.

Section 7.2.9 Legend. Each certificate for Shares shall bear substantially the following legend:

The shares represented by this certificate are subject to restrictions on Beneficial Ownership, Constructive Ownership and
Transfer. Subject to certain further restrictions and except as expressly provided in the Trust’s Declaration of Trust, (i) no
Person may Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Common Shares of the Trust in excess of 7 percent (in value or number
of shares) of the outstanding Common Shares, other than (A) an Excepted Holder, or (B) a Designated Investment Entity; (ii)
no Person may Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Preferred Shares of the Trust in excess of 9.8 percent (in value or
number of shares) of the outstanding shares of such class or series of Preferred Shares of



the Trust; (iii) no Excepted Holder may Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Common Shares in excess of the Excepted
Holder Limit for such Excepted Holder, as set forth in the Trust’s Declaration of Trust; (iv) no Designated Investment Entity
may Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Common Shares of the Trust in excess of 9.8 percent (in value or number of
shares) of the outstanding Common Shares of the Trust; (v) no Person may Beneficially Own Shares that would result in the
Trust being “closely held” under Section 856(h) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) or otherwise cause the
Trust to fail to qualify as a real estate investment trust under the Code; and (vi) no Person may Transfer Shares if such
Transfer would result in Shares of the Trust being owned by fewer than 100 Persons. Any Person who Beneficially Owns or
Constructively Owns or attempts to Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Shares which cause or will cause a Person to
Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Shares in excess or in violation of the limitations set forth in the Trust’s Declaration
of Trust must immediately notify the Trust. If any of the restrictions on transfer or ownership are violated, the Shares
represented hereby will be automatically transferred to a Charitable Trustee of a Charitable Trust for the benefit of one or
more Charitable Beneficiaries. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events, attempted Transfers in violation of the
restrictions described above may be void ab initio. A Person who attempts to Beneficially Own or Constructively Own Shares
in violation of the ownership limitations described above shall have no claim, cause of action, or any recourse whatsoever
against a transferor of such Shares. All capitalized terms in this legend have the meanings defined in the Trust’s Declaration of
Trust, as the same may be amended from time to time, a copy of which, including the restrictions on transfer and ownership,
will be furnished to each holder of Shares of the Trust on request and without charge.

Instead of the foregoing legend, the certificate may state that the Trust will furnish a full statement about certain restrictions on transferability to
a shareholder on request and without charge.

Section 7.3 Transfer of Shares in Trust.

Section 7.3.1 Ownership in Trust. Upon any purported Transfer or other event described in Section 7.2.1(b) that would result in a transfer of
Shares to a Charitable Trust, such Shares shall be deemed to have been transferred to the Charitable Trustee as trustee of a Charitable Trust for the exclusive
benefit of one or more Charitable Beneficiaries. Such transfer to the Charitable Trustee shall be deemed to be effective as of the close of business on the Business
Day prior to the purported Transfer or other event that results in the transfer to the Charitable Trust pursuant to Section 7.2.1(b). The Charitable Trustee shall be
appointed by the Trust and shall be a Person unaffiliated with the Trust and any Prohibited Owner. Each Charitable Beneficiary shall be designated by the Trust as
provided in Section 7.3.7.

Section 7.3.2 Status of Shares Held by the Charitable Trustee. Shares held by the Charitable Trustee shall be issued and outstanding Shares of
the Trust. The Prohibited Owner shall have no rights in the Shares held by the Charitable Trustee. The Prohibited Owner shall not benefit economically from
ownership of any Shares held in trust by the Charitable Trustee, shall have no rights to dividends or other distributions and shall not possess any rights to vote or
other rights attributable to the Shares held in the Charitable Trust. The Prohibited Owner shall have no claim, cause of action, or any other recourse whatsoever
against the purported transferor of such Shares.

Section 7.3.3 Dividend and Voting Rights. The Charitable Trustee shall have all voting rights and rights to dividends or other distributions with
respect to Shares held in the Charitable Trust, which rights shall be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary. Any dividend or other
distribution paid prior to the discovery by the Trust that Shares have been transferred to the Charitable Trustee shall be paid with respect to such Shares to the
Charitable Trustee upon demand and any dividend or other distribution authorized but unpaid shall be paid when due to the Charitable Trustee. Any dividends or
distributions so paid over to the Charitable Trustee shall



be held in trust for the Charitable Beneficiary. The Prohibited Owner shall have no voting rights with respect to Shares held in the Charitable Trust and, subject to
Maryland law, effective as of the date that Shares have been transferred to the Charitable Trustee, the Charitable Trustee shall have the authority (at the Charitable
Trustee’s sole discretion) (i) to rescind as void any vote cast by a Prohibited Owner prior to the discovery by the Trust that Shares have been transferred to the
Charitable Trustee and (ii) to recast such vote in accordance with the desires of the Charitable Trustee acting for the benefit of the Charitable Beneficiary;
provided, however, that if the Trust has already taken irreversible action, then the Charitable Trustee shall not have the power to rescind and recast such vote.
Notwithstanding the provisions of this Article VII, until the Trust has received notification that Shares have been transferred into a Charitable Trust, the Trust shall
be entitled to rely on its share transfer and other shareholder records for purposes of preparing lists of sharcholders entitled to vote at meetings, determining the
validity and authority of proxies and otherwise conducting votes of shareholders.

Section 7.3.4 Rights Upon Liquidation. Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of or any distribution of the
assets of the Trust, the Charitable Trustee shall be entitled to receive, ratably with each other holder of Shares of the class or series of Shares that is held in the
Charitable Trust, that portion of the assets of the Trust available for distribution to the holders of such class or series (determined based upon the ratio that the
number of Shares or such class or series of Shares held by the Charitable Trustee bears to the total number of Shares of such class or series of Shares then
outstanding). The Charitable Trustee shall distribute any such assets received in respect of the Shares held in the Charitable Trust in any liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of, or distribution of the assets of the Trust, in accordance with Section 7.3.5.

Section 7.3.5 Sale of Shares by Charitable Trustee. Within 20 days of receiving notice from the Trust that Shares have been transferred to the
Charitable Trust, the Charitable Trustee of the Charitable Trust shall sell the Shares held in the Charitable Trust to a person, designated by the Charitable Trustee,
whose ownership of the Shares will not violate the ownership limitations set forth in Section 7.2.1(a). Upon such sale, the interest of the Charitable Beneficiary in
the Shares sold shall terminate and the Charitable Trustee shall distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the Prohibited Owner and to the Charitable Beneficiary as
provided in this Section 7.3.5. The Prohibited Owner shall receive the lesser of (1) the price paid by the Prohibited Owner for the Shares or, if the Prohibited
Owner did not give value for the Shares in connection with the event causing the Shares to be held in the Charitable Trust (e.g., in the case of a gift, devise or other
such transaction), the Market Price of the Shares on the day of the event causing the Shares to be held in the Charitable Trust and (2) the price per share received
by the Charitable Trustee from the sale or other disposition of the Shares held in the Charitable Trust. Any net sales proceeds in excess of the amount payable to
the Prohibited Owner shall be immediately paid to the Charitable Beneficiary. If, prior to the discovery by the Trust that Shares have been transferred to the
Charitable Trustee, such Shares are sold by a Prohibited Owner, then (i) such Shares shall be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the Charitable Trust and (ii) to
the extent that the Prohibited Owner received an amount for such Shares that exceeds the amount that such Prohibited Owner was entitled to receive pursuant to
this Section 7.3.5, such excess shall be paid to the Charitable Trustee upon demand. The Charitable Trustee shall have the right and power (but not the obligation)
to offer any Share held in trust for sale to the Trust on such terms and conditions as the Charitable Trustee shall deem appropriate.

Section 7.3.6 Purchase Right in Shares Transferred to the Charitable Trustee. Shares transferred to the Charitable Trustee shall be deemed to
have been offered for sale to the Trust, or its designee, at a price per share equal to the lesser of (i) the price per share in the transaction that resulted in such
transfer to the Charitable Trust (or, in the case of a devise or gift, the Market Price at the time of such devise or gift) and (ii) the Market Price on the date the Trust,
or its designee, accepts such offer. The Trust shall have the right to accept such offer until the Charitable Trustee has sold the Shares held in the Charitable Trust
pursuant to Section 7.3.5. Upon such a sale to the Trust, the interest of the Charitable Beneficiary in the Shares sold shall terminate and the Charitable Trustee shall
distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the Prohibited Owner.

Section 7.3.7 Designation of Charitable Beneficiaries. By written notice to the Charitable Trustee, the Trust shall designate one or more
nonprofit organizations to be the Charitable Beneficiary of the interest in the Charitable Trust such that (i) Shares held in the Charitable Trust would not violate the
restrictions set forth in



Section 7.2.1(a) in the hands of such Charitable Beneficiary and (ii) each such organization must be described in Sections 501(c)(3), 170(b)(1)(A) or 170(c)(2) of
the Code.

Section 7.4 NYSE Transactions. Nothing in this Article VII shall preclude the settlement of any transaction entered into through the facilities of the
NYSE or any other national securities exchange or automated inter-dealer quotation system. The fact that the settlement of any transaction takes place shall not
negate the effect of any other provision of this Article VII and any transferee in such a transaction shall be subject to all of the provisions and limitations set forth
in this Article VII.

Section 7.5 Enforcement. The Trust is authorized specifically to seek equitable relief, including injunctive relief, to enforce the provisions of this Article
VIL

Section 7.6 Non-Waiver. No delay or failure on the part of the Trust or the Board of Trustees in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver
of any right of the Trust or the Board of Trustees, as the case may be, except to the extent specifically waived in writing.

ARTICLE VIII
SHAREHOLDERS

Section 8.1 Meetings. There shall be an annual meeting of the shareholders, to be held on proper notice at such time and convenient location as shall be
determined by or in the manner prescribed in the Bylaws, for the election of the Trustees, if required, and for the transaction of any other business within the
powers of the Trust. Except as otherwise provided in the Declaration of Trust, special meetings of shareholders may be called in the manner provided in the
Bylaws. If there are no Trustees, the officers of the Trust shall promptly call a special meeting of the shareholders entitled to vote for the election of successor
Trustees. Any meeting may be adjourned and reconvened as the Trustees determine or as provided in the Bylaws.

Section 8.2 Voting Rights. Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares then outstanding or as otherwise required by law, the shareholders
shall be entitled to vote only on the following matters: (a) election of Trustees as provided in Section 5.2 and the removal of Trustees as provided in Section 5.3;
(b) amendment of the Declaration of Trust as provided in Article X; (c) termination of the Trust as provided in Section 12.2; (d) merger or consolidation of the
Trust, or the sale or disposition of substantially all of the property of the Trust, as provided in Article XI; (e) such other matters with respect to which the Board of
Trustees has adopted a resolution declaring that a proposed action is advisable and directing that the matter be submitted to the shareholders for approval or
ratification; and (f) such other matters as may be properly brought before a meeting by a shareholder pursuant to the Bylaws. Except with respect to the foregoing
matters, no action taken by the shareholders at any meeting shall in any way bind the Board of Trustees.

Section 8.3 Preemptive and Appraisal Rights. Except as may be provided by the Board of Trustees in setting the terms of classified or reclassified Shares
pursuant to Section 6.4, no holder of Shares shall, as such holder, (a) have any preemptive right to purchase or subscribe for any additional Shares of the Trust or
any other security of the Trust which it may issue or sell or (b), except as expressly required by Title 8, have any right to require the Trust to pay him the fair value
of his Shares in an appraisal or similar proceeding.

Section 8.4 Board Approval. The submission of any action to the shareholders for their consideration shall first be recommended or approved by the
Board of Trustees.

Section 8.5 Action by Shareholders without a Meeting. No action required or permitted to be taken by the shareholders may be taken without a meeting
by less than unanimous written consent of the shareholders of the Trust.




ARTICLE IX
LIABILITY LIMITATION, INDEMNIFICATION
AND TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUST

Section 9.1 Limitation of Shareholder Liability. No shareholder shall be liable for any debt, claim, demand, judgment or obligation of any kind of, against
or with respect to the Trust by reason of his being a shareholder, nor shall any shareholder be subject to any personal liability whatsoever, in tort, contract or
otherwise, to any person in connection with the property or the affairs of the Trust by reason of his being a shareholder.

Section 9.2 Limitation of Trustee and Officer Liability. To the maximum extent that Maryland law in effect from time to time permits limitation of the
liability of trustees and officers of a Maryland real estate investment trust or directors or officers of a Maryland corporation, no Trustee or officer of the Trust shall
be liable to the Trust or to any shareholder for money damages. Neither the amendment nor repeal of this Section 9.2, nor the adoption or amendment of any other
provision of the Declaration of Trust inconsistent with this Section 9.2, shall apply to or affect in any respect the applicability of the preceding sentence with
respect to any act or failure to act that occurred prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption. In the absence of any Maryland statute limiting the liability of trustees
and officers of a Maryland real estate investment trust for money damages in a suit by or on behalf of the Trust or by any shareholder, no Trustee or officer of the
Trust shall be liable to the Trust or to any shareholder for money damages except to the extent that (a) the Trustee or officer actually received an improper benefit
or profit in money, property or services, for the amount of the benefit or profit in money, property, or services actually received; or (b) a judgment or other final
adjudication adverse to the Trustee or officer is entered in a proceeding based on a finding in the proceeding that the Trustee’s or officer’s action or failure to act
was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty and was material to the cause of action adjudicated in the proceeding.

Section 9.3 Indemnification. To the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect from time to time, and in accordance with applicable provisions
of the Bylaws, the Trust shall indemnify (a) any present or former Trustee or officer (including any individual who, at the request of the Trust, serves or has served
as a director, officer, partner, trustee, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or any other enterprise)
against any claim or liability to which he or she may become subject by reason of service in such capacity, and (b) any Trustee or officer who has been successful
in the defense of a proceeding to which he or she was made a party by reason of service in such capacity, against reasonable expenses incurred by the Trustee or
officer in connection with the proceeding and shall pay or reimburse, in advance of final disposition of the proceeding, such reasonable expenses. The Trust may,
with the approval of its Board of Trustees, provide such indemnification or advancement of expenses to any present or former Trustee or officer who served a
predecessor of the Trust, and to any employee or agent of the Trust or a predecessor of the Trust. Any amendment of this section shall be prospective only and
shall not affect the applicability of this section with respect to any act or failure to act that occurred prior to such amendment.

Section 9.4 Transactions Between the Trust and its Trustees. Officers, Employees and Agents. Subject to any express restrictions in the Declaration of
Trust or adopted by the Trustees in the Bylaws or by resolution, the Trust may enter into any contract or transaction of any kind with any person, including any

Trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Trust or any person affiliated with a Trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Trust, whether or not any of them has a
financial interest in such transaction, provided, however, that in the case of any contract or transaction in which any Trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Trust
(or any person affiliated with such person) has a material financial interest in such transaction, then: (a) the fact of the interest shall be disclosed or known to: (i)
the Board of Trustees, and the Board of Trustees shall approve or ratify the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of disinterested Trustees,
even if the disinterested Trustees constitute less than a quorum, or (ii) the shareholders entitled to vote, and the contract or transaction shall be authorized,
approved or ratified by a majority of the votes cast by the shareholders entitled to vote other than the votes of shares owned of record or beneficially by the
interested party; or (b) the contract or transaction is fair and reasonable to the Trust.

Section 9.5 Express Exculpatory Clauses in Instruments. The Board of Trustees may cause to be inserted in every written agreement, undertaking or
obligation made or issued on behalf of the Trust, an appropriate provision to the effect that neither the shareholders nor the Trustees, officers, employees or agents
of the Trust shall be liable under any written instrument creating an obligation of the Trust, and all Persons shall look solely to the property of



the Trust for the payment of any claim under or for the performance of that instrument. The omission of the foregoing exculpatory language from any instrument
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of such instrument and shall not render any shareholder, Trustee, officer, employee or agent liable thereunder to any
third party nor shall the Trustees or any officer, employee or agent of the Trust be liable to anyone for such omission.

ARTICLE X
AMENDMENTS

Section 10.1 General. The Trust reserves the right from time to time to make any amendment to the Declaration of Trust, now or hereafter authorized by
law, including, without limitation, any amendment altering the terms or contract rights, as expressly set forth in the Declaration of Trust, of any Shares. All rights
and powers conferred by the Declaration of Trust on shareholders, Trustees and officers are granted subject to this reservation. The Trust shall file Articles of
Amendment as required by Maryland law. All references to the Declaration of Trust shall include all amendments thereto.

Section 10.2 By Trustees. The Trustees may amend the Declaration of Trust from time to time, without any action by the shareholders: (i) in any manner
provided by Title 8, (ii) to qualify as a real estate investment trust under the Code or under Title 8, (iii) in the manner in which the charter of a Maryland
corporation may be amended, without shareholder approval, in accordance with Section 2-605 of the Maryland General Corporation Law, and (iv) as otherwise
provided in the Declaration of Trust.

Section 10.3 By Shareholders. Except as otherwise provided in this Declaration of Trust, any amendment to the Declaration of Trust shall be valid only if
recommended by the Board of Trustees and approved by the affirmative vote of two thirds of all votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Section 10.4 Bylaws. The Board of Trustees shall have the exclusive power to adopt, alter or repeal any provision of the Bylaws of the Trust and to make
new Bylaws.

ARTICLE XI
MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR SALE OF TRUST PROPERTY

Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares at the time outstanding, the Trust may (a) merge the Trust with or into another entity or merge
another entity into the Trust, (b) consolidate the Trust with one or more other entities into a new entity or (c) sell, lease, exchange or otherwise transfer all or
substantially all of the property of the Trust. Any such action must be approved by the Board of Trustees and, after notice to all shareholders entitled to vote on the
matter, affirmative vote of two thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

A vote of the shareholders shall not be required for the merger into the Trust of any entity in which the Trust owns 90% or more of the entire equity
interests in such entity, subject to the conditions and rights set forth in Section 8-501.1(c)(4) of Title 8.

A vote of the shareholders shall not be required if the merger does not reclassify or change the outstanding Shares of the Trust immediately before the
merger becomes effective or otherwise amend the Declaration of Trust and the number of Shares to be issued or delivered in the merger is not more than twenty
percent (20%) of the number of Shares of the same class or series outstanding immediately before the merger becomes effective.

ARTICLE XII
DURATION AND TERMINATION OF TRUST

Section 12.1 Duration. The Trust shall continue perpetually unless terminated pursuant to Section 12.2 or pursuant to any applicable provision of Title 8.



Section 12.2 Termination.

(a) Subject to the provisions of any class or series of Shares at the time outstanding, adoption of a resolution by the Board of Trustees declaring
that the termination of the Trust is advisable and submission of the matter by the Board of Trustees to the shareholders for approval, the Trust may be terminated at
any meeting of shareholders, by the affirmative vote of two thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Upon the termination of the Trust:

(1) The Trust shall carry on no business except for the purpose of winding up its affairs.

(i) The Trustees shall proceed to wind up the affairs of the Trust and all of the powers of the Trustees under the Declaration of Trust
shall continue, including the powers to fulfill or discharge the Trust’s contracts, collect its assets, sell, convey, assign, exchange, transfer or otherwise dispose of all
or any part of the remaining property of the Trust to one or more persons at public or private sale for consideration which may consist in whole or in part of cash,
securities or other property of any kind, discharge or pay its liabilities and do all other acts appropriate to liquidate its business.

(iii) After paying or adequately providing for the payment of all liabilities, and upon receipt of such releases, indemnities and
agreements as they deem necessary for their protection, the Trust may distribute the remaining property of the Trust among the shareholders so that after payment
in full or the setting apart for payment of such preferential amounts, if any, to which the holders of any Shares at the time outstanding shall be entitled, the
remaining property of the Trust shall, subject to any participating or similar rights of Shares at the time outstanding, be distributed ratably among the holders of
Common Shares at the time outstanding.

(b) After termination of the Trust, the liquidation of its business and the distribution to the shareholders as herein provided, a majority of the
Trustees shall execute and file with the Trust’s records a document certifying that the Trust has been duly terminated, and the Trustees shall be discharged from all
liabilities and duties hereunder, and the rights and interests of all shareholders shall cease.

ARTICLE XIII
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.1 Governing Law. The Declaration of Trust is executed by the undersigned Trustees and delivered in the State of Maryland with reference to
the laws thereof, and the rights of all parties and the validity, construction and effect of every provision hereof shall be subject to and construed in accordance with
the laws of the State of Maryland without regard to conflicts of laws provisions thereof.

Section 13.2 Reliance by Third Parties. Any certificate shall be final and conclusive as to any person dealing with the Trust if executed by the Secretary or
an Assistant Secretary of the Trust or a Trustee, and if certifying to: (a) the number or identity of Trustees, officers of the Trust or shareholders; (b) the due
authorization of the execution of any document; (c) the action or vote taken, and the existence of a quorum, at a meeting of the Board of Trustees or shareholders;
(d) a copy of the Declaration of Trust or of the Bylaws as a true and complete copy as then in force; () an amendment to the Declaration of Trust; (f) the
termination of the Trust; or (g) the existence of any fact relating to the affairs of the Trust. No purchaser, lender, transfer agent or other person shall be bound to
make any inquiry concerning the validity of any transaction purporting to be made by the Trust on its behalf or by any officer, employee or agent of the Trust.

Section 13.3 Severability.

(a) The provisions of the Declaration of Trust are severable, and if the Board of Trustees shall determine, with the advice of counsel, that any
one or more of such provisions (the “Conflicting Provisions”) are in conflict with the Code, Title 8 or other applicable federal or state laws, the Conflicting
Provisions, to the extent of the conflict, shall be deemed never to have constituted a part of the Declaration of Trust, even without any amendment of the
Declaration of Trust pursuant to Article X and without affecting or impairing any of the remaining provisions of the Declaration of Trust or rendering invalid or
improper any action taken or omitted prior



to such determination. No Trustee shall be liable for making or failing to make such a determination. In the event of any such determination by the Board of
Trustees, the Board shall amend the Declaration of Trust in the manner provided in Section 10.2.

(b) If any provision of the Declaration of Trust shall be held invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction, such holding shall apply only to the
extent of any such invalidity or unenforceability and shall not in any manner affect, impair or render invalid or unenforceable such provision in any other
jurisdiction or any other provision of the Declaration of Trust in any jurisdiction.

Section 13.4 Construction. In the Declaration of Trust, unless the context otherwise requires, words used in the singular or in the plural include both the
plural and singular and words denoting any gender include all genders. The title and headings of different parts are inserted for convenience and shall not affect the
meaning, construction or effect of the Declaration of Trust. In defining or interpreting the powers and duties of the Trust and its Trustees and officers, reference
may be made by the Trustees or officers, to the extent appropriate and not inconsistent with the Code or Title 8, to Titles 1 through 3 of the Corporations and
Associations Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, in accordance with the provisions of Title 3,
Subtitles 6 and 7, of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, the Trust shall be included within the definition of
“corporation” for purposes of such provisions.

Section 13.5 Recordation. The Declaration of Trust and any articles of amendment hereto or articles supplementary hereto shall be filed for record with
the SDAT and may also be filed or recorded in such other places as the Trustees deem appropriate, but failure to file for record the Declaration of Trust or any
articles of amendment hereto in any office other than in the State of Maryland shall not affect or impair the validity or effectiveness of the Declaration of Trust or
any amendment hereto. A restated Declaration of Trust shall, upon filing, be conclusive evidence of all amendments contained therein and may thereafter be
referred to in lieu of the original Declaration of Trust and the various articles of amendments thereto.

* ok ok ok %

The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust had authority to issue immediately prior to this amendment and restatement was 120,000,000,
consisting of 100,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 20,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest. The aggregate par
value of all authorized shares of beneficial interest having par value was $1,200,000. The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust has authority to
issue immediately upon this amendment and restatement is 200,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 40,000,000 preferred
shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share. The aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest having par value is
$2,000,000, and the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value is $400,000.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, these Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust have been signed on this 12th day of August, 2004
by the undersigned President of the Trust and witnessed by the undersigned Secretary of the Trust, each of whom acknowledges that this document is his free act
and deed, and that to the best of his knowledge, information, and belief, the matters and facts set forth herein are true in all material respects and that the
statement is made under the penalties for perjury.

ATTEST: KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

/s/ DAME PROUT (SEAL)/s/ JOHN A. KITE
Dame Prout, Secretary John A. Kite, President




KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES SUPPLEMENTARY ESTABLISHING AND FIXING THE RIGHTS AND
PREFERENCES OF A SERIES OF PREFERRED SHARES

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”), hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of
Maryland (the “SDAT”) that:

FIRST: Under the authority contained in the Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust (the “Declaration of Trust”),
and pursuant to authority vested by the Board of Trustees of the Trust (the “Board”) in the Pricing Committee of the Board (the “Pricing Committee”) at a meeting
of the Board held on November 2, 2010, the Pricing Committee, by resolution approved at a meeting held on November 30, 2010, has classified and designated
2,990,000 Preferred Shares of the Trust (the “Shares™), par value $0.01 per share, as 8.250% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Shares, with the
following preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications, and terms and conditions of redemption,
which upon any restatement of the Declaration of Trust, shall be deemed to be part of Article VI of the Declaration of Trust, with any necessary or appropriate
changes to the enumeration of sections or subsections hereof. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings set forth in the
Declaration of Trust.

8.250% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Shares

(1) Designation and Number. A series of preferred shares, designated as the “8.250% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Shares” (the
“Series A Preferred Shares”), is hereby established. The par value of the Series A Preferred Shares is $0.01 per share. The number of Series A Preferred Shares
shall be 2,990,000.

(2) Ranking. The Series A Preferred Shares will, with respect to rights to receive dividends and to participate in distributions or payments upon
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Trust, rank (a) senior to the Common Shares (as defined in the Declaration of Trust) and any other capital shares of the
Trust, now or hereafter issued and outstanding, the terms of which provide that such capital shares rank, as to dividends and upon liquidation, dissolution or
winding up of the Trust, junior to such Series A Preferred Shares (‘“Junior Shares”), (b) on a parity with any other capital shares of the Trust, now or hereafter
issued and outstanding, other than the capital shares referred to in clauses (a) and (c) (“Parity Shares”); and (c) junior to all capital shares of the Trust the terms of
which specifically provide that such capital shares rank senior to the Series A Preferred Shares.

(3) Dividends.

(a) Holders of the then outstanding Series A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if authorized by the Board and declared
by the Trust, out of funds legally available for payment of dividends, cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 8.250% per annum of the $25 liquidation
preference of each Series A Preferred Share (equivalent to $2.0625 per annum per share); provided, however, that if following a “Change of Control” (as
hereinafter defined), either the Series A Preferred Shares (or any preferred shares of the surviving entity that are issued in exchange for the Series A
Preferred Shares) or the common shares of the surviving entity, as applicable, are not listed on the NYSE or quoted on the NASDAQ Stock Market
(“NASDAQ”) (or listed or quoted on a successor exchange or quotation system), holders of the then outstanding Series A Preferred Shares will be entitled
to receive, when, as and if authorized by the Board and declared by the Trust, out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends, cumulative cash
dividends from, and including, the first date on which both the Change of Control has occurred and either the Series A Preferred Shares (or any preferred
shares of the surviving entity that are issued in exchange for the Series A Preferred Shares) or the common shares of the surviving entity, as applicable,
are not so listed or quoted, at the rate of 12.250% per annum of the $25 liquidation preference of each Series A Preferred Share (equivalent to $3.0625 per
annum per share), for as long as either the Series A Preferred Shares (or any preferred shares of the surviving entity that are issued in exchange for the
Series A Preferred Shares) or the common shares of the surviving entity, as applicable, are not so listed on the NYSE or quoted on NASDAQ Stock
Market (or listed or quoted on a successor exchange or quotation system) (the “Special Dividend Rate”).



(b) Dividends on each outstanding Series A Preferred Share shall be cumulative from and including the date of original issuance or, with respect
to the Special Dividend Rate, from, and including, the first date on which both a Change of Control has occurred and either the Series A Preferred Shares
(or any preferred shares of the surviving entity that are issued in exchange for the Series A Preferred Shares) or the common shares of the surviving entity,
as applicable, are not listed on the NYSE or quoted on NASDAQ (or listed or quoted on a successor exchange or quotation system), and shall be payable
(i) for the period from December 7, 2010 to March 1, 2011 on March 1, 2011, and (ii) for each quarterly distribution period thereafter, quarterly in equal
amounts in arrears on the 1st of each March, June, September and December, commencing on June 1, 2011 (each such day being hereinafter called a
“Series A Dividend Payment Date”) at the then applicable annual rate; provided, however, that if any Series A Dividend Payment Date falls on any day
other than a Business Day (as hereinafter defined), the dividend which would otherwise have been payable on such Series A Dividend Payment Date may
be paid on the next succeeding Business Day with the same force and effect as if paid on such Series A Dividend Payment Date, and no interest or other
sums shall accrue on the amount so payable from such Series A Dividend Payment Date to such next succeeding Business Day. Each dividend is payable
to holders of record as they appear on the share records of the Trust at the close of business on the record date, not exceeding 30 days preceding the
applicable Series A Dividend Payment Date, as shall be fixed by the Board. Dividends shall accumulate from the most recent Series A Dividend Payment
Date to which dividends have been paid, whether or not there shall be funds legally available for the payment of such dividends, whether the Trust has
earnings or whether such dividends are authorized. No interest, or sum of money in lieu of interest, shall be payable in respect of any dividend payment or
payments on the Series A Preferred Shares that may be in arrears. Holders of the Series A Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to any dividends, whether
payable in cash, property or shares, in excess of full cumulative dividends, as herein provided, on the Series A Preferred Shares. Dividends payable on the
Series A Preferred Shares for any period greater or less than a full dividend period will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve
30-day months. Dividends payable on the Series A Preferred Shares for each full dividend period will be computed by dividing the applicable annual
dividend rate by four. After full cumulative distributions on the Series A Preferred Shares have been paid or declared and funds therefor set aside for
payment with respect to a dividend period, the holders of Series A Preferred Shares will not be entitled to any further distributions with respect to that
dividend period.

(c) No dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares shall be authorized and declared by the Board or paid or set apart for payment by the Trust at
such time as the terms and provisions of any agreement of the Trust, including any agreement relating to its indebtedness, prohibits such declaration,
payment or setting apart for payment or provides that such declaration, payment or setting apart for payment would constitute a breach thereof, or a
default thereunder, or if such declaration or payment shall be restricted or prohibited by law.

(d) So long as any Series A Preferred Shares are outstanding, no dividends, except as described in the immediately following sentence, shall be
authorized and declared or paid or set apart for payment on any series or class or classes of Parity Shares for any period unless full cumulative dividends
have been declared and paid or are contemporaneously declared and paid or declared and a sum sufficient for the payment thereof set apart for such
payment on the Series A Preferred Shares for all prior dividend periods. When dividends are not paid in full or a sum sufficient for such payment is not
set apart, as aforesaid, all dividends authorized and declared upon the Series A Preferred Shares and all dividends authorized and declared upon any other
series or class or classes of Parity Shares shall be authorized and declared ratably in proportion to the respective amounts of dividends accumulated and
unpaid on the Series A Preferred Shares and such Parity Shares.

(e) So long as any Series A Preferred Shares are outstanding, no dividends (other than dividends or distributions paid solely in Junior Shares of,
or in options, warrants or rights to subscribe for or purchase, Junior Shares) shall be authorized and declared or paid or set apart for payment or other
distribution authorized and declared or made upon Junior Shares, nor shall any Junior Shares be redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired (other than a
redemption, purchase or other acquisition of Common Shares made for



purposes of and in compliance with requirements of an employee incentive or benefit plan of the Trust or any subsidiary, or a conversion into or exchange
for Junior Shares or redemptions for the purpose of preserving the Trust’s qualification as a REIT (as defined in the Declaration of Trust)), for any
consideration (or any monies to be paid to or made available for a sinking fund for the redemption of any such shares) by the Trust, directly or indirectly
(except by conversion into or exchange for Junior Shares), unless in each case full cumulative dividends on all outstanding Series A Preferred Shares and
any Parity Shares at the time such dividends are payable shall have been paid or set apart for payment for all past dividend periods with respect to the
Series A Preferred Shares and all past dividend periods with respect to such Parity Shares.

(f) Any dividend payment made on the Series A Preferred Shares shall first be credited against the earliest accrued but unpaid dividend due with
respect to such shares which remains payable.

(g) Except as provided herein, the Series A Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to participate in the earnings or assets of the Trust.

(h) With respect to the Series A Preferred Shares, a “Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred at such time as (i) the date a “person”
or “group” (within the meaning of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)) becomes the ultimate
“beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that a person or group shall be deemed to have beneficial
ownership of all voting shares that such person or group has the right to acquire regardless of when such right is first exercisable), directly or indirectly, of
voting shares representing more than 50% of the total voting power of the Trust’s total voting shares; (ii) the date the Trust sells, transfers or otherwise
disposes of all or substantially all of its assets; or (iii) the date of the consummation of a merger or share exchange of the Trust with another entity where
(A) the Trust’s shareholders immediately prior to the merger or share exchange would not beneficially own, immediately after the merger or share
exchange, shares representing 50% or more of all votes (without consideration of the rights of any class of shares to elect trustees by a separate group
vote) to which all shareholders of the corporation issuing cash or securities in the merger or share exchange would be entitled in the election of trustees, or
where (B) members of the Board immediately prior to the merger or share exchange would not immediately after the merger or share exchange constitute
a majority of the board of the corporation issuing cash or securities in the merger or share exchange.

As used herein, the term “dividend” does not include dividends payable solely in Junior Shares on Junior Shares, or in options, warrants or rights
to holders of Junior Shares to subscribe for or purchase any Junior Shares.

As used herein, the term “voting shares” shall mean shares of any class or kind having the power to vote generally in the election of trustees.
(4) Liquidation Preference.

(a) In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Trust, whether voluntary or involuntary, before any payment or distribution
of the assets of the Trust shall be made to or set apart for the holders of Junior Shares, the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares shall be entitled to
receive $25 per share (the “Liquidation Preference”) plus an amount per share equal to all dividends (whether or not earned or declared) accumulated and
unpaid thereon to, but not including, the date of final distribution to such holders; but such holders of the Series A Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to
any further payment. If, upon any such liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Trust, the assets of the Trust, or proceeds thereof, distributable among
the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares shall be insufficient to pay in full the preferential amount aforesaid and liquidating payments on any other
Parity Shares, then such assets, or the proceeds thereof, shall be distributed among the holders of such Series A Preferred Shares and any such other Parity
Shares ratably in accordance with the respective amounts that would be payable on such Series A Preferred Shares and any such other Parity Shares if all
amounts payable thereon were paid in full. For the purposes of this Section 4, none of (i) a consolidation or merger of the Trust with one or more entities,



(i1) a statutory share exchange or (iii) a sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the Trust’s assets shall be deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution or
winding up, voluntary or involuntary, of the Trust.

(b) Subject to the rights of the holders of Parity Shares, upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Trust, after payment shall have
been made in full to the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares, as provided in this Section 4, any series or class or classes of Junior Shares shall, subject
to any respective terms and provisions applying thereto, be entitled to receive any and all assets remaining to be paid or distributed, and the holders of the
Series A Preferred Shares shall not be entitled to share therein.

(5) Optional Redemption.

(a) Except as otherwise permitted by the Declaration of Trust and paragraph (b) below, the Series A Preferred Shares shall not be redeemable by
the Trust prior to December 7, 2015. On and after December 7, 2015, the Trust, at its option, upon giving notice as provided below, may redeem the
Series A Preferred Shares, in whole or in part, at any time and from time to time, for cash at a redemption price of $25 per share, plus any accumulated
and unpaid dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares (whether or not declared), to, but not including, the redemption date (the “Regular Redemption
Right”).

(b) If at any time following a Change of Control (as defined in Section 3(h) above), either the Series A Preferred Shares (or any preferred shares
of the surviving entity that are issued in exchange for the Series A Preferred Shares) or the common shares of the surviving entity, as applicable, are not
listed on the NYSE or quoted on NASDAQ (or listed or quoted on a successor exchange or quotation system), the Trust will have the option, upon giving
notice as provided below, to redeem the Series A Preferred Shares, in whole but not in part, within 90 days after the first date on which both the Change
of Control has occurred and either the Series A Preferred Shares (or any preferred shares of the surviving entity that are issued in exchange for the Series
A Preferred Shares) or the common shares of the surviving entity, as applicable, are not so listed or quoted, for cash at a redemption price of $25 per
share, plus any accumulated and unpaid dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares (whether or not declared), to, but not including, the redemption date
(the “Special Redemption Right”).

(¢) The following provisions set forth the procedures for redemption pursuant to the Regular Redemption Right.

(1) A notice of redemption (which may be contingent upon the occurrence of a future event) shall be mailed, postage prepaid, not less
than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the redemption date, addressed to the holders of record of the Series A Preferred Shares at their addresses
as they appear on the Trust’s share transfer records. A failure to give such notice or any defect in the notice or in its mailing shall not affect the
validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any Series A Preferred Shares except as to the holder to whom notice was defective or not
given. In addition to any information required by law or by the applicable rules of any exchange upon which the Series A Preferred Shares may
be listed or admitted to trading, each notice shall state: (i) the redemption date; (ii) the redemption price; (iii) the number of Series A Preferred
Shares to be redeemed and, if fewer than all the Series A Preferred Shares held by such holder are to be redeemed, the number of such Series A
Preferred Shares to be redeemed from such holder; (iv) the place or places where the certificates evidencing the Series A Preferred Shares are to
be surrendered for payment of the redemption price; and (v) that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on such redemption
date except as otherwise provided herein.

(i) At its election, the Trust, prior to a redemption date, may irrevocably deposit the redemption price (including accumulated and
unpaid dividends to the redemption date) of the Series A Preferred Shares so called for redemption in trust for the holders thereof with a bank or
trust company, in which case the redemption notice to holders of the Series A Preferred Shares to be redeemed shall (A) state the date of such
deposit, (B) specify the office of such bank or trust company as the place of payment of the redemption price and (C) require such holders to



surrender the certificates evidencing such shares at such place on or about the date fixed in such redemption notice (which may not be later than
the redemption date) against payment of the redemption price (including all accumulated and unpaid dividends to the redemption date). Subject
to applicable escheat laws, any monies so deposited which remain unclaimed by the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares at the end of two
years after the redemption date shall be returned by such bank or trust company to the Trust.

(iii) If fewer than all the outstanding Series A Preferred Shares are to be redeemed, the shares to be redeemed shall be selected by lot or
pro rata (as nearly as practicable without creating fractional shares) or by any other equitable method the Trust may choose.

(iv) Upon any redemption of Series A Preferred Shares, the Trust shall pay any accumulated and unpaid dividends in arrears for any
dividend period ending on or prior to the redemption date. If a redemption date falls after a record date for a Series A Preferred Shares dividend
payment and prior to the corresponding Series A Dividend Payment Date, then each holder of the Series A Preferred Shares at the close of
business on such record date shall be entitled to the dividend payable on such Series A Preferred Shares on the corresponding Series A Dividend
Payment Date notwithstanding the redemption of such Series A Preferred Shares before such Series A Dividend Payment Date. Except as
provided above, the Trust shall make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends, whether or not in arrears, on any Series A Preferred Shares
called for redemption.

(v) If full cumulative dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares and any other series or class or classes of Parity Shares have not been
paid or declared and set apart for payment, except as otherwise permitted under the Declaration of Trust, the Trust may not purchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire Series A Preferred Shares or any Parity Shares other than in exchange for Junior Shares.

(vi) On and after the date fixed for redemption, provided that the Trust has made available at the office of the registrar and transfer
agent a sufficient amount of cash to effect the redemption, dividends will cease to accumulate on the Series A Preferred Shares called for
redemption (except that, in the case of a redemption date after a dividend payment record date and prior to the related Series A Dividend
Payment Date, holders of Series A Preferred Shares on the applicable record date will be entitled on such Series A Dividend Payment Date to
receive the dividend payable on such shares on the corresponding Series A Dividend Payment Date), such shares shall no longer be deemed to be
outstanding and all rights of the holders of such shares as holders of Series A Preferred Shares shall cease except the right to receive the cash
payable upon such redemption, without interest from the date of such redemption.

(d) The following provisions set forth the procedures for redemption pursuant to the Special Redemption Right.

(1) A notice of redemption shall be mailed, postage prepaid, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the redemption date,
addressed to the holders of record of the Series A Preferred Shares at their addresses as they appear on the Trust’s share transfer records. A
failure to give such notice or any defect in the notice or in its mailing shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any
Series A Preferred Shares except as to the holder to whom notice was defective or not given. In addition to any information required by law or
by the applicable rules of any exchange upon which the Series A Preferred Shares may be listed or admitted to trading, each notice shall state: (i)
the redemption date; (ii) the redemption price; (iii) the place or places where the certificates evidencing the Series A Preferred Shares are to be
surrendered for payment of the redemption price; and (v) that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on such redemption
date except as otherwise provided herein.



(ii) At its election, the Trust, prior to a redemption date, may irrevocably deposit the redemption price (including accumulated and
unpaid dividends to the redemption date) of the Series A Preferred Shares so called for redemption in trust for the holders thereof with a bank or
trust company, in which case the redemption notice to holders of the Series A Preferred Shares to be redeemed shall (A) state the date of such
deposit, (B) specify the office of such bank or trust company as the place of payment of the redemption price and (C) require such holders to
surrender the certificates evidencing such shares at such place on or about the date fixed in such redemption notice (which may not be later than
the redemption date) against payment of the redemption price (including all accumulated and unpaid dividends to the redemption date). Subject
to applicable escheat laws, any monies so deposited which remain unclaimed by the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares at the end of two
years after the redemption date shall be returned by such bank or trust company to the Trust.

(iii) Upon the redemption of Series A Preferred Shares, the Trust shall pay any accumulated and unpaid dividends in arrears for any
dividend period ending on or prior to the redemption date. If the redemption date falls after a record date for a Series A Preferred Shares
dividend payment and prior to the corresponding Series A Dividend Payment Date, then each holder of the Series A Preferred Shares at the close
of business on such record date shall be entitled to the dividend payable on such Series A Preferred Shares on the corresponding Series A
Dividend Payment Date notwithstanding the redemption of such Series A Preferred Shares before such Series A Dividend Payment Date. Except
as provided above, the Trust shall make no payment or allowance for unpaid dividends, whether or not in arrears, on any Series A Preferred
Shares called for redemption.

(iv) If full cumulative dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares and any other series or class or classes of Parity Shares have not been
paid or declared and set apart for payment, except as otherwise permitted under the Declaration of Trust, the Trust may not purchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire Series A Preferred Shares or any Parity Shares other than in exchange for Junior Shares.

(v) On and after the date fixed for redemption, provided that the Trust has made available at the office of the registrar and transfer agent
a sufficient amount of cash to effect the redemption, dividends will cease to accumulate on the Series A Preferred Shares called for redemption
(except that, in the case of a redemption date after a dividend payment record date and prior to the related Series A Dividend Payment Date,
holders of Series A Preferred Shares on the applicable record date will be entitled on such Series A Dividend Payment Date to receive the
dividend payable on such shares on the corresponding Series A Dividend Payment Date), such shares shall no longer be deemed to be
outstanding and all rights of the holders of such shares as holders of Series A Preferred Shares shall cease except the right to receive the cash
payable upon such redemption, without interest from the date of such redemption.

(e) Any Series A Preferred Shares that shall at any time have been redeemed shall, after such redemption, have the status of authorized but
unissued Preferred Shares, without designation as to series until such shares are once more designated as part of a particular series by the Board.

(6) Voting Rights. Except as otherwise set forth herein, the Series A Preferred Shares shall not have any relative, participating, optional or other voting
rights or powers, and the consent of the holders thereof shall not be required for the taking of any corporate action. In any matter in which the holders of Series A
Preferred Shares are entitled to vote, each such holder shall have the right to one vote for each Series A Preferred Share held by such holder.

(a) If and whenever six quarterly dividends (Whether or not consecutive) payable on the Series A Preferred Shares are in arrears, whether or not
earned or declared, the number of members then constituting the Board will be increased by two and the holders of Series A Preferred Shares, voting
together as a class with the holders of any other series of Parity Shares upon which like voting rights have been conferred and



are exercisable (any such other series, the “Voting Preferred Shares™), will have the right to elect two additional board members at an annual meeting of
shareholders or a properly called special meeting of the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares and such Voting Preferred Shares and at each subsequent
annual meeting of shareholders until all such dividends and dividends for the then current quarterly period on the Series A Preferred Shares and such
other Voting Preferred Shares have been paid or declared and set aside for payment. Whenever all arrears in dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares
and the Voting Preferred Shares then outstanding have been paid and full dividends on the Series A Preferred Shares and the Voting Preferred Shares for
the then current quarterly dividend period have been paid in full or declared and set apart for payment in full, then the right of the holders of the Series A
Preferred Shares and the Voting Preferred Shares to elect two additional board members will cease, the terms of office of the board members will
forthwith terminate and the number of members of the Board will be reduced accordingly; provided, however, the right of the holders of the Series A
Preferred Shares and the Voting Preferred Shares to elect the additional board members will again vest if and whenever six quarterly dividends are in
arrears, as described above. In no event shall the holders of Series A Preferred Shares be entitled pursuant to these voting rights to elect a trustee that
would cause the Trust to fail to satisfy a requirement relating to trustee independence of any national securities exchange on which any class or series of
the Trust’s shares are listed. In class votes with other Voting Preferred Shares, preferred shares of different series shall vote in proportion to the
liquidation preference of the preferred shares.

(b) So long as any Series A Preferred Shares are outstanding, the approval of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of
outstanding Series A Preferred Shares, voting separately as a class, either at a meeting of shareholders or by written consent, is required (i) to amend, alter
or repeal any provisions of the Declaration of Trust (including these Articles Supplementary), whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise, to affect
materially and adversely the voting powers, rights or preferences of the holders of the Series A Preferred Shares, unless in connection with any such
amendment, alteration or repeal, the Series A Preferred Shares remain outstanding without the terms thereof being materially changed in any respect
adverse to the holders thereof or is converted into or exchanged for preferred shares of the surviving entity having preferences, conversion and other
rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption thereof that are substantially similar
to those of the Series A Preferred Shares, or (ii) to authorize, create, or increase the authorized amount of any class or series of capital shares having rights
senior to the Series A Preferred Shares with respect to the payment of dividends or amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up (provided that if
such amendment affects materially and adversely the rights, preferences, privileges or voting powers of one or more but not all of the other series of
Voting Preferred Shares, the consent of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of each such series so affected is required). However,
the Trust may create additional classes of Parity Shares and Junior Shares, amend the Declaration of Trust and these Articles Supplementary to increase
the authorized number of Parity Shares (including the Series A Preferred Shares) and Junior Shares and issue additional series of Parity Shares and Junior
Shares without the consent of any holder of Series A Preferred Shares.

(c) The foregoing voting provisions shall not apply if, at or prior to the time when the act with respect to which such vote would otherwise be
required shall be effected, all outstanding Series A Preferred Shares shall have been redeemed or called for redemption upon proper notice and sufficient
funds shall have been deposited in trust to effect such redemption.

(7) Information Rights. During any period in which the Trust is not subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, and any Series A Preferred Shares
are outstanding, the Trust will (i) transmit by mail (or other permissible means under the Exchange Act) to all holders of Series A Preferred Shares, as their names
and addresses appear in the record books of the Trust and without cost to such holders, copies of the annual reports and quarterly reports that the Trust would have
been required to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act if the Corporation were subject thereto
(other than any exhibits that would have been required) and (ii) promptly, upon request, supply copies of such reports to any prospective holder of Series A
Preferred Shares. The Trust will mail (or otherwise provide) the information to the holders of Series A Preferred Shares within 15 days after the respective dates by
which a periodic report on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q,



as the case may be, in respect of such information would have been required to be filed with the SEC, if the Trust were subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

(8) No Right of Conversion. The Series A Preferred Shares are not convertible into or exchangeable for any other property or securities of the Trust.

(9) Other Limitations, Ownership and Transfer. The Series A Preferred Shares constitutes Shares (as defined in the Declaration of Trust) of the Trust and
is governed by and issued subject to all the limitations, terms and conditions of the Declaration of Trust applicable to Shares generally, including but not limited to
the terms and conditions (including exceptions and exemptions) of Article VII of the Declaration of Trust applicable to Shares. The foregoing sentence shall not be
construed to limit the applicability to the Series A Preferred Shares of any other term or provision of the Declaration of Trust.

(10) Record Holders. The Trust and the transfer agent for the Series A Preferred Shares may deem and treat the record holder of any Series A Preferred
Shares as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and neither the Trust nor the transfer agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

SECOND: The Shares have been classified and designated by the Pricing Committee under the authority granted by the Board pursuant to the powers of
the Board as contained in the Declaration of Trust. These Articles Supplementary have been approved by the Pricing Committee in accordance with the power
delegated to the Pricing Committee by the Board in the manner and by the vote required by law.

THIRD: These Articles Supplementary shall become effective at 9:00 a.m. (Eastern Time) on December 7, 2010.

FOURTH: The undersigned Chief Executive Officer of the Trust acknowledges these Articles Supplementary to be the corporate act of the Trust and, as
to all matters or facts required to be verified under oath, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer of the Trust acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge,
information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties for perjury.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trust has caused these Articles Supplementary to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its Chief Executive Officer
and attested to by its Secretary on this 6th day of December, 2010.

Kite Realty Group Trust
By: /s/ John A. Kite
John A. Kite

Chief Executive Officer

ATTEST:
By: /s/ Thomas R. Olinger
Thomas R. Olinger
Senior Vice President and Secretary




KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES SUPPLEMENTARY ESTABLISHING ADDITIONAL SHARES OF 8.250% SERIES A CUMULATIVE REDEEMABLE PERPETUAL
PREFERRED SHARES

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”), hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of
Maryland (the “SDAT”) that:

FIRST: Under the authority contained in the Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust (the “Declaration of Trust”),
and pursuant to authority vested by the Board of Trustees of the Trust (the “Board”) in a pricing committee of the Board at a meeting of the Board held on
November 2, 2010, such pricing committee, by resolution approved at a meeting held on November 30, 2010, previously classified and designated 2,990,000
Preferred Shares (as defined in the Declaration of Trust), par value $0.01 per share, as 8.250% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Perpetual Preferred Shares (the
“Series A Preferred Shares”), having the preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications, and terms
and conditions of redemption as set forth in the “Articles Supplementary Establishing and Fixing the Rights and Preferences of a Series of Preferred Shares” filed
by the Trust with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on December 6, 2010, effective December 7, 2010 (the “Series A Articles
Supplementary”).

SECOND: Under the authority contained in the Declaration of Trust and pursuant to authority vested by the Board in the Pricing Committee of the Board
(the “Pricing Committee”) by unanimous written consent of the Board, dated March 5, 2012, the Pricing Committee, by resolution approved at a meeting held on
March 7, 2012, classified an additional 1,190,000 shares of Preferred Shares as Series A Preferred Shares, par value $0.01 per share, having the preferences,
conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications, and terms and conditions of redemption as set forth in the Series
A Articles Supplementary, with the result that the Trust shall now have authorized an aggregate of 4,180,000 Series A Preferred Shares, all of which shall
constitute a single series of Preferred Shares.

THIRD: The additional shares of Series A Preferred Shares have been classified and designated Series A Preferred Shares by the Pricing Committee
under the authority granted by the Board pursuant to the powers of the Board as contained in the Declaration of Trust. These Articles Supplementary have been
approved by the Pricing Committee in accordance with the power delegated to the Pricing Committee by the Board in the manner and by the vote required by law.

FOURTH: These Articles Supplementary shall become effective at 8:30 a.m. (Eastern Time) on March 12, 2012.

FIFTH: The undersigned Chief Financial Officer of the Trust acknowledges these Articles Supplementary to be the corporate act of the Trust and, as to all
matters or facts required to be verified under oath, the undersigned Chief Financial Officer of the Trust acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge,
information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties for perjury.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trust has caused these Articles Supplementary to be signed in its name and on its behalf by its Chief Financial Officer and
attested to by its Secretary on this 9th day of March, 2012.

Kite Realty Group Trust

By: /s/ Daniel R. Sink

Daniel R. Sink
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

ATTEST:

By: /s/ Thomas R. Olinger
Thomas R. Olinger
Senior Vice President and Secretary




KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) under Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland, hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST: Section 6.1 of Article VI of the Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust, filed on August 12, 2004 (the
“Declaration of Trust”), is hereby amended by deleting such Section 6.1 and replacing it in its entirety with the following:
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“Section 6.1 Authorized Shares. The beneficial interest of the Trust shall be divided into shares of beneficial interest (the “Shares”). The Trust
has authority to issue 450,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Shares”), and 40,000,000 preferred shares of
beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Shares”).”
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SECOND: The amendment to the Declaration of Trust as set forth above has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees of the Trust and
approved by the shareholders of the Trust as required by law.

THIRD: The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust had authority to issue immediately prior to the filing of these Articles of
Amendment was 200,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 40,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par
value per share. Immediately prior to the filing of these Articles of Amendment, the aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest
having par value was $2,000,000, and the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value was $400,000.

FOURTH: The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust has authority to issue immediately upon the filing of these Articles of
Amendment is 450,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 40,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value
per share. Immediately upon the filing of these Articles of Amendment, the aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest having par
value is $4,500,000, and the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value is $400,000.

FIFTH: The preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications and terms and conditions of
redemption were not changed by the foregoing amendment.

SIXTH: The undersigned officer acknowledges these Articles of Amendment to be the corporate act of the Trust and as to all matters of facts required to

be verified under oath, the undersigned officer acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all
material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties of perjury.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Kite Realty Group Trust has caused these Articles of Amendment to be executed under seal in its name and on its behalf by
the undersigned officer, and attested to by its Secretary, on this 26th day of June, 2014.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

By: /s/ John A. Kite

John A. Kite
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Attest: /s/ Thomas R. Olinger
Thomas R. Olinger
Secretary

Return Address:

Kite Realty Group Trust

30 S. Meridian Street

Suite 1100

Indianapolis, Indiana 46204



KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) under Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland (the “Maryland REIT Law”), hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST: The Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust, filed on August 12, 2004 (as amended, the “Declaration of
Trust”), are hereby amended to provide that, upon the Effective Time (as defined below), each common share of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, of
the Trust that was issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be reclassified into one-fourth of a common share of beneficial interest,
$0.04 par value per share, with the aggregate par value of the outstanding common shares of beneficial interest remaining unchanged; provided that no fractional
common shares of beneficial interest of the Trust will be or remain issued under such amendment and each shareholder otherwise entitled to a fractional share shall
be entitled to receive in lieu thereof cash in an amount equal to such shareholder’s pro rata percentage of the amount received per share upon the sale in one or
more open market transactions of the aggregate of all such fractional shares.

SECOND: The amendment to the Declaration of Trust as set forth in Article FIRST above has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees
of the Trust as required by law. Pursuant to Section 8-501(f)(3) of the Maryland REIT Law, no shareholder approval was required.

THIRD: The Declaration of Trust is hereby further amended, effective upon the Effective Time, to change the par value of the common shares of
beneficial interest of the Trust issued and outstanding after giving effect to Article FIRST hereof from $0.04 per share to $0.01 per share, and in connection
therewith, there shall be transferred from the Common Shares account on the Trust’s balance sheet to the Additional Paid In Capital and Other account on the
Trust’s balance sheet $0.03 per common share of beneficial interest immediately outstanding after such change in par value per share.

FOURTH: The amendment to the Declaration of Trust as set forth in Article THIRD above has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees
of the Trust as required by law. The amendment set forth in Article THIRD above is limited to changes expressly authorized by Section 8-501(¢e)(2) of the
Maryland REIT Law to be made without action by the shareholders of the Trust.

FIFTH: There has been no increase in the authorized shares of beneficial interest of the Trust effected by the amendments to the Declaration of Trust as
set forth above.

SIXTH: These Articles of Amendment will become effective at 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on August 11, 2014 (the “Effective Time”).
SEVENTH: The undersigned officer acknowledges these Articles of Amendment to be the corporate act of the Trust and as to all matters of facts
required to be verified under oath, the undersigned officer acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true

in all material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties of perjury.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Kite Realty Group Trust has caused these Articles of Amendment to be executed under seal in its name and on its behalf by
the undersigned officer, and attested to by its Secretary, on this 11th day of August, 2014.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

By: /s/ John A. Kite

John A. Kite
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Attest: /s/ Thomas R. Olinger

Thomas R. Olinger
Secretary

Return Address:

Kite Realty Group Trust

30 S. Meridian Street

Suite 1100

Indianapolis, Indiana 46204



KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) under Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland, hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST: Section 6.1 of Article VI of the Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust filed on August 12, 2004 (as
amended as set forth below, the “Declaration of Trust”), as amended by the Articles of Amendment filed on June 26, 2014 (“Amendment No. 17), as further
amended by the Articles of Amendment filed on August 11, 2014 (“Amendment No. 2”), is hereby amended by deleting such Section 6.1 and replacing it in its
entirety with the following:
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“Section 6.1 Authorized Shares. The beneficial interest of the Trust shall be divided into shares of beneficial interest (the “Shares”). The Trust
has authority to issue 225,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Shares”), and 40,000,000 preferred shares of
beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Shares”).”
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SECOND: The amendment to the Declaration of Trust as set forth above has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees of the Trust and
approved by the shareholders of the Trust as required by law.

THIRD: The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust had authority to issue immediately prior to the filing of these Articles of
Amendment was 450,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 40,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par
value per share. Immediately prior to the filing of these Articles of Amendment, the aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest
having par value was $4,500,000, and the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value was $400,000.

FOURTH: The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust has authority to issue immediately upon the filing of these Articles of
Amendment is 225,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 40,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value
per share. Immediately upon the filing of these Articles of Amendment, the aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest having par
value is $2,250,000, and the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value is $400,000.

FIFTH: The preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications and terms and conditions of
redemption were not changed by the foregoing amendment.

SIXTH: The undersigned officer acknowledges these Articles of Amendment to be the corporate act of the Trust and as to all matters of facts required to
be verified under oath, the undersigned officer acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all
material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties of perjury.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Kite Realty Group Trust has caused these Articles of Amendment to be executed under seal in its name and on its behalf by
the undersigned officer, and attested to by its Secretary, on this 21st day of May, 2015.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

By: /s/ John A. Kite

John A. Kite
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Attest: /s/ Scott E. Murray
Scott E. Murray
EVP, General Counsel and Secretary

Return Address:

Kite Realty Group Trust

30 S. Meridian Street

Suite 1100

Indianapolis, Indiana 46204



KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES OF AMENDMENT

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) under Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland, hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST: Section 10.4 of Article X of the Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust filed on August 12, 2004 (as
amended as set forth below, the “Declaration of Trust”), as amended by the Articles of Amendment filed on June 26, 2014 (“Amendment No. 17°), as amended by
the Articles of Amendment filed on August 11, 2014 (“Amendment No. 2”), as further amended by the Articles of Amendment filed on May 21, 2015
(“Amendment No. 3”), is hereby amended by deleting such Section 10.4 and replacing it in its entirety with the following:
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Section 10.4 Bylaws. The Bylaws may be amended, altered or repealed, and new Bylaws may be adopted, by the Board of Trustees or by the affirmative
vote of not less than a majority of all votes entitled to be cast on the matter at a meeting of shareholders duly called and at which a quorum is present.
seskokoskskskk

SECOND: The amendment to the Declaration of Trust as set forth above has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees of the Trust and
approved by the shareholders of the Trust as required by law.

THIRD: The undersigned officer acknowledges these Articles of Amendment to be the corporate act of the Trust and as to all matters of facts required to
be verified under oath, the undersigned officer acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all
material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties of perjury.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Kite Realty Group Trust has caused these Articles of Amendment to be executed under seal in its name and on its behalf by
the undersigned officer, and attested to by its Secretary, on this 15th day of May 2020.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

By: /s/ John A. Kite

Name: John A. Kite
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Attest: /s/ Scott E. Murray
Name: Scott E. Murray
Title: EVP, General Counsel and Secretary




KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
ARTICLES SUPPLEMENTARY RECLASSIFYING PREFERRED SHARES

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”), having its principal office in Baltimore City, Maryland, hereby certifies to
the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST: Under a power contained in Section 8-203 of the Maryland REIT Law and Section 6.3 of the Trust’s Articles of Amendment and Restatement of
Declaration of Trust, as filed for record on August 12, 2004 and as thereafter amended and supplemented (the “Declaration of Trust”), the Board of Trustees by
resolution reclassified 20,000,000 shares of unissued and unclassified preferred shares of beneficial interest into common shares of beneficial interest, having all of
the preferences, rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends and other distributions, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption of the
Trust’s existing common shares of beneficial interest as set forth in the Declaration of Trust and the Maryland REIT Law, with the result that the Trust shall, upon
the filing and acceptance for record of these Articles Supplementary, have authorized an aggregate of 245,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, all of
which shall constitute a single class of common shares of beneficial interest, and shall have authorized an aggregate of 20,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial
interest.

SECOND: These Articles Supplementary have been approved by the Trustees in the manner and by the vote required by law.

THIRD: These Articles Supplementary shall be effective at the time the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland accepts these
Articles Supplementary for record.

The undersigned President of the Trust acknowledges these Articles Supplementary to be the act of the Trust and, as to all matters or facts required to be
verified under oath, the undersigned President acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all
material respects and that this statement is made under the penalties for perjury.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Trust has caused these Articles Supplementary to be executed in its name and on its behalf by its President and attested to
by its Secretary as of this 20th day of August, 2021.

KITE GROUP REALTY TRUST

By: /s/ John A. Kite
John A. Kite
President

ATTEST:

By: /s/ Heath R. Fear
Heath R. Fear
Secretary




AMENDMENT OF DECLARATION OF TRUST FOR
KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) under Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated
Code of Maryland, hereby certifies to the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland that:

FIRST: Section 6.1 of Article VI of the Articles of Amendment and Restatement of Declaration of Trust of the Trust, filed on August 12, 2004 (as
supplemented and as amended as set forth below, the “Declaration of Trust”), as supplemented and as amended by the Articles of Amendment filed on June 26,
2014 (“Amendment No. 1), the Articles of Amendment filed on August 11, 2014 (“Amendment No. 2”), the Articles of Amendment filed on May 21, 2015
(“Amendment No. 3”), and the Articles of Amendment filed on May 15, 2020 (“Amendment No. 4”), is hereby amended by deleting such Section 6.1 and
replacing it in its entirety with the following:
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“Section 6.1 Authorized Shares. The beneficial interest of the Trust shall be divided into shares of beneficial interest (the “Shares”). The Trust has
authority to issue 490,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Shares”), and 20,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial
interest, $0.01 par value per share (‘“Preferred Shares”).”
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SECOND: The amendment to the Declaration of Trust as set forth above has been duly approved and advised by the Board of Trustees of the Trust and
approved by the shareholders of the Trust as required by law.

THIRD: The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust had authority to issue immediately prior to the filing of this Amendment was
245,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 20,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share.
Immediately prior to the filing of this Amendment, the aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest having par value was $2,450,000,
and the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value was $200,000.

FOURTH: The total number of shares of beneficial interest that the Trust has authority to issue immediately upon the filing of this Amendment is
490,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 20,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share.
Immediately upon the filing of this Amendment, the aggregate par value of all authorized common shares of beneficial interest having par value is $4,900,000, and
the aggregate par value of all authorized preferred shares of beneficial interest having par value is $200,000.

FIFTH: The preferences, conversion and other rights, voting powers, restrictions, limitations as to dividends, qualifications and terms and conditions of
redemption were not changed by the foregoing amendment.

SIXTH: The undersigned officer acknowledges this Amendment to be the corporate act of the Trust and as to all matters of facts required to be verified
under oath, the undersigned officer acknowledges that to the best of his knowledge, information and belief, these matters and facts are true in all material respects
and that this statement is made under the penalties of perjury.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Kite Realty Group Trust has caused this Amendment to be executed under seal in its name and on its behalf by the
undersigned officer, and attested to by its Secretary, on this 22" day of October, 2021.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
By: /s/ John A. Kite
John A. Kite

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Attest: /s/ Heath R. Fear
Heath R. Fear

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Return Address:

Kite Realty Group Trust

30 S. Meridian Street

Suite 1100

Indianapolis, Indiana 46204



Exhibit 3.2

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

Kite Realty Group Trust, a Maryland real estate investment trust (the “Trust”) hereby amends and restates the Bylaws of the Trust as follows:

ARTICLE I
OFFICES

Section 1. PRINCIPAL OFFICE. The principal office of the Trust shall be located at such place or places as the Board of Trustees may designate.

Section 2. ADDITIONAL OFFICES. The Trust may have additional offices at such places as the Board of Trustees may from time to time determine or the
business of the Trust may require.

ARTICLE 11
MEETINGS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Section 1. PLACE. All meetings of shareholders shall be held at the principal office of the Trust or at such other place within the United States as shall be set by
the Board of Trustees and stated in the notice of the meeting.

Section 2. ANNUAL MEETING. An annual meeting of the shareholders for the election of Trustees and the transaction of any business within the powers of the
Trust shall be held each year, after the delivery of the annual report referred to in Section 12 of this Article II, at a convenient location and on proper notice, on a
date and at the time set by the Board of Trustees. Failure to hold an annual meeting does not invalidate the Trust’s existence or affect any otherwise valid acts of
the Trust.

Section 3. SPECIAL MEETINGS. The chairman of the board, the chief executive officer, the president or a majority of the Trustees may call special meetings of
the shareholders. Special meetings of the shareholders shall be called by the chairman of the board upon the written request of shareholders entitled to cast at least
a majority of all votes entitled to be cast at any such meeting. Such request shall state the purpose or purposes of the meeting and the matters proposed to be acted
on thereat. Upon receipt of such request, the Trust shall inform such shareholders of the reasonably estimated cost of preparing and mailing a notice of the meeting
and, upon payment of such costs to the Trust, the Trust notice to each shareholder entitled to notice of such meeting. No special meeting need be called upon the
request of shareholders entitled to cast less than a majority of all votes entitled to be cast at such a meeting to consider any matter which is substantially the same
as a matter voted on at any special meeting of shareholders held during the preceding 12 months. The Board of Trustees shall have the sole power to fix the record
date for determining shareholders entitled to request a special meeting of shareholders and the date, time and place of the special meeting.

Section 4. NOTICE. Not less than ten nor more than 90 days before each meeting of shareholders, the secretary shall give to each shareholder entitled to vote at
such meeting and to each shareholder not entitled to vote who is entitled to notice of the meeting written or printed notice stating the time and place of the meeting
and, in the case of a special meeting or as otherwise may be required by any statute, the purpose for which the meeting is called, either by mail, by presenting it to
such shareholder personally or by leaving it at his or her residence or usual place of business, or by transmitting it to such shareholder by electronic mail to any
electronic mail address of such shareholder or by any other electronic means. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United
States mail addressed to the shareholder at his or her post office address as it appears on the records of the Trust, with postage thereon prepaid.

Section 5. SCOPE OF NOTICE. Any business of the Trust may be transacted at an annual meeting of shareholders without being specifically designated in the
notice, except such business as is required by any statute to be stated in such notice. No business shall be transacted at a special meeting of shareholders except as
specifically designated in the notice.




Section 6. ORGANIZATION AND CONDUCT. At every meeting of the shareholders, the Chairman of the Board, if there be one, shall conduct the meeting or, in
the case of vacancy in office or absence of the Chairman of the Board, one of the following officers present shall conduct the meeting in the order stated: the Vice
Chairman of the Board, if there be one, the President, the Vice Presidents in their order of rank and seniority, or a Chairman chosen by the shareholders entitled to
cast a majority of the votes which all shareholders present in person or by proxy are entitled to cast, shall act as Chairman, and the Secretary, or, in his or her
absence, an assistant secretary, or in the absence of both the Secretary and assistant secretaries, a person appointed by the Chairman shall act as Secretary. The
order of business and all other matters of procedure at any meeting of shareholders shall be determined by the chairman of the meeting. The chairman of the
meeting may prescribe such rules, regulations and procedures and take such action as, in the discretion of such chairman, are appropriate for the proper conduct of
the meeting, including, without limitation, (a) restricting admission to the time set for the commencement of the meeting; (b) limiting attendance at the meeting to
shareholders of record of the Trust, their duly authorized proxies or other such persons as the chairman of the meeting may determine; (c) limiting participation at
the meeting on any matter to shareholders of record of the Trust entitled to vote on such matter, their duly authorized proxies or other such persons as the chairman
of the meeting may determine; (d) limiting the time allotted to questions or comments by participants; (¢) maintaining order and security at the meeting; (f)
removing any shareholder or any other person who refuses to comply with meeting procedures, rules or guidelines as set forth by the chairman of the meeting; and
(g) recessing or adjourning the meeting to a later date and time and place announced at the meeting. Unless otherwise determined by the chairman of the meeting,
meetings of shareholders shall not be required to be held in accordance with the rules of parliamentary procedure.

Section 7. QUORUM. At any meeting of shareholders, the presence in person or by proxy of shareholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be
cast at such meeting shall constitute a quorum,; but this section shall not affect any requirement under any statute or the Declaration of Trust, as amended, restated
or supplemented from time to time (the “Declaration of Trust”) for the vote necessary for the adoption of any measure. If, however, such quorum shall not be
present at any meeting of the shareholders, the shareholders entitled to vote at such meeting, present in person or by proxy, shall have the power to adjourn the
meeting from time to time to a date not more than 120 days after the original record date without a new record date and without notice other than announcement at
the meeting. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as
originally notified.

Section 8. VOTING.1 At each annual meeting of shareholders, the Trustees to be elected at the meeting shall be chosen by the majority of the votes cast by the
holders of shares entitled to vote in the election at the meeting, provided a quorum is present; provided, however, that if, as of the last day on which a shareholder
could timely provide notice to the secretary of the Trust of its intent to nominate a person for election to the Board of Trustees at a meeting of shareholders
pursuant to these Bylaws, the number of nominees exceeds the number of Trustees to be elected, then Trustees shall be elected by the vote of a plurality of the
votes cast by the holders of shares entitled to vote, provided a quorum is present. Each share may be voted for as many individuals as there are Trustees to be
elected and for whose election the share is entitled to be voted. For purposes of this Section 8, a “majority of votes cast” shall mean that the number of votes cast
“for” a Trustee’s election exceeds the number of votes cast “against” that Trustee’s election.

A majority of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders duly called and at which a quorum is present shall be sufficient to approve any other matter that may
properly come before the meeting, unless a higher vote is required herein or by statute or by the Declaration of Trust. Unless otherwise provided in the Declaration
of Trust, each outstanding share, regardless of class, shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of shareholders.”

Section 9. PROXIES. A shareholder may cast the votes entitled to be cast by the shares owned of record by him or her either in person or by proxy executed in
writing by the shareholder or by his or her duly authorized agent in any manner permitted by law. Such proxy shall be filed with the secretary of the Trust before or
at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after eleven months from the date of its execution, unless otherwise provided in the proxy.



Section 10. VOTING OF SHARES BY CERTAIN HOLDERS. Shares of the Trust registered in the name of a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity, if
entitled to be voted, may be voted by the president or a vice president, a general partner or trustee thereof, as the case may be, or a proxy appointed by any of the
foregoing individuals, unless some other person who has been appointed to vote such shares pursuant to a bylaw or a resolution of the governing board of such
corporation or other entity or agreement of the partners of the partnership presents a certified copy of such bylaw, resolution or agreement, in which case such
person may vote such shares. Any trustee or other fiduciary may vote shares registered in his or her name as such fiduciary, either in person or by proxy.

Shares of the Trust directly or indirectly owned by it shall not be voted at any meeting and shall not be counted in determining the total number of outstanding
shares entitled to be voted at any given time, unless they are held in a fiduciary capacity, in which case they may be voted and shall be counted in determining the
total number of outstanding shares at any given time.

The Board of Trustees may adopt by resolution a procedure by which a shareholder may certify in writing to the Trust that any shares registered in the name of the
shareholder are held for the account of a specified person other than the shareholder. The resolution shall set forth the class of shareholders who may make the
certification, the purpose for which the certification may be made, the form of certification and the information to be contained in it; if the certification is with
respect to a record date or closing of the share transfer books, the time after the record date or closing of the share transfer books within which the certification
must be received by the Trust; and any other provisions with respect to the procedure which the Board of Trustees considers necessary or desirable. On receipt of
such certification, the person specified in the certification shall be regarded as, for the purposes set forth in the certification, the shareholder of record of the
specified shares in place of the shareholder who makes the certification.

Section 11. INSPECTORS. At any meeting of shareholders, the chairman of the meeting may, or upon the request of any shareholder shall, appoint one or more
persons as inspectors for such meeting. Such inspectors shall ascertain and report the number of shares represented at the meeting based upon their determination
of the validity and effect of proxies, count all votes, report the results and perform such other acts as are proper to conduct the election and voting with impartiality
and fairness to all the shareholders. In case any person who may be appointed as an inspector fails to appear or act, the vacancy may be filled by appointment made
by the Board of Trustees in advance of the meeting or at the meeting by the chairman of the meeting.

Each report of an inspector shall be in writing and signed by him or her or by a majority of them if there is more than one inspector acting at such meeting. If there
is more than one inspector, the report of a majority shall be the report of the inspectors. The report of the inspector or inspectors on the number of shares
represented at the meeting and the results of the voting shall be prima facie evidence thereof.

Section 12. REPORTS TO SHAREHOLDERS. The Board of Trustees shall submit to the shareholders at or before the annual meeting of shareholders a report of
the business and operations of the Trust during such fiscal year, containing a balance sheet and a statement of income and surplus of the Trust, accompanied by the
certification of an independent certified public accountant, and such further information as the Board of Trustees may determine is required pursuant to any law or
regulation to which the Trust is subject. Within the earlier of 20 days after the annual meeting of shareholders or 120 days after the end of the fiscal year of the
Trust, the Board of Trustees shall place the annual report on file at the principal office of the Trust and with any governmental agencies as may be required by law
and as the Board of Trustees may deem appropriate.

Section 13. ADVANCE NOTICE OF SHAREHOLDER NOMINEES FOR TRUSTEE AND OTHER PROPOSALS BY SHAREHOLDERS.
(a) Annual Meetings of Shareholders.
(1) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Trustees and the proposal of business to be considered by the shareholders may be made at an

annual meeting of shareholders only (i) pursuant to the Trust’s notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board of Trustees or (iii) by any shareholder of
the Trust who was



a shareholder of record both at the time of giving of notice provided for in this Section 13(a) and at the time of the annual meeting, who is entitled to vote at the
meeting and who complied with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 13(a).

(2) For nominations for election to the Board of Trustees or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a shareholder pursuant to
clause (iii) of paragraph (a)(1) of this Section 13, the shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the secretary of the Trust and such other
business must otherwise be a proper matter for action by shareholders. To be timely, a shareholder’s notice must be delivered to the secretary at the principal
executive office of the Trust by not later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of mailing of the notice for the
preceding year’s annual meeting nor earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the date of mailing of the notice for the
preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the mailing of the notice for the annual meeting is advanced or delayed by
more than 30 days from the first anniversary of the date of the mailing of the notice for the preceding year’s annual meeting, notice by the shareholder to be timely
must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the date of mailing of the notice for such annual meeting and not later than the
close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the date of mailing of the notice for such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public
announcement of the date of mailing of the notice for such meeting is first made by the Trust. In no event shall the public announcement of a postponement of an
annual meeting to a later date or time commence a new time period for the giving of a shareholder’s notice as described above. Such shareholder’s notice shall set
forth (i) as to each person whom the shareholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a trustee (A) the name, age, business address and residence
address of such person, (B) the class and number of shares of beneficial interest of the Trust that are beneficially owned or owned of record by such person and (C)
all other information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of Trustees in an election contest (even if an
election contest is not involved), or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A (or any successor provision) under the Exchange Act (including
such person’s written consent to being named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serving as a trustee if elected); (ii) as to any other business that the
shareholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a description in reasonable detail of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, the reasons for
conducting such business at the meeting and any material interest in such business of such shareholder (including any anticipated benefit to the shareholder
therefrom) and of each beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made; and (iii) as to the shareholder giving the notice and each beneficial owner, if
any, on whose behalf the nomination or proposal is made, (x) the name and address of such shareholder, as they appear on the Trust’s share ledger and current
name and address, if different, of such beneficial owner, and (y) the class and number of shares of each class of beneficial interest of the Trust which are owned
beneficially and of record by such shareholder and owned beneficially by such beneficial owner.

(3) Notwithstanding anything in this subsection(a) of this Section 13 to the contrary, in the event that the number of Trustees to be elected to the Board of
Trustees is increased and there is no public announcement by the Trust of such action or specifying the size of the increased Board of Trustees at least 100 days
prior to the first anniversary of the date of mailing of the notice of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a sharecholder’s notice required by this Section 13(a) shall
also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, if the notice is delivered to the secretary at the
principal executive offices of the Trust not later than the close of business on the 10th day immediately following the day on which such public announcement is
first made by the Trust.

(b) Special Meetings of Shareholders. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of shareholders as shall have been brought before the
meeting pursuant to the Trust’s notice of meeting. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Trustees may be made at a special meeting of shareholders
at which Trustees are to be elected only (i) pursuant to the Trust’s notice of meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of the Board of Trustees or (iii) provided that the
Board of Trustees has determined that Trustees shall be elected at such special meeting, by any shareholder of the Trust who is a shareholder of record both at the
time of giving of notice provided for in this Section 13(b) and at the time of the special meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has complied with
the notice procedures set forth in this Section 13(b). In the event the Trust calls a special meeting of shareholders for the purpose of electing one or more Trustees
to the Board of Trustees, any such shareholder may



nominate a person or persons (as the case may be) for election as a Trustee as specified in the Trust’s notice of meeting, if the shareholder’s notice containing the
information required by paragraph (a)(2) of this Section 13 shall be delivered to the secretary at the principal executive offices of the Trust not earlier than the
close of business on the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or
the 10th day following the day on which public announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and the nominees proposed by the Board of Trustees
to be elected at such meeting. In no event shall the public announcement of a postponement or adjournment of a special meeting to a later date or time commence a
new time period for the giving of a shareholder’s notice as described above.

(c) General.

(1) Upon written request by the secretary or the Board of Trustees or any committee thereof, any shareholder proposing a nominee for election as a Trustee
or any proposal for other business at a meeting of shareholders shall provide, within five business days of delivery of such request (or such other period as may be
specified in such request), written verification, satisfactory to the secretary or the Board of Trustees or any committee thereof, in his, her or its sole discretion, of
the accuracy of any information submitted by the shareholder pursuant to this Section 13. If a shareholder fails to provide such written verification within such
period, the secretary or the Board of Trustees or any committee thereof may treat the information as to which written verification was requested as not having been
provided in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13.

(2) Only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13 shall be eligible to serve as Trustees, and only such
business shall be conducted at a meeting of shareholders as shall have been brought before the meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section
13. The chairman of the meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting
was made or proposed, as the case may be, in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13 and, if any proposed nomination or other business is not
in compliance with this Section 13, to declare that such defective nomination or proposal be disregarded.

(3) For purposes of this Section 13, (a) the “date of mailing of the notice” shall mean the date of the proxy statement for the solicitation of proxies for
election of Trustees and (b) “public announcement” shall mean disclosure (i) in a press release either transmitted to the principal securities exchange on which the
Trust’s common shares are traded or reported by a recognized news service or (ii) in a document publicly filed by the Trust with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission.

(4) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 13, a shareholder shall also comply with all applicable requirements of state law and of the
Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 13. Nothing in this Section 13 shall be deemed to affect
any right of a shareholder to request inclusion of a proposal in, nor the right of the Trust to omit a proposal from, the Trust’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-
8 (or any successor provision) under the Exchange Act.

Section 14. INFORMAL ACTION BY SHAREHOLDERS. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of shareholders may be taken without a
meeting if a consent in writing, setting forth such action, is signed by each shareholder entitled to vote on the matter and any other shareholder entitled to notice of
a meeting of shareholders (but not to vote thereat) has waived in writing any right to dissent from such action, and such consent and waiver are filed with the
minutes of proceedings of the shareholders.

Section 15. VOTING BY BALLOT. Voting on any question or in any election may be by voice unless the presiding officer shall order or any shareholder shall
demand that voting be by ballot.

Section 16. CONTROL SHARE ACQUISITION ACT. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Declaration of Trust of the Trust or these Bylaws, Title 3,
Subtitle 7 of the Maryland General Corporation Law (or any successor statute) shall not apply to any acquisition by any person of shares of beneficial interest of
the Trust. This section may be repealed, in whole or in part, at any time, whether before or after an acquisition of control shares and, upon such repeal, may, to the
extent provided by any successor bylaw, apply to any prior or subsequent control share acquisition.




ARTICLE I1I
TRUSTEES

Section 1. GENERAL POWERS: QUALIFICATIONS: TRUSTEES HOLDING OVER. The business and affairs of the Trust shall be managed under the direction
of its Board of Trustees. A Trustee shall be an individual at least 21 years of age who is not under legal disability. In case of failure to elect Trustees at an annual
meeting of the shareholders, the Trustees holding over shall continue to direct the management of the business and affairs of the Trust until their successors are
elected and qualify.

Section 2. NUMBER AND INDEPENDENCE. At any regular meeting or at any special meeting called for that purpose, a majority of the entire Board of Trustees
may establish, increase or decrease the number of Trustees, subject to any limitations in the Declaration of Trust. At least a majority of the Board of Trustees shall
be trustees whom the Board has determined are “independent” under the standards established by the Board of Trustees and in accordance with the then applicable
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. All nominations must be submitted through and approved by the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and follow the nominating process established by that committee for the nomination of trustees and must satisfy the standards for membership on the
Board of Trustees approved by the Board of Trustees or that committee from time to time.

Section 3. ANNUAL AND REGULAR MEETINGS. An annual meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held immediately after and at the same place as the
annual meeting of shareholders, no notice other than this Bylaw being necessary. The Board of Trustees may provide, by resolution, the time and place, either
within or without the State of Maryland, for the holding of regular meetings of the Board of Trustees without other notice than such resolution.

Section 4. SPECIAL MEETINGS. Special meetings of the Board of Trustees may be called by or at the request of the chairman of the board, the chief executive
officer or the president or by a majority of the Trustees then in office. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Trustees may fix
any place, either within or without the State of Maryland, as the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Trustees called by them.

Section 5. NOTICE. Notice of any special meeting shall be given by written notice delivered personally, telegraphed, electronically mailed, facsimile-transmitted
or mailed or couriered to each Trustee at his or her business or residence address. Personally delivered or telegraphed notices shall be given at least two days prior
to the meeting. Notice by mail shall be given at least five days prior to the meeting. Telephone, electronic mail or facsimile-transmission notice shall be given at
least 24 hours prior to the meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be given when deposited in the United States mail properly addressed, with postage
thereon prepaid. If given by telegram, such notice shall be deemed to be given when the telegram is delivered to the telegraph company. Telephone notice shall be
deemed given when the Trustee is personally given such notice in a telephone call to which he or she is a party. Electronic mail notice shall be deemed to be given
upon transmission of the message to the electronic mail address given to the Trust by the Trustee. Facsimile-transmission notice shall be deemed given upon
completion of the transmission of the message to the number given to the Trust by the Trustee and receipt of a completed answer-back indicating receipt. Notice by
courier shall be deemed to be given when deposited with or delivered to a courier properly addressed. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of,
any annual, regular or special meeting of the Board of Trustees need be stated in the notice, unless specifically required by statute or these Bylaws.

Section 6. QUORUM. A majority of the Board of Trustees shall constitute a quorum for transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Trustees, provided
that, if less than a majority of such Trustees are present at said meeting, a majority of the Trustees present may adjourn the meeting from time to time without
further notice, and provided further that if, pursuant to the Declaration of Trust or these Bylaws, the vote of a majority of a particular group of Trustees is required
for action, a quorum must also include a majority of such group.

The Trustees present at a meeting which has been duly called and convened may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal
of enough Trustees to leave less than a quorum.



Section 7. VOTING. The action of the majority of the Trustees present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the action of the Board of Trustees,
unless the concurrence of a greater proportion is required for such action by applicable statute.

Section 8. TELEPHONE MEETINGS. Trustees may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment if all
persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by these means shall constitute presence in person at the
meeting.

Section 9. INFORMAL ACTION BY TRUSTEES. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Trustees may be taken without a
meeting, if a consent in writing or by electronic transmission to such action is signed or transmitted by each Trustee and such consent is filed in paper or electronic
form with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Trustees.

Section 10. ORGANIZATION. At each meeting of the Board of Trustees, the chairman of the Board of Trustees or, in the absence of the chairman, the vice
chairman, if any, of the Board of Trustees, if any, shall act as Chairman. In the absence of both the chairman and vice chairman of the Board of Trustees, the chief
executive officer or in the absence of the chief executive officer, the president or in the absence of the president, a director chosen by a majority of the Trustees
present, shall act as Chairman. The secretary or, in his or her absence, an assistant secretary of the Trust, or in the absence of the secretary and all assistant
secretaries, a person appointed by the Chairman, shall act as Secretary of the meeting.

Section 11. VACANCIES. If for any reason any or all the Trustees cease to be Trustees, such event shall not terminate the Trust, or affect these Bylaws or the
powers of the remaining Trustees hereunder (even if fewer than a quorum of Trustees remain). Any vacancy (including a vacancy created by an increase in the
number of Trustees) shall be filled, at any regular meeting or at any special meeting called for that purpose, by a majority of* the Trustees, even if the remaining
Trustees do not constitute a quorum. Any individual so elected as Trustee shall hold office for the unexpired term of the Trustee he or she is replacing and until a
successor is elected and qualifies.

Section 12. COMPENSATION. Trustees shall not receive any stated salary for their services as Trustees but, by resolution of the Board of Trustees or a duly
authorized committee thereof, may receive compensation per year and/or per meeting and for any service or activity they performed or engaged in as Trustees.
Trustees may be reimbursed for expenses of attendance, if any, at each annual, regular or special meeting of the Board of Trustees or of any committee thereof; and
for their expenses, if any, in connection with any service or activity performed or engaged in as Trustees; but nothing herein contained shall be construed to
preclude any Trustees from serving the Trust in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

Section 13. REMOVAL OF TRUSTEES. The shareholders may remove any Trustee in the manner provided in the Declaration of Trust.

Section 14. RELIANCE. Each Trustee, officer, employee and agent of the Trust shall, in the performance of his or her duties with respect to the Trust, be fully
justified and protected with regard to any act or failure to act in reliance in good faith upon the books of account or other records of the Trust, upon an opinion of
counsel or upon reports made to the Trust by any of its officers or employees or by the adviser, accountants, appraisers or other experts or consultants selected by
the Trustees or officers of the Trust, regardless of whether such counsel or expert may also be a Trustee.

Section 15. INTERESTED TRUSTEE TRANSACTIONS. Section 2?7419 of the Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”) shall be available for and
apply to any contract or other transaction between the Trust and any of its Trustees or between the Trust and any other trust, corporation, firm or other entity in
which any of its Trustees is a trustee or director or has a material financial interest.



ARTICLE 1V
COMMITTEES

Section 1. NUMBER, TENURE AND QUALIFICATIONS. The Board of Trustees may appoint from among its members an Audit Committee, a Compensation
Committee, a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and other committees, composed of one or more Trustees, to serve at the pleasure of the Board
of Trustees.

Section 2. POWERS. The Board of Trustees may delegate to committees appointed under Section 1 of this Article any of the powers of the Trustees, except as
prohibited by law.

Section 3. MEETINGS. In the absence of any member of any such committee, the members thereof present at any meeting, whether or not they constitute a
quorum, may appoint another Trustee to act in the place of such absent member provided that such Trustee meets the requirements of such committee. Notice of
committee meetings shall be given in the same manner as notice for special meetings of the Board of Trustees. Each committee shall keep minutes of its
proceedings and shall report the same to the Board of Trustees at the next succeeding meeting, and any action by the committee shall be subject to revision and
alteration by the Board of Trustees, provided that no rights of third persons shall be affected by any such revision or alteration.

Section 4. QUORUM. A majority of the members of any committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a committee meeting, and the act of
a majority present shall be the act of such committee. The Board of Trustees, or the members of a committee to which such power has been duly delegated by the
Board of Trustees, may designate a chairman of any committee, and such chairman or any two members of any committee may fix the time and place of its
meetings unless the Board shall otherwise provide.

Section 5. TELEPHONE MEETINGS. Members of a committee of the Board of Trustees may participate in a meeting by means of a conference telephone or
similar communications equipment if all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other at the same time. Participation in a meeting by these means shall
constitute presence in person at the meeting.

Section 6. INFORMAL ACTION BY COMMITTEES. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of a committee of the Board of Trustees may
be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing or by electronic transmission to such action is signed or transmitted by each member of the committee and such
consent is filed in paper or electronic form with the minutes of proceedings of such committee.

Section 7. VACANCIES, REMOVAL AND DISSOLUTION. Subject to the provisions hereof, the Board of Trustees shall have the power at any time to change
the membership of any committee, to fill all vacancies, to designate alternate members to replace any absent or disqualified member or to dissolve any such
committee.

ARTICLE V
OFFICERS

Section 1. GENERAL PROVISIONS. The officers of the Trust shall include a president, a secretary and a treasurer and may include a chairman of the board, a
vice chairman of the board, a chief executive officer, a chief operating officer, a chief financial officer, one or more vice presidents, one or more assistant
secretaries and one or more assistant treasurers. In addition, the Board of Trustees may from time to time appoint such other officers with such powers and duties
as they shall deem necessary or desirable. The officers of the Trust shall be elected annually by the Board of Trustees at the first meeting of the Board of Trustees
held after each annual meeting of shareholders, except that the president may appoint one or more vice presidents. If the election of officers shall not be held at
such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as may be convenient. Each officer shall hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualifies or
until his or her death, resignation or removal in the manner hereinafter provided. Any two or more offices except president and vice president may be held by the
same person. In their discretion, the Trustees may leave unfilled any office. Election of an officer or agent shall not of itself create contract rights between the Trust
and such officer or agent.




Section 2. REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION. Any officer or agent of the Trust may be removed by the Board of Trustees if in its judgment the best interests of
the Trust would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Any officer of the Trust
may resign at any time by giving written notice of his or her resignation to the Trustees, the chairman of the board, the president or the secretary. Any resignation
shall take effect at any time subsequent to the time specified therein or, if the time when it shall become effective is not specified therein, immediately upon its
receipt. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless otherwise stated in the resignation. Such resignation shall be without
prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the Trust.

Section 3. VACANCIES. A vacancy in any office may be filled by the Board of Trustees for the balance of the term.

Section 4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER. The Board of Trustees may designate a chief executive officer from among the elected officers. The chief executive
officer shall have responsibility for implementation of the policies of the Trust, as determined by the Board of Trustees, and for the administration of the business
affairs of the Trust. In the absence of the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer shall preside over the meetings of the board of Trustees and of the
shareholders at which he or she shall be present.

Section 5. CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER. The Board of Trustees may designate a chief operating officer from among the elected officers. Said officer will have
the responsibilities and duties as set forth by the Board of Trustees or the chief executive officer.

Section 6. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER. The Board of Trustees may designate a chief financial officer from among the elected officers. Said officer will have
the responsibilities and duties as set forth by the Board of Trustees or the chief executive officer.

Section 7. CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD. The chairman of the board shall preside over the meetings of the Board of Trustees and of the shareholders at which he
or she shall be present and shall in general oversee all of the business and affairs of the Trust. The chairman of the board may execute any deed, mortgage, bond,
contract or other instrument, except in cases where the execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Trustees or by these Bylaws to some other
officer or agent of the Trust or shall be required by law to be otherwise executed. The chairman of the board shall perform such other duties as may be assigned to
him or her or such other officer or agent of the Trust by the Board of Trustees.

Section 8. PRESIDENT. In the absence of the chairman of the board and the chief executive officer, the president shall preside over the meetings of the Board of
Trustees and of the shareholders at which he or she shall be present. In the absence of a designation of a chief executive officer by the Board of Trustees, the
president shall be the chief executive officer. The president may execute any deed, mortgage, bond, contract or other instrument, except in cases where the
execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Trustees or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the Trust or shall be required by law to
be otherwise executed; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of president and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of
Trustees from time to time.

Section 9. VICE PRESIDENTS. In the absence of the president or in the event of a vacancy in such office, the vice president (or in the event there be more than
one vice president, the vice presidents in the order designated at the time of their election or, in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election)
shall perform the duties of the president and when so acting shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the president; and shall perform
such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the president or by the Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees may designate one or
more vice presidents as executive vice president, as senior vice president or as vice president for particular areas of responsibility. The president may designate one
or more vice presidents as vice president for particular areas of responsibility.

Section 10. SECRETARY. The secretary shall (a) keep the minutes of the proceedings of the shareholders, the Board of Trustees and committees of the Board of
Trustees in one or more books provided for that purpose; (b) see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws or as required by
law; (c) be custodian of the trust records and of the seal of the Trust; (d) keep a register of the post office address of each



shareholder which shall be furnished to the secretary by such shareholder; () have general charge of the share transfer books of the Trust; and (f) in general
perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the chief executive officer, the president or by the Board of Trustees.

Section 11. TREASURER. The treasurer shall have the custody of the funds and securities of the Trust and shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and
disbursements in books belonging to the Trust and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Trust in such depositories
as may be designated by the Board of Trustees.

The treasurer shall disburse the funds of the Trust as may be ordered by the Board of Trustees, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to
the president and Board of Trustees, at the regular meetings of the Board of Trustees or whenever they may require it, an account of all his or her transactions as
treasurer and of the financial condition of the Trust.

If required by the Board of Trustees, the treasurer shall give the Trust a bond in such sum and with such surety or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of
Trustees for the faithful performance of the duties of his or her office and for the restoration to the Trust, in case of his or her death, resignation, retirement or
removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, moneys and other property of whatever kind in his or her possession or under his or her control belonging to
the Trust.

Section 12. ASSISTANT SECRETARIES AND ASSISTANT TREASURERS. The assistant secretaries and assistant treasurers, in general, shall perform such
duties as shall be assigned to them by the secretary or treasurer, respectively, or by the president, the chief executive officer or the Board of Trustees. The assistant
treasurers shall, if required by the Board of Trustees, give bonds for the faithful performance of their duties in such sums and with such surety or sureties as shall
be satisfactory to the Board of Trustees.

Section 13. SALARIES. The salaries and other compensation of the officers shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Trustees or the president and no
officer shall be prevented from receiving such salary or other compensation by reason of the fact that he or she is also a Trustee.

ARTICLE VI
CONTRACTS, CHECKS AND DEPOSITS

Section 1. CONTRACTS. The Board of Trustees or the president may authorize any officer or agent to enter into any contract or to execute and deliver any
instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Trust and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Any agreement, deed, mortgage, lease or
other document executed by one or more of the Trustees or by an authorized person shall be valid and binding upon the Board of Trustees and upon the Trust.

Section 2. CHECKS AND DRAFTS. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money, notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of
the Trust shall be signed by such officer or agent of the Trust in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by the Board of Trustees.

Section 3. DEPOSITS. All funds of the Trust not otherwise employed shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Trust in such banks, trust companies
or other depositories as the Board of Trustees may designate.

ARTICLE VII
SHARES

Section 1. CERTIFICATES. In the event that the Trust issues shares of beneficial interest evidenced by certificates, each shareholder shall be entitled to a
certificate or certificates which shall evidence and certify the number of shares of each class of beneficial interests held by him or her in the Trust. Each certificate
shall be signed by the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer, the president or a vice president and countersigned by the secretary or an assistant
secretary or the treasurer or an assistant treasurer and may be sealed with the seal, if any, of the Trust. The signatures may be either manual or facsimile.
Certificates shall be consecutively numbered; and if the Trust shall, from time to time, issue several classes of shares, each class may have its own number series.
A certificate is valid



and may be issued whether or not an officer who signed it is still an officer when it is issued. Each certificate representing shares which are restricted as to their
transferability or voting powers, which are preferred or limited as to their dividends or as to their allocable portion of the assets upon liquidation or which are
redeemable at the option of the Trust, shall have a statement of such restriction, limitation, preference or redemption provision, or a summary thereof, plainly stated
on the certificate. In lieu of such statement or summary, the Trust may set forth upon the face or back of the certificate a statement that the Trust will furnish to any
shareholder, upon request and without charge, a full statement of such information.

Section 2. TRANSFERS. Certificates shall be treated as negotiable and title thereto and to the shares they represent shall be transferred by delivery thereof to the
same extent as those of a Maryland stock corporation. Upon surrender to the Trust or the transfer agent of the Trust of a share certificate duly endorsed or
accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignment or authority to transfer, the Trust shall issue a new certificate to the person entitled thereto, cancel the
old certificate and record the transaction upon its books.

The Trust shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share or shares as the holder in fact thereof and, accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize any
equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as
otherwise provided by the laws of the State of Maryland.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, transfers of shares of beneficial interest of the Trust will be subject in all respects to the Declaration of Trust and all of the terms
and conditions contained therein.

Section 3. REPLACEMENT CERTIFICATE. Any officer designated by the Board of Trustees may direct a new certificate to be issued in place of any certificate
previously issued by the Trust alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate to be
lost, stolen or destroyed. When authorizing the issuance of a new certificate, an officer designated by the Board of Trustees may, in his or her discretion and as a
condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate or the owner’s legal representative to advertise the same
in such manner as he or she shall require and/or to give bond, with sufficient surety, to the Trust to indemnify it against any loss or claim which may arise as a
result of the issuance of a new certificate.

Section 4. CLOSING OF TRANSFER BOOKS OR FIXING OF RECORD DATE. The Board of Trustees may set, in advance, a record date for the purpose of
determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of shareholders or determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or
the allotment of any other rights, or in order to make a determination of shareholders for any other proper purpose. Such date, in any case, shall not be prior to the
close of business on the day the record date is fixed and shall be not more than 90 days and, in the case of a meeting of shareholders not less than ten days, before
the date on which the meeting or particular action requiring such determination of shareholders of record is to be held or taken.

In lieu of fixing a record date, the Board of Trustees may provide that the share transfer books shall be closed for a stated period but not longer than 20 days. If the
share transfer books are closed for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders, such books shall be closed
for at least ten days before the date of such meeting.

If no record date is fixed and the share transfer books are not closed for the determination of shareholders, (a) the record date for the determination of shareholders
entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders shall be at the close of business on the day on which the notice of meeting is mailed or the 30th day
before the meeting, whichever is the closer date to the meeting; and (b) the record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to receive payment of a
dividend or an allotment of any other rights shall be the close of business on the day on which the resolution of the Board of Trustees, declaring the dividend or
allotment of rights, is adopted.

When a determination of shareholders entitled to vote at any meeting of shareholders has been made as provided in this section, such determination shall apply to
any adjournment thereof, except when (i) the determination has been made through the closing of the transfer books and the stated period of closing has expired or
(ii) the meeting is



adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the record date fixed for the original meeting, in either of which case a new record date shall be determined as set
forth herein.

Section 5. SHARE LEDGER. The Trust shall maintain at its principal office or at the office of its counsel, accountants or transfer agent, an original or duplicate
share ledger containing the name and address of each shareholder and the number of shares of each class held by such shareholder.

Section 6. FRACTIONAL SHARES: ISSUANCE OF UNITS. The Board of Trustees may issue fractional shares or provide for the issuance of scrip, all on such
terms and under such conditions as they may determine. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Declaration of Trust or these Bylaws, the Board of Trustees
may issue units consisting of different securities of the Trust. Any security issued in a unit shall have the same characteristics as any identical securities issued by
the Trust, except that the Board of Trustees may provide that for a specified period securities of the Trust issued in such unit may be transferred to the books of the
Trust only in such unit.

ARTICLE VIII
ACCOUNTING YEAR

The Board of Trustees shall have the power, from time to time, to fix the fiscal year of the Trust by a duly adopted resolution.

ARTICLE IX
DISTRIBUTIONS

Section 1. AUTHORIZATION. Dividends and other distributions upon the shares of beneficial interest of the Trust may be authorized and declared by the Board
of Trustees, subject to the provisions of law and the Declaration of Trust. Dividends and other distributions may be paid in cash, property or shares of the Trust,
subject to the provisions of law and the Declaration of Trust.

Section 2. CONTINGENCIES. Before payment of any dividends or other distributions, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Trust available for dividends
or other distributions such sum or sums as the Board of Trustees may from time to time, in their absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve fund for
contingencies, for equalizing dividends or other distributions, for repairing or maintaining any property of the Trust or for such other purpose as the Board of
Trustees shall determine to be in the best interest of the Trust, and the Board of Trustees may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was
created.

ARTICLE X
SEAL

Section 1. SEAL. The Board of Trustees may authorize the adoption of a seal by the Trust. The seal shall have inscribed thereon the name of the Trust and the year
of its formation. The Trustees may authorize one or more duplicate seals and provide for the custody thereof.

Section 2. AFFIXING SEAL. Whenever the Trust is permitted or required to affix its seal to a document, it shall be sufficient to meet the requirements of any law,
rule or regulation relating to a seal to place the word “(SEAL)” adjacent to the signature of the person authorized to execute the document on behalf of the Trust.

ARTICLE XI
INDEMNIFICATION AND ADVANCE OF EXPENSES

To the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law in effect from time to time, the Trust shall indemnify (a) any Trustee or officer (including among the
foregoing, for all purposes of this Article XI and without limitation, any individual who, while a Trustee or officer and at the express request of the Trust, serves or
has served another real estate investment trust, corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or any other enterprise as a director, officer,
shareholder, partner or trustee of such real estate investment trust, corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise) who has
been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of a proceeding to which he or she was made a party by reason of service in such capacity, against



reasonable expenses incurred by him or her in connection with the proceeding, and (b) any Trustee or officer or any former Trustee or officer against any claim or
liability to which he or she may become subject by reason of such status unless it is established that (i) his or her act or omission was material to the matter giving
rise to the proceeding and was committed in bad faith or was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, (ii) he or she actually received an improper personal
benefit in money, property or services or (iii) in the case of a criminal proceeding, he or she had reasonable cause to believe that his or her act or omission was
unlawful. In addition, the Trust shall pay or reimburse, as incurred, in advance of final disposition of a proceeding, reasonable expenses incurred by a Trustee or
officer or former Trustee or officer made a party to a proceeding by reason of such status, provided that the Trust shall have received (i) a written affirmation by
the Trustee or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the applicable standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the Trust as
authorized by these Bylaws and (ii) a written undertaking by or on his or her behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed by the Trust if it shall ultimately be
determined that the applicable standard of conduct was not met. The Trust may, with the approval of its Board of Trustees, provide such indemnification or
payment or reimbursement of expenses to any Trustee, officer or shareholder or any former Trustee, officer or shareholder who served a predecessor of the Trust
and to any employee or agent of the Trust or a predecessor of the Trust.

Neither the amendment nor repeal of this Article, nor the adoption or amendment of any other provision of the Declaration of Trust or these Bylaws inconsistent
with this Article, shall apply to or affect in any respect the applicability of this Article with respect to any act or failure to act which occurred prior to such
amendment, repeal or adoption.

Any indemnification or payment or reimbursement of the expenses permitted by these Bylaws shall be furnished in accordance with the procedures provided for
indemnification or payment or reimbursement of expenses, as the case may be, under Section 2-418 of the MGCL for directors of Maryland corporations. The
Trust may provide to Trustees, officers, employees, agents and shareholders such other and further indemnification or payment or reimbursement of expenses, as
the case may be, to the fullest extent permitted by the MGCL, as in effect from time to time, for directors of Maryland corporations.

ARTICLE XII
WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever any notice is required to be given pursuant to the Declaration of Trust or these Bylaws or pursuant to applicable law, a waiver thereof in writing, signed
by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice. Neither the
business to be transacted at nor the purpose of any meeting need be set forth in the waiver of notice, unless specifically required by statute. The attendance of any
person at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where such person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the
transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

ARTICLE XIII
AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

The Board of Trustees shall have the exclusive power to adopt, alter or repeal any provision of these Bylaws and to make new Bylaws.
k ok ok ok
The foregoing Bylaws were adopted by the board of trustees on August 9, 2004. Section 2 of Article II and Section 1 of Article VII were amended on November 2,

2004. Section 9 of Article III and Section 6 of Article IV were amended on May 9, 2012. Section 2 of Article II was amended on January 19, 2015. Section 8 of
Article II was also amended on January 19, 2015, effective as of June 1, 2015.



1 NOTE: This Section 8, Article II was amended pursuant to an amendment adopted by the Board of Trustees on January 19, 2015, with such amendment being
effective as of June 1, 2015. Until June 1, 2015, the following provision shall apply in place of the provision above: A plurality of all the votes cast at a meeting of
shareholders duly called and at which a quorum is present shall be sufficient to elect a Trustee. Each share may be voted for as many individuals as there are
Trustees to be elected and for whose election the share is entitled to be voted. A majority of the votes cast at a meeting of shareholders duly called and at which a
quorum is present shall be sufficient to approve any other matter which may properly come before the meeting, unless a higher vote is required herein or by statute
or by the Declaration of Trust. Unless otherwise provided in the Declaration of Trust, each outstanding share, regardless of class, shall be entitled to one vote on

each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of shareholders.



First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kite Realty Group Trust

On May 21, 2015, the Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust approved and adopted the following amendments to the Company’s Second Amended and
Restated Bylaws (as amended, the “Bylaws”):

1.

Effective immediately, Article V, Section 2 of the Bylaws is hereby amended by deleting such Article V, Section 2 and replacing it with the following
new Article V, Section 2:

“Section 2. REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION. Any officer or agent of the Trust may be removed by the Board of Trustees if in its judgment the best
interests of the Trust would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed.
Similarly, any vice president may be removed by the president if in his or her judgment the best interests of the Trust would be served thereby, but such
removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Any officer of the Trust may resign at any time by giving
written notice of his or her resignation to the Trustees, the chairman of the board, the president or the secretary. Any resignation shall take effect at any
time subsequent to the time specified therein or, if the time when it shall become effective is not specified therein, immediately upon its receipt. The
acceptance of a resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective unless otherwise stated in the resignation. Such resignation shall be without
prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the Trust.

Effective immediately, Article V, Section 9 of the Bylaws is hereby amended by deleting the last two sentences of such Article V, Section 9 and replacing
them with the following new sentence:

“The Board of Trustees or the president may designate one or more vice presidents as executive vice president, as senior vice president or as vice
president for particular areas of responsibility.”



Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kite Realty Group Trust

The Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust approved and adopted the following amendment to the Company’s Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (as
amended, the “Bylaws”):

1. Article XIII of the Bylaws is hereby amended by deleting such Article XIII, and replacing it in its entirety with the following:
ARTICLE XIII. AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

These Bylaws may be amended, altered or repealed, and new Bylaws may be adopted, by the Board of Trustees or by the affirmative vote of not less than a
majority of all votes entitled to be cast on the matter at a meeting of shareholders duly called and at which a quorum is present.



Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Kite Realty Group Trust

On July 18, 2021, the Board of Trustees of Kite Realty Group Trust approved and adopted the following amendment to the Company’s Second Amended
and Restated Bylaws (as amended, the “Bylaws”):

1. The Bylaws are hereby amended by adding, after Article XIII, the following new Article XIV:

ARTICLE XIV
EXCLUSIVE FORUM FOR CERTAIN LITIGATION

Unless the Trust consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland, or, if that Court does not
have jurisdiction, the United States District Court for the District of Maryland, Northern Division, shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any Internal
Corporate Claim, as such term is defined in the MGCL, (b) any derivative action or proceeding brought in the right or on behalf of the Trust, (c) any action
asserting a claim of breach of any duty owed by any trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Trust to the Trust or to the shareholders of the Trust, (d) any action
asserting a claim against the Trust or any trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Trust arising pursuant to any provision of the Maryland REIT Law, the
Declaration of Trust or these Bylaws or (e) any action asserting a claim against the Trust or any trustee, officer, employee or agent of the Trust that is governed by
the internal affairs doctrine. None of the foregoing actions, claims or proceedings may be brought in any court sitting outside the State of Maryland unless the Trust
consents in writing to such court.

Unless the Trust consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.



EXHIBIT 4.12

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES

REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following description sets forth certain material terms and provisions of our common shares, par value $0.01 per share, which is the only security of
Kite Realty Group Trust or Kite Realty Group, L.P. registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. This description also
summarizes relevant provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law and certain provisions of our declaration of trust and bylaws. The following summary
does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the applicable provisions of Maryland law and our declaration of
trust and our bylaws, each of which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit 4.5 is a part. We encourage
you to read the declaration of trust, the bylaws and the applicable provisions of Maryland law for additional information. Unless the context suggests otherwise,
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references herein to “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company” refer to Kite Realty Group Trust.
Authorized Capital Shares

Our declaration of trust currently provides that we may issue up to 490,000,000 common shares of beneficial interest, par value $0.01 per share, and
20,000,000 preferred shares of beneficial interest, par value $0.01 per share.

Maryland law and our declaration of trust provide that none of our shareholders is personally liable for any of our obligations solely as a result of that
shareholder’s status as a shareholder.

DESCRIPTION OF COMMON SHARES
Voting Rights of Common Shares

Subject to the provisions of our declaration of trust regarding restrictions on the transfer and ownership of shares of beneficial interest, each outstanding
common share entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders, including the election of trustees, and, except as provided with
respect to any other class or series of shares of beneficial interest, the holders of such common shares will possess the exclusive voting power. There is no
cumulative voting in the election of trustees, which means that the holders of a plurality of the outstanding common shares, voting as a single class, can elect all of
the trustees then standing for election.

Under the Maryland statute governing real estate investment trusts formed under the laws of that state, which we refer to as the Maryland REIT law, a
Maryland REIT generally cannot amend its declaration of trust or merge unless recommended by its board of trustees and approved by the affirmative vote of
shareholders holding at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter unless a lesser percentage (but not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to
be cast on the matter) is set forth in the REIT’s declaration of trust. Our declaration of trust and bylaws provide for approval by a majority of all votes entitled to be
cast on all other matters in all situations permitting or requiring action by shareholders except with respect to the election of trustees (which requires a majority of
all the votes cast in an uncontested election at a meeting of our shareholders at which a quorum is present), dissolution (which requires two-thirds of all the votes
entitled to be cast) and removal of trustees (which requires two-thirds of all the votes entitled to be cast). Our declaration of trust permits the trustees to amend the
declaration of trust from time to time to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code or the Maryland REIT law, without the affirmative vote or written
consent of the shareholders.

Dividends, Liquidation and Other Rights

All common shares offered will be duly authorized, fully paid and nonassessable. Holders of our common shares will be entitled to receive dividends
when, as and if declared by our board of trustees out of assets legally



available for the payment of dividends. They also will be entitled to share ratably in our assets legally available for distribution to our shareholders in the event of
our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, after payment of or adequate provision for all of our known debts and liabilities. These rights will be subject to the
preferential rights of any other class or series of our shares and to the provisions of our declaration of trust regarding restrictions on transfer of our shares.

Holders of our common shares will have no preference, conversion, exchange, sinking fund, redemption or appraisal rights and will have no preemptive
rights to subscribe for any of the securities. Subject to the restrictions on transfer of shares contained in our declaration of trust and to the ability of the board of
trustees to create common shares with differing voting rights, all common shares will have equal dividend, liquidation and other rights.

Power to Classify and Reclassify Shares and Issue Additional Common Shares or Preferred Shares

Our declaration of trust authorizes our board of trustees to classify any unissued preferred shares and to reclassify any previously classified but unissued
common shares and preferred shares of any series from time to time in one or more series, as authorized by the board of trustees. Prior to issuance of shares of each
class or series, the board of trustees is required by the Maryland REIT law and our declaration of trust to set for each such class or series, subject to the provisions
of our declaration of trust regarding the restrictions on transfer of shares of beneficial interest, the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each such class or series. As a result, our
board of trustees could authorize the issuance of preferred shares that have priority over the common shares with respect to dividends and rights upon liquidation
and with other terms and conditions that could have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a transaction or a change in control that might involve a
premium price for holders of common shares or otherwise might be in their best interest.

To permit us increased flexibility in structuring possible future financings and acquisitions and in meeting other needs that might arise, our declaration of
trust allows us to issue additional common shares or preferred shares and to classify or reclassify unissued common shares or preferred shares and thereafter to
issue the classified or reclassified shares without shareholder approval, unless shareholder approval is required by applicable law or the rules of any stock exchange
or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or traded. Although we have no present intention of doing so, we could issue a class or series
of shares that could delay, deter or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of common shares or might
otherwise be in their best interests.

Holders of our common shares do not have preemptive rights, which means they have no right to acquire any additional shares that we may issue at a
subsequent date.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common shares is Broadridge Financial Solutions, Inc.
Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and Our Declaration of Trust and Bylaws

The following description of certain provisions of Maryland law and of our declaration of trust and bylaws is only a summary. For a complete description,
we refer you to the applicable Maryland law, our declaration of trust and bylaws.

Number of Trustees; Vacancies

Our declaration of trust and bylaws provide that the number of our trustees will be established by a vote of a majority of the members of our board of
trustees. Our bylaws provide that any vacancy, including a vacancy created by an increase in the number of trustees, may be filled only by a vote of a majority of
the remaining trustees, even if the remaining trustees do not constitute a quorum. Pursuant to our declaration of trust, each of our trustees is elected by our
shareholders to serve until the next annual meeting and until their successors are duly elected and qualify. Under Maryland law, our board may elect to create
staggered terms for its members.



Our bylaws provide that at least a majority of our trustees will be “independent,” with independence being defined in the manner established by our board
of trustees and in a manner consistent with listing standards established by the New York Stock Exchange.

Removal of Trustees

Our declaration of trust provides that a trustee may be removed only with cause and only upon the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the votes
entitled to be cast in the election of trustees. Absent removal of all of our trustees, this provision, when coupled with the provision in our bylaws authorizing our
board of trustees to fill vacant trusteeships, may preclude shareholders from removing incumbent trustees and filling the vacancies created by such removal with
their own nominees.

Business Combinations

Our board has approved a resolution that exempts us from the provisions of the Maryland business combination statute described below but may opt to
make these provisions applicable to us in the future. Maryland law prohibits “business combinations” between us and an interested shareholder or an affiliate of an
interested shareholder for five years after the most recent date on which the interested shareholder becomes an interested shareholder. These business combinations
include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities.
Maryland law defines an interested shareholder as:

+ any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our shares; or

* an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the
voting power of our then outstanding voting shares.

A person is not an interested shareholder under Maryland law if our board of trustees approves in advance the transaction by which the person otherwise
would have become an interested shareholder. However, in approving a transaction, our board of trustees may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at
or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by our board of trustees.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between us and an interested shareholder generally must be recommended by our board of
trustees and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:

+  80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our then outstanding shares of beneficial interest; and

* two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our voting shares other than shares held by the interested shareholder with whom or with whose
affiliate the business combination is to be effected or shares held by an affiliate or associate of the interested shareholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if our common shareholders receive a minimum price, as described under Maryland law, for their
shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested shareholder for its shares.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are approved by our board of trustees before the time
that the interested shareholder becomes an interested shareholder.

Control Share Acquisitions

Our bylaws contain a provision exempting any and all acquisitions of our common shares from the control shares provisions of Maryland law. However,
our board of trustees may opt to make these provisions applicable to us at any time by amending or repealing this provision in the future, and may do so on a
retroactive basis. Maryland law provides that “control shares” of a Maryland REIT acquired in a “control share acquisition” have no voting rights unless approved
by a vote of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by the acquiror or by officers or trustees who are our employees are excluded
from the shares entitled to vote on the matter. “Control shares™ are issued and outstanding voting shares that, if aggregated with all other shares previously



acquired by the acquiring person, or in respect of which the acquiring person is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a
revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiring person to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting power in electing trustees within one of the following ranges of
voting power:

*  one-tenth or more but less than one-third;
*  one-third or more but less than a majority; or

* amajority or more of all voting power.

Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained shareholder approval. A
“control share acquisition” means the acquisition of control shares subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel our board of trustees to call a special meeting of shareholders to be
held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. The right to compel the calling of a special meeting is subject to the satisfaction of
certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the special meeting. If no request for a special meeting is made, we may present the question at
any shareholders’ meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the shareholders’ meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver the statement required by Maryland law, then,
subject to certain conditions and limitations, we may redeem for the fair value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously
been approved. Fair value is determined without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares and as of the date of the last control share acquisition
or of any meeting of shareholders at which the voting rights of the shares were considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a
shareholders’ meeting, the acquiror may then vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, and all other shareholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value
of the shares for purposes of these appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid by the acquiror in the control share acquisition. The control
share acquisition statute does not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if we are a party to the transaction, nor does it apply to
acquisitions approved by or exempted by our declaration of trust or bylaws.

Merger, Amendment of Declaration of Trust

Under Maryland REIT law, a Maryland REIT generally cannot dissolve, amend its declaration of trust or merge with another entity unless recommended
by the board of trustees and approved by the affirmative vote of shareholders holding at least two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote on the matter unless a lesser
percentage, but not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, is set forth in the REIT’s declaration of trust. Under our declaration of trust,
we cannot dissolve or merge with another entity without the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our
declaration of trust, including its provisions on removal of trustees, may be amended only by the affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the votes entitled
to be cast on the matter. Under the Maryland REIT law and our declaration of trust, our trustees are permitted, without any action by our shareholders, to amend
the declaration of trust from time to time to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code or the Maryland REIT law without the affirmative vote or written
consent of the shareholders.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification
Our declaration of trust limits the liability of our trustees and officers for money damages, except for liability resulting from:

* actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

» afinal judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the trustee that was material to the cause of action adjudicated.



Our declaration of trust authorizes us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify, and to pay or reimburse reasonable expenses to,
any of our present or former trustees or officers or any individual who, while a trustee or officer and at our request, serves or has served another entity, employee
benefit plan or any other enterprise as a trustee, director, officer, partner or otherwise. The indemnification covers any claim or liability against the person. Our
declaration of trust and bylaws require us, to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law, to indemnify each present or former trustee or officer who is made a
party to a proceeding by reason of his or her service to us.

Maryland law will permit us to indemnify our present and former trustees and officers against liabilities and reasonable expenses actually incurred by
them in any proceeding unless:
+ the act or omission of the trustee or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding; and was committed in bad faith; or
* was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty;
» the trustee or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or

* inacriminal proceeding, the trustee or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission was unlawful.

In addition, Maryland law will prohibit us from indemnifying our present and former trustees and officers for an adverse judgment in an action by us or in
a derivative action or if the trustee or officer was adjudged to be liable for an improper personal benefit. Our bylaws and Maryland law require us, as a condition to
advancing expenses in certain circumstances, to obtain:

» a written affirmation by the trustee or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification;
and
+  awritten undertaking to repay the amount reimbursed if the standard of conduct is not met.

In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our trustees and executive officers that provide for indemnification to the
maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, may be permitted to trustees, officers or persons controlling
the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion of the SEC such indemnification is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and is therefore unenforceable.

Operations

We generally are prohibited from engaging in certain activities, including acquiring or holding property or engaging in any activity that would cause us to
fail to qualify as a REIT.

Term and Termination

Our declaration of trust provides for us to have a perpetual existence. Pursuant to our declaration of trust, and subject to the provisions of any of our
classes or series of shares of beneficial interest then outstanding and the approval by a majority of the entire board of trustees, our shareholders, at any meeting
thereof, by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, may approve a plan of liquidation and dissolution.

Meetings of Shareholders

Under our bylaws, annual meetings of shareholders are to be held each year at a date and time as determined by our board of trustees. Special meetings of
shareholders may be called only by a majority of the trustees then in office, by the Chairman of our board of trustees, our President or our Chief Executive Officer.
Only matters set forth in the notice of the special meeting may be considered and acted upon at such a meeting. Our



bylaws provide that any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of shareholders may be taken without a meeting by unanimous written consent, if that
consent sets forth that action and is signed by each shareholder entitled to vote on the matter.

Advance Notice of Trustee Nominations and New Business

Our bylaws provide that, with respect to an annual meeting of shareholders, nominations of persons for election to our board of trustees and the proposal
of business to be considered by shareholders at the annual meeting may be made only:

*  pursuant to our notice of the meeting;
* by our board of trustees; or

* by a shareholder who was a shareholder of record both at the time of the provision of notice and at the time of the meeting who is entitled to vote at the
meeting and has complied with the advance notice procedures set forth in our bylaws.

With respect to special meetings of shareholders, only the business specified in our notice of meeting may be brought before the meeting of shareholders
and nominations of persons for election to our board of trustees may be made only:

*  pursuant to our notice of the meeting;
* by our board of trustees; or

»  provided that our board of trustees has determined that trustees shall be elected at such meeting, by a shareholder who was a shareholder of record both at
the time of the provision of notice and at the time of the meeting who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice
provisions set forth in our bylaws.

The purpose of requiring shareholders to give advance notice of nominations and other proposals is to afford our board of trustees the opportunity to
consider the qualifications of the proposed nominees or the advisability of the other proposals and, to the extent considered necessary by our board of trustees, to
inform shareholders and make recommendations regarding the nominations or other proposals. The advance notice procedures also permit a more orderly
procedure for conducting our shareholder meetings. Although our bylaws do not give our board of trustees the power to disapprove timely shareholder nominations
and proposals, they may have the effect of precluding a contest for the election of trustees or proposals for other action if the proper procedures are not followed,
and of discouraging or deterring a third party from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect its own slate of trustees to our board of trustees or to approve its
own proposal.

Possible Anti-Takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Declaration of Trust and Bylaws

The business combination provisions of Maryland law (if our board of trustees opts to make them applicable to us), the control share acquisition
provisions of Maryland law (if the applicable provision in our bylaws is rescinded), the limitations on removal of trustees, the restrictions on the acquisition of our
shares of beneficial interest, the power to issue additional common shares or preferred shares and the advance notice provisions of our bylaws could have the effect
of delaying, deterring or preventing a transaction or a change in the control that might involve a premium price for holders of the common shares or might
otherwise be in their best interest. The “unsolicited takeovers” provisions of Maryland law permit our board of trustees, without shareholder approval and
regardless of what is provided in our declaration of trust or bylaws, to implement takeover defenses that we may not yet have.

Restrictions on Ownership

In order to qualify as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, our shares must be beneficially owned by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of
a taxable year of 12 months or during a proportionate part of a



shorter taxable year. Also, no more than 50% of the value of our outstanding shares (after taking into account options to acquire shares) may be owned, directly,
indirectly, or through attribution, by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half of each taxable year (as defined in the Internal Revenue Code to
include certain entities).

Because our board of trustees believes that it is essential for us to qualify as a REIT and for anti-takeover reasons, our declaration of trust, subject to

certain exceptions, contains restrictions on the number of our shares of beneficial interest that a person may own. Our declaration of trust provides that:

no person, other than an excepted holder or a designated investment entity (each as defined in the declaration of trust), may own directly, or be deemed to
own by virtue of the attribution provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, more than 7%, in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of
our issued and outstanding common shares;

no person may own directly or indirectly, or be deemed to own through attribution, more than 9.8% in number or value or any class of series of preferred
shares;

no one excepted holder, which means members of the Kite family, their family members and certain entities controlled by them, treated as an individual,
may currently acquire or hold, directly or indirectly, shares in excess of 21.5% in number or value, whichever is more restrictive, of our issued and
outstanding common shares after application of the relevant attribution rules;

no designated investment entity may acquire or hold, directly or indirectly (or through attribution), shares in excess of the designated investment entity
limit of 9.8%, in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of shares;

no person shall beneficially own shares that would result in our otherwise failing to qualify as a REIT (including but not limited to ownership that would
result in the our owning (directly or constructively) an interest in a tenant that is described in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Internal Revenue Code if the
income derived by us (either directly or indirectly through one or more partnerships or limited liability companies) from such tenant would cause us to fail
to satisfy any of the gross income requirements of Section 856(c) of the Internal Revenue Code);

no person shall beneficially or constructively own our shares of beneficial interest that would result in us being “closely held” under Section 856(h) of the
Internal Revenue Code or otherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT; and

no person shall transfer our shares of beneficial interest if such transfer would result in our shares of beneficial interest being owned by fewer than 100
persons.

The declaration of trust defines a “designated investment entity” as:

an entity that is a pension trust that qualifies for look-through treatment under Section 856(h)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code;
an entity that qualifies as a regulated investment company under Section 851 of the Internal Revenue Code; or

an entity that (i) for compensation engages in the business of advising others as to the value of securities or as to the advisability of investing in,
purchasing, or selling securities; (ii) purchases securities in the ordinary course of its business and not with the purpose or effect of changing or
influencing control of us, nor in connection with or as a participant in any transaction having such purpose or effect, including any transaction subject to
Rule 13d-3(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and (iii) has or shares voting power and investment power within the meaning of Rule
13d-3(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; so long as each beneficial owner of such entity, or in the case of an investment
management company, the individual account holders of the accounts managed by such entity, would satisty the 7% ownership limit on common shares
or the 9.8% ownership limit on preferred shares if



such beneficial owner or account holder owned directly its proportionate share of the shares held by the entity.

Our board of trustees may waive the 7% ownership limit for common shares, the 9.8% ownership limit for preferred shares, or the 9.8% designated
investment entity limit, for a shareholder that is not an individual if such shareholder provides information and makes representations to the board that are
satisfactory to the board, in its reasonable discretion, to establish that such person’s ownership in excess of the 7% limit for common shares, the 9.8% limit for
preferred shares or the 9.8% designated investment entity limit, as applicable, would not jeopardize our qualification as a REIT.

Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial or constructive ownership of our shares that will or may violate any of the foregoing
restrictions on transferability and ownership will be required to give written notice immediately to us and provide us with such other information as we may
request in order to determine the effect of such transfer on our status as a REIT. If any transfer of shares or any other event would otherwise result in any person
violating the ownership limits described above, then our declaration of trust provides that (a) the transfer will be void and of no force or effect with respect to the
prohibited transferee with respect to that number of shares that exceeds the ownership limits and (b) the prohibited transferee would not acquire any right or
interest in the shares. Such events will result in the automatic transfer of our common shares to a charitable trust, which will be responsible for selling the common
shares to permitted transferees and distributing at least a portion of the proceeds to the prohibited transferees. The foregoing restrictions on transferability and
ownership will not apply if our board of trustees determines that it is no longer in our best interests to attempt to qualify, or to continue to qualify, as a REIT.

All certificates representing our shares will bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.

Every owner of more than 5% (or such lower percentage as required by the Internal Revenue Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder) of all
classes or series of our shares, including common shares, will be required to give written notice to us within 30 days after the end of each taxable year stating the
name and address of such owner, the number of shares of each class and series of shares that the owner beneficially owns and a description of the manner in which
such shares are held. Each such owner shall provide to us such additional information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such beneficial
ownership on our status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the ownership limitations. In addition, each shareholder shall upon demand be required to
provide to us such information as we may request, in good faith, in order to determine our status as a REIT and to comply with the requirements of any taxing
authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance.

These ownership limitations could delay, deter or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for the common shares
or might otherwise be in the best interest of our shareholders.



Name of Subsidiary
116 & Olio, LLC

3503 RP Acworth Stilesboro, L.L.C.

3503 RP Ashburn Loudoun Apartments, L.L.C.
3503 RP Ashburn Loudoun Uptown, L.L.C.
3503 RP Avondale McDowell, L.L.C.

3503 RP Bay Shore Gardiner, L.L.C.

3503 RP Carillon 1A Apartment, L.L.C.

3503 RP Cedar Hill Pleasant Run GP, L.L.C.
3503 RP Cedar Hill Pleasant Run Limited Partnership
3503 RP Cedar Hill Pleasant Run LP, L.L.C.
3503 RP Charleston North Rivers, L.L.C.

3503 RP Chicago Ashland I, L.L.C.

3503 RP Coppell Town GP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Coppell Town Limited Partnership
3503 RP Coppell Town LP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Coram Plaza, L.L.C.

3503 RP Covington Newton Crossroads, L.L.C.
3503 RP Cumming Green’s Corner, L.L.C.
3503 RP Dallas Lincoln Park GP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Dallas Lincoln Park Limited Partnership
3503 RP Dallas Lincoln Park LP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Dallas Paradise, L.L.C.

3503 RP Denton Crossing GP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Denton Crossing Limited Partnership
3503 RP Denton Crossing LP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Fullerton Metrocenter Land, L.L.C.
3503 RP Fullerton Metrocenter, L.L.C.

3503 RP Gurnee, L.L.C.

3503 RP High Ridge, L.L.C.

3503 RP Houston Sawyer Heights GP, L.L.C.
3503 RP Houston Sawyer Heights Limited Partnership
3503 RP Lawrenceville Simonton, L.L.C.

3503 RP Marysville, L.L.C.

3503 RP Memphis Winchester, L.L.C.

3503 RP Miami 19th Street, L.L.C.

3503 RP New Hyde Park Marcus, L.L.C.

3503 RP Ontario 4th Street, L.L.C.

3503 RP Panama City, L.L.C.

3503 RP Park Place Limited Partnership

3503 RP Arcadia Village, L.L.C.

3503 RP Phoenix, L.L.C.

3503 RP Plano Acquisitions, L.L.C.

3503 RP Plano Investments, L.L.C.

3503 RP Renton North Benson, L.L.C.

3503 RP Southlake Corners Kimball GP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Southlake Corners Kimball Limited Partnership

3503 RP Southlake Land, L.L.C.
3503 RP Spokane Northpointe, L.L.C.
3503 RP Temecula Commons, L.L.C.

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST
Subsidiary List
As of December 31, 2021

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation

Indiana
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Delaware
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Delaware
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Name of Subsidiary
3503 RP Waco Central GP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Waco Central Limited Partnership
3503 RP Waco Central LP, L.L.C.

3503 RP Yorktown AMC SPE, L.L.C.
3503 RPK Ashburn Loudoun JV, L.L.C.
3503 RPK Ashburn Loudoun Property, L.L.C.
6179 N Rural, LLC

Bel Air Square LLC

Birch Property & Casualty, LLC
Brentwood Land Partners, LLC
Bulwark, LLC

C&S Southlake Capital Partners I, L.P.
Capital Centre LLC

Carmel Corner Holdings, LLC

Carmel Corner Project Company
Carmel Corner Project Company, LLC
Carmel Corner Project Partners, LLC
CC Lending Company, LLC

Centre at Laurel, LLC

Corner Associates, LP

Dallas Metro Maintenance, L.L.C.
Dayville Property Development, LLC
Denville Union Hill, L.L.C.

Gateway Village LLC

Glendale Centre Apartments, LLC
Glendale Centre, L.L.C.

Inland Western Lansing Eastwood (Tenant), L.L.C.

Inland Western Orange 440 Boston, L.L.C.
Inland Western Seattle Northgate North, L.L.C.
International Speedway Square, Ltd.
IWR Protective Corporation

Kite Eagle Creek, LLC

Kite Greyhound III, LLC

Kite Greyhound, LLC

Kite King’s Lake, LLC

Kite Realty Advisors, LLC

Kite Realty Construction, LLC

Kite Realty Development, LLC

Kite Realty Eddy Street Garage, LLC
Kite Realty Eddy Street Land, LLC
Kite Realty FS Hotel Operators, LLC
Kite Realty Group Trust

Kite Realty Group, L.P.

Kite Realty Holding, LLC

Kite Realty Pan Am Garage, LLC
Kite Realty Peakway at 55, LLC

Kite Realty Washington Parking, LLC
Kite San Antonio, LLC

Kite Washington Parking, LLC

Kite Washington, LLC

Kite West 86th Street II, LLC

Kite West 86th Street, LLC

KRG 116 Legacy, LLC

KRG 951 & 41, LLC

KRG Bayonne Urban Renewal, LLC

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Maryland
Vermont
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Maryland
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Maryland
Indiana
Delaware
Connecticut
Delaware
Maryland
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Florida
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Maryland
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware






Name of Subsidiary
KRG Belle Isle, LLC

KRG Bennet Knoll, LLC

KRG Bradenton Centre Point, LLC
KRG Bridgewater, LLC

KRG Capital, LLC

KRG Castleton Crossing, LLC

KRG Cedar Hill Plaza, LP

KRG Centre, LLC

KRG Chapel Hill Shopping Center, LLC
KRG Charlotte Northcrest, LLC

KRG Charlotte Perimeter Woods, LLC
KRG Chicago Ashland Land, LLC
KRG Chicago Ashland, LLC

KRG Chicago Brickyard, LLC

KRG CHP Management, LLC

KRG College I, LLC

KRG College, LLC

KRG Colleyville Downs, LLC

KRG Construction, LLC

KRG Cool Creek Management, LLC
KRG Cool Creek Outlots, LLC

KRG Cool Springs, LLC

KRG Corner Associates, LLC

KRG Courthouse Shadows I, LLC
KRG Courthouse Shadows II, LLC
KRG Courthouse Shadows, LLC

KRG Daytona Management II, LLC
KRG Daytona Outlot Management, LLC
KRG Dayville Killingly Member II, LLC
KRG Dayville Killingly Member, LLC
KRG Delray Beach, LLC

KRG Development, LLC

KRG Draper Crossing, LLC

KRG Draper Peaks Outlot, LLC

KRG Draper Peaks, LLC

KRG Eagle Creek III, LLC

KRG Eagle Creek IV, LLC

KRG Eastgate Chapel Hill, LLC

KRG Eastgate Pavilion, LLC

KRG Eastwood, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Apartments, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Commons at Notre Dame Declarant, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Commons, LLC
KRG Eddy Street FS Hotel, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Land II, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Land III, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Land Management, LLC
KRG Eddy Street Land, LLC

KRG Eddy Street Office, LLC

KRG Estero, LLC

KRG Evans Mullins Outlots, LLC
KRG Evans Mullins, LLC

KRG Fishers Station, LLC

KRG Fort Myers Colonial Square, LLC
KRG Frisco Westside, LLC

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation

Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware






Name of Subsidiary
KRG Glendale Centre Apartments Member, LLC

KRG Glendale Outlot D, L.L.C.

KRG Glendale Peoria I, LLC

KRG Glendale Peoria II, LLC

KRG Greencastle, LLC

KRG Hamilton Crossing Management, LLC
KRG Hamilton Crossing, LLC

KRG Hunter’s Creek, LLC

KRG Indian River Outlot, LLC

KRG Indian River, LLC

KRG ISS LH OUTLOT, LLC
KRGISS,LLC

KRG Jacksonville Julington Creek II, LLC
KRG Jacksonville Julington Creek, LLC
KRG Kingwood Commons, LLC

KRG Kissimmee Pleasant Hill, LLC
KRG Lake City Commons II, LLC
KRG Lake City Commons, LLC

KRG Lake Mary, LLC

KRG Las Vegas Centennial Center, LLC
KRG Las Vegas Centennial Gateway, LLC
KRG Las Vegas Eastern Beltway, LLC
KRG Lithia, LLC

KRG Livingston Center, LLC

KRG Management, LLC

KRG Market Street Village I, LLC
KRG Market Street Village II, LLC
KRG Market Street Village, LP

KRG Miramar Square, LLC

KRG Naperville Main North, LLC

KRG Naperville Main, LLC

KRG Naperville Management, LLC
KRG Naperville, LLC

KRG New Hill Place, LLC

KRG Nora Plaza II, LLC

KRG Nora Plaza, LLC

KRG North Carolina Sales LLC

KRG Northdale, LLC

KRG Oklahoma City Silver Springs, LLC
KRG Oldsmar Management, LLC

KRG Oldsmar Project Company, LLC
KRG Oldsmar, LLC

KRG Oleander, LLC

KRG Orange City Saxon, LLC

KRG Pan Am Plaza Garage, LLC

KRG Pan Am Plaza, LLC

KRG Parkside I, LLC

KRG Parkside I, LLC

KRG Peakway at 55, LLC

KRG Pebble Marketplace, LLC

KRG Pembroke Pines, LLC

KRG Pine Ridge, LLC

KRG Pipeline Pointe, LP

KRG Plaza Green, LLC

KRG Port St. Lucie Landing, LLC

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation

Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Illinois
Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware






Name of Subsidiary
KRG Port St. Lucie Square, LLC

KRG Portofino, LLC

KRG Rampart, LLC

KRG Riverchase, LLC

KRG Rivers Edge II, LLC

KRG Rivers Edge, LLC

KRG San Antonio, LP

KRG Shops at Moore II, LLC

KRG Shops at Moore Member, LLC
KRG Shops at Moore, LLC

KRG Sunland II, LP

KRG Sunland Management, LLC

KRG Sunland, LP

KRG Territory Member, LLC

KRG Territory, LLC

KRG Texas, LLC

KRG Toringdon Market, LLC

KRG Traders Management, LLC

KRG Tucson Corner, LLC

KRG Vero, LLC

KRG Virginia Beach Landstown Outlot, LLC
KRG Washington Management, LLC
KRG Waterford Lakes, LLC

KRG Waxahachie Crossing GP, LLC
KRG Waxahachie Crossing Limited Partnership
KRG Waxahachie Crossing LP, LLC
KRG White Plains City Center Member 11, LLC
KRG White Plains City Center Member, LLC
KRG White Plains City Center, LLC
KRG White Plains Garage, LLC

KRG Wilmette Plaza Del Lago, LLC
KRG Woodruff Greenville, LLC
KRG/Atlantic Delray Beach, LLC
KRG/CP Pan Am Plaza, LLC

KRG/PRP Oldsmar, LLC

KRG-USCREF Plaza Volente, LLC
KRG-USCREF Retail Portfolio LLC
KRG-USCRF Retail Portfolio Member LLC
LC White Plains, LLC

Meridian Insurance Company, Inc.
Meridian South Insurance, LLC
Noblesville Partners, LLC

One Loudoun Downtown Lender, L.L.C.
Property Tax Advantage Advisors, LLC
RPAI Acquisitions, LLC

RPAI Ashburn Loudoun, L.L.C.

RPAI Austin Mopac GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Austin Mopac Limited Partnership
RPAI Austin Mopac LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Bangor Broadway, L.L.C.

RPAI Butler Kinnelon, L.L.C.

RPAI Canton Paradise Outlot, L.L.C.
RPAI Canton Paradise, L.L.C.

RPAI Capital Centre II, L.L.C.

RPAI Cedar Park Town Center, L.L.C.

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation
Delaware

Indiana
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana
Indiana
Indiana
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Indiana
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Delaware
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Delaware






Name of Subsidiary
RPAI Chantilly Crossing, L.L.C.

RPAI Clear Lake Clear Shores GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Clear Lake Clear Shores Limited Partnership
RPAI Clear Lake Clear Shores LP, L.L.C.

RPAI College Station Gateway GP, L.L.C.
RPAI College Station Gateway 1I GP, L.L.C.
RPAI College Station Gateway Il Limited Partnership
RPAI College Station Gateway II LP, L.L.C.
RPAI College Station Gateway III, L.L.C.

RPAI College Station Gateway Limited Partnership
RPAI College Station Gateway LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Continental Rave Houston, L.L.C.

RPAI Cypress Mill GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Cypress Mill Limited Partnership

RPAI Cypress Mill, L.L.C.

RPAI Darien SPE, L.L.C.

RPAI Duluth John’s Creek SPE, L.L.C.

RPAI Duluth John’s Creek, L.L.C.

RPAI Euless GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Euless Limited Partnership

RPAI Euless LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Falls Church Merrifield II, L.L.C.

RPAI Falls Church Merrifield, L.L.C.

RPAI Fordham Place Office, L.L.C.

RPAI Fordham Place Retail, L.L.C.

RPAI Fort Myers Page Field, L.L.C.

RPAI Frisco Parkway GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Frisco Parkway Limited Partnership

RPAI Frisco Parkway LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Gaithersburg Downtown Crown, L.L.C.
RPAI Galveston Galvez GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Galveston Galvez Limited Partnership
RPAI Galveston Galvez LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Georgetown Rivery GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Georgetown Rivery Limited Partnership
RPAI Georgetown Rivery LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Grapevine GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Grapevine Limited Partnership

RPAI Grapevine LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Hagerstown, L.L.C.

RPAI HOLDCO Management LLC

RPAI Houston Little York GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Houston Little York Limited Partnership
RPAI Houston New Forest GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Houston New Forest Limited Partnership
RPAI Houston New Forest, L.L.C.

RPAI Houston Royal Oaks Village IT GP, L.L.C.
RPAI Houston Royal Oaks Village II Limited Partnership
RPAI Houston Royal Oaks Village I LP, L.L.C.
RPAI Houston Royal Oaks Village I1I, L.L.C.
RPAI Houston Sawyer Heights, L.L.C.

RPAI Humble Humblewood GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Humble Humblewood Limited Partnership
RPAI Humble Humblewood LP, L.L.C.
RPAIIDST

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
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Delaware
Delaware
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Delaware
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Delaware
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Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware






Name of Subsidiary
RPAIII DST

RPAI Irving GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Irving Limited Partnership

RPAI Irving LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Issaquah Heritage, L.L.C.

RPAI King’s Grant II Limited Partnership
RPAI King’s Grant GP, L.L.C.

RPAI King’s Grant II GP, L.L.C.

RPAI King’s Grant Limited Partnership

RPAI Kingsport East Stone, L.L.C.

RPAI Lake Worth Towne Crossing GP, L.L.C.
RPAI Lake Worth Towne Crossing Limited Partnership
RPAI Lake Worth Towne Crossing LP, L.L.C.
RPAI Lakewood II, L.L.C.

RPAI Lakewood, L.L.C.

RPAI Lansing Eastwood, L.L.C.

RPAI Leesburg Fort Evans, L.L.C.

RPAI Mansfield GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Mansfield Limited Partnership

RPAI Mansfield LP, L.L.C.

RPAI McDonough Henry Town, L.L.C.

RPAI McKinney Stonebridge GP, L.L.C.

RPAI McKinney Stonebridge Limited Partnership
RPAI McKinney Stonebridge LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Miami 19th Street II, L.L.C.

RPAI Middletown Fairgrounds Plaza, L.L.C.
RPAI Newcastle Coal Creek, L.L.C.

RPAI Newnan Crossing II, L.L.C.

RPAI Newnan Crossing, L.L.C.

RPAI Newport News Jefferson, L.L.C.

RPAI North Carolina Sales, Inc.

RPAI North Richland Hills Davis GP, L.L.C.
RPAI North Richland Hills Davis Limited Partnership
RPAI North Richland Hills Davis LP, L.L.C.
RPAI Northwest Management LLC

RPAI Oak Brook Promenade I, L.L.C.

RPAI Oswego Douglass, L.L.C.

RPAI Oswego Gerry Centennial, L.L.C.

RPAI Pelham Manor, L.L.C.

RPAI Pittsburgh William Penn GP, L.L.C.
RPAI Pittsburgh William Penn Member II DST
RPAI Pittsburgh William Penn Partner, L.P.
RPALI Pittsburgh William Penn, L.P.

RPAI Redmond Avondale, L.L.C.

RPAI Richardson Eastside, L.L.C.

RPAI Round Rock Forest Commons GP, L.L.C.
RPAI Round Rock Forest Commons Limited Partnership
RPAI Round Rock Forest Commons LP, L.L.C.
RPAI San Antonio GP, L.L.C.

RPAI San Antonio HQ GP, L.L.C.

RPAI San Antonio HQ Limited Partnership
RPAI San Antonio HQ LP, L.L.C.

RPAI San Antonio Huebner Oaks GP, L.L.C.
RPAI San Antonio Huebner Oaks Limited Partnership
RPAI San Antonio Huebner Oaks LP, L.L.C.

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
1llinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware






Name of Subsidiary
RPAI San Antonio Limited Partnership

RPAI San Antonio LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Seekonk Power Center, L.L.C.
RPAI Severn, L.L.C.

RPALI Southlake Corners Kimball, L.L.C.
RPAI Southlake GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Southlake Limited Partnership
RPAI Southlake LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Southwest Management Holding LLC
RPAI Southwest Management LLC

RPAI Sugar Land Colony GP, L.L.C.
RPAI Sugar Land Colony Limited Partnership
RPAI Sugar Land Colony LP, L.L.C.
RPAI Tacoma South I, L.L.C.

RPAI Tallahassee Governor’s One, L.L.C.
RPAI Tampa Walters, L.L.C.

RPAI Town and Country Manchester, L.L.C.
RPAI Towson Square Parking, L.L.C.
RPAI Towson Square, L.L.C.

RPAI US Management LLC

RPAI Vienna Tysons, L.L.C.

RPAI Watauga GP, L.L.C.

RPAI Watauga Limited Partnership

RPAI Watauga LP, L.L.C.

RPAI Westbury Merchants Plaza, L.L.C.
RPAI Western Management LLC

RPAI Woodinville Plaza, L.L.C.

RPAI Worcester Lincoln Plaza, L.L.C.
RRP Hecht, LLC

SB Hotel 2, LLC

SB Hotel, LLC

SLTS Grand Avenue II GP, L.L.C.

SLTS Grand Avenue II, L.P.

Splendido Real Estate, LLC

The Shops at Legacy (RPAI) GP, L.L.C.
The Shops at Legacy (RPAI) L.P.

The Shops at Legacy (RPAI) Mezz, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures 11 GP, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures II, L.P.

Town Square Ventures III GP, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures III LP, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures III, L.P.

Town Square Ventures IV GP, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures IV LP, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures IV, L.P.

Town Square Ventures V GP, L.L.C.
Town Square Ventures V LP, L.L.C.

Town Square Ventures V, L.P.

Town Square Ventures, L.P.

Towson Circle LLC

Western Town Square Ventures GP, L.L.C.
Western Town Square Ventures I GP, L.L.C.
Western Town Square Ventures LP, L.L.C.
Westfield One, LLC

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or Formation
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Illinois
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Maryland
Indiana
Indiana
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Tllinois
Delaware
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Illinois
Maryland
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Indiana



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-188436, 333-159219, 333-152943, 333-120142,
333-231582, and 333-260454) and the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File Nos. 333-127585, 333-261119, and 333-256931) of Kite Realty Group Trust and
in the related Prospectuses of our report dated February 20, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Kite Realty Group Trust,
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022



Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-2611119-01) of Kite Realty Group, L.P. and
subsidiaries and in the related Prospectus of our report dated February 20, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Kite Realty
Group, L.P. and subsidiaries, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2021.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022



Exhibit 23.3

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-188436, 333-159219, 333-152943, 333-120142, 333-231582, and 333-
260454) on Form S-8 and registration statements (Nos. 333-127585, 333-261119 and 333-256931) on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 28, 2022, with
respect to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule III of Kite Realty Group Trust and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022



Exhibit 23.4

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-2611119-01) on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 28, 2022, with

respect to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule III of Kite Realty Group, L.P. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Indianapolis, Indiana
February 28, 2022



EXHIBIT 31.1

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

CERTIFICATION

I, John A. Kite, certify that:

1. TIhave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kite Realty Group Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/ JOHN A. KITE

John A. Kite
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

KITE REALTY GROUP TRUST

CERTIFICATION

I, Heath R. Fear, certify that:

1. TIhave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kite Realty Group Trust;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/ HEATH R. FEAR

Heath R. Fear
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 31.3

KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P.

CERTIFICATION

I, John A. Kite, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kite Realty Group, L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/ JOHN A. KITE

John A. Kite
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.4

KITE REALTY GROUP, L.P.

CERTIFICATION

I, Heath R. Fear, certify that:

1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Kite Realty Group, L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

(a)

(b)

©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control

over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/ HEATH R. FEAR

Heath R. Fear
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, John A. Kite, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Kite Realty Group Trust (the “Parent Company”), and Heath R. Fear, Chief Financial
Officer of the Parent Company, each hereby certifies based on his knowledge, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
that:

(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Parent Company for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Parent Company.

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/JOHN A. KITE
John A. Kite
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/ HEATH R. FEAR
Heath R. Fear
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Parent Company and will be retained by the Parent Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, As Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The undersigned, John A. Kite, Chief Executive Officer of Kite Realty Group, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), and Heath R. Fear, Chief Financial Officer of the
Operating Partnership, each hereby certifies based on his knowledge, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Operating Partnership for the year ended December 31, 2021 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Operating Partnership.

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/JOHN A.KITE
John A. Kite
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 28, 2022 By: /s/ HEATH R. FEAR
Heath R. Fear
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Operating Partnership and will be retained by the Operating
Partnership and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



